
P.T.O.

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010

            Simon W. Baker    B.Ed MBA MISPAL
        Chief Executive

AGENDA
for a

MEETING OF THE CABINET
Tuesday, 11 February 2020 at 2.00 pm in

 The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek
Contact Officer: Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

or Tel: 01538 395613

Membership
Councillors:-

S. Ralphs MBE
M. Deaville
M. Bowen
T. Hall
J. Porter
S. Scalise
E. Wain

Leader of the Council (Chair)
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader)
Communities
Customer Services
Climate Change
Environment
Planning, Development and Property

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise.

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

5. Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 
scanning the code below:

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A  (Continued)

6. Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with 
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any 

7. Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any 

8. Leader 

8 .1 Forward Plan (Pages 9 - 18)
8 .2 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement & Performance Review 2019/20 

(Pages 19 - 62)
8 .3 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2022/23 (Pages 63 - 172)
8 .4 New Performance Framework (Pages 173 - 206)
8 .5 Business Rate Relief Policy & Council Tax Discounts Policy (Pages 207 - 

238)
9. Communities 

9 .1 Home Repairs Assistance Grant Scheme (Pages 239 - 244)
10. Environment 

10 .1 Dog Fouling Order (Pages 245 - 254)
11. Leisure and Sports 

11 .1 Brough Park and John Hall Gardens Improvement Plan (Pages 255 - 268)
12. Planning, Development and Property 

12 .1 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Pages 269 - 352)



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DECISIONS

TUESDAY, 3 DECEMBER 2019
PRESENT: Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair) 

Councillors M Bowen, T Hall and J Porter

IN ATTEDNANCE: Councillors G Bentley and I Plant

APOLOGIES: Councillors M A Deaville, S Scalise and E Wain

33 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED)

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 October 2019 were approved.

34 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY

There were no declarations made.

35 FORWARD PLAN

DECISION:

That the Forward Plan be approved for publication.

36 CORPORATE PLAN: COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT PLAN AND 
PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK UPDATE

The reason for the report was to update the Cabinet on the progress made in 
developing a new performance framework for 2019-2023 and the plans for 
communicating and engaging with stakeholders on the Council’s corporate plan 
priorities.  The report was considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel on 27 November 2019.

Options considered:

The report was for information and councillors were invited to comment.

DECISION:

That the content of the report, including the proposal for a new performance 
framework to be reported at the February Cabinet meeting be noted.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet - 3 December 2019

37 SECOND QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2019/20

The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th September 2019 
(“Second Quarter 2019/20”).  The report was considered by the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel on 29 November 2019.  The position was summarised as 
follows:

Subject Headline
Finance The headlines for the Second Quarter were:

Performance against Budget
 At the second quarter stage the General Fund projected outturn for 

2019/20 was an underspend of £9,680.
Efficiency Programme

 The 2019/20 general fund efficiency target of £842,000 had been 
exceeded with £856,260 of savings achieved to date.  

Capital Programme
 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2019/20 was £5.8 

million including the carry forward of capital underspends from 
2018/19. The projected outturn for the year was £4.0million.

Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 30th September 2019 totalled £12.3 

million. The Ascent loan and debenture stood at £19 million.
 Council borrowing at 30th September 2019 totalled £10 million 

(related to the Ascent loan)
 The Council’s net interest receipts were projected to be £28,000 

above budget.
Revenue Collection

 56.34% of Council Tax was collected by 30th September 2019 
compared to 56.69% for the same period last year.

 55.57% of Business Rates was collected by 30th September 2019 
compared with 56.77% for the same period last year.

 At the end of the Second Quarter debt that was over 60 days old 
was £67,310 which compares with £99,980 at 30th September 
2018 

Procurement The headlines for the Second Quarter were:

 7 procurement activities were completed 
 The procurement forward plan included 67 procurement activities 

for completion in 2019/20 (either SMDC only or joint)
 At the 30th September 2019, 52% of procurement activity 

undertaken was on the forward plan and the Council paid 96% of 
its invoices within 30 days during the year

Performance The headlines for the Second Quarter were:
 Performance in respect of 82% of the key performance 

indicators was on target 
 Of the 18 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, two were 

still to commence, four were rated amber, one rated red the 
remainder being classified as ‘Green’; and

 The Council received 18 complaints, 29 comments and 15 Page 4



Cabinet - 3 December 2019

Subject Headline
compliments in the Second Quarter. Repeat complaints and 
response times both on track 

Options considered:

Detailed analysis was contained within the report appendices.

DECISION:

That the Second Quarter 2019/20 financial, procurement and performance position 
detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the covering report be 
noted.

38 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2020/21 TO 2023/24

The report presented the Council’s updated Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
The MTFP presented the Council’s priorities in the context of the likely resources 
available, providing a financial context to future decision-making.  The report was 
considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 27 November 2019.

Options considered:

The report was a statement of fact.  As such there were no options to consider.

DECISION:

That the updated Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendix A of the report) be 
approved.

39 WASTE COLLECTION - DOORSTEP RECYCLING ARRANGEMENTS

The purpose of the report was for Cabinet to consider a change in the Council’s 
doorstep recycling service provision with a move away from the separation of paper 
(news and pams) to a fully comingled service where residents would be no longer 
required to separate and place paper in a clear plastic sack.

Options considered:

There were two options available:

 Retain the dual stream recycling arrangements; or
 Move to a comingled arrangements.

These options were evaluated in detail in the report.

DECISION:

1. That the move to a fully comingled recycling as proposed by AES be approved.

2. That the financial and other benefits that are associated with the change be 
noted. Page 5



Cabinet - 3 December 2019

3. That the risks associated with the change and the mitigating actions that AES 
were proposing to ensure an effective transition be noted.  

40 FOOD ENFORCEMENT PLAN

It was a recommendation of the Food Standards Agency that each local authority 
draws up, documents and implements a food safety service plan which should be 
approved by members.  The report set out the food safety service plan for 
2019/2020, to be reviewed on a yearly basis. 

Options considered:

There were no alternative options as mandatory guidance issued by the Food 
Standards Agency recommends and requires that Local Authorities adopt a food 
safety enforcement plan which meets the format prescribed by the Food Standards 
Agency.

DECISION:

That the food safety service plan at Appendix A of the report be approved. 

41 LEISURE CENTRE OPTIONS

The purpose of the report was to inform the Cabinet as to the development work to 
help establish clear plans for future investment and management options for the 
Council’s leisure centres, in line with the Physical Activity and Sport Strategy and 
ambitions for a reduced service subsidy.  The report was considered by the Service 
Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 20 November 2019.

Options considered:

A number of options would be considered as part of the work undertaken.

DECISION:

That plans to recruit external consultancy support in order to assist the Council in 
progressing plans for future investment and management options for leisure centres 
be noted.

42 MARKETS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

The purpose of the report was to recommend proposed changes to Leek Market’s 
rules and regulations to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of the market 
operation. These changes included the withdrawal of free or reduced stall rents, 
withdrawal of cash payments and the introduction of an administration charge for 
issuing or amending market traders concessionary parking permits. 

The report was considered by the Service Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 
20 November 2019.  The Panel recommended that the Cabinet should not 
implement the first proposal of the report (to remove the annual two free trading 
weeks for regular traders in the Leek Trestle Market) which received the support of 
the Portfolio Holder for Planning, Development and Property.

Page 6



Cabinet - 3 December 2019

Options considered:

Option 1: If the Council did not approve the proposals the current arrangements and 
payment methods would continue, increasing the administrative burden on the 
market and finance teams. Not recommended.

Option 2: If the proposals were implemented it would ensure that the arrangements 
were cost-effective and consistent with the practice in the other markets and car 
parks. Recommended.

DECISION:

1. That the concession whereby Charter market traders paid only half of the stall 
rent if they do not attend a pre booked market be removed.

2. That all regular stall holders be moved to a direct debit payment method.

3. That a £10.00 administration charge to issue or amend parking permits for 
market traders be introduced.

The meeting closed at 2.49 pm

_________________________________Chairman 
Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

January – March 2020
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take 
shortly. Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’  The Plan is 
updated and published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is 
available, together with all public reports referred to, from our website 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, 
Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Should you have any questions 
regarding these documents please contact the Council’s Member Services Team 
via our website or by telephoning 01538 395613.

A key decision is one defined as:

"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard 
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates."

OR

"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more District Wards."

Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be 
available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the 
Council’s website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551. 
They are also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, 
Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions 
to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker.

Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public.  However, occasionally, some 
meetings, or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content 
of the reports to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal 
information).  This document indicates which reports and dates of meetings 
where this will apply and the reason for this. 

Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further 
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private.  This will again state why this is 
necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the 
meeting should be open to the public.  This will also include a statement of the 
Council’s response to any such representations.

Page 9

Agenda Item 8.1

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/
http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/


2

I N D E X

Matter to be decided Date of decision 
to be made

Page 
No.

COMMUNITIES

Home Repairs Assistance Grant Scheme 11 February 2020 3

ENVIRONMENT

Dog Fouling Order 11 February 2020 4

LEADER
Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 
2019/20 11 February 2020 5

Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2022/23 11 February 2020 6

New Performance Framework 11 February 2020 7

Business Rate Relief Policy & Council Tax Discounts Policy 11 February 2020 8

LEISURE AND SPORTS - DEPUTY LEADER

Brough Park and John Hall Gardens Improvement Plan 11 February 2020 9

PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan 11 February 2020 10

Page 10



3

Communities

Matter for decision Home Repairs Assistance Grant Scheme

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report Public 

Page 11



4

Communities

Matter for decision Dog Fouling Order

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Scalise

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Community

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report Public 

Page 12



5

Leader

Matter for decision Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and 
Performance Review 2019/20

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Public 

Page 13



6

Leader

Matter for decision Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 
- 2022/23

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council No

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Public 

Page 14



7

Leader

Matter for decision New Performance Framework

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Public

Page 15



8

Leader

Matter for decision Business Rate Relief Policy & Council Tax 
Discounts Policy

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Public

Page 16



9

Leisure and Sport

Matter for decision Brough Park and John Hall Gardens 
Improvement Plan

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Deaville

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director 
(Transformation)

Public/Private report Public

Page 17



10

Planning, Development and Property

Matter for decision Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes

Decision maker Cabinet

Expected date of decision 11 February 2020

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report Public

Page 18



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet

11th February 2020

Appendices Attached
 Appendix A (2019/20 – Third Quarter (Provisional Outturn) Financial Report)
 Appendix B (2019/20 – Third Quarter (Procurement Report) 
 Appendix C (2019/20 – Third Quarter (Performance Report)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December (“Third 
Quarter 2019/20”)

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 

 Note the Third Quarter 2019/20 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report.

 Note the update to the Council’s procurement rules as a result of the 
revised EU procurement thresholds. 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and performance 
position after considering service activity up to the end of the Third Quarter 
(i.e. to 31st December 2019). 

TITLE: Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and 
Performance Review 2019/20

PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene - Deputy Director and Head 
of Finance
Vanessa Higgins – Information Business 
Partner 

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 19

Agenda Item 8.2



3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 
(Procurement) and Appendix C (Performance). 

3.3 The position can be summarised as follows:

Subject Headline Reference
Finance Headlines for the third quarter are:

Performance against Budget
 At the third quarter stage the General Fund projected outturn for 

2019/20 is an underspend of £143,480.
Efficiency Programme
 The 2019/20 general fund efficiency target of £842,000 has been 

exceeded with £860,250 of savings achieved to date
Capital Programme
 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2019/20 is £5.8 million 

including the carry forward of capital underspends from 2018/19.  
The projected outturn for the year is £3.3 million – majority of the 
variance due to re-profiling asset management projects and fleet 
purchases

Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 31st December 2019 totalled £13.8 million. 

The Ascent loan and debenture currently stands at £19 million.
 Council borrowing at 31st December 2019 totalled £10 million 

(relates to the Ascent loan)
 The Council’s net interest income receipts are projected to be 

£64,310 above budget.
Revenue Collection
 83.92% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 2019 

compared to 84.33% for the same period last year.
 80.45% of Business Rates was collected by 31st December 2019 

compared with 80.92% for the same period last year.
Variances in payments plans are contributing to the above year-on-year 
difference
 At the end of the third quarter debt that was over 60 days old was 

£70,430 which compares with £133,450 at 31st December 2018 

Appendix A

Procurement Headlines for the third quarter are:
 9 procurement activities were completed 
 The Procurement forward plan includes 44 procurement activities for 

completion in 2019/20 (either SMDC only or joint)
 At the 31st December 2019, 63% of procurement activity undertaken 

was on the forward plan and the Council paid 97% of its invoices 
within 30 days during the year

 The Council’s procurement rules have been updated to reflect the 
updated EU procurement thresholds

Appendix B 

Performance The headlines for the third quarter are:
 73% of the key performance indicators are on target 
 The Council received 52 complaints and 46 compliments in the Third 

Quarter. Repeat complaints and response times both on track

Appendix C

Page 20



4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 
subject of this report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 Detailed analysis is contained within the main body of the Report.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2 Workforce
None.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 
and Diversity policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.5 Legal
None.

16.6 Sustainability
None.

6.7   External Consultation
  None.

6.8          Risk A    Risk  Assessment
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Various background working papers Moorlands House Claire Hazeldene
01538 395400 Ext. 4191
Vanessa Higgins 
01538 395400 Ext. 4195

6.4

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 

APPENDIX A

2019/20

Third Quarter 
 Financial 

Review

 

Page 23



2

1.      Background and Introduction

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 
recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to 
members. This is the third report for 2019/20.

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2019/20 with 
particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. Specific 
considerations are as follows:

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 
performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income 
and expenditure and the funding received by the Council. 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – considers 
progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast for 
2019/20. 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 4) – highlights the 
performance of the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and 
Fleet services.

 Capital Programme (Section 5) – provides an update to Members on 
progress against the Council’s capital plan 

 Treasury Management (Section 6) – sets out the key statistics in terms of 
investments and borrowings;

 Revenue Collection (Section 7) – considers progress-to-date in collecting 
the Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts.

Page 24



3

2. General Fund Revenue Account

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations in income and 
expenditure and funding received by the Council. 

Service (with staff) 2019/20
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2019/20

Variance
Contribution 
to / (Use of) 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Net Variance

 £ £ £ £ £
Alliance Leadership Team 51,780 54,180 2,400 - 2,400
Audit 9,940 8,440 (1,500) - (1,500)
ICT 662,530 647,530 (15,000) - (15,000)
Human Resources 55,360 54,260 (1,100) - (1,100)
Member Services 308,800 282,800 (26,000) - (26,000)
Property Services 470,230 445,900 (24,330) - (24,330)
Benefits (230,610) (222,610) 8,000 (16,000) (8,000)
Planning Applications (342,460) (398,730) (56,270) 50,000 (6,270)
Building Control 18,640 11,310 (7,330) - (7,330)
Customer Services 103,800 82,800 (21,000) - (21,000)
Legal Services 64,520 54,520 (10,000) - (10,000)
Electoral Services 97,790 209,790 112,000 (120,000) (8,000)
Licensing and Land Charges (211,560) (211,560) - - -
Regeneration 870 (34,140) (35,010) - (35,010)
Communities and Cultural 171,680 163,980 (7,700) (18,300) (26,000)
Housing Strategy 43,110 60,110 17,000 (17,000) -
Transformation 6,760 8,870 2,110 - 2,110
Community Safety and Enforcement 159,550 149,550 (10,000) - (10,000)
Finance Income & Procurement (202,210) (120,570) 81,640 - 81,640
Corporate Finance* 5,941,710 5,930,090 (11,620) - (11,620)
Waste Collection 1,977,060 2,041,410 64,350 - 64,350
Street Scene 271,270 269,270 (2,000) (12,000) (14,000)
Leisure Services 181,210 154,810 (26,400) 17,000 (9,400)
Horticulture 499,020 494,530 (4,490) (58,140) (62,630)
Environmental Health (24,070) (35,390) (11,320) - (11,320)
      
Net Total of Services 10,084,720 10,101,150 16,430 (158,010)
     
Net Interest (407,450) (471,760) (64,310) (64,310)
 9,677,270 9,629,390 (47,880) (174,440) (222,320)
Funding    
- external (9,672,710) (9,601,570) 71,140 71,140
- reserves contribution to/(from)
     general contingency 3,140 3,140 - -
     earmarked (7,700) (174,440) (166,740) 174,440 7,700
    Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (143,480) (143,480) - (143,480)
    

* Staff budgets are currently budgeted within Corporate Finance.

2.2. A revenue budget of £9,677,270 was set for 2019/20.  The table above shows how 
this budget has been allocated to services.

2.3. The Q3 projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for the year is 
£9,533,790. This represents a projected surplus for the year of £143,480.

Page 25



4

2.4. The above table shows where a service is utilising reserves that have been 
previously set aside to fund a specific purpose, or, where funds have been received 
in year, which will then be used to fund a specific purpose in the future, and so have 
been transferred to reserves. Details of these movements are provided in paragraph 
2.9.

2.5. The explanations provided below are where the net variance against budget on a 
service area is greater than or less than £50,000:

2.6. There is one area of significant underspend.  

 Horticulture (£62,630 underspend): The service is recording underspends in 
regard to grounds and equipment maintenance across a range of sites where 
reactive demand has not to date been as high as anticipated.

2.7. There are two areas of significant underspend:

 Waste Collection (£64,350 overspend): The service is being taken into an 
overspend position as a result of a £35,000 shortfall against recycling credit 
income (proportionally offset by £23,000 additional Trade Waste income) and 
the additional contractual payments to Alliance Environmental Services (AES) 
(detailed in Section 4).

 Finance, Income and Procurement (£81,640 overspend); While collection 
rates remain on target, the income generated from summons activity is 
predicted to be some £60,000 below original expectations (this will be reviewed 
as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan update). Local Taxation is also 
making unbudgeted spend, of some £30,000 which is related to an external 
review of business premises which is expected to identify additions to the 
business rates taxbase. As the emerging income streams are expected to 
accrue in future years there is a delay between the in-year spend and the 
rewards that will accrue.

   
2.8. The £64,310 underspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 6.

2.9. The level of funding anticipated for the year is £95,600 above that budgeted due to 
the following:

External Funding: (£71,140 reduction)

Business Rates Retention £71,140 net shortfall made up of:

 Additional retention of £146,910: The budget included a conservative estimate 

of the windfall anticipated from the Council’s membership of the 2019/20 75% 
business rates retention pilot, which is estimated to be exceeded.

 Offset by Reduced retention of £218,050: Section 31 grants due to the authority 
are anticipated to be lower than at budget setting, this relates particularly to 
Retail discount which was estimated on the basis of government criteria for the 
relief at budget setting, but is lower in practice due to State Aid implications. The 
shortfall on the general fund from the reduced grant will be offset over time by a 
larger surplus on the collection fund from the reduced relief awarded, which will 
be distributed in future years.

Page 26



5

Use of Reserves (£166,740 increase)

 The original budget for 2019/20 assumed a contribution of £3,140 into general 
fund contingency and a £7,700 use of earmarked reserves (Net use of £4,560 in 
the year)

 The £166,740 variance in reserve usage reported in table 2.1 reflects that 
instead of using the £7,700 in earmarked reserves a net drawdown of £174,440 
is expected. This is detailed below:

 
 Benefits £16,000 use: monies previously earmarked to address service 

budget pressures arising out of changes to the benefits process
 Planning Applications £50,000 contribution: a £50,000 grant received 

from Government, to support the Council in protecting the Green Belt, is 
being set aside and earmarked to fund future demands on the service.

 Electoral Services £120,000 use: this is the drawdown to help cover the 
costs of the four yearly local election held in May.  It is the mechanism that 
spreads the cost of the District’s elections over the term of an 
administration.

 Communities and Cultural £18,300 use: It is anticipated that certain 
spend in the year will be appropriate for funding out of monies earmarked in 
prior years from various New Burdens grants received by the Council.

 Housing Strategy £17,000 use: A drawdown is anticipated out of reserves, 
earmarked to address Homelessness issues, to fund initiatives taking place 
this year.

 Street Scene £12,000 use: These monies, set aside in 2018/19 to fund 
costs of the Keep Britain Tidy campaign, are to be applied in year.

 Leisure Services £17,000 contribution: The authority has received a 
distribution of funds from Sport Across Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent 
(SASSOT) which is being set aside to support future sport promotion 
activities.

 Horticulture £58,140 use: This represents a £7,700 use of S106 monies, 
applied to support spend on amenity sites in the district, offset by a 
contribution of £2,500 into a sinking fund for the future replacement of the 
artificial surface of a bowling green at St. Lawrence Recreation Ground. A 
payment of £52,942 has been made to Biddulph Town Council out of the 
Open Spaces budget. This is the transfer of S106 monies received in 
previous years and earmarked for use in the Biddulph Area.  An equivalent 
amount is being drawn from the earmarked S106 reserve to fund this 
transfer. 

Page 27



6

3. Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme

3.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2019/20.

3.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2019) included 
the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
targeting savings of £3.14 million. 

3.3. The Strategy has five main areas of focus:

 Major Procurements – including waste collection and leisure
 Asset Management Plan
 Growth
 Income Generation
 Rationalisation

3.4. The savings requirement for 2019/20 totals £842,000 (after taking into account 
the budget set in February 2019 and the adjustment made following the outturn in 
2018/19)  The major focus of the savings programme in 2019/20 is on growth, 
income generation and major procurements.

3.5. At the end of Quarter Three, £860,250 has been realised against the overall 
Efficiency Programme, which includes significant savings arising out of the 
procurement of a new leisure management contract. The saving from this 
procurement was realised 12 months earlier than anticipated in the original 
Efficiency Programme (where it was expected to be realised in 2020/21). 
Significant savings have also arisen out of the retendering of the Councils’ 
contract for insurance services.

3.6. Although, this gives a healthy look to the 2019/20 savings position and offsets the 
shortfall from 2018/19, there remains a savings target of over £1 million in 
2020/21 and 2021/22 still to achieve. In excess of 50% of this has been already 
identified through the commissioning arrangements with Alliance Environmental 
Services (AES).    

3.7. It is however important that the focus over the next year is shifted to some of the 
income-related savings, included in the early years of the Efficiency Programme, 
which have not been fully realised.

3.8. The Council carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 
Strategy, which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 
programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve currently stands at £492,000. 
It has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in previous years so it remains 
intact to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency 
Programme.

Page 28



7

4. Alliance Environmental Services

4.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd (AES) (the company created with a vision to deliver 
waste, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services in the Staffordshire 
Moorlands and High Peak areas in conjunction with ANSA, which is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council).

4.2. Phase 1 of the transfer of services commenced on 7th August 2017 to deliver High 
Peak Borough Council waste collection services. Phase 2 began on 1st July 2018 
to deliver waste collection services to Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and 
fleet management services to both Councils.

Alliance Environmental Service’s financial performance

4.3. The AES business plan for all services delivered to both Councils included an 
anticipated operating profit of £127,185. The draft outturn provided at the end of the 
second quarter shows that a profit of £81,628 is anticipated by the end of the year; 
resulting in a shortfall of £45,557 against the budget. The outturn includes the 
crystallised risk items forecast by AES as payable by the Councils (£441,815) 

2019-2020 Budget Draft outturn Variance

£ £ £
Turnover (7,676,264) (7,923,164) (246,900)
Cost of sales 6,873,073 7,127,749 254,676
Gross profit (803,191) (795,415) 7,776

Administrative & Other 
Expenses 676,006 713,787 37,781

(Profit)/ Loss (127,185) (81,628) 45,557

Impact on the Council’s budgets

4.4. The table below shows in more detail the outturn on the AES contract included in 
the General Fund Revenue Account:

2019-20 £
  
AES Contract budget 3,275,520
Former vehicle contract hire budget 231,380
Available budget 3,506,900
  
Management fee 3,316,443
Forecast in-year risk items 281,935
Total management fee payable 3,598,378
Allocation of Joint Operation profit (42,932)
Net total 3,555,446
  
Variance to budget 48,546

Page 29



8

4.5. In addition to the service budgets for the management fee (contract budget), it has 
been recognised that savings on former contract hire vehicle budgets have been 
achieved as a direct result of the change in vehicle provision upon cessation of the 
SFS contract (the Council’s former provider of contract hire vehicles). Therefore, 
savings of £231,380 have been utilised to support the forecast waste vehicle and 
other fleet ‘risk items’.

4.6. The AES Business Plan includes forecast expenditure recognised initially as ‘risk 
items’ which may or may not crystallise into actual costs/payments or may be 
absorbed into the existing management fee paid on account. The current forecast 
anticipates that £281,935 of these risk items will crystallise. £246,330 of these risk 
items relates to the cost of short-term hire of waste vehicles and other fleet costs 
including grounds maintenance equipment which falls under the ‘Fleet’ group.  The 
contract states that any profits realised in excess of the budget will be used to 
offset this amount. The remaining £35,605 relates to contract pressures forecast by 
AES on increasing costs of disposal and reducing income on recyclate. These are 
currently forecast by AES on a prudent risk based approach, but the company is 
working to negotiate on prices or offset with savings in other areas.

4.7. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is incorporated in to the 
Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to separate 
group accounts being reported. The profit is therefore apportioned between the two 
Councils and the respective services in line with the input of original budgeted 
resources from each department. The Council’s share of the forecast profit at the 
end of quarter 3 is £42,932 and is offset against the management fee costs.

Efficiencies

4.8. The AES related efficiency targets are being reprofiled as part of the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan, owing to the later than anticipated start of Phase 3 of 
the company. The revised efficiency programme anticipates £224,000 being 
generated in savings from both AES and Council operated budgets in 2019/20 – 
final progress against this will be reported in the Quarter Four report. 

Page 30



9

5.       Capital Programme 

5.1. This section of the report provides an update on the Council’s Capital Programme.

5.2. The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund Capital 
Programme position at 31st December 2019. Further detail – on a scheme by 
scheme basis – is contained in Annex A:

Service
 

2019/20 
Approved 

Budget 
Q3 

Changes 
2019/20 
Revised  
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2019/20

Expected 
Variance 
2019/20

£ £ £ £ £
Housing Standards 1,256,650               -   1,256,650 1,211,000 (45,650)
Property Services 1,545,760               -   1,545,760 596,870 (948,890)
ICT 255,800               -   255,800 138,000 (117,800)
Fleet Management 2,098,610               -   2,098,610 1,285,100 (813,510)
CCTV 275,100               -   275,100              -   (275,100)
Regeneration 75,900               -   75,900 53,980 (21,920)
Horticulture 294,540               -   294,540 22,620 (271,920)

5,802,360               -   5,802,360 3,307,570 (2,494,790)
Funding:      
External  Contributions 1,238,390 352,340 1,590,730 1,211,000 (379,730)
Capital Receipts 40,000               -   40,000              -   (40,000)
Capital Reserves 1,439,564 60,436 1,500,000 1,285,100 (214,900)
Earmarked Reserves  220,850 220,850              -   (220,850)
Borrowing 3,084,406 (633,626) 2,450,780 811,470 (1,639,310)

5,802,360               -   5,802,360 3,307,570 (2,494,790)

5.3. The 2019/20 General Fund Capital Budget as updated and approved by Cabinet on 
8th October 2019 was set at £5,802,360

5.5 There are five significant capital expenditure variances:

 Property (£948,890 underspend) A number of projects have been re-profiled 
into future years following the on-going review and prioritisation of works 
contained within the Asset Management Plan

 ICT (£117,800 underspend) – the anticipated underspend is due to a number of 
changes made to requirements for new and upgrades of existing ICT systems.  
The underspend will be carried forward into 2020/21 to meet commitments which 
primarily relate to the implementation of a new system to aid waste collection 
processes and the migration of the cash receipting system.

 Fleet Management (£813,510 underspend) following transfer of the waste 
collection service to Alliance Environmental Services (AES), new fleet 
management arrangements are in place, vehicles are now directly purchased by 
the Council. The underspend reflects the revised timing of acquisitions of fleet 
vehicles which will take place over the next four years 

Page 31



10

 CCTV (£275,100 underspend); Upgrade of CCTV systems including 
replacement of cameras has been commissioned with work expected to be 
completed in April 2020

 Horticulture (£271,920 underspend) Projects to improve Cheadle recreational 
facilities & Brough Park are recording an in year underspend; the former which 
included investment into Tean Road recreation ground has been completed. 
Brough Park works are on-going - phase two works which comprise plans to 
enhance play facilities and access to John Hall Gardens are subject to further 
report and approval by members; £131,920 has been re-profiled into 20/21 to 
support the proposals..

5.7 The significant changes to the funding requirements are set out below:

 Disabled Facilities Grants – The level of funding received to support the grants 
programme is £352,340 above that budgeted, however, this funding is not 
expected to be utilised in the current year.

 Capital & Earmarked Reserves have been increased to reflect the revised level 
of funding available; capital investment reserve now totals £1,500,000 and the 
Community Safety earmarked reserve of £220,850 has been allocated towards 
the replacement and upgrade of CCTV equipment.

 Borrowing requirement Overall capital funding which will be applied to the 
2019/20 Capital Programme is lower than forecast, reflecting the revised timing of 
capital spend, hence a reduced borrowing requirement of £811,470 against the 
revised budget.

Page 32



11

6. Treasury Management

6.1. This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in 
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a high 
level treasury management summary. The Audit and Accounts Committee receives 
detailed operational updates on treasury management.

Investments

6.2. Cash Investments held on the 31st December 2019 totalled £13.8 million. Interest 
earned on these investments by the end of the third quarter totalled £66,290 and 
the average level of funds available for investment was £11.4 million.

6.3. The Council budgeted to receive £117,580 in investment income in 2019/20. A 
shortfall of £28,000 is anticipated against this budget is due to the continuation of 
internal borrowing which reduces the level of funds available for investment and 
lower interest rates than forecast.

     Ascent Joint Venture

6.4. The Council has a debenture of £5 million paying 2% and loan of £14 million paying 
an average 3.53% with Ascent, the joint venture company established to deliver 
affordable housing across the District.

6.5. A report was submitted to Cabinet on 18th June 2019 (exempt by the virtue of 
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
reviewing the Ascent Business Plan and Delivery Model. Following this report the 
current expectation is that the original loan and debenture will be returned to the 
Council from Ascent and a new loan arrangement direct to Your Housing is 
proposed.

6.6. The investment income budget was based on the original investments continuing: 
£100,000 income from the debenture and £484,270 from the loan. A surplus on 
income of £9,310 is forecast subject to the timing of any new arrangements.

     Borrowing

6.7. Total debt outstanding as at 31st December 2019 totalled £10 million; this funds 
the Ascent loan. The Council budgeted to incur £294,390 in interest charges in 
2019/20. This was based on externally funding the full existing Ascent loan balance 
of £14 million and a £2.8 million general fund borrowing requirement in the current 
year capital programme.  £4 million of the Ascent loan is internally funded at the 
end of the third quarter and there has been no ‘new’ borrowing undertaken for the 
general fund. Therefore, an underspend of £83,000 is anticipated against the 
budget.

Page 33



12

7. Revenue Collection

7.1. This section of the report details progress to date in collecting the Council Tax, 
Business Rates and Sundry Debt.

7.2. The Quarter 3 collection rate outturn for the year 2019/20 was as follows:

 Council Tax – 83.92% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 2019, 
compared to 84.33% for the same period last year.

 Business Rates – 80.45% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 
2019, compared to 80.92% for the same period last year. It is understood that 
variations in payment plans are contributing to this year-on-year variance, and 
a reduction in performance is not anticipated at the end of the year.

7.3 At the end of quarter three the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old was 
£70,434.48 which compares with £133,452 at 31st December 2018.  

Page 34



13

ANNEX A

Capital Programme Update 30th December 2019

Capital Schemes
2019/20 

Approved 
Budget 

Q3 
Changes 

2019/20 
Revised  
Budget

Expected 
Outturn 
2019/20

Expected 
Variance 
2019/20

£ £ £ £ £

Housing Standards      
Disabled Facilities Grants 1,211,000              -   1,211,000 1,211,000               -   
Home Repairs Grants 15,650              -   15,650              -   (15,650)
Landlord Accreditation Scheme 30,000              -   30,000              -   (30,000)

Total Environmental Health 1,256,650              -   1,256,650 1,211,000      (45,650) 
Property Services      
Asset Management Plan 1,545,760              -   1,545,760 596,870 (948,890)

 Total Property 1,545,760              -   1,545,760 596,870 (948,890)
ICT 255,800  255,800 138,000 (117,800)

 Total ICT 255,800              -   255,800 138,000 (117,800)
Other Schemes      
Vehicle & Plant Purchase 2,098,610              -    2,098,610 1,285,100 (813,510)
CCTV - Upgrade 275,100              -       275,100              -   (275,100)

Total Other Schemes  2,373,710              -    2,373,710 1,285,100 (1,088,610)
Regeneration      
Moorlands Partnership Grants 75,900              -   75,900 53,980 (21,920)

Total Regeneration 75,900              -   75,900 53,980 (21,920)
Horticulture      
Play - Projects 294,540              -   294,540 22,620 (271,920)

Total Horticulture 294,540              -   294,540 22,620 (271,920)
      

Total Programme 5,802,360              -   5,802,360 3,307,570 (2,494,790)

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

2019/20

Third Quarter
 Procurement 

Review

Page 37



1. Introduction

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was agreed 
by Full Council in February 2017.

1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives link 
closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  The key 
actions in in the strategy were:

 Delivery of cashable efficiency savings to support the Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy by tendering, retendering and renegotiating of 
contracts.

 Development and embedding a professional procurement unit of excellence 
to deliver on going efficiency savings for the Councils

 Revising Procurement Procedure Rules to support transparency, timeliness 
of contract award and greater control – these have now been updated

 Expanding the usage of electronic procurement systems for works as 
appropriate

 Increasing the levels of spend covered by the contract
 Implementation of e-tendering
 Supporting the local economy by increasing the number of procurement 

opportunities advertised and adoption of a local business concordat

1.4 The Procurement Strategy is now due for updating and is scheduled for 
presentation during 2020. 

Page 38



2. Third Quarter Completed Procurements

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function during the third quarter October 
– December 2019 is summarised below:

Third Quarter High Value 
(> £181,000)

Low Value    
(< £181,000)

Total

SMDC Only - 5 5
JOINT (SM/HP) - 4 4

- 9 9

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 9 procurements exercises reviewed and completed 
during quarter three.

2.3 Procurement savings will continue to be monitored throughout the year and any 
savings identified will be offset against the efficiency programme.

Page 39



3. 2019/20 Procurement Forward Plan

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for completion or starting in 
2019/20.

2019/20
Activity

High Value 
(> £181,000k)

 Low Value
 (< £181,000k) Total

SMDC 2 12 14
JOINT (SM/HP) 5 25 30

7 37 44

3.2 It should be noted that some of these contracts are at initial term expiry but have 
provision for permitted extensions and therefore may not be subject to re-tender in 
19/20.

3.3 In addition to the above, there are 98 listed entries brought forward from previous 
years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined). 

3.4 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 
delivery by the end of 2019/20 includes:

 Leek Markets Logistic Support (Market stalls)
 IT Desktop Support Contract
 Arboricultural Works Framework

Page 40



4. Procurement Performance

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity 
and the payment of suppliers.

4.2 Performance for the second quarter is highlighted below:

Performance Indicator Target Performance at 31st 
Dec 2019

% of Alliance Procurement Activity 
on Forward Plan 72% 63%

Annual contract spend as % of 
gross expenditure budget 89% 84%

% of invoices paid within 30 days 96% 97%

  Performance Indicators – targets off track

4.3 Percentage of Alliance Procurement Activity on Forward Plan

During third quarter, Procurement undertook review meetings with Service areas 
to populate the forward plan for the remainder 19/20 and plan for 20/21.  It is 
anticipated that the outcome of these reviews will result in performance 
improvement to achieve target by the end of the fourth quarter.

It should be noted that reactive and urgent procurements cannot be eliminated, but 
we endeavour to achieve good communication with Service areas to inform us of 
planned activity that they have include in their service delivery programmes.

4.4 Annual contract spend as % of gross expenditure budget

Procurement continue to progress the procurement forward plan to achieve higher 
proportions of contracted supply, service and works arrangements which has 
improved in quarter three as contracts procured earlier in the year start and we 
should see further improvement in the fourth quarter to achieve target by end of 
this financial year.

Page 41



5. Revised EU Threshold Changes

5.1 Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) thresholds indicate at what value a 
Public Contract for supplies, services or works must be advertised.  It is mandatory 
for public sector contracting authorities to adhere to these regulations.

5.2 The European Commission published the updated procurement thresholds for 
2020 and 2021 in January 2020. The new procurement threshold values will apply 
to contracts advertised on and after 1st January 2020.

5.3 The revised thresholds below are exclusive of VAT and relate to the full life of the 
Contract:

PUBLIC CONTRACTS – 2020 / 2021 £ 

Works Contracts  4,733,252
Small Lots  884,720
Supply, Services and Design Contracts 189,330
Small Lots 70,778
Social and other specific Services
Light Touch Regime 663,540

Concession Contracts 4,733,252

5.4 There is still much uncertainty about what will happen next with a confirmed Brexit 
delay until 31st January 2020.  For now we remain as part of European Union and 
therefore the Council is subject to adherence to the above thresholds for 
contracting.

5.5 The Council’s Procurement Procedure Rules for Authorisation to procure and 
award contracts are requested to be updated to reflect the changes in the new 
thresholds.  For procurements which commence after 1st January 2020 the 
revised thresholds as detailed in Annex C (see below table) of the Procurement 
Procedure Rules will apply:

SUMMARY OF AUTHORITY TO PROCURE AND AWARD THRESHOLDS

Award and Exemptions Authorisation Limits:

Total Contract Value    (£) Authorisation Authorisation By
<25,000 Head of Service / 

Executive Director
Procurement Web-form

>25,000 - <189,330
 (EU Service Threshold)

Executive Director / 
Chief Executive

Procurement Web-form

>189,330  (EU Service 
Threshold) - <1,000,000

Delegated Member 
Decision

Delegated Member 
Report (Portfolio Holder 
for Procurement and the 

relevant service area)
>1,000,000* Cabinet SMDC Committee Report

* Committee reports may be presented where the total contract value is less than £1,000,000 - 
where considered appropriate due to the nature of the procurement or where it relates to a key 
decision

Page 42



ANNEX A

Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed - SMDC

Contract Title Brief contract 
description

Recurring 
or One Off 

Service Area Procedure Award Detail Term / 
Duration

 Total 
Contract 
Value £    

Smithfield Centre 
Leek

Public 
Conveniences
Refurbishment

Refurbishment of 
Smithfield  Public 
Conveniences 

One Off Assets Open 
Tender

Roy Wright & 
Co Ltd

12 wks 89,492

Restoration of 
Funerary 
Monuments 

Works Contractor

Contractor appointment 
through the Consultants 
Smith and Roper for the 
completion of works at 
various sites

One Off Regeneration Contract 
Variation

Paul 
Beardmore

4 months 16,178

SMDC Green 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan

Specialist external Advice 
to support SMDC Green 
Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan

One Off Regeneration Single 
Source

Staffordshire 
Wildlife Trust

12 
months

15,000

Biddulph - 
Physical Outreach 
programmes

Supporting physical 
activity strategy - project 
Biddulph

Recurring Service 
Commissioning

Single 
Source

Biddulph 
Youth and 
Community 
Zone (BYCZ)

12 
months

9,989

Replacement 
fencing Biddulph 
Grange

Replacement section of 
boundary fencing at 
Biddulph Grange Country 
Park

One Off Service 
Commissioning

Request for 
Quotations 
(RFQ)

A & R Fencing 
Contractors 
Ltd

12 wks 6,950

Page 43



Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC)
 

Contract Title Brief contract 
description

Recurring 
or One Off 

Service Area Procedure Award Detail Term / 
Duration

 Total 
Contract 
Value £    

Boundary Wall 
Repairs Works 
Closed 
Churchyards 
(High Peak & 
Staffordshire 
Moorlands)

Minor Works Contract 

Various Boundary Wall 
repair works at Closed 
Churchyards in both 
areas

One Off Assets Open 
Tender

Alliance Group 
Solutions

12 
months

176,583

IT Software 
System Purchase

Corporate Asset 
and Information 
Management 
System (CAIMS)

Purchase of a Web 
based Asset 
management system for 
Public Buildings across 
the Alliance

Implementation, Annual 
Licence and Hosting 

Recurring Transformation Framework
Further 
Competition 

Crown 
Commercial 
G Cloud 
Framework

Concerto 
Support 
Services Ltd

3 yrs £59,600

(50% per 
Authority)

Play Area 
surfacing repairs 

Green Lane 
Buxton and 
Westwood Rec 
Leek

Repair of worn and 
damaged ‘Wetpour’ 
resurfacing works at 
Green Lane Buxton and 
Westwood Recreational 
Ground Leek

One Off Service 
Commissioning

Request for 
Quotations 
(RFQ)

Soft Surfaces 
Ltd

4 wks 6,970

Grounds 
Equipment - 
Weed and Moss 
Removal 
Machines

Replacement equipment 
for Streets Weed Control

One Off Direct 
Services

Grounds 
Maintenance

Request for 
Quotations 
(RFQ)

Spa Power 
Machinery

Supply 
Only

5,097

Page 44



Staffs Moorlands Performance & Customer Feedback Report: April to December 2019 (Q3)

P
age 45



73%

27%

On Track Off Track
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

41% 43%

16%

Better Weaker No change
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Staffordshire Moorlands Q3 Summary 

The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April to December 2019 in 
relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The report also provides an overview of 
the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints and the level of comments and 
compliments.      

Performance Overview 

There are 104 ‘monthly’, ‘quarterly’, and ‘annual only’ reported performance measures at Staffs Moorlands (nine fewer than last year). The 
chart below shows the results from April to December 2019, which are 8% lower than last year with 73% currently ‘on track’. The actions being 
taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at the end of this report.

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the 2019-2023 Corporate 
Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these projects / actions. 

Customer Feedback Overview 

There has been a 25% reduction in complaints during the first nine months of 2019/20 and both repeat complaints and performance in 
handing complaints in 10 days is ahead of target. Further information about lessons learned is included in the report.   

Off Track

In danger of going off Track

On Track

Not yet started / Decision 
awaited

Complete / Closed

P
age 46



On Track Off Track
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

SM Aim 1: December Results 2019/20

Better Weaker No Change
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

SM Aim 1: December Trends 2019/20 

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work 

There have been no changes to the council’s profile under aim one. The use of temporary accommodation has risen above target although by 
only one case and benefits change of circs processing remains ‘off track’ but this figure is improving. The external sports funding target may 
not meet its £60k target at SMDC and stands at just £2.5k currently with further bids to be determined.  

      

Celebrating Success: 

At the end of December 2019 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 homelessness prevention
 processing benefit new claims

P
age 47



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Continuing Priority Actions Status Commentary – December 
Develop a strategy for further 
development of affordable and specialist 
housing

Continuing to review the options for the future of Ascent.

Complete the review of the CCTV system 
and implement the agreed 
recommendations

Contractor has been selected; the next stage is to obtain a timeline for the works once the 
contracts have been received.

Develop and implement an ongoing 
leisure facilities improvement plan 
focused on improving the health and 
well- being of residents  

A report was presented to the Service Delivery O & S panel in November detailing our 
proposed next steps in obtaining consultancy support in order to facilitate our decision 
making for facility improvements needed in the future. We are working with Sport England to 
develop a specification for this work and aim to receive tenders in early 2020. We hope to 
report back to members in late 2020 with the outcome of this work and the proposed next 
steps.

Continuing Influencing actions
Ensuring effective health provision 
particularly for the elderly

On 17th July the panel dealt with an urgent item of business: ' NHS England published its annual Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) assessment on July 11th. Out of 195 CCGs, 11 were graded as inadequate 
and two of these are in North Staffordshire. I would like to add this item to the agenda for discussion but 
also propose that “The Chair of SMDC Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel writes to Marcus Warnes and 
asks him to explain what he intends to do in order for North Staffordshire to provide the ‘outstanding’ 
practices its citizens deserve.” 
The panel agreed 
1. A vote of no confidence  in the Leadership Team of the CCG 
2. For a letter to be sent to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care to urge the Department to 
place the CCG into special measures;
3. For Marcus Warnes to be invited to attend a meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel, to 
provide a copy of an action plan and explain how the organisation planned to improve the NHS England 
rating
4. For a full copy of the NHS England report to be requested
On 2nd September 2019 a special meeting of the Panel was arranged at which, Marcus Warnes – 
Accountable Officer, North Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, was in attendance in response to 
the recent Annual NHS England Assessment.
The Panel received a presentation delivered by David Pearson (Vice Chair) of the Staffordshire and Stoke 

P
age 48



on Trent Sustainability and Transformation Partnership at its meeting on 11th September 2019

New Priority / Influencing Actions – The following actions are all new to the 2019-2023 Corporate Plans. The project 
delivery mechanism for each is being set up through the Transformation Board and updates will begin as each project 
launches. 
 Develop and implement an outdoor leisure facilities improvement plan focused around the 'sports village' concept

 Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions for homeowners and private tenants 

 Refresh the Councils Communication Strategy in order to ensure that there is a more effective dialogue with residents

 Review the Council's community safety arrangements in order to maintain strong partnerships with community groups

 Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy in order to integrate communities and sports clubs into the delivery of its objectives

 Combating illegal money lenders such as loan sharks
 Reducing crime, the fear of crime and ASB

Managing our strategic risks

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim One:

 Meeting the increased and changing demands on council services caused by demographic changes in the local population (including an 
aging population)

 The ability to effectively engage with our communities
 Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults (meeting the legal duty)
 Influencing strategic relationships at county and regional level in support of local area objectives

P
age 49



On Track Off Track
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

 SM Aim 2 : December Results 
2019/20

Better Weaker No Change
0%

20%
40%
60%
80%

100%

SM Aim 2 : December Trends 
2019/20

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money

Aim two shows a small (6%) reduction at Staffs Moorlands due to increased phone contact during the December elections but face to face and 
web interactions are ‘on track’.  

Celebrating Success:    

At the end of December 2019 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 complaint handling and repeat issues
 internal audit recommendations implemented
 IT systems and network availability 
 sickness absence

 

P
age 50



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Continuing Priority Actions Status Commentary – December
Continue to embed good 
information management practices 
through the ASSURED framework

The GDPR action plan, including audit actions, is on track. Progress is monitored through the 
Information Governance Group. 
The online GDPR training package has been rolled out across the organisation, further in-
depth training will be arranged for relevant staff. 
Information Asset Registers have been reviewed and a programme of challenge sessions 
commenced in October where managers will be invited to attend Information Governance 
Group to review their registers. Work is ongoing with contractors and suppliers to ensure 
adequate GDPR clauses are in place.

Develop and implement a plan to 
identify new and innovative ways of 
generating income

All income generation challenge meetings have been completed, a target has been included 
as part of the new efficiency and rationalisation strategy 2017/18 – 20/21. Updates for 
various streams: 
Fees and charges- Next review for 2019/20 budget setting/MTFP. A cash up against 
efficiency target to be undertaken during 2019/20. Currently finalising the fees and charges 
templates to be issued to services in the next few weeks. Also including statutory fees 
review. Focus required on car park charges.
Advertising/Sponsorship - A new project group has been established, a meeting took place 
at the beginning of November and actions and outcomes are now in place to enable the 
project to progress. Next meeting 17/12/19. 
Affordable Housing - Continuing to review options for the future of Ascent.
Empty Homes-The empty property working group has scheduled quarterly meetings to 
review actions/ progress contributing to the Empty Property Strategy:
Annual Council Tax review to inform New Homes Bonus allocation is ongoing, with letters 
sent to empty property owners and property inspections pending. Initial feedback from 
period 2-31.8.19; 50% return rate, with 80 SM and 65 HP occupied properties identified. 
After this exercise, a questionnaire survey shall be sent to empty property owners starting 
with High Peak. Analysis of responses will identify why properties remain empty and what 
action/ assistance would help to effectively bring properties back into use.
The EPIC purchase and repair scheme operating across Staffordshire Moorlands has brought 
4 empty properties back into use to date. EPIC assisting with ongoing identified property.
11 former HPBC properties sold through right to buy have been identified as empty. This is a 
low proportion equivalent to 1% of all empty properties and <1% of those sold through right 
to buy. A further report to be produced regarding buying back RTB's. 

P
age 51



Continuing Priority Actions Status Commentary – December
Refresh and implement the Asset 
Management Plan, including a 
review of public estate, and ensure 
adequate facilities management 
arrangements are in place

Facilities Management: An agreement to extend has been made with DCC with 3 months 
notice. The Asset Management Plan is pending the implementation of the new Asset 
Management system. 

New Priority Actions - The following actions are all new to the 2019-2023 Corporate Plans. The project delivery 
mechanism for each is being set up through the Transformation Board and updates will begin as each project launches.
 Develop an Access to Services Strategy to ensure that Council services are accessible to all
 Implement the Council's Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (This will focus on a number of projects including procurement, 

income generation, trading, advertising and sponsorship, etc)
 Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy to ensure that our workforce is developed effectively
 Develop a new procurement strategy with a focus on spending money locally
 Develop a new ICT strategy to enhance and support the delivery of services

Managing our strategic risks

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim Two:

 Delivery of MTFP through the Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy
 Staff resources and retention
 Effective contract management
 Effective Information Governance arrangements (breach of data protection regulations)
 Maintenance of Council's portfolio of public buildings assets 
 Investment into council assets and long term planning
 Financial and Legislative impacts from world events e.g. Brexit 
 Cyber risk and IT Security

P
age 52



On Track Off Track
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

SM Aim 3: December Results 
2019/20 

Better Weaker No Change
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

SM Aim 3 : December Trends 
2019/20 

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and 
villages  

The Council’s results remain unchanged with strong performances 
under this Aim and all Planning processing targets currently on track.   

Celebrating Success:    

At the end of December 2019 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 major, minor and other planning applications processed on time
 major and minor developments allowed on appeal

Managing our strategic risks

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim Three:

 External funding for growth / regeneration schemes

P
age 53



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Continuing Priority Actions Status Commentary - December
Develop and implement plans to extend the 
public market operations 

A report has been prepared for the changes to Leek market practices ready for the 
November committee. The market programme has been prepared and costed and a 
report for funding will be included in the committee meeting. A tender specification 
for CityB services has been issued -no responses received, need to review tender spec 
and options for provision of stalls.

Support the development of Cornhill and 
improved rail links

Casey Group preparing business case to support application to Homes England. A 
meeting took place at the end of September.  An application to HE small sites fund has 
been prepared.

Support the development of the former 
Churnet Works site in Leek

New industrial units: Sainsbury's site (Churnet Works). There are discussions with the 
developer regarding the freehold price and the timescale has slipped due to the on-
going negotiations. The planning application will not be submitted by the developer 
until the price has been agreed. If the price can be agreed within budget tolerance for 
capital purchase, formal decision to approve purchase will be required. Revised offer 
received and being considered.

Adopt a new Local Plan The consultation on modifications to the local plan closed at the end of October. This 
will be issued to the inspector to see if we need to hold further hearing sessions during 
December. The inspector has determined that further hearings will be necessary; 
dates have been confirmed for early February.

New Priority / Influencing Actions - The following actions are all new to the 2019-2023 Corporate Plans. The project 
delivery mechanism for each is being set up through the Transformation Board and updates will begin as each project 
launches.
 Develop a master plan for bringing redundant mills back into use
 Implement the Council's growth strategy to bring about the regeneration of towns and rural communities
 Develop a Tourism Strategy to maximise the positive impact to our communities

 Expand the Growth Deal Partnership to provide inward investment

 Support the Churnet Valley Railway with their plans to bring trains back to Leek

 Provide bus services which connect our villages with our three market towns for services, shopping and leisure.

 Improve access and traffic flows to our town centre

P
age 54



On Track Off Track
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%
SM Aim 4: December Results 

2019/20

Better Weaker No Change
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

SM Aim 4 : December Trends 
2019/20

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment

  

Residual household waste tonnages have increased taking the measure off track, but it should be noted that these figures are still only 
estimates until the confirmed tonnages are received.   

Celebrating Success:    

At the end of December 2019 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 missed bins
 paper consumption

P
age 55



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Continuing Priority Actions Status Commentary – December
Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the 
transfer of services to Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd, our new 
joint venture company, to deliver 
waste, streets and ground 
maintenance services on behalf of the 
Council in order to achieve improved 
performance and value for money 
outcomes.

Phase 3 (streets and ground maintenance) go live date is still to be confirmed but we are 
aiming for 1st March 2020. The last internal AES phase 3 project board meeting took place 
mid-October, service specification deadline is 30th November and there is a meeting 
scheduled soon after that on 5th December. The TUPE list is updated monthly, the 
monthly consultation will start in January 2020.

Identify and implement an approach 
to reduce the cost of country parks

The project has stalled as officers have been unable to obtain a response to a number of 
issues in regards to the tenancy situation without which SWT are not prepared to progress 
the transfer. Exec Director for Transformation to contact SOTCC.

Develop a plan to improve Brough 
Park and John Hall Gardens

A meeting was held with Rethink and Grow Moorlands on 11th November to discuss John 
Hall gardens and their tenancy. Assets have yet to receive comments back from Rethink in 
regard to new heads of terms proposed in summer 2019. The commissioning contract held 
by Rethink has been extended to Sept 2020 and is due to go out to tender again in January 
for the coming three years. A further meeting has been scheduled between all parties in 
early February as Rethink should have a clearer picture regarding their tenancy needs by 
this time.

New Priority / Influencing Actions - The following actions are all new to the 2019-2023 Corporate Plans. The project 
delivery mechanism for each is being set up through the Transformation Board and updates will begin as each project 
launches.
 Develop a climate change strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency
 Review the Council's waste and recycling arrangements to increase recycling and to respond to the emerging national strategy
 Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take steps to further reduce environmental crime
 Develop a new Parking Strategy to ensure that our car parks meet the needs of residents and visitors
 Provide waste and recycling centres across the district
 The provision of accessible on street parking

P
age 56



Managing our strategic risks

The Council has identified, assessed and is mitigating the following strategic risks under Aim Four:

 Meeting the environmental regulatory framework (e.g. air quality and waste regs)

 Energy supply (inc fuel)

P
age 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



Areas for Improvement: December 2019 

Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2019/20

Result 
December 

2019  

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Staffs Moorlands

Housing Benefits 
Processing: Time taken to 

process changes of 
circumstance

Assistant Chief 
Executive

7 days 12.86 days This figure does remain off track but in December 
we processed changes in 7.81 days, despite 
election duties impacting upon staffing numbers.

Number of Households in 
temporary accommodation

Aim 1: Increased supply of 
good quality affordable 

homes

Assistant Chief 
Executive

10 11 This PI is Off track by just one case, which given 
SWEP was active during December is excellent. 
This is supporting our current prevention rates of 
97.28%

Level of external funding 
awarded to support the 

physical activity and sport 
strategy

Aim 1: Provision of sports 
facilities and leisure 

opportunities focused 
upon improving health

Head of Service 
Commissioning

33% success 
rate. 

Minimum 
£60k

£2500 Currently a number of projects are in the pipeline 
where we are supporting organisations to apply 
for external funding. We expect some of these to 
be completed before 31st March 20 however 
there is a risk this target may not be met

Use of Contracts Register: 
annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget 

Aim 2: Effective use of 
financial and other 

resources to ensure value 
for money

Head of Finance 2% 
improvement 

to 18/19

84% Procurement continue to progress the 
procurement forward plan to achieve higher 
proportion of contracted supply, service and works 
arrangements which has improved in this last 
quarter as contracts procured earlier in the year 
start and we should see further improvement in Q 
four to achieve target by end of Q four

FOI requests: % responded 
to within statutory time 

frame

Aim 2: Ensure our services 
are easily available to all 

our residents in the 
appropriate channels and 
provided ‘right first time’

Head of Legal and 
Elections

95% 83.08% We are reviewing response times with service 
areas. We will also be reminding Managers of their 
responsibility to meet the guidelines around FOI 
response times

P
age 60



Measure of Success (PI) Aim / Objective Service Lead Target 
2019/20

Result 
December 

2019  

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve)

No. / % of interactions: a) 
phone b) face to face c) web

Aim 2: Ensure our services 
are easily available to all 

our residents in the 
appropriate channels and 
provided ‘right first time’

Assistant Chief 
Executive

a) 37%
 b) 23%
 c) 40%

a) 38%
b) 21%
c)  41%

Shift in performance as phones % increased due to 
Election calls however reduced face to face 
contact and increased % of self-serve

Number of fly tipping 
incidents collected by the 
Council (exc sec 46 waste)

Aim 4: Provision of high-
quality public amenities, 

clean streets and 
environmental health

Head of Service 
Commissioning

295 239 221 cleared reports this time last year vs current 
239 gives the 'weaker' trend. Note the changed 
reporting method now catching all reports

KG's of residual waste per 
household.

Effective recycling and 
waste management

Head of Service 
Commissioning

365kg 289.14kg Please note this is an estimate calculated using 
figures from Q3 2018/19 as data is not yet 
available from SCC or AES for the whole of Q3. Q3 
result as a standalone is 100.13kg.

Joint Alliance Measures

% of Procurement activity 
on forward plan (Joint 

Alliance Measure)

Aim 2: Effective use of 
financial and other 

resources to ensure value 
for money

Head of Finance 72% 63% During Q three, Procurement undertook review 
meetings with Service areas to populate the 
forward plan for the remainder 19/20 and plan for 
20/21.  It is anticipated that the outcome of these 
reviews will result in performance improvement to 
achieve target by the end of Q four.  It should be 
noted that reactive and urgent procurements 
cannot be eliminated but we endeavour to achieve 
good communication with Service areas to inform 
us of planned activity that they have include in 
their service delivery programmes

 

 For a full list of all performance measures and the Q3 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link. 

P
age 61

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/staffs_moorlands_q3_2019-20.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

11th February 2020

Appendix Attached
 Appendix A (Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24)
 Appendix B (Capital Strategy 2020/21)
 Appendix C (Fees & Charges 2020/21)
 Appendix D (Procurement Forward Plan 2020/21)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1      The purpose of the report is to present the proposed Budget for 2020/21, 
updated Medium-Term Financial Plan 2020/21 – 2023/24, Capital Strategy 
2020/21, proposed Fees and Charges for 2020/21 and Procurement Forward 
Plan 2020/21.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet support the following recommendations to Council:

 Approves the General Fund Budget for 2020/21 as detailed in Appendix A 
(section 8)

 Approves the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2020/21 to 2023/24) 
as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised Capital Programme 
(attached at Annex A)

 Approves the Capital Strategy 2020/21 as set out in Appendix B

 Approves the proposed Fees and Charges for 2020/21 as detailed in 
Appendix C

TITLE: 2020/21 Budget & Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2020/21 to 2023/24

PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene – Finance & Procurement 
Manager

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 63

Agenda Item 8.3

file:///C:/Users/chazeldene/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Documents%20and%20Settings/cstone/Local%20Settings/astokes/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/9RF23P99/SMDC%20-%20Budget%202012-13%20&%20MTFP%20App%20A%20(15-02-12).doc


 Approves the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for 2020/21, providing 
the authority to procure based on procurement activity detailed in 
Appendix D

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £153.40 for 2020/21 (an increase of 
1.9% from 2019/20)

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £52.92 for Leek and £10.64 for 
Biddulph for 2020/21 (an increase of 1.9% from 2019/20) in respect of 
Special District Expenses

 Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves are 
adequate for the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in 
place at the time of preparing it (Appendix A Annex E)

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report makes recommendations to Council for the budget and the level of 
Council Tax for 2020/21. The report also provides an update on the Council’s 
medium-term financial position through to 2023/24.  Additionally, it establishes 
an overarching Capital Strategy, sets out the fees and charges that are 
proposed for 2020/21, and details the Procurement Forward Plan 2020/21.

3.2      The budget setting and medium term financial planning process provides the 
Council with the opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in 
accordance with local priorities. 

3.3      The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) has been updated in accordance 
with the budget setting process. The MTFP presents the Council’s finances 
over a four-year period, namely 2020/21 to 2023/24 and provides: 

 Details of local spending influences in the context of the recently approved 
new Corporate Plan; 

 A focus on the transformation programme and the consequential financial 
implications, including the capital programme and efficiency & 
rationalisation plan; 

 Updated inflation and interest assumptions using the latest forecasts and 
the impact of any budgetary demand; and

 An update on any national issues that will impact on the Council’s financial 
position

3.4     The 2019/20 – 2022/23 MTFP was approved by the Council last February 
(2019), and showed a surplus position. It was forecast that an overall 
contribution into reserves of £325,000 was made during the 4 years of the 
plan.  However this position was dependent on the continued delivery of a 
£3.1 million four-year Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme which was 
commenced in April 2017.

Page 64



3.5      Progress with the delivery of the efficiency programme has been positive, 
delivery of the £842,000 efficiency target for the current financial year has 
already been achieved and the Council remains on course to deliver the 
remainder of the programme. The ability to progress and achieve the overall 
efficiency programme target has been underpinned by the following:

 The realisation of savings from the establishment and transfer of services 
to the Council’s company Alliance Environmental Services (AES);

 Implementation of a new fleet procurement policy that has moved to 
purchase of vehicles as opposed to contract hire;

 A review of current leisure centre provision in order to reduce the 
Council’s subsidy; and

 Retained business rates through economic growth and the saving of the 
levy payable to central government as a consequence of the Council's 
membership of the Staffordshire Business Rates Pool (as per the current 
business rates system) 

3.6 Having completed the annual budget exercise, a balanced budget for 2020/21 
has been achieved. The final General Fund budget proposal for 2020/21 
provides for a net budget of £9,753,870 and a Council Tax increase of 1.9%.  
Consequently, the Band D Council Tax increases to £153.40, with the Special 
District Expenses increasing to £52.92 (Leek) and £10.94 (Biddulph) 
respectively   

3.7 An increase in car parking charges was originally proposed for 2020/21. This 
would have been the first increase since 2018. There was also a commitment 
made in the original budget proposals to work with local traders to developing 
policy to encourage footfall in the town centres - this would have involve 
reviewing the free tariffs arrangements that are currently in place. However at 
the Resources Overview & Scrutiny Panel held on 5th February that 
considered the original budget proposals it was resolved that Cabinet was 
“requested to remove the proposed increase in car parking charges for 
2020/21”.

3.8 It is proposed to accept this proposal by the scrutiny panel. The 
recommendation to Council now is that implementation of the increases is 
delayed until 2021/22. Before this decision is finalised in February 2021 there 
will be a review of the Council’s Car Parking Strategy early in the new financial 
year.    

3.9 A new financial year (2023/24) has now been added to the MTFP and the 
overall financial assumptions have been updated for the four years. This has 
resulted in a small surplus position of £17,840 by the end of 2023/24. An 
overall contribution of £35,950 into reserves is forecast during the 4 year life of 
the plan.

3.10 Whilst the surplus position is positive, it is necessary as there is a need to be 
cautious as the outcomes of national funding reviews (i.e. fair funding; 
business rates retention; and new homes bonus) are unknown at this stage.   

Page 65



3.11 The overall financial position forecast in the MTFP is similar to the position 
presented last year. There is however a reduction in the level of surplus 
reserves that are expected to be generated over the four years. This changed 
position is primarily due to:

 Reduction in additional Council Tax income – reflecting an 
assumption that 1.9% increases will be applied throughout the MTFP as 
opposed to the 2.9% that was included last year; and

 Reduction in the level of New Homes Bonus – reflecting the 
notification that the current scheme is going to end. 

3.12 Provision has been made in the revenue budget to implement the 
commitments made in the Council’s recently approved Corporate Plan. 
However the detailed financial consequences of a number key commitments 
e.g. responding to the climate emergency and leisure centre capital investment 
will need to be developed during the 2020/21 financial year.     

3.13 The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme have been updated and 
allow for additional investment in priority areas. The Medium Term Financial 
Plan includes an updated Capital Programme of £17,704,640 over the period 
2019/20 – 2023/24. Additional investments have been included for the 
following:

 Brough Park / John Hall Gardens improvements
 Car park surfacing improvements
 ICT infrastructure investments
 Outdoor sports facility improvements   

3.14 The Procurement Forward Plan sets out details of the expected activity during 
2020/21. The plan will be implemented alongside a new Procurement Strategy 
which will be considered by Cabinet at its next meeting. This strategy will 
include a response to key commitments such as the response to climate 
change and the encouragement of local suppliers.

 

4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 There are no options to consider at this stage.

6.  Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

Page 66



6.2 Workforce
None.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies.

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 
Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.5 Legal
None.

16.6 Sustainability
None.

6.7 External Consultation
The Council’s budget plans are the subject of an annual public consultation 
exercise. Full details are contained within the plan.

6.8  Risk A Risk Assessment
A full risk analysis has been undertaken which is contained within the plan

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Various background working papers Moorlands House Claire Hazeldene
Finance & Procurement Manager
01538 395400 Ext. 4191

Keith Pointon
Principal Finance Officer (Financial 
Planning)
01538 395400 Ext. 4193

6.4

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

                              

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN             
2020/21 to 2023/24

February 2020

Page 69



INDEX

1 Introduction

2 Strategic Priorities

3 Current Spending Levels

4 Transformation Programme
4.1   Introduction  

   4.2         Capital Strategy 
4.3   Capital Programme
4.4   Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy
4.5   Member Priority Projects
4.6   Alliance Environment Services (AES)

5 Financial Forecasts
5.1 Interest Rates
5.2 Inflationary Projections
5.3 Budgetary Demand
5.4 Budget Growth
5.5 Pensions

6 Funding & Income Generation
6.1 Council Tax 
6.2 Business Rates Retention 
6.3 Collection Fund
6.4 Income from Government Grants
6.5 Fees & Charges

7 Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves 

8 Budget 2020/21

9 General Fund Revenue Financial Position 

10 Consultation

Annex A Proposed Capital Programme  
Annex B Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy
Annex C Fees and Charges – Income Categories
Annex D MTFP Principal Risks
Annex E Chief Finance Officer Review of Contingencies / Reserves
Annex F Proposed Revenue Budget  

Page 70



1. Introduction

1.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the Council’s budget 
and policy framework. It aims to ensure resources are directed effectively and 
efficiently towards delivery of the Corporate Plan. It describes the financial direction 
of the Council for planning purposes and outlines the financial pressures the 
Council is likely to experience over the next 4 years. 

1.2. The medium term financial planning process establishes how available resources 
will be allocated to services in line with Council priorities which have been 
determined following consultation with residents, councillors and other 
stakeholders. The process facilitates the Council in planning the prudent 
management of its finances, in building resilience and in providing for the needs of 
residents over the long term.  

1.3. The MTFP is updated regularly to fit in with the budget cycle. This review of the 
MTFP builds on the existing strategy and updates assumptions to reflect known 
changes to income, costs and funding. The plan incorporates revenue and capital 
financial projections over the four years 2020/21 to 2023/24. It also includes an 
assessment of key risks and a presentation of longer term financial issues which 
have the potential to impact on the Council.  

1.4. The Council will demonstrate economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
application of its resources. Value for Money (VFM) is maximised when there is an 
optimum balance between economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

 Economy: the price the Council pays for providing its services 
 Efficiency: how much the Council gets out of what’s put in (productivity) 
 Effectiveness: value of the impact achieved (quantitative or qualitative) 

2. Strategic Priorities

2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is driven by local priorities. The Council’s 
spending strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by members of 
the Council.

2.2. Following the elections in May 2019, there has been a fundamental review of the 
Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2019-2023 (up to the end of the current 
political administration).  The Corporate Plan was agreed by Council on 16th 
October 2019 with 2020/21 representing the first full year of the new Corporate 
Plan.

2.3. The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) establishes the Council’s vision, 
corporate objectives and key priorities for the medium term.  It in effect establishes 
the Council’s commitment in the delivery of service and community leadership to 
the residents of the Staffordshire Moorlands. 

2.4. The delivery of the Corporate Plan will be measured through the Performance 
Framework.  A set of local performance indicators and targets will be established in 
preparation for the start of the financial year 2020/21 via the Resources Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

Page 71



2.5. The Council’s Corporate Plan is a document that needs to be owned by the whole 
Council.  As a consequence the Council held a members priority setting day held in 
July 2019 – the views have been taken into account in the development of the new 
plan and will also be important in developing the supporting performance 
framework.

2.6. The Medium Term Financial Plan has been updated to reflect the contents of the 
plan and to ensure that resources are directed towards key priorities. 

2.7. The Council’s vision is restated as:   

“Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high quality services that meet the needs 
and aspirations of our communities” 
This vision is articulated further by four aims:-: 
 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live 

and work
 Effective use of resources and provide value for money
 Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns 

and villages
 Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate emergency

2.8. These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below: 

Aim Objectives

1

Help create a safer 
and healthier 

environment for our 
communities to live 

and work

 Increased supply of good quality affordable homes
 Develop a positive relationship with communities
 Effective relationship with strategic partners
 Effective support of community safety arrangements including 

CCTV
 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon 

improving health

2

Effective use of 
resources and 

provide value for 
money

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for 
money

 Ensure services are easily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time”

 A high performing and well motivated workforce
 More effective use of Council assets
 Effective procurement with a focus on local business
 Effective use of ICT

3

Help create a strong 
economy by 

supporting further 
regeneration of towns 

and villages 

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises
 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy
 Encourage and develop tourism
 High quality development and building control with an “open for 

business” approach

Page 72



Aim Objectives

4

Protect and improve 
the environment and 

respond to the climate 
emergency 

 Effective recycling and waste management
 Meeting the challenge of climate change
 Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and 

environmental health
 Provision of quality parks and open spaces
 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 

businesses and visitors

2.9. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local area. In 
so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role.  Fulfilling this role 
effectively means influencing partners in a number of key areas in order to ensure 
that services are shaped and delivered around the needs and aspirations of 
citizens. 

2.10. The Council’s influencing role is focused in the following areas:
 Support the police and other partners to reduce crime, the fear of crime and 

anti social behaviour
 Ensure there is effective health provision particularly for the elderly
 Ensure that there an effective provision of waste and recycling centres across 

the district
 Work with Staffordshire County Council to provide accessible on-street parking
 We will work with partners to improve the provision of bus services which 

connect our villages with our three market towns for services, shopping and 
leisure.

 Expand the Growth Deal partnership with Staffordshire County Council on the 
will be expanded to provide inward investment 

 Work to combat illegal money lenders such as loan sharks
 Continue to support the Churnet Valley Railway with their plans to bring trains 

back to Leek
 Work with Staffordshire County Council

2.11. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in the 
development of performance targets and key actions.  A significant proportion of the 
Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them:-  

Aim Objectives

Help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities 

to live and work

 Increased supply of quality affordable homes
 Improved  health
 Improved community safety

Effective use of resources and 
provide value for money

 Council services provide value for money
 High level of resident and customer 

satisfaction
Help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages 

 Sustainable towns and rural communities
 Increased economic growth
 Increased tourism

Protect and improve the 
environment and respond to the 

climate emergency 

 High recycling rates
 Reduction in carbon emissions

Page 73



2.12. The Council maintains a Strategic Alliance with High Peak Borough Council, formed 
around the principle of shared services in the pursuit of efficiency and realisation of 
savings. The Strategic Alliance has enabled the implementation and transformation 
of a joint management structure and services, consequently realising significant 
efficiency savings. 

2.13. The Council intends to continue to drive savings and service improvements through 
collaboration with its Alliance partner.

3. Current Spending Levels

3.1. The starting point for the development of the MTFP is the current level of spending 
and the approved capital expenditure commitments.

3.2. The Council’s current year (2019/20) General Fund budget can be summarised as 
follows:

 Income and Expenditure 2019/20 
Budget

 £

Employees 6,800,120
Premises 2,192,420
Transport 404,260
Supplies & Services 5,746,430
Benefits 5,010
Borrowing 294,400
Financing Costs 621,900
Total Expenditure 16,064,540

Fees and Charges / Other Income        
(5,185,420)

Interest Receipts    (117,580)
Ascent LLP Income (584,270)
Net Expenditure 10,177,270

3.3. The net expenditure is financed as follows: 

Financing 2019/20 
Budget

 £

Council Tax        (5,383,480)
New Homes Bonus       (443,760)
Business Rates Retention   (4,040,110)
Collection Fund Deficit        194,640 
Contribution from Balances (4,560)
Efficiency Requirement       (500,000)
Total Financing   (10,177,270)

Page 74



3.4. The medium-term projection for capital commitments approved by Members in 
February 2019 is detailed below: -   

Service Area 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ £

Asset Management Plan 483,750 1,467,080 1,085,220 1,036,300 1,627,450 5,699,800
Housing Grants 1,161,650 1,256,000 1,226,000 1,211,000 1,211,000   6,065,650 
ICT Strategy              -   255,800              -                -                -   255,800
Fleet Management 1,346,300 1,325,750 2,468,290 129,250 30,000 5,299,590
Other Schemes 600,000 480,620 50,000 50,000              -   1,180,620
Total Programme 3,591,700 4,785,250 4,829,510 2,426,550 2,868,450 18,501,460 
Financed by:-       
External Contributions 1,211,000 1,238,390 1,211,000 1,211,000 1,211,000 6,082,390
Capital Receipts              -        40,000              -      140,000              -   180,000
General Fund Balances    953,730              -                -                -                -        953,730 
Capital Reserve    392,570 1,620,430              -                -                -   2,013,000
S106 Planning    135,690              -                -                -                -   135,690
Borrowing    898,710 1,886,430 3,618,510 1,075,550 1,657,450 9,136,650
Total  Financing 3,591,700 4,785,250 4,829,510 2,426,550 2,868,450 18,501,460

4. Transformation Programme

4.1. Introduction 

4.1.1.  The Council’s ‘transformation programme’ incorporates all major projects which 
meet the strategic priorities of the authority and have significant financial 
implications, including:-

 The Capital Programme 
 The Efficiency and Rationalisation strategy
 Member Priority Projects
 Alliance Environmental Services (AES)

4.1.2.   The delivery of transformation programme projects is monitored by the 
Transformation Board made up of Directors, along with key Heads of Service and 
officers.  A Director is allocated as ‘project executive’ and a full business case 
appraisal is completed for each project.

4.1.3.   The progress and current financial projections of the transformation programme is 
explored below along with any potential revenue and capital consequences.  Any 
further work required to identify the financial implications of the programme are 
discussed and will feed into future MTFP updates.

4.2 Capital Strategy 

4.2.1 In accordance with the requirements of the 2017 edition of the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities, the Capital Strategy has been updated for 2020/21. 

Page 75



4.2.2 The Strategy, which is being presented to members along side this report, 
explains how capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with 
the Council’s Corporate Plan and service objectives, taking account of 
stewardship, value for money, prudence, risk management, sustainability and 
affordability. 

4.2.3 The Capital Strategy is detailed in APPENDIX B.

4.3       Capital Programme 

4.3.1 The Capital Programme presented to Members in February 2019 has been 
reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest position in terms of capital 
projections to 31st March 2024.

4.3.2 The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major schemes, are 
summarised in the table below.  Full detail is attached in ANNEX A.

Service Area 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management Plan 596,870 1,303,170 1,594,610  1,008,100     497,270 5,000,020
Housing Grants 1,211,000 1,245,000 1,515,650  1,500,000  1,500,000    6,971,650 
ICT Strategy     138,000       91,900       50,000       50,000       50,000 379,900
Fleet Management 1,285,100 2,568,290 152,500             -       301,640 4,307,530
Other Schemes 76,600 797,020 100,000       50,000       21,920 1,045,540

Total Programme 3,307,570 6,005,380 3,412,760  2,608,100  2,370,830 
  

17,704,640 
Financed by:-       
External Contributions 1,211,000 1,227,390 1,500,000 1,500,000  1,500,000 6,938,390
Capital Receipts             -   93,000       15,650             -         11,000 119,650
Capital Reserve 1,285,100     214,900             -               -               -   1,500,000
Earmarked Reserves             -       220,850             -               -               -   220,850
Borrowing 811,470 4,249,240 1,897,110 1,108,100     859,830 8,925,750
Total  Financing 3,307,570 6,005,380 3,412,760 2,608,100  2,370,830 17,704,640

4.3.3 The capital projections above include the carry forward of £1,017,110 capital 
budgets from 2018/19, 

Asset Management Plan (AMP) 

4.3.4 It is essential that the Council maintains an asset base, which delivers the ambitions 
of the Corporate Plan – however, this needs to be affordable.  The Capital Strategy 
(presented alongside the MTFP in February 2019) sets out the outcomes and 
actions emerging from a report presented to Cabinet on 20th September 2016 – 
which was based on the result of asset condition surveys completed on the 
Council’s property portfolio.  

4.3.5 This included the potential capital and revenue financial implications of maintaining 
the Council’s current property assets over a 30 year period, as summarised below:- 

Page 76



SMDC AMP Capital Investment & Revenue 
Consequence                                                             

(AS AT SEPT 2016)

2016-17 – 
2019-20

2020-21 – 
2045-46            

(26 years)

TOTAL

£ £ £

Public Buildings 1,010,850 2,761,600 3,772,450
Car Parks 754,000 4,293,431 5,047,431
Public Conveniences 181,400 415,800 597,200
Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 479,361 448,761 928,122
Leisure Centres 310,000 10,005,995 10,315,995
Depots and Parks Buildings 97,070 2,355,714 2,452,784
Industrial Units 80,380 392,050 472,430
TOTAL 2,913,061 20,673,351 23,586,412

Revenue Consequences (cost of borrowing) 115,959 943,653 1,059,612

4.3.6 This position has been reviewed and updated in February 2017,  2018,  2019 and 
2020 to take account of any changes and updates to stock information since 
September 2016, and has subsequently been reviewed again for the purposes of 
this report.   

4.3.7   The table below reflects the updated capital investment requirements as at 
February 2020, adjusted for 2018/19 actual outturn, any in-year re-profiling that 
has taken place in 2019/20 and changes to spending plans – which reduces the 
forecast capital spend by £946,940 over the 30 years from the original position; 
reported in September 2016.

MTFPSMDC AMP Capital 
Investment & Revenue 

Consequences

2016-17 
(actuals)

2017/18 
(actuals)

2018/19 
(actuals) 2019/20– 

2022/23
2023/24 

(new 
year 

MTFP)

2024/25 -     
2045/46        
(22 Years)

TOTAL

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Public Buildings 70,020 410,000 387,460 1,071,900 - 2,153,770 4,093,150

Car Parks - 1,290 4,660 991,860 - 3,981,622 4,979,432

Public Conveniences - 3,280 - 197,800 - 361,900 562,980

Waterways & Infrastructure 5,270 261,090 1,790 166,260 208,220 343,761 986,391

Leisure Centres 1,700 95,170 5,090 1,138,500 213,200 7,669,215 9,122,875

Depots and Parks - - 1,650 859,860 15,000 1,545,704 2,422,214

Industrial Units - - 3,810 76,570 60,850 331,200 472,430

TOTAL 76,990 770,830 404,460 4,502,750 497,270 16,387,172 22,639,472

Revenue Consequences - 11,250 30,700 213,120 42,060 686,290 983,420

4.3.8.   The Council will be developing an Asset Management Strategy to ensure the 
future delivery of efficient asset management.  This work will be progressed once 
the condition surveys have been undertaken and the 30 year costs of maintain the 
general fund asset stock are known. 

Page 77



4.3.9   Any positive revenue implications of the asset management strategy, for example, 
reduced annual maintenance and utility costs due to fewer and/or more efficient 
buildings and income receipts from shared accommodation partners will be taken 
towards the efficiency programme.

  Affordable Housing Project

4.3.10 The Council’s affordable housing project is being delivered via Ascent Housing – 
the joint venture established by the Council in partnership with Your Housing.  
Phase one resulted in 276 housing units.

4.3.11 The £5 million debenture facility was fully drawn in 2014/15, and is generating 
annual income of £100,000 for the remainder of the 25 year period (subject to 
early repayments by Ascent).

4.3.12 £14 million of the £20 million loan facility has been drawn to date, it is assumed for 
the purposes of this report that the remaining £6million loan facility will not be 
drawn during the 4 year period (which is subject to review as per paragraph 
4.3.14) 

4.3.13 The first tranche of the loan facility of £7m matured from the initial five year loan 
period in October 2017 and since then has been refinanced by Ascent with the 
Council for short-term periods of up to 1 year on a rolling basis; the current period 
ends October 2020. The second tranche of the loan facility matured from the initial 
five year loan period in November 2019; this has similarly been refinanced for a 
short-term period of up to 1 year until November 2020. At each point of 
refinancing, the rate is reset at the PWLB rate on the day plus the margin of 
1.25%.

4.3.14 Short-term refinancing has been utilised whilst the dissolution of Ascent 
progresses (as per the report approved by Cabinet on 18th June 2019) and wider 
funding arrangements are explored between Your Housing and the Council.  
There are no assumptions of the potential financial impact of the outcome of this 
review included at this stage.  Any potential additional income streams generated 
as a result of the review would be realised against the Efficiency Programme.  
Further updates will provided in future MTFP updates once a new funding 
agreement has been confirmed.  

  Housing Grants

4.3.15 The District Council is the duty holder under the Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 for mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFGs) and this 
status remains despite changes to funding arrangements. All eligible applicants 
are entitled to receive mandatory funding for certain major adaptations to their 
properties. The funding for these adaptations has previously been given directly to 
the council but from 2015/16, the funding has been incorporated into the Better 
Care Fund and paid to the County Council.  

4.3.16 The Better Care Fund is a single pooled fund for all health and social care 
provision and covers the whole range of services including public health, social 
care services and clinical commissioning groups

Page 78



4.3.17 Government funding has increased each year since 2015/16.  Based on current 
information (as at Quarter Three), the allocation for 2019/20 will not be fully 
utilised to support the current year’s grants programme; this will bring the Disabled 
Facility reserve up to £2.6m at year end.

4.3.18 There is currently no waiting list for DFG assessments.  If there is to be any 
significant spend against the new increased budget, there may be a need to find 
new areas to invest as well as embarking on a robust campaign to promote the 
traditional DFG scheme to local residents.  There is scope to do this as part of the 
funding agreement as long as any proactive scheme outside the mandatory DFG 
programme is agreed with the County Council and is restricted to capital 
expenditure. As a way forward, a new dedicated promotion/project officer post is 
currently being recruited, the role will aim to ensure that the grant scheme is 
promoted across all areas of Staffordshire Moorlands.

4.3.19 Examples of initiatives which could potentially be explored are; investment in local 
schools, catering for persons with disability needs; work with local social housing 
providers to look at dementia friendly adaptations or improvements to existing 
housing schemes with a significant number of elderly residents. There are also 
opportunities to work with local community groups to help them develop schemes 
in their areas that benefit the disabled community.  

  ICT Strategy 

4.3.20 The framework for the existing ICT Strategy was established in 2014/15.  The key 
drivers of which were to support delivery of the Efficiency and Rationalisation Plan, 
provide the infrastructure to support joint working, support new ways of working 
and improve access to services for our customers.  

4.3.21 Following on from this, a refreshed, updated IT Strategy is currently being 
developed.  The aim of which is to drive a change in culture and deliver the 
systems, processes and skills required in an environment where information is 
shared seamlessly though connected systems.  This will reduce costs of services 
through optimisation, improving online services and enabling customers to self-
serve more transactions.  This will also reduce manual administrative tasks, 
removing paper processes and allowing Officers to focus on high-value tasks.  

4.3.22 Consequently, estimated requirements of £229,100 are included within the MTFP, 
which primarily relate to the implementation of a system to aid waste collection 
processes and the migration of the cash receipting system, with migration to Office 
365 assumed to be completed in 2019/20.  

4.2.23. There are other projects currently at initial business case or procurement stage, 
such as; the asset management system, migration of the current licensing system 
and review of the customer portal and integration into back office systems.  
Therefore, at this stage and additional £50,000 per annum has also been added to 
the capital programme to reflect this.  More accurate costings will be developed as 
business cases progress.

4.2.24 There is also £150,000 set aside in an earmarked reserve which was established 
specifically to support with the implementation of the ICT Strategy.

Page 79



Fleet Management

4.3.25 The Council’s Fleet management arrangements have been subject to a funding 
review.  Responsibility for maintaining the Council’s fleet has now transferred to 
Alliance Environment Service (AES), however, the responsibility for funding fleet 
acquisitions remains with the Council.  The fleet review aims to deliver savings to 
be realised against the efficiency programme by ensuring the most cost effective 
funding options are selected for the various types of vehicles.      

4.3.26 The former contract hire agreements terminated on 30th June 2018, and the 
majority of vehicles under the agreement were directly purchased.  An options 
appraisal undertaken on the funding of refuse freighters highlighted direct 
purchase (via the capital programme funded by borrowing or capital 
reserves/capital receipts) as the most cost effective method of funding.   

4.3.27 A Fleet Strategy is currently being drafted which will set out the fleet renewal 
programme and process, incorporating financial, procurement and operational 
considerations. 

4.3.28 For the purposes of this report, it has been assumed that all replacement vehicle 
requirements over the next four years will be funded via direct capital purchase – 
but this will be subject to further funding options appraisals prior to purchase.  
Therefore, at this stage, the capital programme includes an allocation of 
£4,307,530 in order to replace vehicles as they reach the end of their useful lives.

4.3.29 Where possible, funds are set aside and held within an earmarked reserve for the 
purpose of funding short-life capital purchase such as fleet. This further reduces 
the overall cost of financing the vehicle fleet by reducing borrowing costs.

New/Other Capital Commitments 

New Capital Schemes 

4.3.30 The below provides details and estimated costs of new capital schemes which the 
Council is aiming to progress during the 4 year MTFP period, as well as any other 
potential schemes currently being developed where further work is required to 
estimate costings:

- Brough Park Improvements - £274,500
 
Plans outlining various enhancements to Brough Park including; the 
reconfiguration and expansion of play facilities, resurfaced pathways and 
improved access to John Hall Gardens are proposed subject to approval.  The 
additional investment is required above existing budget and external funding 
received for the project

- Pay & Display Machines -£200,000

Options are being considered around replacing and upgrading the pay and display 
machines across the Council’s income generating car parks.  This is subject to the 

Page 80



approval of a separate report outlining the details of the proposals and cost 
implications.

- Outdoor Sports facilities  - £100,000

This provision has been allocated for investment into outdoor sports facilities    
within the District, in order to support the Corporate Plan priority around the 
development of outdoor leisure facilities, focussed around the “sports village” 
concept.

  Financing the Capital Programme  

4.3.31 The capital programme can be funded from a number of options which include 
external grants and contributions from third parties comprising of Government and 
lottery funding; capital receipts from asset sales as part of the asset management 
plan; earmarked revenue reserves and borrowing. 

4.3.32 The main area of spending within the current programme which is expected to be 
funded from external resources is support towards Disabled Facilities Grants. 
Estimated capital receipts of £0.12m will be available over the next five years 
(subject to a review of surplus assets).  Revenue and capital reserves of £1.72m 
are forecast (at this stage) to be applied over the period. 

4.3.33 Borrowing is therefore the main funding option for the programme. The Treasury 
Management Strategy then considers whether this is funded externally or 
internally - both options have a consequence on revenue either through reduced 
investment income or increased external interest liability as highlighted in the table 
below.

4.3.34 It is proposed to utilise reserves allocated for capital spend (where possible) 
where an options appraisal on the acquisition of short-life assets such as vehicles, 
plant and equipment has been carried out and suggests that the most financially 
viable option is to outright purchase. 

  Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme

4.3.35 The capital investment proposals above will result in estimated revenue 
consequences as follows:  

4.4 Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy

4.4.1 The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by Members in 
February 2017, which identified a programme of £3.1 million (including £443,600 in 

Revenue Consequence                     
(changes year-on-year)

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
Ascent Loan Income (61,120) (9,710) 0 0
Debenture Income 0 0 0 0
Investment Income (12,610) 1,550 2,640 1,650
Borrowing Costs 40,660 352,770 80,340 53,400

Total (33,070) 344,610 82,980 55,050

Page 81



unachieved efficiencies from the previous efficiency programme) in savings to be 
made over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21.  

4.4.2 The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy has the effect of both reducing 
expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now more of a 
priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing i.e. not reliant on 
direct government funding such as revenue support grant. 

4.4.3 The strategy was developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline 
service delivery. It was also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council 
to ensure that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out 
in the Corporate Plan.

4.4.4 There are five areas of focus:-

 Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a number 
of large service functions which are currently provided by an external 
contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming to an end. 
This will also allow a fundamental review of these services with proper 
consideration of the current financial constraints.  The contract commitments 
have sometimes restricted the opportunity to align services across the alliance 
with High Peak.  The individual projects will focus on Waste Collection & 
Environment Services, Leisure Management and Facilities Management

 Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of rationalising 
the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in order to allow for the 
necessary capital investment

 Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic growth 
based upon the established Local Plan. 

 Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources on 
income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income

 Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority areas 
of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, non-statutory services 

4.4.5 The below table summarises the finanical savings requirements and original profile 
for achievement (ANNEX B provides more detail of the savings plan):-

4.4.6 Subsequently, a review was undertaken in February 2019 to assess the timing and 
estimated value of future savings based on the current programme.  The table 
below shows the projected reprofiled Efficiency Programme (taking into account the 
actual 2018/19 efficiency target achieved):-

General Fund Efficiency 
Strategy

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

 £ £ £ £ £
Major Procurements 100,000 275,000 100,000 600,000 1,075,000
Asset Management 50,000 50,000 25,000 25,000 150,000
Growth 65,000 150,000 250,000 300,000 765,000
Income Generation 305,000 355,000 100,000 250,000 1,010,000
Rationalisation 141,000 - - - 141,000
TOTAL 661,000 830,000 475,000 1,175,000 3,141,000

Page 82



2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £ £
Original Programme 661,000 830,000 475,000 1,175,000 - 3,141,000
Amended Programme 661,000 395,000 935,000 702,000 448,000 3,141,000
Variance - (435,000) 460,000 (473,000) 448,000 -
Achieved Q4 2018/19 - 93,000 (93,000) -
Revised Target 661,000 488,000 842,000 702,000 448,000 3,141,000

4.4.7 The Efficiency Programme continues to progress well, with £860,250 in savings 
realised at the Quarter Three stage in 2019/20 (against an updated target of 
£842,000).  The remaining programme has once again been reviewed, taking into 
account the areas of savings still to be achieved and potential timing.  It is proposed 
to leave the current profile of efficiency targets as above.  Any additional savings 
achieved in 2019/20 will partially offset some the 2020/21 target. 

4.4.8 The AES efficiency programme (which contributes to the above overall programme) 
has been reviewed and reprofiled to take account of the delay in the phase 3 
transfer (see section 4.6).  The split between savings achieved by AES/Council has 
also been reconsidered to take account of the likely savings to be achieved from 
fleet purchases.   However, this has not changed the estimated profile of the overall 
Efficiency Programme as detailed above.  

4.4.9 Continued progression against the efficiency programme is dependent on achieving 
significant savings as a result of the alternative delivery model for Waste, Streets 
and Parks via the transfer of services to trading company Alliance Environment 
Services.  There are also significant income generation targets focusing on housing 
and economic growth, linked to the approval of the Local Plan.

4.5 Member Priority Actions / Projects   

4.5.1 During the development of the Corporate Plan a number of priority actions have 
been identified and prioritised by members. These are as follows:

Page 83



Financial Implications

Member Priority Actions / Projects
(y/n) Firm - in 

plans

Costs 
understood - 
not in plans

Costs 
not  yet 
known

Leader 

Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative 
ways of generating income Y 

Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links Y 

Develop a masterplan for bringing redundant mills back into use Y 

Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links Y 

Refresh the Council’s Communications Strategy in order to 
ensure that there is a more effective dialogue with residents N

Implement the Council’s Growth Strategy to bring about the 
regeneration of towns and rural communities N

Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy to ensure 
that our workforce is developed effectively Y 

Leisure and Sports

Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of 
country parks Y 

Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy in order to 
integrate the communities and sports clubs into the delivery of its 
objectives

N

Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to 
Alliance Environmental Services Ltd, to deliver ground 
maintenance services on behalf of the Council in order to 
achieve improved performance and value for money outcomes

Y 

Develop a plan to improve Brough Park and John Hall Gardens Y 

Develop and implement an ongoing indoor leisure facilities 
improvement plan focussed on improving the health and 
wellbeing of residents

Y 

Develop and implement an outdoor leisure facilities improvement 
plan focussed around the “sports village” concept Y 

Page 84



Financial Implications
Member Priority Actions / Projects

(y/n)
Firm - 

in 
plans

Costs 
understood - 
not in plans

Costs 
not  yet 
known

Customer Services 
Continue to embed good information management practices through 
the ASSURED framework N

Develop a new ICT Strategy to enhance and support the delivery of 
services Y 

Develop a new Procurement Strategy with a focus on spending money 
locally N

Develop an Access to Services to ensure that Council services are 
accessible to all N

Environment 
Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd to deliver street cleansing services on 
behalf of the Council in order to achieve improved performance and 
value for money outcomes

Y 

Review the Council’s waste & recycling arrangements to increase 
recycling and to respond to the emerging new national strategy Y 

Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take steps to 
further environmental crime N

Climate Change
Develop a Climate Change Strategy and an action plan of response to 
a declared climate emergency Y 

Communities
Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed 
recommendations Y 

Develop a strategy for further development of affordable and specialist 
housing Y 

Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions for 
homeowners and private tenants N

Develop a Tourism Strategy to maximise the positive impact to our 
communities N

Review the Council’s community support arrangements in order to 
maintain strong partnerships with community groups N

Planning & Property 
Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a 
review of public estate, and ensure adequate facilities management 
arrangements are in place

Y 

Develop and implement plans to improve the public market operations Y 

Adopt a new Local Plan Y 
Develop a new Parking Strategy to ensure that our car parks meet the 
needs of residents and visitors Y 

 

Page 85



4.5.2 Any costs or revenue associated with these actions will need to be included in the 
MTFP. The impact of a number of them is already included in this iteration of the 
plan but additional work will need to be undertaken to develop a number of the 
actions further and at the same time identify any financial implications.  

4.6  Alliance Environment Service (AES)

4.6.1 Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is a company created with a vision to 
deliver waste, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services in the High Peak 
and Staffordshire Moorlands areas. The company has three shareholders: 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, High Peak Borough Council and Ansa, 
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council. 

4.6.2 Phase 1 of the transfer of services commenced on 7th August 2017 to deliver High 
Peak Borough Council Waste services. This followed the end of their previous 
contract with Veolia Environmental Services.

4.6.3 Phase 2 of the transfer of services commenced on 1st July 2018 with the transfer of 
all fleet management across the Alliance and the transfer of the Staffordshire 
Moorlands Waste Collection service.  Phase 3 is currently estimated to commence 
in April 2020, which will involve the transfer of Street Scene and Grounds 
Maintenance. 

4.6.4 Savings of £500,000 are currently forecast in the Efficiency & Rationalisation 
Programme – which are split between AES and savings to be achieved from 
Council retained budgets.  The AES efficiency programme has been reviewed and 
reprofiled to take account of the delay in the phase 3 transfer.  The split between 
savings achieved by AES/Council has also been reconsidered to take account of 
the likely savings to be achieved from fleet purchases.  

4.6.5 The contract fee for 2020/21 has been established following discussions between 
the Council and AES.  The contract fee has been calculated based on the base 
2019/20 contract fee plus 2020/21 inflation/growth items less forecast savings 
achieved.  The payment of any identified risk items (which the Council is currently 
paying an additional fee) primarily relating to the cost of short-term vehicle hire 
prior to procurement will continue if they materialise.  However, every effort will be 
made to remove these or offset them with other savings.  

Page 86



5.    Financial Forecasts

5.1   Interest Rates  

5.1.1.   The Bank of England Base Rate has remained at 0.75% since the most recent 
change in August 2018.  Link (the Council’s treasury advisor) has produced an 
interest rate forecast for interest movements over the coming four year period. 
This includes an increase to 1.00% in the quarter ending March 2021 with no 
further increases until June 2022. Link continues to acknowledge that unfolding 
events could prompt movements in rates of 0.25% to 0.50% in either direction at 
any time.

5.1.2.   HM Treasury made an announcement on 9th October, that with immediate effect 
the PWLB new loan rates would be increased by 1% making any new external 
borrowing through the PWLB more expensive than it had been.   Although this 
makes future borrowing more expensive, the MTFP presented in February had 
included an assumption around interest rate increases, therefore, the financial 
impact at this stage is limited. 

5.1.3.   Based on the current forecasts, changes in investment income and borrowing 
costs (based on interest rate changes) are highlighted below:-

5.2. Inflationary Projections 

5.2.1. The Retail Price Index (RPI) and Consumer Price Index (CPI) 12 month rate, as at 
December 2019, stood at 2.2 % and 1.3% respectively.  Inflation forecasts are 
made reflecting the composition of the Council’s expenditure, resulting in an 
inflation rate specific to the Council.

5.2.2. The MTFP presented to members in February 2019 has been updated to reflect the 
latest forecasts on inflation and to roll forward a further 12 months to include the 
2023/24 financial year. The full costs to the Council arising from inflation are 
forecast in the table below.

Expenditure/Income 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23
     
 £ £ £ £

Employee Costs 233,170 237,330 244,520 124,750
Premises Costs 32,510 32,620 33,110 35,850
Transport - - 850 850
Supplies and Services 93,360 95,110 94,530 96,590
In-Year Inflation Pressure 359,040 365,060 373,010 258,040
     

Investment Income 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £

Changes in Investment Income 41,680 (33,010) (34,700) (35,990)

Changes in Borrowing costs (2,330) 39,250 5,030 3,350

Page 87



5.3. Budgetary Demand 

5.3.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council in February 2019 analysed 
and projected forward both income and expenditure.  This has been revised to 
reflect known changes in budgetary demand.

5.3.2. The current changes in budgetary demand, included in this iteration of MTFP, are 
highlighted below:-

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
 £ £ £ £

Uniforms – Customer Services
            

2,500
          

(2,500)
              

2,500
       

(2,500)

DWP - HB admin grant reduction
          

12,000    

Localised Council Tax Support Admin grant
            

4,500    

Contract Hire Adjustment
        

270,320
         

120,200   

Car Park tickets - Printing costs 
            

5,000    

AES - SCC Transfer station handling costs
          

29,000    

AES - Paper recyclate income reduction
          

27,000    

Microsoft Office 365
          

14,250    

Concerto Asset Management system
            

3,000    

Collective System - Web forms
          

16,000    

Facilities Management Contract base
          

75,000    

Summons income reduction 25,000

Car Park income shortfall 40,000

 Total
        

523,570
         

117,700
              

2,500
       

(2,500)
     

5.3.3. In the table above the following items merit further explanation:

 Vehicle Funding - contract hire adjustment – reinstatement of the contract 
hire budget following the replenishment of reserves which were used to fund 
SFS contract hire buy-out as per Cabinet report 24th April 2018

 AES: Pressures on contracts within AES services are anticipated to have an 
impact on the AES management fee payable by the Council:

o £29,000 – The bulking charge from Staffordshire County Council at 
the Fowlchurch Leek Waste Transfer Station is being reviewed by the 
County Council.

Page 88



o £27,000 – Paper recycling tonnage continues to fall in line with the 
national picture, creating a pressure on income.

 Facilities Management: The cost of aligning the budget to reflect current 
contract base in preparation for a new facilities management arrangement. 
This adjustment assumes action will be taken in 2020/21 to reduce the level 
of current spend. 

5.3.4. In addition to the above, there may be a requirement to include upfront increased 
budget demand in relation to climate change related projects in future years.  Some 
of these costs may already be included with the MTFP forecast – for example, 
schemes within the asset management plan and fleet purchase programme where 
environmental impact will be a significant consideration.  However, any additional 
costs will be assessed and included within future MTFP iterations once known and 
the business case has been developed.   

5.3.5. It may also be necessary to include increased budget provision as a result of the 
completion of service plans and in accordance with the Organisational Strategy – 
which is scheduled to be reviewed in line with Corporate Plan objectives.  Additional 
staff resource or expertise may be necessary to deliver specific projects.  This will 
be reviewed by the Transformation Board as part of the business case process for 
each project. 

5.4. Budget Growth

5.4.1. In previous years, very few additions in respect of budget growth have been 
included in the MTFP. It is assumed in light of the financial pressures faced by the 
Council, that any local issues that necessitate budget growth will be financed by 
internal spending reductions elsewhere. Occasionally, however, it is necessary to 
include budget growth to meet spending commitments.

5.4.2. No such items are included in this iteration of the MTFP.

5.5. Pensions 

5.5.1. The results of the 2019 triennial actuarial valuation of the Staffordshire Pension 
Fund have been received, confirming the Staffordshire Moorlands portion of the 
Fund is in deficit by £11.4 million (down from £23 million at the last valuation in 
2016) and is 84% funded (up from 66% funding level in 2016).

5.5.2. The valuation has set a required employer contribution rate of 16.6% of payroll for 
the period 2020 – 2023 (unchanged from 2016). In addition to this a secondary 
contribution of £3.109 million is also payable over this period. This amount is to be 
discounted to £2.924 million if paid in one lump sum in April 2020. The Authority 
has indicated its intention to take up this option.

5.5.3. The MTFP reflects the outcome of this valuation. A further valuation will be 
undertaken in year 4 of the MTFP (2023/24).

6.      Funding & Income Generation

6.1. Council Tax  

Page 89



6.1.1. The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition of 
capping.  However the Council’s ability to increase Council Tax by more than a 
certain percentage is subject to referendum. This percentage has been confirmed 
as 2% for 2020/21, Government consultation is currently on-going regarding future 
years.

6.1.2. In line with current guidance, this iteration of the MTFP assumes that a 1.9% 
Council Tax increase will be implemented throughout the 4 year life of this Plan.

6.1.3. Provision has been included within the Plan to reflect anticipated growth in Council 
Tax base over the next 4 years. The figures included are shown in the table below:
Increased Council Tax Income 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £

Council Tax increase (102,290) (104,650) (108,180) (111,470)

Revenue from tax base growth (21,880) (81,290) (65,310) (64,930)

TOTAL (124,170) (185,940) (173,490) (176,400)

6.2. Business Rates Retention 

6.2.1. Under the 50% Business Rates Retention system, the Authority retains 40% of 
Business Rates less a tariff that is payable into a pool maintained by a number of 
Staffordshire Authorities. This amount is then compared to a Funding Baseline 
(estimated at £2,622,420 for 2020/21); any amount in excess of this Baseline is 
subject to levy, or conversely if the amount of retained Business Rates is below this 
Baseline, the loss is capped by a safety net payment. The MTFP does not 
anticipate the Council falling below the Baseline.

6.2.2. As part of the Staffordshire Pool, the levy or the safety net payment is made to or 
from the Pool instead of Central Government. If the Council was not in the 
Staffordshire Pool it would have to pay 50p in the £1 to the Government as a levy, 
effectively limiting the income the Council can gain from business rates growth. 
However, as part of the Pool, the Council is able to retain 40% of this levy. It is 
expected that a variation to the pool agreement will increase this by an additional 
20% from 2020/21 known as a ‘Volatility Allowance’ which will be paid to the pool 
along with all other collection authority members then divided equally between the 
same collection authorities. Therefore an assumption is included in the MTPF that 
each £1 achieved above the baseline, is distributed as follows: 

 80p is retained by the Council;
 20p is paid to a Central Allocation which is distributed amongst the Lead 

Authority and Major Preceptors in accordance with the agreement.

The benefit to the Council of being part of the Pool arrangement is estimated to be 
approximately £463,500 in 2020/21.

6.2.3. In October 2015, the Government announced a forthcoming package of reforms to 
the Business Rates Retention System including a move to local government 

Page 90



retaining 100% of the rates that they received (subsequently being revised to a 75% 
scheme, although a 100% is once again under consideration) with an end to 
Revenue Support Grant.  The new scheme will now not be introduced until 2021/22 
at the earliest.

6.2.4. There remains uncertainly surrounding how the new system will be phased in and in 
what form. Following invitation from DCLG, Staffordshire Authorities made an 
application to become a pilot area for the Business Rates Retention scheme. The 
application was successful for the 2019/20 75% pilot.  For the purpose of the MTFP, 
a windfall of £200,000 was included based on the minimum payment to be received 
by each Member Authority as detailed in the Memorandum of Understanding to the 
Pilot Pool.  It has been confirmed that no further pilots will take place during 
2020/21; therefore this windfall of £200,000 has been removed from the MTFP 
going forwards.

6.2.5. The MTFP anticipates that Business Rates retention will be above the baseline. Net 
income is somewhat suppressed due to the award of reliefs including increased 
small business rate relief including the changes in thresholds, multiplier cap, 
extended rural relief, supporting small businesses relief, retail discount and local 
discretionary relief; and the increase in the provision for RV reductions on 
successful appeals, including potential NHS Trust applications and ATM RV 
changes. To compensate for the loss of business rates income resulting from the 
reliefs, funding has to date been made available to Councils under Section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. The MTFP assumes both the extension of reliefs and 
equivalent Section 31 grants will continue. 

6.2.6. Changes in the level of the Council’s business rates will be impacted by a range of 
factors, including the Staffordshire Pool’s success in generating new and retaining 
existing business within its area. At this stage, predicted levels of business rates 
income are based on known and expected changes to the business rates listing. 

Business Rates Retention 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £
In year:
      Baseline Funding (2,622,420) (2,665,170) (2,708,610) (2,752,760)
      Achievement against Baseline 120,360 (104,970) (141,140) (251,650)
      Section 31 Grant (1,523,370) (1,330,180) (1,359,630) (1,393,070)
Total (4,025,430) (4,100,320) (4,209,380) (4,397,480)

Change between years:
      Business Rates retained (118,760) (268,080) (79,610) (154,660)
      Section 31 Grant 133,440 193,990 (29,450) (33,440)
Total 14,680 (74,890) (109,060) (188,100)

6.2.7. MHCLG announced on 27th January 2020 that additional business rates measures 
will apply from 1st April 2020: retail discount will be increased from one-third to 50% 
and will be extended to cinemas and music venues; local newspaper office space 
discount will be extended in duration; and there will be an additional discount of 
£1,000 for pubs with a rateable value of less than £100,000.

Page 91



6.2.8. Due to the timing of this confirmation, these additional reliefs have not been built in 
to the budget for Business Rates Retention. It is anticipated that the Council will be 
compensated via a S31 grant for the NNDR income foregone, however due to the 
nature of Collection Fund accounting, the additional reliefs will have the effect of 
increasing the collection fund deficit during 2020/21 (to be distributed in 2021/22), 
whist the additional grant will increase the in-year funding in the general fund. The 
council will therefore ring-fence the additional grant received during 2020/21 relating 
to these reliefs, in order to fund the distribution of the additional collection fund 
deficit in 2021/22.

6.3. Collection Fund 

6.3.1. The Council maintains a Collection Fund to record the receipt of Council Tax and 
Business Rates and their distribution to precepting authorities. Any surplus or deficit 
generated is distributed or recovered from the preceptors in subsequent years.

6.3.2. It is expected that Staffordshire Moorlands’ share of a surplus, in respect of Council 
Tax, will be £34,440 in 2020/21.

6.3.3. It is assumed that a surplus, after providing for appeals, of £861,930 will be 
distributed in 2020/21 in respect of retained Business Rates generated in the 
current and previous years. Staffordshire Moorlands’ share of this surplus will be 
£344,770. It is assumed the Business Rates element of the collection fund will 
break even in future years, leaving no surplus or deficit for distribution.

6.3.4. These and future year movements are set out in the table below:

Changes in Collection Fund Income 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £

Council Tax 37,430 (20,090) 9,730 (740)
Business Rates (611,280) 344,770 0 0
Total (573,850) 324,680 9,730 (740)

6.4. Income from Government Grants  

Revenue Support Grant
 
6.4.1. In October 2015, Government announced the phasing out of Revenue Support 

Grant (RSG). 2018/19 was the final year of RSG grant; none will be received in 
throughout the life of the plan.

New Homes Bonus (NHB) 

6.4.2. In the provisional Local Government financial settlement released in December, the 
Government confirmed that in Spring 2020 it would be consulting on a replacement 
for the New Homes Bonus scheme. The new housing incentive scheme will reflect a 
more targeted approach that rewards local government where they are ‘ambitious’ 
in delivering housing growth. At this stage, there is no further detail on what form 
the new scheme will take.

Page 92



6.4.3. The allocation of New Homes Bonus is secure for 2020/21; and the Council will 
receive £194,890 in funding next year; beyond that no commitment is made for 
future years.

6.4.4. The 2020/21 bonus is made up of £34,400 in new award and £160,490 in legacy 
payments relating to previous years’ awards.

6.4.5. The MTFP presented in November assumed total NHB receipts of £608,000 for 
years 2 – 4 of the Plan (2021/22 to 2023/24). This amount is consequently at risk if 
the new scheme is less generous to Staffordshire Moorlands than the old scheme 
was.

6.4.6. In the absence of any further information, this iteration of the MTFP assumes that 
the Council will continue to receive funding equivalent to that received in 2020/21; 
i.e. £195,000 per annum; but does so with the recognition of the major risk this 
represents to the viability of the Plan beyond 2020/21.

6.4.7. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy originally included an assumed 
£400,000 from stimulated housing growth, primarily from New Homes Bonus over 
the four years (2017-21).  The low level of growth experienced in the District over 
the last few years has meant that little progress has been made against this target.  
The added uncertainty surrounding the replacement scheme casts further doubt on 
this target. 

Local Council Tax Support Grant 

6.4.8. The Council operated a scheme whereby funding received from Central 
Government in respect of Local Council Tax Support was passed on to the Parishes 
by means of an annual grant. The allocation of this grant was based on the eligibility 
of parish residents for Council Tax discounts.

6.4.9. The level of resources made available for this grant has been reduced each year in 
line with the reduction in overall Government funding suffered by the Authority. The 
final year of Local Council Tax Support grant funding was 2018/19. No further 
funding is included for this purpose in the Plan.

6.4.10. The basis of the model underlying the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is 
currently being reviewed, primarily as a consequence of the introduction of 
Universal Credit.  The result of this review, including any budgetary consequences, 
will be built into future iterations of the MTFP.

Summary of Income from Government Grants 

6.4.11. The table below summarises the movement in Government funding from the 
2016/17 baseline:-

Government Grant (gain) / 
loss of funding

2016/17 
(baseline)

2017 - 20 
(actual)

2020/21 
(forecast)

2021/22 
(forecast)

2022/23 
(forecast)

2023/24 
(forecast)

 £ £ £ £ £ £

Page 93



6.4.12. The changes shown in the table above mean that the Government grant funding 
received by the Council will have reduced to £194,890 by 2023/24, compared to 
the £2,525,610 received in 2016/17.

6.5. Fees and Charges  

6.5.1. Charging for local services makes a significant contribution to the Council’s 
finances. The Council also uses charging to influence individual choices and 
behaviour, and to bring other benefits to local communities. The Council’s Charging 
Policy sets out the following principles for establishing the level of fees and charges:  
 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income
 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes
 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the development of 

Council services in accordance with priorities
 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually

6.5.2. Services have completed the fees and charges templates, the financial outcomes of 
the process are shown in ANNEX C. The summary includes categorisation of 
charges and identifies where fee-earning services are provided at a subsidy.

6.5.3. The proposed fees and charges for 2020/21 are presented in APPENDIX C to this 
report.

6.5.4. The Medium Term Financial Plan currently projects that the Council will increase 
fees and charges (and other income) broadly in line with inflation.  However, it is 
also recognised that certain income streams (such as car parking, planning 
receipts) may not increase each year and that other income streams (such as 
grants and rental income) are fixed or subject to periodic review.

6.5.5. The underlying annual total expected from inflationary increases to fees and 
charges has been set at £25,000, recognising the potential overlap with income 
generation themes included in the Efficiency Programme.

6.5.6. In 2021/22 additional revenue has been included arising out of an increase in car 
park charges deferred from 2020/21 subject to a review of the Parking Strategy. A 
further increase is factored in for 2023/24.

6.5.7. The projected revenue from increased fees and charges (and other income) is 
summarised in the table below:

Increased Fees and Changes 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Revenue Support Grant (1,246,290) 1,246,290 - - - -
Rural Services Delivery Grant (14,930) 14,930 - - - -
Transition Grant - - - - - -
New Homes Bonus (1,264,390) 820,630 248,870 - - -

Change in Govt Funding (2,525,610) 2,081,850 248,870 - - -

Page 94



£ £ £ £

Revenue from increased Fees and Charges (25,000) (25,000) (25,000) (25,000)
Revenue from Car Park charge increase - (85,000) - (100,000)
Total (25,000) (110,000) (25,000) (125,000)

6.5.8. During 2020/21, a review will be undertaken of concessions applied on certain fees 
and charges.  This review will consider the justification for offering a concession, 
the level of concession applied and the consistency of application across the 
various fees and charges.

7.   Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves

7.1. Risk Identification and Management

7.1.1. The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Budget and 
Medium Term Financial Planning process. Risks are assessed, mitigated and 
actively managed to ensure that the Council delivers its services effectively within 
the funding at its disposal. The principal risks to the Medium Term Financial Plan 
are summarised in ANNEX D.

7.1.2. Risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an on-going basis and 
remedial action taken as appropriate.  Risks associated with specific projects will be 
identified within the project methodology documents and reviewed monthly by the 
Transformation Board.

7.1.3. The table below highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within this 
Medium Term Financial Plan: 

7.1.4. Britain’s Exit from the European Union 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks

 Inflationary assumptions
 Interest rates
 Revenue consequences of 

capital
 Housing benefits
 Fees and charges
 Universal Credit
 Business Rates Retention 

scheme
 Council Tax collection
 New Homes Bonus
 Financial benefits from 

partnerships / shared services
 Pension costs
 Insurance costs
 Waste management costs
 Brexit implications

 Interest rates 
 External funding
 Capital receipts
 Capacity to deliver capital 

programme
 Project overspend
 Project overrun
 External factors (e.g. 

planning objections, judicial 
reviews etc. leading to 
project delay)

 Housing Joint Venture
 Suppliers / Contractors / 

Contract Management
 Weather 
 Brexit implications

Page 95



7.1.3. At this stage it is impossible to predict the impact of the Brexit process on the 
Authority’s finances and financial planning. The outcome of the General election in 
December has given the Government a large Parliamentary majority and put it back 
in control of the Brexit timetable. As such the prospect of further delay has receded 
and the United Kingdom is expected to leave the European Union on 31st January, 
whereupon the country will enter into a transition period during which time the 
details of the future relationship with the European Union will start to emerge.

   
7.1.4. During this period, there is a risk that a number of local and national economic 

drivers such as inflation, interest rates, the valuation of assets and liabilities and the 
demand for and funding of services will be affected.

7.1.5. The direction and extent of Brexit’s influence on these areas is a matter of debate.  
To give an idea of the potential financial consequences the table below quantifies 
the impact on the Authority’s current 2020/21 budget had there been a 1% change 
in its key economic drivers.
Risk item Impact on 2020/21
1 % change in inflation 155,000
1 % change in interest rates 88,000

7.2. Contingencies  

7.2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is underpinned by a number of assumptions. 
These assumptions have been made in the light of currently available information. 
New information, when it emerges, may require the Council to alter its assumptions 
with a consequential effect on the Council’s financial position.

7.2.2. Key risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
remedial action taken.  Members will receive quarterly updates on performance 
against the budget. 

7.2.3. The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks cannot be 
fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief 
Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the estimates included in the 
budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the budget provides.  

7.2.4. While there is no detailed guidance on calculating the level of general reserves the 
Council is encouraged to take into account the strategic, operational and financial 
risks facing the Council.  These amounts are then moderated to acknowledge the 
likelihood of all risk events occurring together. The table below presents analysis 
undertaken by the Council in calculating the minimum level of general reserve 
required.

Page 96



Risk Item Calculation Factor Value Reserve 
Requirement

£’m £

Expenditure Items (gross) – Employee Related 2% of value 6.23 123,000

Expenditure Items (gross) – Other 2% of value 10.14 203,000

Housing Benefits 0.25% of value 13.05 33,000

Fees and Charges 3.5% of value 5.18 181,000

Interest Receipts/Payments 50% fall in average rate 0.11 57,000

Efficiency Provisions 30% of value 0.70 211,000

Council Tax Collection 1.5% of value 5.51 83,000

Business Rates Retention 5% of value 4..13 207,000

Development Services Income 5% of value 0.50 25,000

Local Land Charges 5% income fall 0.14 7,000

New Homes Bonus 50% income fall 0.19 100,000

Total Requirement all events 1,230,000

   Moderation 10% reduction (123,000)

Total Requirement 1,107,000

7.2.5. It is proposed that the minimum general reserve contingency balance should 
increase by £55,000 to £1,107,000 to meet unforeseen expenditure and/or 
shortfalls in income.  [The Council anticipates that at 1st April 2020 it will be holding 
a contingency reserve of £2,153,000 and earmarked reserves (held for specific 
purposes) of £2,740,000].

7.2.6. The level and utilisation of reserves is determined formally by the Council, having 
received the advice and judgement of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The Chief 
Financial Officer’s advice is:  

“In the view of the Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 
Officer), the budget includes estimates which take into account circumstances and 
events which are reasonably foreseeable at the time of preparing the budget. The 
view is therefore held, that the level of reserves are adequate for the Council 
based on this budget and the circumstances in place at the time of preparing it.” 

[Note: A formal record of the Chief Finance Officer’s advice is recorded in the 
minutes of the Council meeting.  In the unusual event that a Chief Finance 
Officer’s advice is not accepted by a Council, the rejection by a Council of the 
Chief Finance Officer’s advice must be recorded in the minutes].

7.2.7. Further detail of the CFO’s determination in regard to contingency balances and 
reserves is detailed in ANNEX E.

Page 97



7.3. Use of Reserves and Balances  

7.3.1. The February 2019 Medium Term Financial Plan included an £7,700 contribution 
from General Fund Reserves in 2019/20 in respect of Section 106 (Commuted 
Sum). The level of Section 106 reserve usage remains at £7,700 p.a. from 2019/20.

7.3.2. The February 2019 MTFP also anticipated contributions into the General Fund 
contingency over the lifetime of the plan. This position remains the same throughout 
the period 2020/21 to 2023/24, albeit with a lower overall contribution. The planned 
contribution to reserves in 2019/20 is £3,140

7.3.3. The Quarter Three report forecasts that there will be a surplus against budget of 
£143,480, in which case, there will be a net contribution into contingency reserves 
of £146,620 in 2019/20.  

7.3.4. The use of reserves anticipated over the 4 years has been updated in this iteration 
of the plan, in line with revenue forecasts. The annual changes are shown in the 
table below:

Reserve / Balance 2019/20 
(Budget) 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

 £ £ £ £ £

Contingency Reserve 3,140 276,010 (63,450) (194,450) 17,840

Section 106 Monies (7,700) (7,700) (7,700) (7,700) (7,700)

Total  Contribution / (Usage) (4,560) 268,310 (71,150) (202,150) 10,140
      
Change in use of reserves 272,870 (339,460) (131,000) 212,290

7.3.5. With effect from 2020/21, the MTFP reflects a contribution of £35,950 into 
Contingency reserves over the next 4 years (2020/21 £276,010 contribution; 
2021/22 £63,450 usage; 2022/23 £194,450 usage; and 2023/24 £17,840 
contribution).  

7.3.6. The table below shows the revised level of contingency reserves over the life of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan: 

Contingency reserve 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

 £ £ £ £ £
As at February 2020:      
Estimated balance at year end 2,153,280 2,429,290 2,365,840 2,171,390 2,189,230
      
Minimum requirement (7.2) 1,052,000 1,107,000 1,107,000 1,107,000 1,107,000
      
Headroom 1,101,280 1,322,290 1,258,840 1,064,390 1,082,230
      

8. Budget 2020/21

Page 98



8.1. The prospects for the 2020/21 Budget were considered by the Council, as part of 
the update of the Medium-Term Financial Plan, on 3rd December 2019 prior to the 
commencement of the budget exercise.  

8.2. Budget preparation work has now been completed and an overall balanced budget 
position has been reached with the inclusion of a £702,290 efficiency target and a 
projected contribution into reserves of £268,310.

Proposed Budget

8.3. The proposed 2020/21 Budget is detailed below:-

Budget Heading 2020/21  
 £
Employees 6,448,210
Premises 2,199,930
Transport 204,260
Supplies & Services 7,059,440
Benefits 5,010
Borrowing 332,730
Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 0
Financing Costs 231,380
Total Expenditure 16,480,960
  
Fees and Charges / Other Income (5,205,900)
Interest Receipts (88,510)
Ascent LLP Income (645,390)
Net Expenditure 10,541,160
  
Council Tax (5,507,650)
Revenue Support Grant 0
Business Rates Retention (4,025,430)
Rural Service / Transition Grant 0
New Homes Bonus (194,890)
Earmarked Reserves / Balances 268,310
Collection Fund (379,210)
Total Financing (9,838,870)
  
Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus) 702,290
  
Efficiency Requirement (702,290)
  
In Year Deficit / (Surplus) 0
  

Council Tax Requirement 2020/21

Page 99



8.4. The table below illustrates the Council Tax requirement for 2020/21:-

 2020/21  
 £
Net Expenditure 10,541,160
  
Efficiency Target (702,290)
New Homes Bonus (194,890)
Rural Service Delivery Grant 0
Business Rates Retention (4,025,430)
Contribution to Reserves 268,310
Collection Fund (379,210)
  
Net Requirement 
from Council Tax 5,507,650

8.5. Members will be aware that the Council has adopted the following items of 
expenditure as Special District Expenses (SDEs) to be levied on specific parishes:
 Leek – Brough Park, Birch Gardens, Recreation Grounds and Leek Cemetery; 

and
 Biddulph – Recreation Grounds.

8.6.    Estimated net expenditure for 2020/21 in respect of Special District Expense items 
is set out in the table below:

Special District Expense Net Cost

 £
Leek
Brough Park 99,090
Recreation Grounds 80,900
Birch Gardens 30,350
Cemetery 133,270
Total 343,610

Biddulph
Recreation Grounds 67,320
Total 67,320

TOTAL LEVY 410,930

8.7. Members should note that overall Special District Expenses have been adjusted to 
achieve a 1.9% increase, to accord with the Council’s strategy for District Council 
Tax levels in 2020/21.

8.8. The overall Council Tax requirement contained within these proposals is 
summarised in the table below.

Budget 
Requirement

£
Tax Base

Band D 
Council Tax

£

Increase/
(Decrease) 

%
5,096,720 33,225

Page 100



District Council Tax 153.40 1.9%

Special District Expense

Leek 343,610 6,493 52.92 1.9%
Biddulph 67,320 6,327 10.64 1.9%

9. MTFP General Fund Revenue Position   

9.1. The medium term general fund revenue position is as set out in the table below, 
which summaries the impact of the discussions in the previous sections of the 
report:-

     
 Summary Revenue Position 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

     £ £ £ £
Revenue Consequences of Capital Spend (section 4.3) (33,070)

320

344,610 82,980 55,050
Interest Rate Changes (section 5.1) 41,680 (33,010) (34,700) (35,990)
Borrowing Cost Changes (section 5.1) (2,330) 39,250 5,030 3,350
Inflation Pressures (section 5.2) 359,040 365,060 373,010 258,040
Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand (section 5.3) 523,570 117,700 2,500 (2,500)
Budget Growth (section 5.4) - - - -
Increased Council Tax Income (section 6.1) (124,170) (185,940) (173,490) (176,400)
Business Rates Retention (section 6.2) 14,680 (74,890) (109,060) (188,100)
Changes in Collection Fund Surplus (section 6.3) (573,850) 324,680 9,730 (740)
Reduction in Government Grant (section 6.4) 248,870 - - -
Additional Fees and Charges (section 6.5) (25,000) (110,000) (25,000) (125,000)
Contribution to / (Use of) Reserves & Balances (section 7.3) 272,870 (339,460) (131,000) 212,290
 In Year Change in Position 702,290 448,000 - -

Existing Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan (section 4.4) (702,290) (448,000) - -

 Budget (Surplus) / Deficit - - - -
Cumulative (Surplus) / Deficit - - - -

9.2. The table above table shows a balanced position over the life of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan assuming the remaining Efficiency Programme savings of 
£1,650,290 are achieved. 

9.3. The above position includes the contribution of £35,950 into contingency reserves 
during the life of the plan.

9.4. ANNEX F shows the indicative detailed revenue budget for the period 2020/21 – 
2023/24.

10.      Consultation

10.1. The Council is committed to consulting with residents and other stakeholders to 
help inform the budget setting process and spending priorities/non-priorities. A 

Page 101



variety of techniques have been used and the approaches have been iterative, 
building year on year on what has gone before. The Council already holds 
comprehensive information gathered about residents’ spending priorities. Much of 
this information was gathered in times of rising expenditure. The financial 
challenges for the Council are now very different. 

10.2. The consultation process for the 2020/21 Budget was undertaken in conjunction 
with the revised Corporate Plan via an online communication available on the 
Council’s website.  This summarised the financial challenges the Council faces and 
invited comment.    

10.3. It will be particularly important that the Council, as it makes difficult budgetary 
decisions, is able to evidence that it has considered the impact of its decisions on 
groups with protected characteristics.

Page 102



ANNEX A

Proposed Capital Projections (2019/20 to 2023/24)  

Capital Schemes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management Plan       
Public Buildings      12,120              -      183,340    876,440              -    1,071,900 
Car Parks    373,160    284,050    334,650              -                -      991,860 
Public Conveniences              -      132,400              -        65,400              -      197,800 
Infrastructure/Waterways    142,400              -                -        23,860    208,220    374,480 
Leisure Centres              -      839,000    299,500              -      213,200  1,351,700 
Depots & Park Buildings      10,480      47,720    759,260      42,400      15,000    874,860 
Industrial Units      58,710              -        17,860              -        60,850    137,420 
    596,870 1,303,170 1,594,610 1,008,100    497,270  5,000,020 
       
Private  Housing Grants 0 45,000      15,650              -                -   60,650
       
Disabled Facilities 
Grants  1,211,000 1,200,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 6,911,000
       
ICT Projects 138,000      91,900      50,000      50,000      50,000 379,900
       
Fleet Management 1,285,100 2,568,290 152,500 0    301,640 4,307,530
       
Other Schemes       
Conservation 53,980 50,000      50,000      50,000      21,920 225,900
Outdoor Sports Facilities              -        50,000      50,000              -                -      100,000 
Public Parks/Play Facilities 22,620    421,920              -                -                -   444,540
CCTV              -      275,100              -                -                -   275,100
 76,600 797,020 100,000      50,000      21,920 1,045,540
       
TOTAL PROGRAMME 3,307,570 6,005,380 3,412,760 2,608,100 2,370,830 17,704,640
       
CONTRIBUTIONS 1,211,000 1,227,390 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 6,938,390
       
NET PROGRAMME 2,096,570 4,777,990 1,912,760 1,108,100    870,830 10,766,250

Page 103



ANNEX B

Summary of Approved Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy (February 2017)

Efficiency 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Major Procurements      
Ansa Joint Venture 100 200 100 100 500
Leisure Centres - - - 500 500
Facilities - 75 - - 75
 100 275 100 600 1,075
Asset Management      
Asset Rationalisation 50 50 25 25 150
 50 50 25 25 150
Growth      
Housing Growth 50 50 150 150 400
Business Growth 15 50 50 150 265
Industrial Units - 50 50 - 100
 65 150 250 300 765
Income Generation      
Fees & Charges 125 175 100 250 650
Affordable Housing 100 100 - - 200
Advertising / Sponsorship 30 30 - - 60
Commercial Property - 50 - - 50
Enhanced Trading 50 - - - 50
 305 355 100 250 1,010
Rationalisation      
Management Staffing 100 - - - 100
Channel Shift - - - - -
Service Rationalisation 41 - - - 41
 141 - - - 141
      
TOTAL 661 830 475 1,175 3,141
      

The above programme has been reprofiled to take account of any changes to the expected timing 
of savings:- 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £ £
Original Programme 661,000 830,000 475,000 1,175,000 - 3,141,000
Amended Programme 661,000 395,000 935,000 702,000 448,000 3,141,000
Variance - (435,000) 460,000 (473,000) 448,000 -
Achieved Q4 2018/19 - 93,000 (93,000) -
Revised Target 661,000 488,000 842,000 702,000 448,000 3,141,000

Page 104



 ANNEX C
Fees & Charges

 SMDC Proposed Fees & 
Charges Charging Policy Category

Service Area 2020/21 Full 
commercial

Fair 
charging

Cost 
recovery Subsidised Nominal Free Statutory Total

Income £13,483 £30,647 £20 £2,531  £0 £2,167 £48,848Environmental 
Health Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs £4,219 £2,766 £20 (£1,034)  (£62,795) -

£25,034
(£81,859)

Income      £127,493 £0 £127,493Licensing Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs      (£2,680) -
£15,857

(£18,537)
Income   £120,149   £0 £0 £120,149Land Charges Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs   £27,363   £0 £0 £27,363
Income  £27,068 £6,421     £33,509Planning Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs  £12,964 £1,170     £14,133
Income   £3,788     £3,788Building 

Control Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs   £3,788     £3,788
Income  £12,017      £12,017Street Naming Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs  £10,355      £10,355
Income £5,384  £23,342     £28,726Waste Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs £1,409  £1,210     £2,619
Income £15,283 £89,262      £104,545Cemeteries Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs £9,808 £32,854      £42,662
Income  £2,965      £2,965Street Scene Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs  £224      £224
Income £8,737 £1,340  £447  £0  £10,524Horticulture Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs £2,023 £272  (£59)  (£608)  £1,628
Income  £675,944    £0 £32,500 £708,444Car Parks Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs  £288,944    (£31,870) (£1,050) £256,024
Income  £125,027      £125,027Markets Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs  (£42,504)      (£42,504)
Income  £10,409      £10,409Lettings Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs  £6,970      £6,970
Income  £219,000      £219,000Finance Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs  £27,670      £27,670
Income     £1,694   £1,694Elections Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs     £0   £0
Income       £10,840 £10,840Environmental 

Crime Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs       £1,189 £1,189
Income       £700 £700Community Surplus/ (Subsidy) after Costs       (£314) (£314)

Charging 
Policy Policy Objective

Full commercial Service is promoted to maximise revenue within an overall 
objective of generating a surplus from the service

Fair charging
Service is promoted to maximise income but subject to 
defined policy constraints including commitments made to 
potential customers on an appropriate fee structure

Cost recovery Service generally available to all but without a subsidy

Subsidised Service is widely accessible, but users of the service should 
make some contribution from their own resources

Nominal Service to be fully available and a charge is made to 
discourage frivolous usage

Free Service fully available at no cost

Statutory Charges are set in line with legal obligations

Page 105



ANNEX D

Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Financial 
Implications

Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency and 
Rationalisation Strategy

Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process

Financial 
Implications

Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost & income 

The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary

Service Continuity Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards

Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals

Corporate 
Governance

Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability

Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
will be reviewed to account for the new 
approach proposed in the Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy

Management of 
Change

Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual effects 
of aggregation; proposed 
changes to organisational 
structure, roles & responsibilities

Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development.

People Risks Impact of cultural changes;

assessment of skills; recruitment 
& retention;

capacity issues

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Key Projects & 
Partnerships

Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements

The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery

Performance 
Management

Adequacy of framework to 
monitor transition

Risk management processes are 
embedded

Reputation and Maintaining existing partner Continuing communications process for the 

Page 106



Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Relationship Risks confidence delivery of transformation programme

Programme 
Delivery

Delays in implementation of 
efficiency savings

Effective governance arrangements in place 
to monitor plans. 

Executive Directors and Senior Managers 
own delivery of efficiencies. 

Executive Director (Transformation) 
appointed as programme director. 

Programme 
Delivery

A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are not 
achieved

Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting

The strategy is kept under constant review

Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups

Political Support Lack of Members support for 
Plan.

Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements

Page 107



ANNEX E

Chief Finance Officer’s Section 25 Review

The purpose of this statement is to provide councillors with information on the robustness 
of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves in the Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP).

Background 

The Council sets in budget in February each year. In setting the budget  the level of 
Council Tax and other fees and charges are established. Decisions are based on a budget 
that sets out estimates of what the Council plans to spend on each of its services in the 
forthcoming year. 

The decision on the level of the income is taken before the financial year begins and it 
cannot be changed during the year, so allowance for risks and uncertainties that might 
increase service expenditure above that planned, must be made by: 

 Making prudent allowance in the estimates for each of the services; and
 Ensuring that there are adequate reserves to draw on if the service estimates turn out 

to be insufficient. 

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that the Council’s Chief Finance 
Officer reports to Full Council when it is considering its Budget for the forthcoming financial 
year. The report must deal with the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the 
reserves allowed for in the budget proposals, so that councillors have professional, 
authoritative advice available to them when they make their decisions. Section 25 also 
requires members to have regard to this report in making their decisions. 

Robustness of Spending Forecasts 

Heads of Service in conjunction with the Council’s Head of Finance monitor detailed 
budgets throughout the year. This enables additional service pressures to be identified on 
an on-going basis. 

Reports are presented on a quarterly basis to the Resources Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
and Cabinet. These reports highlight all variances between spending and budgets. 

The proposal for the 2020/21 Budget and updated MTFP are based on extensive analysis 
and assurances from Heads of Service and their finance support staff. Cabinet portfolio 
holders have worked with their respective Executive Directors throughout the process. 
Resources Overview & Scrutiny Panel members have been able to question the progress 
of spending throughout the year and received a report on the draft MTFP in November 
2019.

Extensive work has also been carried out to produce the MTFP. A range of broad 
assumptions have been utilised and robustly challenged as part of the process. 

Forecasts take account of the financial commitments that emerge from the Council’s new 
Corporate Plan approved in September 2019. 

Page 108



The Council has taken all reasonable and practical steps to identify and make provision for 
the Council’s commitments in 2020/21 in order to achieve a balanced budget. 

Robustness of Income Forecasts

The level of Council Tax has been established with reference to the maximum increase 
allowed without requiring a referendum. A 1.9% increase has been provided for in each of 
the financial years of the MTFP.

The forecasts of the business rates that will be retained by the Council have been 
calculated in line with the current Business Rates Retention Scheme. The forecasts taken 
account of the following:

 The baseline income set by government;
 Prudent forecast of the financial benefits of being a member of the Staffordshire Pool 

arrangements;
 The award of reliefs and the receipt of Section 31 grants to compensate;
 Adequate provision to meet the impact of successful appeals; and
 Predicted levels of business rates income are based on known and expected changes 

to the business rates listing. 

The level of fees and charges has been assessed in conjunction with Heads of Service. 
The proposed levels for 2020/21 take account of the following factors in line with the 
Council’s Charging Policy:

 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income;
 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes;
 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the development 

of Council services in accordance with priorities; and
 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually.

Forecasts of New Homes Bonus are based on the principle that the Council will continue 
to receive funding equivalent to that received in 2020/21. This is due to the recent 
announcement that the current scheme is to be replaced for 2021/22.

Key Budget Risks 

The forecasts in the MTFP include provisions for savings from the Council’s Efficiency and 
Rationalisation Strategy. The Council has made significant progress with the achievement 
of the required savings with the majority of the savings having being met. However the 
Alliance Management Team (AMT) will need to continue to deliver the remainder of the 
programme throughout the early years of the MTFP.

The Government is expected to consult on a number of national reforms which will impact 
of the Council’s finances. These include:

 Fair funding review;
 The Business Rates Retention Scheme including resetting the baseline income;
 Replacement of the New Homes Bonus Scheme.

These changes will have a significant impact on the Council’s finances.

Page 109



The national economic situation is currently unpredictable. At this stage it is impossible to 
predict the impact of the Brexit process on the Council’s finances and financial planning. 
During this period, there is a risk that a number of local and national economic drivers 
such as inflation, interest rates, the valuation of assets and liabilities and the demand for 
and funding of services will be affected.  

Adequacy of Reserves 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Local Authority 
Accounting Panel (LAAP) has a guidance note on Local Authority Reserves and Balances 
(LAAP Bulletin 77) to assist local authorities in this process. This guidance is not statutory, 
but compliance is recommended in CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Finance Director 
in Local Government. It is best practice to follow this guidance. 

The guidance however states that no case has yet been made to set a statutory minimum 
level of reserves, either as an absolute amount or a percentage of budget. Each Local 
Authority should take advice from its Chief Finance Officer and base its judgement on local 
circumstances. 

Reserves should be held for three main purposes: 

 A working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves; 

 A contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – this also 
forms part of general reserves; 

 A means of building up funds known as ‘earmarked reserves’, to meet known or 
predicted funding requirements. 

The CIPFA Guidance highlights a range of factors, in addition to cash flow requirements, 
that Councils should consider including: 

 The treatment of inflation;
 The treatment of demand led pressures;
 Efficiency savings; 
 Partnerships; and 
 The general financial climate, including the impact on investment income. 

The guidance also refers to reserves being deployed to fund recurring expenditure and 
indicates that this is not a long-term option. If the Council chooses to use reserves as 
recommended within the Budget, appropriate action will need to be factored into the MTFP 
to ensure that this is addressed over time. 

The risk assessment process has identified a number of key risks which could impact on 
the Council’s resources. The Council continues to face significant funding reductions and 
on-going budget pressures. In addition there continue to be risks associated with the 
Business Rate Retention Scheme. 

With these risks in mind, it is recommended that the Council adopts a policy for reserves 
as follows: 

Page 110



 Set aside sufficient sums in earmarked reserves that it considers prudent. These 
reserves are established as are required and are reviewed regularly for both adequacy 
and purpose and levels are reporting appropriately in line with the established reporting 
processes; and

 General Reserves are maintained to be at least at the level of the contingency 
requirement calculated with reference to LAAP Bulletin 77 and reported to Council as 
part of the approved MTFP.  

Earmarked reserves have been established to provide resources for specific purposes. 

The proposals contained within this update do not require any contribution from General 
Reserves throughout the period 2020/21 to 2023/24.

CIPFA Resilience Indicators 

In 2019 CIPFA produced a Financial Resilience Index. This is a comparative analytical tool 
that may be used by Chief Finance Officers to support good financial management, 
providing a common understanding within a council of their financial position. 

The index shows a council’s position on a range of measures associated with financial 
risk. The selection of indicators has been informed by the extensive financial resilience 
work undertaken by CIPFA over the past four years, public consultation and technical 
stakeholder engagement. 

The index is made up of a set of indicators. These indicators take publicly available data 
and compare similar authorities across a range of factors. There is no single overall 
indicator of financial risk, so the index instead highlights areas where additional scrutiny 
should take place in order to provide additional assurance. 

The indicators that are produced for district councils are as follows:

 Reserves Sustainability Measure
 Level of Reserves
 Changes in Reserves
 Interest Payable / Net Revenue Expenditure
 Gross External Debt
 Fees and Charges to Service Expenditure Ratio
 Council Tax Requirement / Net Revenue Expenditure
 Growth Above Baseline
 Unallocated Reserves
 Earmarked Reserves
 Change in Unallocated Reserves
 Change in Earmarked Reserves
 Change in HRA Reserves

Details of the indicators for 2018/19 are attached. In this analysis the Council is compared 
with all non-metropolitan district councils.

The indicators where the Council is showing higher risk are associated with the use and 
level of reserves.

Page 111



The Sustainability Measure indicates the number of years that the Council’s 2018/19 
reserves would last if they were used at the same average rate as over the last three 
years. For the Council this is some 17 years. Despite this being comparatively low, this is 
a considerably long timeframe and only significant if it is expected to use the reserves at 
that rate.  

The authorities scoring a Sustainability Measure of 100 are those that have made a net 
contribution into reserves over the last three years.  

A significant element of our drawdown over the preceding three years the contribution 
made out of revenue reserves to fund Capital expenditure. This was primarily associated 
with the purchase of the vehicle fleet including the “buy-out” of the contract hire 
arrangements. 

The forecasts in the current MTFP do not include any contribution from general reserves 
so the risk rating of the Council against these indicators will reduce significantly in future 
years.

Opinion

In my professional view, if the Council were to accept the current MTFP then the level of 
risks identified in the budget process, alongside the Council’s financial management 
arrangements suggest that the level of reserves is adequate. 

Andrew P Stokes
Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer

Page 112



Page 113



ANNEX F

Proposed Revenue Projections (2020/21 to 2023/24)

Budget Heading
2020/21  

Projection
2021/22  

Projection
2022/23  

Projection
2023/24  

Projection
 £ £ £ £
Employees 6,125,260 6,362,590 6,607,110 6,731,860
Premises 2,199,930 2,232,550 2,265,660 2,301,510
Transport 141,260 141,260 142,110 142,960
Supplies & Services 7,445,390 7,658,200 7,755,230 7,849,320
Benefits 5,010 5,010 5,010 5,010
Borrowing 332,730 724,750 810,120 866,870
Financing Costs 231,380 231,380 231,380 231,380
     
Total Expenditure 16,480,960 17,355,740 17,816,620 18,128,910
     

Fees and Charges / Other Income
     

(5,205,900)
    

(5,315,900)
       

(5,340,900)
     

(5,465,900)

Interest Receipts 
         

(88,510)
       

(119,970)
          

(152,030)
       

(186,370)

Ascent LLP Income 
       

(645,390)
       

(655,100)
          

(655,100)
       

(655,100)

Recharges
                   

0                   0
                     

0
                   

0
     
Net Expenditure 10,541,160 11,264,770 11,668,590 11,821,540
     

Council Tax
     

(5,507,650)
    

(5,693,590)
       

(5,867,080)
     

(6,043,480)

Revenue Support Grant
                   

0                   0
                     

0
                   

0

Business Rates Retention
     

(4,025,430)
    

(4,100,320)
       

(4,209,380)
     

(4,397,480)

Rural Service Delivery Grant
                   

0                   0
                     

0
                   

0

New Homes Bonus
       

(194,890)
       

(194,890)
          

(194,890)
       

(194,890)

Earmarked Reserves
           

(7,700)
          

(7,700)
             

(7,700)
           

(7,700)

Contingency Balances
         

276,010
        

(63,450)
          

(194,450)
           

17,840

Collection Fund
       

(379,210)
        

(54,530)
           

(44,800)
         

(45,540)
     

Total Financing
     

(9,838,870)
  

(10,114,480)
     

(10,518,300)
   

(10,671,250)
     

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)
         

702,290
      

1,150,290
         

1,150,290
       

1,150,290
     

Efficiency Requirement (cumulative)
       

(702,290)
    

(1,150,290)
       

(1,150,290)
     

(1,150,290)

Deficit / (Surplus)
                   

0                   0
                     

0
                   

0
     

Page 114



APPENDIX D

                              

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CAPITAL STRATEGY 
2020/21

Page 115



1 Introduction & Background 

1.1 The 2017 edition of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
requires local authorities to produce a ‘Capital Strategy’ from 2019/20. The 
purpose of the Capital Strategy is to demonstrate that the Council’s capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with corporate 
priorities and properly take account of the following:

 Stewardship;
 Value for money;
 Prudence;
 Sustainability; and
 Affordability. 

1.2 The Capital Strategy is intended to give a high level overview of how capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to 
the provision of services along with an overview of how associated risk is 
managed and the implications for future sustainability. It allows authorities to 
give greater weight to local circumstances and explain their approach to 
borrowing and investment.

1.3 The Strategy forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital financial 
planning and sets out the long term context in which capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are made. It is an integral component of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and is aligned with the Council’s:

 Corporate Plan
 Asset Management Strategy; 
 Growth Strategy; and
 Treasury Management Strategy

1.4 The strategy will provide for a balanced, sustainable capital programme over 
the medium term planning period ensuring that limited resources are applied 
in the most effective, efficient and economical way to contribute to the 
achievement of the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

1.5 The strategy sets out how the Council will prioritise its capital spending plans 
within the resources available and indicates the action to be taken to 
maximise resources for capital spending. The strategy is strategic in nature 
and will focus upon the process for determining capital investment priorities. 

1.6 The strategy sets out the strategic approach to the management of debt and 
borrowing. The detailed implications of this are contained within the Treasury 
Management Strategy (TMS) which is updated annually. .

1.7 The Capital Strategy will be updated annually alongside the Council’s MTFP. 
There will also be a fundamental review of the strategy alongside a revision of 
the Corporate Plan.

Page 116



2. Corporate Priorities

2.1 The Capital Strategy is driven by local priorities. The Council’s spending 
strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by the Council.

2.2 Following the elections in May 2019, there has been a fundamental review of 
the Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2019-2023 (up to the end of the 
current political administration).  The Corporate Plan was agreed by Council 
on 16th October 2019 with 2020/21 representing the first full year of the new 
Corporate Plan.

2.3 The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) establishes the Council’s 
vision, corporate objectives and key priorities for the medium term.  It in effect 
establishes the Council’s commitment in the delivery of service and 
community leadership to the residents of the Staffordshire Moorlands. 

2.3 The Council’s vision is restated as:

“Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high quality services that meet the 
needs and aspirations of our communities” 

2.4 This vision is articulated further by four aims:

 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live 
and work

 Effective use of resources and provide value for money
 Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns 

and villages
 Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 

emergency

2.5 These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below:

Aim Objectives

1

Help create a safer 
and healthier 

environment for our 
communities to live 

and work

 Increased supply of good quality affordable homes
 Develop a positive relationship with communities
 Effective relationship with strategic partners
 Effective support of community safety arrangements including 

CCTV
 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused 

upon improving health

2

Effective use of 
resources and 

provide value for 
money

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for 
money

 Ensure services are easily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time”

 A high performing and well motivated workforce
 More effective use of Council assets
 Effective procurement with a focus on local business
 Effective use of ICT

Page 117



Aim Objectives

3

Help create a strong 
economy by 

supporting further 
regeneration of towns 

and villages 

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises
 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy
 Encourage and develop tourism
 High quality development and building control with an “open for 

business” approach

4

Protect and improve 
the environment and 

respond to the climate 
emergency 

 Effective recycling and waste management
 Meeting the challenge of climate change
 Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and 

environmental health
 Provision of quality parks and open spaces
 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 

businesses and visitors

2.6 The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local 
area. In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role.  
Fulfilling this role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key 
areas in order to ensure that services are shaped and delivered around the 
needs and aspirations of citizens. 

2.7 The Council’s influencing role is focused in the following areas:
 Support the police and other partners to reduce crime, the fear of crime 

and anti social behaviour
 Ensure there is effective health provision particularly for the elderly
 Ensure that there an effective provision of waste and recycling centres 

across the district
 Work with Staffordshire County Council to provide accessible on-street 

parking
 We will work with partners to improve the provision of bus services which 

connect our villages with our three market towns for services, shopping 
and leisure.

 Expand the Growth Deal partnership with Staffordshire County Council 
on the will be expanded to provide inward investment 

 Work to combat illegal money lenders such as loan sharks
 Continue to support the Churnet Valley Railway with their plans to bring 

trains back to Leek
 Work with Staffordshire County Council

2.8 The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in 
the development of performance targets and key actions. A significant 
proportion of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them:

Aim Objectives

Help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities 

to live and work

 Increased supply of quality affordable homes
 Improved  health
 Improved community safety

Effective use of resources and 
provide value for money

 Council services provide value for money
 High level of resident and customer 

satisfaction

Page 118



Aim Objectives

Help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages 

 Sustainable towns and rural communities
 Increased economic growth
 Increased tourism

Protect and improve the 
environment and respond to the 

climate emergency 

 High recycling rates
 Reduction in carbon emissions

3. Capital Spending Priorities

3.1 The Council’s capital investment priorities are determined by the corporate 
priorities set out above. The key capital investment priorities for the Council 
are therefore as follows: 

Corporate Property – the Council will invest in maintaining the properties 
that support the delivery of services direct to residents. 

Other Corporate Assets – the Council will invest in other assets that support 
the delivery of services e.g. transport fleet.  

Affordable Housing & Private Sector Housing Renewal – the Council will 
support the development of affordable housing and investment in the 
improvement in housing conditions throughout the district  

Enabling Growth – the Council will support the growth of business and 
employment opportunities within the district in addition to housing 
development in line with the commitments set out in the Local Plan  

Service Transformation – the Council will invest in projects that improve 
service performance or reduce service expenditure on an “invest to save” 
basis the will include investment in ICT 

4. Asset Management Planning

4.1 The overriding objective of asset management is to ensure that the Council 
maintains a portfolio of property assets that is appropriate, fit for purpose and 
affordable.

4.2 The council’s property portfolio consists of the following:

 Operational property i.e. assets that support core business and service 
delivery

 Investment properties held to support economic growth and / or to 
provide a financial return to the Council e.g. industrial units

 Community assets e.g. parks, playgrounds and open spaces.

4.3 Asset management is an important part of the council’s management 
arrangements and is crucial to the delivery of value for money services. The 
Council through production of its Asset Management Plan (AMP) is committed 
to:

Page 119



 Optimise the Council’s land and property portfolio through proactive estate 
management and effective corporate arrangements for the acquisition and 
disposal; 

 A regular review of the condition of retained properties including a long-
term (30-year) assessment of the necessary investment to maintain the 
assets fit for purpose; and

 Realise the value of any properties that have been declared surplus to 
requirements in a timely manner, having regard to the market conditions.

5. Commercial Activities 

5.1 The Council currently undertakes and will continue consider commercial 
activities. These are in two forms: 
Alternative service delivery arrangements – where the Council has a stake 
in a company which is established for the delivery of Council services 
Commercial investments - investments taken for mainly financial reasons - 
these may include:
 Investments explicitly taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for 

the Council.
 Commercial investments also include fixed assets which are held primarily 

for financial benefit or to support economic growth.

5.2 The reasons for commercial investments are:
 Financial returns to fund services to residents;
 Reductions in service spending;
 Pursuing the Council’s Growth Strategy; and
 Economic development and regeneration activity in the district 

5.3 The Council will continue to invest prudently on a commercial basis and to 
take advantage of opportunities as they present themselves, supported by our 
robust governance process.

5.4 Such investments do not always give priority to security and liquidity over 
yield. In these cases, such a decision will be explicit, with the additional risks 
set out and the impact on financial sustainability identified and reported. 
Before considering any such investments the Council will ensure: 
 That it has the appropriate legal powers to undertake such investments; 

and
 That any investment is proportionate of all investments in order to avoid an 

excessive level of risk. 

5.5 The commercial investments may involve the acquisition of property. The 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) define 
investment property as property held solely to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both.  Historically, property has provided strong investment 
returns in terms of stable income. Property investment is not without risk as 
property values can fall as well as rise and changing economic conditions 
could cause tenants to leave with properties remaining vacant. These risks 
will continue to be identified and managed through the Council’s Risk 
Management Framework.

Page 120



5.6 The council may fund commercial investments by borrowing. The revenue 
returns should exceed the cost of repaying the borrowed money each year. 

6. Loans to Third Parties

6.1 The council has discretion to grant loans to third parties for a number of 
reasons. These loans are treated as capital expenditure. In making loans the 
Council is exposing itself to the risk that the borrower defaults on repayments. 
The Council, in making these loans, will therefore ensure they are prudent 
and that the risks have been identified and fully considered. 

6.2 The Council will periodically review its loan portfolio in order to ensure that the 
cumulative exposure of the Council is proportionate and prudent.

6.3 The Council will ensure that a full due diligence exercise is undertaken for 
each individual loan and will ensure that adequate security is in place. The 
business case for each loan will consider all of the benefits and the risks. 

6.4 It will be necessary to assess the level of risk attached to the provision of 
each individual loan and consequently build in a ‘risk premium’ into the 
interest rate charges to account for this. The factors taken into account in 
determining this premium:
 the level of security;
 financial position and credit rating; 
 the overall term of the loan; and 
 the value of the loan. 

6.5 The step by step process undertaken is outlined below:-

STEP 1 – Assessing 
State Aid Implications 

In assessing state aid implications and due diligence around 
risk, the starting point used is the EU reference rate:  as it 
stands, this is approximately 1%.   Other considerations are then 
assessed (based on STEP 2 – 4) which potentially increase this 
rate between 1-10% - resulting in an overall rate chargeable 
between 2% and 11%.

STEP 2 – Assessing 
available market rates

In liaison with the Council’s Advisors, the interest rate the third 
party would be expected to pay if accessing funding from the 
market (based on amount/loan term etc) is estimated.  This is to 
ensure the rate the Council is offering is competitive and not 
undercutting the market.  

STEP 3 – Assessing 
credit quality

The next consideration is credit quality – which may then 
consequently reduce/increase the rate.  Factors that are taken 
into account include:- credit ratings (if applicable), the financial 
position of the borrower, what security is available etc.

STEP 4 – Assessment 
of Corporate Plan 
objectives

Finally, there is an overall assessment of the purpose of the third 
party loan and linking this to the Council’s Corporate Plan 
objectives – local factors based on the outcomes of the loan 
may have an influence on the rate charged.

6.6 All loans are agreed by full Council in line with the Council’s constitution. All 
loans will also be subject to regular monitoring.

Page 121



7 Capital Expenditure

7.1 Capital spending decisions will appropriately reflect the aspirations and 
priorities included within the Corporate Plan and its supporting strategies.

7.2 Any scheme / project to be added to the Capital Programme will be subject to 
a ‘gateway’ process and prioritised according to availability of resources and 
the longer-term impact on the council’s financial position. The ‘gateway’ 
process will be undertaken in line with the Council’s agreed project 
management methodology with a robust business case being developed at 
the critical stages of project approval and initiation. This process will be 
overseen by the Council’s Transformation Board.

7.3 The business case will include the following considerations:
 A clear assessment of the cost of financing the capital scheme, net of 

revenue benefits, profiled over the lifetime of each scheme; and
 Commissioning and procuring for capital schemes will comply with the 

requirements set out in the Council’s Procurement Procedure Rules.

7.4 The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme will be agreed by the 
Council in February each year as part of the budget setting process. The 
Medium Term Financial Plan, Asset Management Plan and Treasury 
Management Strategy will be considered at the same time.  In year variations 
of spend (subject to budget tolerance levels) and the re-profiling of schemes 
will be considered and approved by Cabinet. 

7.5 The Cabinet and the Resources Overview & Scrutiny Panel receive capital 
monitoring reports as part of the quarterly performance and financial 
monitoring reports.

7.6 Cabinet considers and approves new bids for inclusion in the capital 
programme. Approval to spend on individual capital schemes will only be 
given once procedural this approval has been achieved.

7.7 Each approved scheme will be included in the Council’s Transformation 
Programme and one of the Council’s Alliance Management Team (AMT) will 
be assigned as Project Executive and will be responsible / accountable for the 
delivery of the scheme. 

7.8 Wherever possible the Council will take a long term view of plans in order to 
assess affordability and the demand on future capital resources. It is essential 
for example to consider the lifespan and fitness for purpose of assets. This 
will be considered through asset management planning (condition surveys) 
and wider service based exercises e.g. leisure centre provision evaluation. 

7.9 There is a clear demand for long term planning for capital and treasury 
management purposes. The council’s current debt portfolio contains loans 
that mature up to 2021. The debt repayment profile needs to be managed 
alongside the longer term expectations for capital expenditure and funding 
forecasts.

Page 122



7.10 Long-term forecasts are not easily predicted and the accuracy of all financial 
estimates will be limited. However, long-term forecasting is valuable in 
informing strategic plans taking account of the cumulative sustainability and 
affordability of existing and planned investments which will need to be repaid 
over future periods. For major projects and investment the funding and 
financial implications need to be planned well in advance.

8 Resourcing Capital Expenditure 

8.1 In order to fund its capital investment, the Council will have access to limited 
sources of funding. The main sources of funding are as follows: 

 Capital Receipts 

These will be yielded from the disposal of land and property. A programme of 
disposal will be agreed by the Cabinet. This will be informed by the asset 
management planning process. In considering disposals the Council will take 
account of the following:

o Potential loss of income from investment properties 
o Projected saving in running costs, and capital costs of major investment 

required 
o Assessment against fitness of premises for purpose and current patterns 

of need 

The Secretary of State has allowed the flexible use of capital receipts. It is 
considered that individual local authorities will be best placed to decide which 
projects will be most effective for their area. The key criteria to use when 
deciding whether expenditure can be funded by the capital receipts flexibility 
is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings. If the Council plans to use 
this funding option a proposal will be prepared setting out the planned use, 
listing the projects and the expected savings and / or improvements in service 
outcomes for each project, and the impact on the Council’s prudential 
indicators.

 Borrowing 

Capital projects that cannot be funded from any other source can be funded 
from borrowing. Local Authorities can borrow to fund schemes where it is 
prudent to so. They need to consider their ability to pay for the borrowing. The 
levels of borrowing are determined by using the indicators set out in the 
Prudential Code. The borrowing repayment and interest charges on the loan 
need to be met from existing revenue budgets or identify them as new growth 
in the annual budget setting process and factor them into the MTFP.

The Chief Finance Officer will make an assessment of the overall prudence, 
affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing requested and the impact 
of the Council’s borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management 
Strategy alongside the Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance.

Page 123



The Chief Finance Officer will also determine whether the borrowing should 
be from internal resources or whether to enter into external borrowing. This 
decision making will be undertaken in line with the Council’s Treasury 
Strategy and will be reported to the Audit & Accounts Committee as part of 
the monitoring of treasury management activity. 

 Revenue Funding

The Council may use revenue budgets to fund capital expenditure. This may 
be via a capital reserve which has been established to finance capital 
expenditure as an alternative to external borrowing.

The Council will formally review such reserves and their application both as 
part of the budget setting process and at finalisation of the annual accounts.  

 S106 contributions 

The principal purpose of S106 agreements is to support individual planning 
applications in line with the Council’s planning policies. Wider contributions 
are constrained by legislation and have to be negotiated and justified.

The Council will ensure these are where possible focussed towards corporate 
priorities subject to the legislative constraints.

 External Grant Funding 

The Council has a history of success in bidding for grants from a number of 
sources. There is a risk of reacting to funding opportunities informed by 
external priorities rather than chasing those that match the Council’s priorities 
/ needs. 

The Council will seek to ensure that bids are submitted to support investment 
that is directed to the commitments made in the Corporate Plan.  

 Partnership Funding

There are a number of examples where the Council has attracted third party 
funding from partners e.g. leisure centre investment from long-term 
contractor.    

The Council is aware of the need to be innovative and to work closely with the 
private, public and voluntary Sectors to deliver outcomes in line with the 
Corporate Plan priorities at a time when there will be reduced levels of capital 
resources.

Any such investments will be considered only if they are more cost effective 
than the Council investing directly.

Page 124



9 Forecast Expenditure and Resources

9.1 The forecasted spend over the current financial planning period (2020/21 to 
2023/24) is as follows:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management 
Plan 596,870 1,303,170 1,594,610  1,008,100     497,270 5,000,020
Housing Grants 1,211,000 1,245,000 1,515,650  1,500,000  1,500,000    6,971,650 
ICT Strategy     138,000       91,900       50,000       50,000       50,000 379,900
Fleet Management 1,285,100 2,568,290 152,500             -       301,640 4,307,530
Other Schemes 76,600 797,020 100,000       50,000       21,920 1,045,540
Total Programme 3,307,570 6,005,380 3,412,760  2,608,100  2,370,830  17,704,640 

9.2 The individual projects that are included in the above include: 

 Asset Management Plan (AMP) – the costs identified in ensuring the 
Council’s property portfolio remain fit for purpose.  This includes:-
- Public Buildings
- Car Parks
- Public Conveniences
- Waterways & Infrastructure assets
- Leisure Centres
- Depots & Parks Buildings
- Industrial Units

 Housing Grants – the District Council is the duty holder for the mandatory 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s).  All eligible applicants are entitled to 
receive mandatory funding for certain major adaptations to their properties.  
Funding for this scheme is provided through the Better Care Fund vi the 
County Council

 ICT Strategy – the key priorities of the ICT Strategy are to provide the 
technological infrastructure to support joint working, new ways of workings 
and improve access to services for the Council’s customers  

 Fleet Management – the estimated costs of the replacement fleet 
programme are included within the capital programme.  However, options 
appraisals are undertaken prior to purchase to determine the most cost 
effective method of financing.  Therefore, other funding models, for 
example, contract hire or leasing may be undertaken for some vehicles 
categories

 Other schemes – include schemes such as park and play facility 
improvements, facility improvements, conservation grants, CCTV 
equipment 

9.3 Further detail of the above capital schemes is included within the main body 
of the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Page 125



9.4 The resources that are to be used to finance the Capital Programme are as 
follows:

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 
External Contributions 1,211,000 1,227,390 1,500,000 1,500,000  1,500,000 6,938,390
Capital Receipts             -   93,000       15,650             -         11,000 119,650
Capital Reserve 1,285,100     214,900             -               -               -   1,500,000
Earmarked Reserves             -       220,850             -               -               -   220,850
Borrowing 811,470 4,249,240 1,897,110 1,108,100     859,830 8,925,750
Total  Financing 3,307,570 6,005,380 3,412,760 2,608,100  2,370,830 17,704,640

9.5 The commercial investments held by the Council can be summarised as 
follows:

 Industrial units – commercial units available for small and medium sized 
organisations to rent for the operation of their business

 Property rentals – rental streams generated from sharing Council 
properties with partners/external organisations

 Ascent Housing – a joint venture with Your Housing Group Limited for the 
provision of affordable housing across the District

 Alliance Environment Services (AES) – company established in 
partnership with ANSA (wholly owned company of Cheshire East Council)  
to deliver waste, streets, fleet and grounds maintenance.

9.6 The following investments are currently being considered:

 Investment in key strategic land to enable housing and business 
development 

 The purchase of additional investment property
 An alternative funding model working with Your Housing to further 

enhance the provision of affordable housing
 Alternative service delivery arrangements for the delivery of trading 

services

10 Long-term Considerations

10.1 There a number of functions where there are long term capital spending 
liabilities have been identified.

Asset Management Plan 

10.2 In line with the commitment made in this strategy, asset condition surveys 
were last completed for the Council’s property portfolio in 2016. These 
ascertain the overall condition of the properties and establish the necessary 
capital investment required to ensure that they are maintained to an 
appropriate standard.

10.3 The indicative capital investment required at that stage  can be summarised 
as follows:

Page 126



SMDC - Capital Investment Required*
2016-17 - 
2019-20 
(MTFP)

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years)
TOTAL

£ £ £
Public Buildings 1,010,850 2,761,600 3,772,450
Car Parks 754,000 4,293,431 5,047,431
Public Conveniences 181,400 415,800 597,200
Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 479,361 448,761 928,122
Leisure Centres 310,000 10,005,995 10,315,995
Depots and Parks Buildings 97,070 2,355,714 2,452,784
Industrial Units 80,380 392,050 472,430

TOTAL 2,913,061 20,673,351 23,586,412

*The latest update of the 30year plan is presented in the Medium Term Financial Plan report Appendix A

10.4 The overall outcomes of the surveys can be summarised as follows:

 A number of the Council’s operational assets are dated in appearance and 
require investment;

 The Council’s car parks require capital investment;
 There are structural issues associated with a number of the Council’s 

buildings  which require resolution;
 There are urgent works related to health and safety requirements that 

need to be resolved; and
 Investment is required to the electrical and mechanical infrastructure of a 

number of buildings. 

10.5 The results from these surveys have informed the development of the 
Council’s four-year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). Adjustments have 
been made to exclude any major investment in the Council’s leisure centres 
and operational depots where it is assumed that investment will be deferred 
pending the major decisions that linked to changes in the service delivery 
arrangements which are in progress. 

10.6 The indicative investment for 30-years will have a significant impact on the 
Council’s future revenue budgets and the analysis showed that the Council’s 
property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable. The estimated impact of 
the indicative capital projections for the 30-year investment requirements at 
the point the surveys were completed is detailed below:

SMDC Estimated Revenue Consequences - Cumulative 
Impact

2016-17 - 
2019-20 
(MTFP)

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years)
TOTAL

£ £ £
Fit for Purpose Standard works - Cumulative Cost       115,959    943,653    1,059,612 
Less Existing MTFP - Cumulative Cost (111,403) - (111,403)
Potential Additional Budget Requirement           4,556    943,653      948,210 

10.7 The above analysis showed that providing the investment in the longer term to 
maintain the Council’s property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable.  

 

Page 127



10.8 In order to address this, the Council agreed to a number of actions to reduce 
the impact of the necessary capital spending. It was agreed that the following 
are considered before investment in each of the assets is made: 

 Asset rationalisation 
 Shared use of assets 
 Reduction in specification and functionality
 Generate additional capital receipts
 Identify grants to support investment 
 Generate additional revenue from asset holdings 

Review of Strategic Land Holdings

10.9 In order to address a number of the considerations above the Council agreed 
to review the Council’s strategic land holdings with a view to developing 
options to either generate additional capital receipts or opportunities to 
generate ongoing financial returns. This review is currently in progress.   

Leisure Centres

10.10 Given the age and condition of the leisure centres, significant capital 
investment is required over the next 30 years in order that these assets 
remain fit for purpose. 

10.11 The Council commissioned a review of its leisure centre provision in the 
context of its sports facility needs focusing on sports halls, swimming pools 
and other indoor provision. The purpose of undertaking this review was to 
inform the Council on options for future provision of council leisure centres 
and other sports facility based services from 2018 and beyond. 

10.12 The outcome from this review in effect set out a position statement on the 
suggested facility hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for 
the phasing of future facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to 
ensure that the Council can develop a more sustainable solution in relation to 
meeting customer needs, affordability and partner aspirations, whilst 
supporting the overall vision of the Council’s newly adopted Physical Activity 
& Sports Strategy.

10.13 The effectiveness of the current leisure centre provision was also assessed. 
This assessment considered current income and expenditure benchmarks. 
The conclusion of the review was that the Council should consider the 
following investment requirements: 

 Replacement of South Moorlands Leisure Centre with smaller community 
pool and fitness offer, ideally co-located with other public sector services 
(health /  children’s services / social care etc.);

 Refurbishment and essential works at Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre; 
 Replacement pool at Brough Park Leisure Centre & 3G pitch development; 
 Increased access to school sites for sports hall provision / club use; and
 Development of 3G pitch provision – potentially linked to school sites

Page 128



10.14 The indicative capital cost for these investments would be in the region of 
£19.25m. At this stage the investment costs are significantly in excess of 
revenue savings, and consequently it will be necessary for the Council to 
identify additional sources of capital investment to deliver these 
improvements.

Operational Depot Provision

10.15 In 2017 established Alliance Environmental Services (AES) which was 
created jointly with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA (a company owned 
by Cheshire East Council) to deliver the Council’s waste collection, street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance services. The Council’s waste collection 
service was transferred to the company in July 2018 with the rest of functions 
expected to transfer in April 2019.    

10.16 Major investments in the operational depot facilities which have been leased / 
licensed to AES has been deferred until the opportunity has been taken to 
review the requirements of the new company in light of widening of the base 
of the services provided.

Page 129



11 Debt, Borrowing & Treasury Management

11.1 Effective treasury management is critical to the safeguarding and 
management of the financial resources at the Council’s disposal.  Investment 
and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s formally 
adopted Treasury Management Strategy.  The Treasury Management 
Strategy is presented annually and approved by Full Council.  

11.2 There are key prudential indicators set in respect of the impact of capital 
expenditure.  The report details the forecast borrowing requirement over a 
four year period, the consequential borrowing costs and the impact of the 
Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR). The CFR is total outstanding 
capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for either from revenue or 
capital resources, essentially the Council’s underlying borrowing need. 

11.3 The table below summarises the impact of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans on the CFR:-

2018/19 
Actual

2019/20 
Estimate

2020/21 
Estimate

2021/22 
Estimate

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
EstimateCapital Financing 

Requirement (CFR)
£ £ £ £ £ £

CFR – services 16,230,000 16,936,000 21,182,000 22,732,000 23,495,000 23,907,000

CFR – Commercial activities/ 
non-financial investments

0 59,000 (1,000) 17,000 (2,000) 59,000

Total CFR 16,230,000 16,995,000 21,181,000 22,749,000 23,493,000 23,966,000

Movement in CFR (242,000) 765,000 4,186,000 1,568,000 744,000 473,000

Represented by:
Net financing need for the 
year

645,000 812,000 4,249,000 1,897,000 1,108,000 860,000

Less Minimum Revenue 
Provision*

(887,000) (47,000) (63,000) (329,000) (364,000) (387,000)

Movement in CFR (242,000) 765,000 4,186,000 1,568,000 744,000 473,000

11.4 Where a borrowing requirement is identified, an assessment takes place on 
the most cost effective way to fund this.  This could result in ‘external 
borrowing’ from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), other Local 
Authorities, direct from the market or by utilising lease arrangements.  

11.5 Alternatively, ‘internal borrowing’ – the use of cash balances – could be used 
temporarily, particularly in the current interest rate climate where investment 
returns remain low.  However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when the Council may not be 
able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the 
refinancing of maturing debt.

Page 130



11.6 The Council’s forward debt projections are shown in the table below in relation 
to the CFR:-

March ’19 
Actual £

March ‘20 
Estimate  £

March ‘21 
Estimate  £

March ‘22 
Estimate  £

March ‘23 
Estimate  £

March ‘24 
Estimate  £

External Borrowing 11,000,000 12,000,000 16,249,000 18,146,000 19,254,000 20,114,000

Other long-term liabilities* 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Debt at 31st March 11,000,000 12,000,000 16,249,000 18,146,000 19,254,000 20,114,000

Change in Debt position (1,854,000) 1,000,000 4,249,000 1,897,000 1,108,000 860,000

Capital Financing 
Requirement 16,230,000 16,995,000 21,181,000 22,749,000 23,493,000 23,966,000

(Under) / over borrowing (5,230,000) (4,995,000) (4,932,000) (4,603,000) (4,239,000) (3,852,000)
*Other long-term liabilities will include Right-of-Use assets under accounting standard IFRS16 to be adopted 
from 2020/21. These are assets formerly known as operating leases which will be included on the balance 
sheet and therefore increase the CFR, similar to the former treatment of Finance Leases. The impact is 
expected to be immaterial therefore is not included at this stage. Should any changes be significant, the CFR 
limit and forecast will be revised during the year.

12 Risk Management

12.1 There are a number of key risks that will impact upon the successful 
implementation of the Council’s Capital Strategy 

12.2 The Council operates effective risk management through its Risk 
Management Framework. Risk management is the process of identifying 
risks, evaluating their potential consequences and determining the most 
effective methods of managing them and/or responding to them. It is both a 
means of minimising the costs and disruption to the Council caused by 
undesired events and of ensuring that the element of risk in all activities is 
properly understood.

12.3 In order to manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital 
project need to be systematically identified, analysed, influenced and 
monitored. It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and 
for the capital programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital 
assets held primarily for financial returns. 

12.4 An assessment of risk should therefore be built into each individual capital 
project and the major risks that identified should be recorded in the Projects 
Risk Register which is reported to the Council’s Audit & Accounts Committee. 

Page 131



12.5 The risks associated with the Capital Strategy are detailed below with the 
mitigating actions:

Risk Mitigating Actions
Diminishing Resources  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) carefully monitored 

and managed
 New grant / funding opportunities explored
 Partnership opportunities explored to share investment

Project Delivery  Spending / Funding closely monitored 
 Projects managed through the Council’s project management 

methodology
 Major projects reported through the council’s performance 

framework 
Commercial Investments  Exposure to non-repayment carefully managed through the 

contract management arrangements
 Disinvestment potential will be regularly considered

VAT Partial Exemption  Each capital investment will be closely reviewed to assess its 
VAT implications.

Page 132



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Animal Boarding Establishments (Kennels & 

Cateries) including Domestic Day Care & 

Over Night Licence (initial or renewal, 

excluding vet fees). Vets fees are charged in 

addition to these fees based on full cost 

recovery:

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

11 + animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

25 Plus Animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £250.00 £300.00 20.00%

Animal boarding (Crèche Facility) - 

Commercial 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £250.00 £250.00

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 

upto 5 Households 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £400.00 £400.00 0.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 

upto 5 - 10 Households 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £600.00 £600.00

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 

upto 10 Plus 

Price On 

Request 

Price on 

Request

Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00

Interim Inspection (Commercial) £100.00 £100.00

Interim Inspection (Domestic) £50.00

Approved Food Premises  
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Caravan & Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Park Homes: New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Fee per additional 

pitch

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Licence amendment
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Transfer of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Annual fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Deposit of site rules
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Contaminated Land Enquiry:

(Initial Enquiry 2 

Hours Minimum 

Charge ) 

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £110.00 £110.00 0.00%

Each subsequent 

hour or part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Cooling Tower Notification
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Dangerous Wild Animals Licence (initial or 

renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £400.00 33.33%

Dog Breeding Establishments Licence (initial 

or renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery:

1-4 dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £140.00 £150.00 7.14%

5 - 10 dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £250.00 £300.00 20.00%

10 Plus
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £350.00 16.67%

Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00

Interim Inspection £100.00 £100.00

Environmental Health Pre-Application advice 

(minimum 2 hours) 

(Initial Enquiry 2 

Hours Minimum 

Charge)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Each subsequent 

hour or part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Environmental Permit Fees Set by DEFRA
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Fees set by 

DEFRA

Copy of Register of Authorisations  (Permits): 

Copying Charge Plus officer time charged for 

photocopying per hour or part thereof.

per side of A4 (or 

equivalent electronic 

format)

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £20.00 £20.00

Officer Time (EIR)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £130.00 £130.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 

(Max 25 Certificates) 

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £1,500.00 £1,600.00 6.67%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 

(Max 50 Certificates) 
£3,000.00

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly (50 

Plus)

Price on 

Request

Export Health Certificate for Brewery/Artisan 

Products 

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £60.00 £65.00 8.33%

Page 133



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 

Brewery/Artisan Products (Max 25 

Certificates)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £500.00 £600.00 20.00%

Export Health Certificate (Samples/ Low Value 

goods up to £500 per consignment)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £60.00 £65.00 8.33%

Amendment to Health Certificate
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Amendment to Health Certificate 

(Artisan/Brewery Products)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme - Re-Rate 

within 3 Months of Inspection 

Price On Application 

Officer Time hourly 

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit 

with Safer Food Better Business Pack (upto 2 

hours) 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £100.00 £125.00 25.00%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit 

with Safer Food Better Business Pack (upto 3 

hours) 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Price on 

Application   
£175.00

Safer Food Better Business Pack Incl 2 Year 

Diary 
£20.00

Copy of Food Register (Full Copy of 

database) 
Full Register

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £170.00 £175.00 2.94%

One Copy of Any Entry in the Register
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

List of Food Premises In a Particular Category
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £70.00 £75.00 7.14%

Food Premises Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 #DIV/0!

House in Multiple Occupation Licence: First application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £385.00 £385.00 0.00%

 

Subsequent 

application/renewal by 

same landlord

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Change of ownership 

application

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Improvement Notice Fee
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Immigration Housing Certificate per application
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Hypnotism Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 #DIV/0!

Land Drainage/Culvert Maintenance for 

Private Individuals or Companies 

Full Price On 

Application inc. Officer 

Time hourly 

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Pet Shop Licence (initial or renewal) 

(excluding vet fees. Vets fees are charged in 

addition to these fees based on full cost 

recovery):

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £170.00 £180.00 5.88%

Interim Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Pleasure Boats & Pleasure Vessels to be let 

for hire or used for carrying passengers for 

hire (Exemption for such boats on any inland 

waterway owned or managed by the British 

Waterways Board)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £110.00 £120.00 9.09%

Riding Establishments Licence (initial or 

renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 

charged in addition to these fees based on full 

cost recovery:  (Annual Vet Inspection 

required)

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £130.00 £150.00 15.38%

11-20 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £175.00 16.67%

21+ animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £185.00 £200.00 0.00%

Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00

Interim Inspection £100.00 £100.00

Sex Shop & Cinema Licence (including Sexual 

Entertainment Venues of any type):
New Application

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £3,100.00 £3,100.00 0.00%

Renewal
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £1,700.00 £1,700.00 0.00%

Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £700.00 £700.00 0.00%

Special Treatments Registration (Premises) 

including: Massage; Manicure; Other Special 

Treatments e.g. Vapour, Sauna or Other Bath 

Treatments

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00

Statement of Officers Opinion: Initial Enquiry 2 Hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £105.00 £105.00 0.00%

subsequent hour or 

part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Page 134



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Home/Mobile Tattooing, Piercing, 

Acupuncture Including 1 person 
Premises/ Person

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Tattooing, Piercing, Acupuncture, Electrolysis 

Licence (initial or renewal):
Premises

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £90.00 £90.00 0.00%

Guest Tattooist
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Ear Piercing Only: Premises 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Amendment (e.g. 

Change of address)

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Zoo Licence (excluding vet fees). Vets fees 

are charged in addition to these fees based on 

full cost recovery:

First (4 year licence)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,250.00 25.00%

Second & subsequent 

(6 year licence)

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,250.00 25.00%

Zoo Licence: Interim periodical
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory  

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Renewal periodical
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Informal inspections
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Vet fees as 

applicable 

only

Pest Control Officer Time/ Pesticides/ Transport

Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £110.00 0.00%

treatments in addition to contract agreement: Single treatment
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £110.00 0.00%

up to 3 treatments
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £215.00 £215.00 0.00%

up to 5 treatments
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Non Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Rodents (Rats) (Domestic) - up to three visits 

to treat:

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Free £0.00 £0.00

Wasps Nest (Domestic Treatment):
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £32.50 0.00%

Rodents (Mice) (Domestic) - up to three visits 

to treat:

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £32.50 0.00%

Bed Bugs:

2 bed house

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £115.00 £150.00 30.43%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £57.50 £62.50 8.70%

3 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £175.00 £200.00 14.29%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £87.50 £100.00 14.29%

4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £225.00 £250.00 11.11%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £112.50 £125.00 11.11%

>4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £300.00 £400.00

Page 135



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £150.00 £200.00

Fleas:

2 bed house

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £90.00 £100.00 11.11%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £45.00 £50.00 11.11%

3 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £125.00 13.64%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £55.00 £62.50 13.64%

4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £130.00 £150.00 15.38%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £65.00 £75.00 15.38%

>4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £200.00 £250.00

Ants 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Other insect pests (domestic):
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial

Benchmark with other Derbyshire 

Districts where info. Available on 

website

£70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 

Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Moles (Commercial Only)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial

Price on 

Application

Price on 

Application

Appointment Missed/Cancelled (Site) £25.00

Private Water Supply Charges

Risk Assessment: Upto 2 properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Including Officer Time on Site 3-5 Properties £400.00 £400.00

5 Plus Properties £500.00 £500.00

Large Commercial £500.00 £500.00

Sampling
Officer Time per 

Sample 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Investigation Per investigation 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Analysing a sample under regulation 10 Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 

Charge

Analysing a check monitoring sample 

Regulation 9
Re-Charge 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 

Charge

Analysing an audit monitoring sample Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 

Charge

Request from Search Company for Data 

relating to Private Water Supplies in a 

particular area. 

Hourly Rate 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Stray Dogs Statutory fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Admin fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Kennel fee per day or 

part thereof
 

Fee set by 

kennel owner

Fee set by 

kennel owner

Page 136



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Gambling Act

Bingo - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,500.00 £2,500.00

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 

Holder

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Adult Gaming Centre - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 

Holder

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment Centre - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £750.00 £750.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,600.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 

Holder

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Betting Premises (excluding Tracks) - New 

Application

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 

Holder

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Page 137



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Race Tracks - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 

Holder

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Gambling Act Permit Fees set by the 

Secretary of State 

Licensed Premises Automatic Notification 

Process: Payable on Notification

Up to 2 

machines

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Charges for Annual Licences (unless 

stated)

Small society Lotteries Application Application Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Small Society Lotteries Annual Renewal Renewals Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Street Trading Consent Annual Rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £3,100.00 £3,100.00 0.00%

Street Trading Consent - Upto 2 Days Annual Rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £1,600.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Daily Street Trading consent Daily rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Street Trading Change of Name & Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £10.50

Taxi Licences - Hackney Carriage & Private 

Hire Vehicles

Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Licence (new & 

renewal) Including Brackets & Plates/Decals 

(The fee includes 10% for enforcement duties)

Yearly 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Replacement Driver Badge or Vehicle Plate 
Per 

Plate/Badge

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Hackney Carriage Decals - Provided by 3rd 

party company 

Price on 

request

Change of Vehicle Including Plate/Card
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

New Licensed Driver/Renewal: Including 

Knowledge Test and Resit, Safeguarding 

Training & Driver Badge (The fee includes 10% 

for enforcement duties)

Annual
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

3 years
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Private Hire Operators Licence (The fee 

includes 10% for enforcement duties)
1 Year

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £105.00 £105.00 0.00%

Private Hire Operators Licence (The fee 

includes 10% for enforcement duties)
5 years

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Document Identification Check (Fee set by 

Crown Post Office

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory

Price on 

Application

Price on 

Application

DBS Check by 3rd Party Company 
Price on 

Application

Price on 

Application

Re-Sit Knowledge Test 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Taxi Test (Paid Directly to Garage) 
Price on 

Application 

Price on 

Application

Scrap Metal Dealers

Collectors Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £245.00 £245.00 0.00%

Page 138



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Variation to Collectors Licence 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £95.00 £95.00

Site Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £390.00 £390.00 0.00%

Variation to Site Licence 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
£115.00 £115.00

Variation to licence Change of Name or 

Address

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licences and Club Premises 

Certificates - First Year Fee:

Band A Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Band B Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Band C Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Band D Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £450.00 £450.00 0.00%

Band E Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £635.00 £635.00 0.00%

Premises Licences and Club Premises 

Certificates Annual Fee:

Band A Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Band B Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Band C Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £295.00 £295.00 0.00%

Band D Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £320.00 £320.00 0.00%

Band E Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Personal  Licence (Application or Renewal) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £37.00 £37.00 0.00%

Temporary Event Notice Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Permitted Temporary Activities, Personal 

Licences and Miscellaneous:

Theft/ Loss, etc. of Premises Licence or 

Summary
Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application for a Provisional Statement where 

premises being built etc.
Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Notification of change of name or address Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application to vary licence to specify individual 

as premises supervisor
Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Application for transfer of premises licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Interim authority notice following death etc. of 

licence holder
Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of certificate or summary Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Notification of change of name or alteration of 

rules of club
Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Change of relevant registered address of club Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of temporary event notice Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of personal licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Duty to notify change of name or address Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Right of freeholder etc. to be notified of 

licensing matters
Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Minor Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £89.00 £89.00 0.00%

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Page 139



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Transfer Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Change of Name Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Club Gaming Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Club Machine Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 

Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Change of Name Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Copies of all Permits Each Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £15.00 £25.00 66.67%

Other Licences

Street Collection Licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Free No Cost £0.00 £0.00

Registrations

Statement of Officers Opinion Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging Appropriate Fee Structure £50.00 £55.00 10.00%

Page 140



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge

% 

increase

LLC1 Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £27.80 £27.80 0.00%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Con 29R Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £39.60 £39.60 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £26.00 £26.00 0.00%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 

Con 29 (Inc. Vat)
Residential

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £67.40 £67.40 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 

Con 29 (Inc. Vat)
Residential

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £36.00 £36.00 0.00%

Con 29O - Each Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 

Register
Residential

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 #DIV/0!

A search on each individual part of the Local 

Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Part 3 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

LLC1 Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £24.00 £24.00 0.00%

Con 29R Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £82.80 £82.80 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £42.00 £42.00 0.00%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 

Con29 (Inc. Vat)
Commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £122.80 £122.80 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 

Con29 (Inc. Vat) 
Commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £66.00 £66.00 0.00%

Con 29O - Each Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 

Register
Commercial

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 #DIV/0!

A search on each individual part of the Local 

Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.50 £4.50 0.00%

Part 3 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.50 £18.50 0.00%

Fees for access to individual Con 29R 

questions:

Con 29R Q1.1 a-j Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £4.80 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £4.80 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.2 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q2
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.2
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Residentail Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.4
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Page 141



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge

% 

increase

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.6
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 (a-d, f) Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q 3.7 e
Residential request direct 

to Staffordshire County 
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £10.80 £10.80 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.12 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.14 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 a-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.2 Commericla Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q2
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Commerical Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.2
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.4
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.6
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 a-d, f Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Con 29 R Q 3.7 e
Commercial Request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.12 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.14 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Page 142



Planning Enforcement Unit VAT
Charging 

Category
Justification for Charging Category

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Desk-based history check requested by 

member of the public
Per check

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Site visit requested by member of the public Per visit
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

Service benefits applicant

Charges do not apply to alleged breaches of planning 

regulations which are provided free of charge

Page 143



Planning Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge

% 

increase

Householder PD check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £67.00 £67.00 0.00%

Listed Building enforcement check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

COPYING

Decision Notice Per notice
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £47.00 £47.00 0.00%

A4 OS maps 4 Copies
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £31.00 £31.00 0.00%

Planning Applications (Current & Historic): First page
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Additional 

pages

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - AO size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £18.50 £18.50 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - A3 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £13.50 £13.50 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - A4 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £8.25 £8.25 0.00%

Weekly Planning List Per year
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £370.00 £370.00 0.00%

Informal or history Searches: First hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £51.25 £51.25 0.00%

Additionals
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Postage:
Cost of 

Postage
Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs Postage Cost Postage Cost

Admin Charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £8.25 £8.25 0.00%

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE

Meetings

Strategic major applications

Over 50 

dwellings or 

10,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 

not want to deter applications 
£1,130.00 £1,130.00 0.00%

Major proposals 

Between 10 

and 50 

dwellings or 

1,000-

10,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 

not want to deter applications 
£845.00 £845.00 0.00%

Minor proposals and other 

structures/developments not in the above 

categories

Between 1 and 

9 dwellings or 

under 

1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 

not want to deter applications 
£570.00 £570.00 0.00%

Written Advice

Strategic major applications

Over 50 

dwellings or 

10,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 

not want to deter applications 
£565.00 £565.00 0.00%

Major proposals

Between 10 

and 50 

dwellings or 

1,000-

10,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 

not want to deter applications 
£425.00 £425.00 0.00%

Minor proposals 

Between 1 and 

9 dwellings or 

under 

1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 

not want to deter applications 
£285.00 £285.00 0.00%

Statutory Planning Fees Statutory
See Planning 

Portal

Page 144



Building Control Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

Justification for Charging 

Category

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

For the first issue of a Completion Certificate 

where work has been completed/ occupied 

without notice to the council.

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Discretionary Charge

If works are complete and all 

information is to hand then 

charge discounted to £65.00 - 

surveyors call

£117.00 £117.00 0.00%

Copies of completion certificates, approvals, 

where an application number is quoted and 

assessment for redaction applied:

For 

regularisation

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £41.00 £41.00 0.00%

Not for 

regularisation

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Written response to an enquiry on works not 

requiring an application (e.g. confirmation of 

information available on the internet or provided 

over the telephone). Includes a search on the 

presence of public sewers in relation to the 

development where applicable.

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Written response to a query. (Charges will 

therefore vary dependent on length of time 

taken to collate information).

Per hour or part 

thereof

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Written response to a query requiring a search 

for information that needs input of senior staff. 

(Charges will therefore vary dependent on 

length of time taken to collate information).

Per hour or part 

thereof

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Making available drawings for viewing subject to 

redaction and permission of copyright ownership

Per hour or part 

thereof

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Returning of stamped approved copy plans to 

applicant following scanning of the original file

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Administration fee for withdrawal of an 

application where registered but not assessed

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Administrative fee for the return of invalid 

applications where the applicant does not 

respond within 10 days (including weekends)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Consultation Advice (in excess of 1 hour) - 

Discounted by 100% on the submission of a 

Building Regulations Application

Per half hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Dealing with the Notification of Demolition 

Notices under Section 80 of the Building Act. 

Further charges may be incurred if a complex 

demolition is proposed. These charges will be 

based on an hourly rate of £56

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Recovery of costs associated with dealing with 

reports of dangerous structures, where 

investigation or action taken:

Normal: Per 

hour - minimum 

charge

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £56.00 £56.00 0.00%

Out of Hours: 

Per hour - 

minimum 

charge

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £82.00 £82.00 0.00%

Discretionary Charge

Page 145



Street Naming Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

New Properties, small developments 
1-5 Properties 

(each)

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £69.58 £72.00 3.48%

New Properties, large developments 
6+ Properties 

(each)

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £40.58 £42.00 3.49%

New Street Name
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £208.68 £215.00 3.03%

Renaming Existing Properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £69.58 £72.00 3.48%

Confirmation of Postal Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £45.02 £46.00 2.17%

Benchmarked against other 

LAs and service providers

Page 146



Waste Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Trade Waste & Recycling

Domestic Waste All benchmarked to other LAs

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 

replacement waste or recycling bin of any size 

or colour  for use at a single domestic dwelling.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery to recover cost of service £31.00 £31.00 0.00%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 

replacement 140l, 180l or 240l bin for use by 

multiple domestic dwellings or for a trade 

premise to replace a bin damaged by the 

customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £43.00 £43.50 1.16%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 

replacement 360l bin for use by multiple 

domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 

replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £62.00 £69.00 11.29%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 

replacement 660l  bin for use by multiple 

domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 

replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £270.00 £280.00 3.70%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 

replacement 1100l  bin for use by multiple 

domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 

replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £310.00 £315.00 1.61%

Purchase of one roll of blue sacks roll of 16
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £3.95 £3.95 0.00%

Purchase of a paper garden waste sack Each
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £0.70 £0.70 0.00%

Supply and delivery of additional Garden Waste 

Bin and ongoing collection
Each

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

service charge is over and 

above cost to authority

To ensure that the Council remains competitive and is 

commercially focused, rates levied for trade waste and trade 

recycling collections will be calculated based upon volumes and 

demand ensuring at all times that they do not fall below the cost 

of service provision to the authority.

Page 147



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ 

freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Burial Plots Exclusive right of burial & 

issue of certificate 

All benchmarked to other 

LAs

Purchase Fee

New Coffin Grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £680.00 £700.00 2.94%

New Cremated Remains Grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £340.00 £350.00 2.94%

Out of area fees:

Leek Parish residents only
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single Fees Single fees

Other Staffordshire Moorlands residents
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double Fees Double fees

All areas outside Staffordshire Moorlands
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple Fees Triple fees

Pre-purchased new coffin grave  (Cost of 

interment due at time of burial)
per grave

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

To discourage pre 

purchases which are using 

up valuable grave space

£748.00 £770.00 2.94%

Pre-purchased cremated remains grave (Cost 

of interment due at time of burial)
per grave

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

To discourage pre 

purchases which are using 

up valuable grave space

£363.00 £385.00 6.06%

Interment/burial Fees

Coffin grave for three (Leek Cemetery only)
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £926.00 £954.00 3.02%

Coffin grave for two
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £798.00 £822.00 3.01%

Coffin grave for one
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £712.00 £734.00 3.09%

Cremated remains casket burial
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £234.00 £241.00 2.99%

Lawn burial of ashes
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £150.00 £154.00 2.67%

Cremation Casket in Garden of Remembrance
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £175.00 £180.00 2.86%

Out of area fees:

Leek Parish residents only
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single Fees Single fees

Re-opened graves for those not residing in 

Leek Parish

New graves for Staffs. Moorlands residents not 

residing in Leek Parish

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double Fees Double fees

Outside Staffs. Moorlands (newly dug graves 

only)

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple Fees Triple fees

Interment/burial of a child (aged 0-15 years)

Child's grave or ashes grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free Policy £0.00 £0.00

Child's new full size grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £399.00 £411.00 3.01%

Child's reopened Grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £356.00 £367.00 3.09%

Out of SMDC area  child's interment fee
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Nominal n/a £241.00

Memorial permits
We have separated out 

permits from memorials to 

Permit for a new upright memorial including 1st 

inscription

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £160.00 £165.00 3.13%

Permit for a memorial desk tablet/ vase 

including 1st inscription

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £114.00 £117.00 2.63%

Permit for a replacement memorial
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £114.00 £117.00 2.63%

Permit for an additional inscription on memorial/ 

tablet/ vase etc.

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £68.00 £70.00 2.94%

Permit for a child's "single use" memorial on 

any grave type

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free Policy Free Free

Memorial items
We have separated out 

permits from memorials to 

Page 148



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ 

freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Cast Bronze/ Granite memorial plaque (up to 

75 letters)

Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial £378.00 £390.00 3.17%

Cast bronze sponsored tree plaque (existing 

tree only)

Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial £378.00 £390.00 3.17%

Sponsored memorial bench & bronze plaque

50% deposit 

required before 

order

Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial £1,320.00 £1,356.00 2.73%

Other Charges

Replacement or transfer of grave deed
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£47.00 £49.00 4.26%

Search fee Per half hour
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£26.00 £27.00 3.85%

Grave selection requiring Cemetery Officer 

attendance 

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£26.00 £27.00 3.85%

Large coffin (both dimensions over 6' 5" and 

25")

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£70.00 £72.00 2.86%

Cancellation of funeral within 72 hours of burial
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£70.00 £72.00 2.86%

Coffin size not confirmed within 48 hours of 

burial

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£70.00 £72.00 2.86%

Headstone not removed from grave when 

requested

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£70.00 £72.00 2.86%

Paperwork not received in cemetery office 

before burial

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£70.00 £72.00 2.86%

Late arrival of funeral at cemetery (>30 

minutes)

Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 

to lack of demand
£70.00 £72.00 2.86%

Page 149



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Copy of Tree Preservation Order Per hard copy
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial

Changed from 25 to 0.Have not supplied 

a charged for copy for a couple of years
£40.00 £41.00 2.50%

Fishing Tickets (Biddulph Grange Country 

Park)

Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Fair charging

Benchmarked to compare prices at 

neighbouring fishing locations
£7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Memorial Bench in a countryside park
Purchase & 

Installation

Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial

costs should be comparative with bench 

in open space
£750.00 £1,050.00 40.00%

Memorial bench purchase and installation in a 

public open space

Purchase & 

Installation

Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£1,020.00 £1,050.00 2.94%

Adoption of an existing memorial bench located 

in a public open space

Purchase & 

Installation

Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£535.00 £550.00 2.80%

High Hedges

High Hedge Complaints Per complaint
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £500.00 £510.00 2.00%

Parks & Open Space Concession

Sport / Fitness Classes Per session
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£6.80 £6.90 1.47%

Park /Open Space Event Charges

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £56.50 2.73%

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£220.00 £225.50 2.50%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£110.00 £115.00 4.55%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£415.00 £430.00 3.61%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £56.50 2.73%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£135.00 £137.50 1.85%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£110.00 £112.50 2.27%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£360.00 £370.00 2.78%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £57.00 3.64%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£130.00 £132.50 1.92%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£82.00 £85.00 3.66%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£255.00 £260.00 1.96%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£107.00 £110.00 2.80%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£380.00 £385.00 1.32%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£215.00 £220.00 2.33%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£510.00 £520.00 1.96%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 10,000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£265.00 £272.50 2.83%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 10,000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£660.00 £670.00 1.52%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£530.00 £545.00 2.83%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£965.00 £980.00 1.55%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 

Activity<1500
Admin Fee

Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£27.50 £28.50 3.64%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 

Activity>1500
Admin Fee

Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£80.00 £82.50 3.13%

Community Event -Some Commercial Activity 

<1500
Admin Fee

Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£27.50 £28.50 3.64%

Community Event - Some Commercial Activity 

>1500
Admin Fee

Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£80.00 £82.50 3.13%

Charitable Event - No commercial activity Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£0.00 £0.00

Community Event -No Commercial Activity Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£0.00 £0.00

Commercial Filming Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £57.50 4.55%

Page 150



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Commercial Filming Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£635.00 £645.00 1.57%

Commercial photo shoot Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £57.50 4.55%

Commercial photo shoot  Half Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£330.00 £325.00 -1.52%

Discretionary Commercial Event Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £57.50 4.55%

Discretionary Commercial Event Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£65.00 £66.00 1.54%

Educational Establishments Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£0.00 £0.00

Catering concessions - leisure sites Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £57.50 4.55%

Catering concessions - leisure sites Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£25.00 £26.00 4.00%

New sites for concessions - amusements Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£55.00 £57.50 4.55%

New sites for concessions - amusements
Day Rate / Per 

Item

Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

min increase proposed due to lack of 

demand
£35.00 £36.00 2.86%

Page 151



Street Scene Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Street Signs – Developers Per Sign
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £320.00 £329.60 3.00%

Carnivals: (quote only) Quote
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £28.50 £29.50 3.51%

Private sweeps (Does not include any disposal 

costs)
Per Hour

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £57.50 £60.00 4.35%

Private picks (Does not include any disposal 

costs)
Per Hour

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £49.50 £51.00 3.03%

Poll booths for Parishes, Town Councils and 

barrier erection
Per Hour

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £49.50 £51.00 3.03%

Parish Council Works Per Hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £49.50 £51.00 3.03%

Private removal of Asbestos: (quote only) Quote
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £28.50 £29.50 3.51%

Graffiti: (quote only) Quote
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £28.50 £29.50 3.51%

Gritting Per Hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £49.50 £51.00 3.03%

Compared to other LAs & service 

providers

Page 152



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

21/22 Charges are 

subject to a 

Parking Strategy 

Review

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

2021/22 

Charge
% increase

Season tickets (long stay car parks)

Leek: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £365.00 £370.00 1.37%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £189.00 £190.00 0.53%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Cheadle: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £315.00 £320.00 1.59%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £164.00 £170.00 3.66%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £85.00 £90.00 5.88%

Biddulph: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £245.00 £250.00 2.04%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £126.00 £130.00 3.17%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £66.00 £70.00 6.06%

Smithfield Centre Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £346.00 £350.00 1.16%

California Car Park (proven Leek workers & 

Residents)
Per annum

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £52.50 £55.00 4.76%

Buxton Road Car Park (proven Leek workers 

only)
Per annum

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £210.00 £220.00 4.76%

Replacement Passes
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Pay and Display

Leek: Brook Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Buxton Road Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 £2.40 0.00% £2.60 8.33%

Leek: High Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 £2.40 0.00% £2.60 8.33%

Leek: Joliffe Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 £2.40 0.00% £2.60 8.33%

Leek: Market Place Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Market Street East Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Market Street West Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Page 153



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

21/22 Charges are 

subject to a 

Parking Strategy 

Review

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

2021/22 

Charge
% increase

Leek: Moorlands House Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Queen Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Regent Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Silk Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Smithfield South Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Stockwell Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: St Edward Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Leek: Vicarage Road/ California Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 £2.40 0.00% £2.60 8.33%

Leek: West Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00% £1.70 13.33%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00% £2.10 10.53%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 £2.40 0.00% £2.60 8.33%

Cheadle:Tape Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.90 £0.90 0.00% £1.10 22.22%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.40 £1.40 0.00% £1.60 14.29%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00% £2.00 11.11%

Cheadle:Well Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.90 £0.90 0.00% £1.10 22.22%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.40 £1.40 0.00% £1.60 14.29%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00% £2.00 11.11%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.20 £2.20 0.00% £2.40 9.09%

Page 154



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

21/22 Charges are 

subject to a 

Parking Strategy 

Review

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

2021/22 

Charge
% increase

Biddulph: Wharf Road Up to 1 Hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.60 £0.60 0.00% £0.80 33.33%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.80 £0.80 0.00% £1.00 25.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00% £1.20 20.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00% £2.00 11.11%

Penalty Charge Notices Off Street: Two tier 

system depending on the seriousness of the 

offence

Tier one: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 

days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Tier two: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 

days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Vehicle per day
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Bay per day
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Page 155



Markets Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge

% 

increase

LEEK RETAIL MARKETS

Wednesday Outdoor (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £23.50 £23.50 0.00%

Wednesday Trestle (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £21.50 £21.50 0.00%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.75 £10.75 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £23.50 £23.50 0.00%

Friday Trestle (Franchised Archer Fairs)

- Per Stall Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £16.00 £16.00 0.00%

Saturday Trestle (General Retail)

- Regular Traders Per quarter Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £192.00 £192.00 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Saturday Outdoor Craft (Franchised Archer 

Fairs)

- Per Pitch Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £17.50 £17.50 0.00%

Festival of Fine Food

- Per Stall Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £26.00 £26.00 0.00%

- Per Stall

Per day 

(payment in 

advance)

Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

CHEADLE MARKETS

Cheadle Outdoor Market - Friday Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Page 156



Lettings Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Moorlands House Leek

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-

Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £119.00 £121.00 1.68%

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - 

Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £172.00 £175.00 1.74%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 

10pm) - Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £185.00 £189.00 2.16%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 

10pm) - Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £273.00 £278.00 1.83%

Churnet Room Monday - Friday half day 

charge

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £61.00 £62.00 1.64%

Churnet Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £87.00 £89.00 2.30%

Churnet Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £107.00 £109.00 1.87%

Churnet Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 

Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £122.00 £124.00 1.64%

Churnet Room  Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 

Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £171.00 £174.00 1.75%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-

Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £95.00 £97.00 2.11%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £120.00 £122.00 1.67%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 

Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £148.00 £151.00 2.03%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 

Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £192.00 £196.00 2.08%

Trent Room Monday - Friday half day charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £48.00 £49.00 2.08%

Trent Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £61.00 £62.00 1.64%

Trent Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £107.00 £109.00 1.87%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-

Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £97.00 £99.00 2.06%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £120.00 £122.00 1.67%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-

Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £107.00 £109.00 1.87%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £154.00 £157.00 1.95%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 

Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £167.00 £170.00 1.80%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 

Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £246.00 £251.00 2.03%

Dove Room Monday - Friday half day charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £56.00 £57.00 1.79%

Dove Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £79.00 £81.00 2.53%

Dove Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £107.00 £109.00 1.87%

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-

Friday

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £109.00 £111.00 1.83%

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £154.00 £157.00 1.95%

Dove Room Excess Hours - 10pm - Midnight Per hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £46.00 £47.00 2.17%

Rooms in the One Stop Shop: Tean, 

Rudyard, etc 

Monday-Friday (Half day) between 9am and 

5pm

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £26.00 £27.00 3.85%

Monday-Friday (Full day) 9am-5pm
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £49.00 £50.00 2.04%

Moorlands House  Other Facilities for Hire:

Kitchen Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Piano Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Bar Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £34.00 £35.00 2.94%

Portable Drinks Machine: Per session
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £34.00 £35.00 2.94%

All Room Booking fees exclude optional extra Facilities  (Bar, 

Kitchen etc) - Charitable and Non Profit Making organisations 

subject to 20% discount - Bookings outside hours stated and 

commercial events by special arrangement

Page 157



Lettings Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Audio Visual Equipment: NB All prices are per 

booking/ session - am or pm. Whole day usage 

will be 2 x per item hired.

- Overhead Projector
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

- OHP Screen
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £16.00 £16.00 0.00%

- Nobo Flipchart Easel with Paper (provide own 

markers)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £16.00 £16.00 0.00%

Biddulph Town Hall

Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-Friday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £65.00 £66.00 1.54%

Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £78.00 £80.00 2.56%

Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - Monday-

Friday
Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £124.00 £126.00 1.61%

Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - Saturday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £133.00 £136.00 2.26%

Morning (9am - 12noon) Monday-Friday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £36.00 £37.00 2.78%

Morning (9am - 12noon) Saturday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £38.00 £39.00 2.63%

Afternoon (1pm - 5pm) - Monday-Friday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £36.00 £37.00 2.78%

Afternoon (1pm - 5pm) - Saturday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £49.00 £50.00 2.04%

Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-Friday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £92.00 £94.00 2.17%

Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £110.00 £112.00 1.82%

Excess Hours - 10pm - Midnight Per hour Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £46.00 £47.00 2.17%

Rooms A, B, C in Extension Per half day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £30.00 £31.00 3.33%

Rooms A, B, C in Extension Per full day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £61.00 £62.00 1.64%

Kitchen Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Piano Per session Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Bar Per booking Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £34.00 £35.00 2.94%

Page 158



Finance Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Financial Services

Statement of Accounts
Per copy (plus 

postage)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

no subsidy as document 

available on line
£21.00 £21.60 2.86%

Committee Services

Agenda
Per copy (plus 

postage)

Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

no subsidy as document 

available on line
£10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Recovery Services - Summons costs 

recharged

Application for summons re Liability Order: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £57.50 £60.00 4.35%

Non-Domestic 

Rates

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £62.50 £65.00 4.00%

Issue of Liability Orders: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 

Rates

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Committal summons
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Arrest warrants
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Committal to prison
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Reasonable 

charge

Fee charged as a preventative 

measure for non-payment of 

CTAX/NNDR.  Income should 

cover costs of Recovery team

Page 159



Elections Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Purchase of Full Register (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal  £143.00 £140.00 -2.10%

Purchase of Rolling register Alterations (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £193.50 £193.50 0.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £26.00 £26.00 0.00%

Purchase of Full Register (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £420.00 £410.00 -2.38%

Purchase of Rolling Register Alterations 

(Paper)
1.00

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £135.00 £135.00 0.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Page 160



Environmental Crime

(statutory charges correct at time of budget 

setting)

Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ 

freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN)

Unlawful repairs / sale of vehicle on roads: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Abandoning a vehicle: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Depositing litter: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Unauthorised distribution of free printed matter: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Criminal Damage and fly-posting: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Failure to produce authority (waste carrier’s 

licence) 
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Failure to furnish documentation (waste 

transfer notes)
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Failure to remove dog faeces from land 

forthwith:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Not putting, and keeping, a dog on a lead when 

directed to do so by an authorised officer:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Permitting a dog to enter land from which dogs 

are excluded:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Not keeping a dog on a lead in a designated 

area:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Smoke & Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 

Regulations 2015:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £5,000.00 £5,000.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,500.00 £2,500.00 0.00%

Health Act 2006 Smoking in a smoke free 

designated vehicle or area:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

if Paid within 15 

Days 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Health Act 2006 Failure to Display appropriate 

smoke free signage as dictated by law:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

if Paid within 15 

Days 

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

 Fly-tipping
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £400.00 £400.00

If Paid within 10 

Days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£300.00 £300.00

Household Waste Receptacles
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £60.00 £60.00

If Paid within 10 

Days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Discount to encourage early 

payment
£40.00 £40.00

Page 161



Community

(statutory charges correct at time of budget 

setting)

Unit VAT
Charging 

Category

-Rationale

-Benchmarking

-Reason for changes/ freezes

2019/20 

Current 

Charge

2020/21 

Charge
% increase

Failure to comply with a Community Protection 

Notice:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Set by statute £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Failure to comply with a Public Spaces 

Protection Order:
Full FPN

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 

working days

Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Set by statute £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014

Page 162



APPENDIX D

                              

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

PROCUREMENT FORWARD 
PLAN 2020/21

Page 163



1. Introduction 

1.1 The Procurement Procedure Rules, which support the Joint Procurement 
Strategy (to be updated and presented for approval shortly), are essential 
to the achievement of the Alliance Procurement Objectives and set out the 
processes that must be followed.

1.2 A revised version of the Procurement Procedure Rules were presented and 
approved by full Council on 11th October 2017.  The Rules were updated to 
reflect recent changes for example:-

 the service review process has resulted in a fully resourced central 
procurement unit incorporating the whole purchase to pay stream 
(procurement activity through to the payment of supplier invoices)  

 Processes have been reviewed and electronic systems implemented 
with the procurement process now utilising online procurement web-
forms and an e-tendering system, removing paper records and 
improving efficiency.

1.3 The opportunity was also taken to review the Rules as a whole, with 
specific amendments made to:-

 Sourcing thresholds – advertising periods updated
 Process for applying Performance Bonds / Parent Company 

Guarantees
 Applying extensions/variations to contracts
 Updated processes to include technology now utilised (for example, e-

webform platform and e-tendering system)
 Additional references where necessary – for example, the 

requirements of the Transparency Code
 Expansion of Contract Management responsibilities / processes

1.4 In addition, consideration was given to how the authority to procure and 
award procurement activities is undertaken - with the aim of simplifying and 
ensuring the process is as efficient as possible.  

2. Authorisation to Procure and Award

2.1 It was proposed within the Rules that the Procurement Forward Plan would 
be reported as part of the Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan in 
February each year.  

2.2 This would identify all potential procurement activity to be completed in the 
following financial year (subject to business case), with approval sought to 
commence procurement of all activity listed.  Performance and activity 
(including confirmation of award) against the forward plan would then be 
monitored and reported within the Quarterly Procurement Report to 
Committee.

2.3 The approval limits to be applied to then authorise the award of contracts 
and apply exemptions are detailed below:-

Page 164



  Award and Exemptions Authorisation Limits:

Total Contract Value    
(£)

Authorisation Authorisation By

<25,000 Head of Service / Executive 
Director

Procurement Web-form

>25,000 - <189,330 
(EU Service 
Threshold)

Executive Director / Chief 
Executive

Procurement Web-form

>189,330 (EU 
Service Threshold) - 
<1,000,000

Delegated Member Decision Delegated Member 
Report (Portfolio Holder 
for Procurement and the 

relevant service area)
>1,000,000* Cabinet SMDC

Executive HPBC
(with prior Scrutiny Committee)

Committee Report

* Committee reports may be presented where the total contract value is less than £1,000,000 - where 
considered appropriate due to the nature of the procurement or where it relates to a key decision

2.4 Any procurement activity undertaken during the year which was not 
included on the forward plan will also follow the authorisation rules (to 
procure/award) as detailed above - and detail will be included within the 
Quarterly Procurement Report. 

2.5 Irrespective of the total contract value, Committee reports may be 
presented to Executive/Cabinet to obtain authority to procure and award 
where considered appropriate due to the nature of the procurement or 
where it relates to a key decision.

3. Procurement Forward Plan 2020/21

3.1 The Procurement Forward Plan, detailing all anticipated procurement 
activity during 2020/21, is detailed at ANNEX A.  This includes activity 
specific to Staffordshire Moorlands D.C. and also any joint procurement 
activity with Alliance partner High Peak B.C.  

4. Procurement undertaken by Agent

4.1 In addition to procurement activity commissioned by the Council, there may 
also be procurement activity commissioned via an agent on behalf of the 
Council where appropriate to do so.  For example, the new Leisure Centre 
contract will allow provision for capital works required on the leisure centres 
to be commissioned by the Contractor, but funded by the Council.  In this 
case, the Council would complete due diligence to ensure compliancy and 
value for money has been achieved.

4.2 Similarly, Alliance Environment Services will be procuring fleet required by 
specific services, but this will be funded by the Council and appropriate due 
diligence undertaken.

Page 165



4

ANNEX A

PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN 2020/21 – SMDC  

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract £
1114 SM Roofing works Biddulph Valley 

Leisure Centre
Minor works contract - Roofing works 
(Project budget allocated - for Design and works 
elements)

Delegated under Contract to deliver by Parkwood 
Leisure

Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

311,000

1116 SM Brough Park Leisure Centre - 
Structural works to Pool

Structural repairs to columns and beams Pool Hall

Delegated under Contract to deliver by Parkwood 
Leisure

Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

190,000

1117 SM Brough Park Leisure Centre - 
Pitched Roof Repairs

Minor Works Contract

Delegated under Contract to deliver by Parkwood 
Leisure

Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

182,000

1115 SM Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre - 
Boundary Wall repairs

Minor Works Contract Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

156,000

1013 SM Wetton Public Conveniences 
Refurbishment

Refurbishment works to PC at Wetton

Project Budget (not only works element)

Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

42,900

1020 SM Bowls Pavilion Brough Park Refurbishment Works Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

21,500

1016 SM Manifold Valley Visitors Centre 
Works

Refurbishment Works Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

20,000

1018 SM Mill Hayes Pavilion Refurbishment Works Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

12,250

P
age 166



5

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract £
4 SM Civic Transport Services Provision of car and driver for SMDC Chairman and 

Vice Chairman.
Revenue Democratic & 

Community - 
Democratic 
Services

29,800

145 SM Planning Committee Site Visits Provision of Coach for Planning Applications 
Committee Site Visits

Revenue Democratic & 
Community - 
Democratic 
Services

6,020

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract £
1073 SM Tunstall Road Land Acquisition  - 

Consultancy Appointment
Consultancy Appointment Revenue Regeneration 30,000

1076 SM Antiques Market Leek – Market 
Test 

Market Test exercise Revenue Regeneration 
Markets

n/a

837 SM Pop Up Market Stalls Renewal of replacement stalls for Leek Market Revenue Regeneration 23,000

P
age 167



6

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract £
1119 SM Fleet Procurement - Purchase of 

various replacement fleet
Purchase of Fleet 

Delegated procurement to ANSA for AES

Capital Service 
Commissioning

2,500,000

1118 SM Brough Park - Play Area 
improvements, creation of MUGA 
and re-surfacing works

(Subject to Approval)

Project to upgrade Play area, resurface pathways 
and associated ground works

(Total Project budget allocation – various  
contracts to be procured ,  projects are subject to 
approval of budget)

Capital Service 
Commissioning

420,000

1069 SM Brough Park Lake  -  Survey

(pending outcome to determine 
works element if required)

Brough Park lake 

Ecology study expected dredging may be required 
and Consultancy support for Technical 
specifications

Revenue Service 
Commissioning

5,000

(Additional 
budget if 

works 
required)

1103 SM Community Physical Outreach 
Programmes

Various locality physical outreach programmes 

Subject to funding allocation and outcomes of 
current pilot in Biddulph

Revenue Service 
Commissioning

Subject to 
funding 

P
age 168



7

PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN 20/21 – JOINT (SMDC/HPBC)

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. value 
of  contract £

450 JOINT Pay and Display Machines upgrades 
across both Authorities

Replacement Pay and Display Machines for coin and 
card payments
Subject to approval

Capital Assets Capital 
Projects

£200,000 per 
Authority

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. value 
of  contract £

158 JOINT Facilities Management Services - 
Council Buildings (HPBC / SMDC)

Facilities management provision for both Councils 

 (currently on extended terms with DCC)

Revenue Assets 
Compliance

P/A :
[SM] £893,900
 [HP] £732,570

1120 JOINT Water Supply Council Assets Utilities Contract – Water Supply Revenue Assets 
Compliance

P/A:
[SM] 63,150
 [HP] 77,930

945 JOINT Public Buildings Condition Surveys Professional Consultancy Advice (up to 5yr contract) Revenue Assets 
Compliance

£50,000 
(50% per 

Authority)

1081 JOINT Property Valuations – Disposals and 
Acquisition  Advice

To support Estate Management for Property Disposal 
and acquisition advice purposes

Revenue Assets 
Compliance

TBC

P
age 169



8

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. value 
of  contract £

688 JOINT Asset Valuation Services Professional services to complete asset valuations of the 
Council's assets

Revenue Finance £114,135     
(50% per 

Authority)

632 JOINT Banking Services Contact and 
payment facility streams 

Financial Banking Services
Procurement Cards / Revenue payment cards

Revenue Finance £90,000
(50% per 

Authority)

206 JOINT Debt Collection & Balliff Services Debt Collection and Tracing Services (Income Rents / CT 
/ NNDR) HPBC and SMDC

Revenue Finance TBC

855 JOINT Insolvency and Charging Orders 
Recovery

Currently in pilot scheme 
Outcome review to determine continuation

Revenue Finance TBC

P
age 170



9

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. value 
of  contract £

257 JOINT IT - ICT Support Service (HPBC / 
SMDC)

ICT support contract Revenue OD & 
Transformation

5,000,000
(last contract 

value)

693 JOINT Occupational Health Services Professional Advice Revenue OD & 
Transformation

Variable 
£6,300 p/a 

(Both 
Authorities)

104 JOINT Employee Stress Counselling Services Service Agreement providing independent Staff Support 
and Counselling Services for employees by means of 
self-referral

Revenue OD & 
Transformation

Variable 
£1,600 p/a 

(Both 
Authorities)

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue

Service Area Total est. value 
of  contract £

1066 JOINT Play Area refurbishments – various 
programmes

Various play area projects funded by Section 106 
Planning Applications

Capital Service 
Commissioning

TBC

1122 JOINT Fleet Procurement - Purchase of 
various replacement fleet for Parks 
(AES)

Purchase of Fleet 
Delegated procurement to ANSA  for AES

Capital Service 
Commissioning

£59,000
(50% / 50%)

P
age 171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet

11th February 2020

Appendices Attached: 
Appendix 1: Performance Framework 2020/23
Appendix 2: Corporate Plan consultation feedback

1.        Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:

 Provide members with an opportunity to scrutinise the draft Performance 
Framework and associated targets for 2020/23; and

 Share the findings from the recent online consultation, which sought 
feedback from a range of stakeholders on the council’s new corporate 
plan priorities for 2019-2023         

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Cabinet approves the Performance Framework 2020/23.       

3. Executive Summary 

3.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan articulates the aims, objectives and priority 
actions, which the Council is working to achieve. Its delivery is measured 
through the Performance Framework, which has at its centre the three pillars 
of value for money - efficiency, economy and effectiveness.     

3.2 This report seeks to provide a new Performance Framework that will enable 
the council to monitor, measure, and report back on its progress against the 
stated priorities set out in the council’s new 4-year Corporate Plan.   

TITLE: Performance Framework 2020/23    

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader, SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER: Vanessa Higgins - Information Business 
Partner   

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 173

Agenda Item 8.4



4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The purpose of the report is to enable the monitoring of progress against the 
Council’s corporate priorities. As such this report has linkages to each of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan aims.   

5. Options

5.1 Members are asked to consider the proposed targets and to make 
amendments if they consider that they are necessary. 

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies

6.4 Financial Considerations
Effective performance management contributes to the Council’s 
financial objectives 

6.5 Legal
None

6.6 Sustainability
None

6.7 Internal and External Consultation
The targets proposed have been agreed in conjunction with senior 
managers through the service planning process 

6.8 Risk Assessment
A robust Performance Framework is a critical tool in controlling and 
mitigating risks.     

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details

Performance Framework 2020/23
Service Plans
Consultation Feedback 

Available on request V Higgins, Ext 4057 

Page 174



7. Background and Introduction 

7.1 The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) articulates the aims, 
objectives and priority actions, which the Council is working to achieve over 
that period. The Plan was approved in October 2019 and required a new 
Performance Framework that could measure its delivery and also aid effective 
scrutiny through more focused and balanced reporting; celebrating success 
and promoting improvement.  

7.2 The Performance Framework is built around the Council’s key objectives 
whilst also ensuring that the three pillars of value for money (efficiency, 
economy and effectiveness) remain central.     

7.3 The Framework is made up monthly, quarterly and annual measures and the 
Council reports by exception on all monthly and quarterly measures but has 
moved away from a ‘dashboard’ approach to one which reflects the whole 
Framework. The annual contextual measures are reported in the Annual 
Report, which also provides an overview of the Council’s progress in delivering 
its Corporate Plan and the results of value for money benchmarking.

8. Performance Framework 2020/23

8.1 Targets covering a 3-year period are owned and managed by service leads 
across the authority, and are communicated to teams through service plans 
and individual performance objectives via the performance appraisal system 
(PEP) process. Heads of Service have been asked to review and refresh 
these targets for the period 2020/21 to 2022/23 based upon current 
performance levels and national benchmarks, where available.

8.2 In some cases Heads of Service have proposed the removal, addition or 
amendment of performance measures. Such instances have been highlighted 
within the appendix to this report and have been considered by senior 
management.

8.3 As well as measuring our performance against these targets, the council will 
also monitor and report back to this committee on the priority actions 
contained within the Corporate Plan. These are shown within Appendix A and 
will be overseen internally by the Transformation Board.   

9. Corporate Plan Priorities Consultation

9.1 In November 2019 the Council agreed a plan of communication and 
engagement following the adoption of its new 4-year Corporate Plan. It was 
hoped that the plan would enable the council to communicate its spending 
priorities and to seek feedback on its aims and objectives from a variety of 
interested groups from employees, to partners, customers and businesses. 

Page 175



9.2 The communication and engagement process is now complete with regular 
internal communication, press releases, business newsletter articles and an 
online questionnaire available to a number of stakeholder groups. 

9.3 The feedback has been limited, with 26 recorded responses; 96% of which 
came from residents. The full results are appended to this report and reveal 
high levels of support for the council’s corporate objectives with levels of 
agreement ranging from 61% to 97% across the four aims. The top 5 priorities 
from the consultation exercise were recorded as:

 Developing a positive relationship with communities - 93% agree
 Effective procurement with a focus on local businesses - 93% agree
 Working to create flourishing town centres that support the local economy - 

96% agree 
 Providing high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental 

health – 97% agree
 Effective recycling and waste management - 96% agree

9.4 The feedback also contains narrative statements where respondents have 
provided further information on particular issues or where they’d like to see the 
council focus its resources. These will be shared internally to inform future 
service delivery where feasible and in line with stated priorities.

Page 176



Appendix 1: Performance Targets 2020-2023

Staffordshire Moorlands Performance Framework 2020-2023  

P
age 177



Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work
Measure Reported 2018-19

Result
2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Objective: Increased supply of good quality affordable homes

Housing Benefits Processing: Time taken to 
process a) new claims b) change of 

circumstances

Monthly a)22.34
b)10.52

a)13.49
b)12.86

Q3 2019-20

a)18 days 
b) 7 days                                   

a) 18 days 
b) 7 days

a) 18 days 
b) 7 days

a) 18 days 
b) 7 days

Delete: Number of households in temporary 
accommodation

Monthly 11 10 TBD TBD

Delete: % of cases resolved without 
progressing to a full homeless case

Monthly 98.63% 95% TBD TBD

NEW: % of initial applications opened at the 
prevention and relief duty stages.

Monthly NEW NEW NEW 65% 70% 70%

% of active housing register applicants in 
priority need (classes A and B) who have been 

registered in excess of 6 months

Annual 20.58% 20.58%
2018-19

15% 15% 15% 15%

Housing Benefits Processing: % of cases 
determined correctly

Annual 99.81% 99.81%
2018-19

 99.5% 99.5% 99.5% 99.5%

Housing Benefits processing: % of 
overpayments recovered

Annual 83% 83%
2018-19

Contextual

Landlord Accreditation Scheme:  
Numbers signed up to scheme

Annual 3 3
2018-19

Contextual

P
age 178



Measure Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Number of affordable homes delivered Annual 5 
2017/18

42
2018/19

Contextual

The number of empty homes Annual 1152 1152 
2018-19

Contextual

NEW: Revenue costs of private sector housing 
function 

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Number of category 1 hazard properties 
(descriptor of types)

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Number of category 2 hazard properties 
(descriptor of types) 

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Number of complaints received in 
relation to private sector rented 

accommodation conditions

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Enforcement action undertaken: 
Number of improvement notices served 

(prohibition, advisory etc)

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

Objective: Develop a positive relationship with communities

Number of voluntary groups supported Annual 91 91 
2018-19

Contextual

Objective: Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health

Level of external funding awarded to support 
the physical activity and sport strategy and 

number of bids

Quarterly £50k £2,500 
Q3 2019-20

33% success 
rate. 

Minimum 
£50k

33% success 
rate. 

Minimum 
£60k

33% success 
rate. 

Minimum 
£60k

33% success 
rate. 

Minimum 
£60k

Delete: Number of voluntary 
clubs/organisations supported with funding 

applications

Annual 4 4 5 6

P
age 179



Delete: Number of new sports participation 
programmes created in priority areas

Annual 5 5 6 7

Delete: Number of new volunteering 
programmes created in priority areas

Annual 0 Establish
 baseline

TBD TBD

Costs of leisure centre provision per 
households

Annual £7.18 Annual Contextual

Levels of inactivity among local 
population groups

Annual 27,500 
(33.3%)

Annual Contextual

Number of volunteers within local sports 
clubs (Sport England’s Active Lives Survey)

Annual 8,900 
(10.8%)

Annual Contextual

NEW: Number of priority areas, where 
place-based work to reduce inactivity, is 

being undertaken.

Annual NEW NEW NEW 2 3 4

Objective: Effective support of community safety arrangements including CCTV

NEW: Delivery of the Community Safety 
Partnership Plan (% actions delivered on time)

Annual NEW NEW NEW 100% 100% 100%

NEW: CCTV Monitoring Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Levels of Crime Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Levels of ASB Annual NEW NEW Contextual

P
age 180



The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2020/2021:

 Develop a strategy for further development of affordable and specialist housing
 Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations
 Develop and implement an ongoing leisure facilities improvement plan focused on improving the health and well- 

being of residents  
 Develop and implement an outdoor leisure facilities improvement plan focused around the 'sports village' concept
 Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions for homeowners and private tenants 
 Refresh the Councils Communication Strategy in order to ensure that there is a more effective dialogue with 

residents
 Review the Council's community safety arrangements in order to maintain strong partnerships with community 

groups
 Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy in order to integrate communities and sports clubs into the delivery 

of its objectives.

We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:

 Ensuring effective health provision particularly for the elderly
 Combating illegal money lenders such as loan sharks
 Reducing crime, the fear of crime and ASB

P
age 181



Aim 2: To use resources effectively and provide value for money
Measure

 
Reported 2018-19

Result
2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Objective: Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided 'right first time'

No. / % of interactions: a) phone b) 
face to face c) web

Monthly a)41306 39%
b)24541 23%
c)39763 38%

a)29349  38%
b)16370  21%
c) 31521   41%

Q3 2019-20

a) 37% 
b) 23% 
c) 40% 

a)38% from  
35% 
b) 23% from 
20% 
c) 39% from 
45% 

a)38% from 
35% 

b)22% from  
20%     

c) 40% from 
45%

a) 38% 
b) 22%     
c) 40%

Since 2017 we have increased the availability for customers to self- serve and assisted 
contacts have reduced however there are some services that are not available online 
and/or require advice and support e.g. Universal Credit, the targets set reflect the % per 
access channel.

Avoidable contact (number taken 
from customer portal) 

Annual Not 
available

Not 
available

12% 12% 12% 12%

Satisfaction with customer services 
(Joint Alliance Measure)

Annual 93.75% 93.75%
2018-19

92% 92% 92% 92%

Complaint handling: % dealt with 
within 10 working days

Monthly 98% 98% 
Q3 2019-20

97% 97% 97% 97%

Complaint handling: % of repeat 
issues (compares previous month 

only)

Monthly 1% 2%
Q3 2019-20

5% 5% 5% 5%

 FOI requests: % responded to within 
statutory time frame and number of 

requests

Quarterly 95% 83.08%
Q3 2019-20

95% 95% 95% 95%

P
age 182



Measure
 

Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Website Quality: Socitm Better 
Connected assessment

Annual 3 stars 3 stars
20018-19

4 stars 4 stars 4 stars 4 stars

% of FOI requests diverted to the 
website / publication scheme

Annual 23.67% 23.67%
2018-19

Contextual

The cost of dealing with FOI 
requests

Annual £27,079.50 £27,079.50
2018-19

Contextual

Complaint handling: Number 
received

Annual 118 52
Q3 2019-20

Contextual

Objective: More effective use of Council assets

% & number of council owned 
business units occupied

Annual 97% 
(37/38)

97% 
(37/38)

92.1% 
(35/38)

92.1%
(35/38)

92.1%
(35/38)

92.1%
(35/38)

NEW:  Annual cost of energy across 
key operational assets

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Capital receipt from minor asset 
disposals annually

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Amount of energy used across 
key Corporate Buildings (Moorlands 

House)

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

Objective: Effective use of ICT

IT- % network availability Monthly 100% 100%
Q3 2019-20

99% 99% 99% 99%

IT- % system availability Monthly 99.93% 99.96%
Q3 2019-20

99% 99% 99% 99%

NEW: Number of Onevu (customer 
portal) accounts

Quarterly NEW NEW 17,000 22,000 TBD TBD

NEW: Socitim user satisfaction 
measures (Joint Alliance Measure)

Annual NEW NEW NEW Establish 
Baseline

TBD TBD

P
age 183



Measure
 

Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Objective: A high performing and well motivated workforce

Delete: Average days sickness absence 
per FTE (show split between short and 

long term)

Monthly 4.48 days 7 days 7 days 7 days

% of Appraisals completed across the 
workforce (of those due)(Joint 

Alliance measure)

Annual 66% 66%
2018-19

100% 100% 100% 100%

Number of a) workplace accidents and 
b) RIDDOR reportable / Lost Time 

(7days) accidents  

Annual a)23 b)4 a)23 b)4
2018-19

a)<23
 b) 0

a)<20
 b) 0

a)<20
 b) 0

a)<20
 b) 0

Average days sickness absence per 
FTE across the Alliance

Monthly 8.31 days 7.08 days
Q3 2019-20

Contextual 7 days 7 days 7 days

Customer Feedback: Level of 
compliments

Annual 82 46
Q3 2019-20

Contextual

Staff Climate Survey Annual No survey No survey Contextual

Staff turnover rate (Joint Alliance 
Measure)

Annual 9.2% 9.2%
2018-19

Contextual

NEW: Number of apprentices by type 
(i.e. higher/ trade) (Joint Alliance 

Measure)

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Number of apprentices 
completing the apprenticeship (Joint 

Alliance Measure)

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Number of apprentices retained 
by the council (Joint Alliance Measure)

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: % of apprentice levy spent 
within year (Joint Alliance Measure)  

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

P
age 184



Measure
 

Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Objective: Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money

Number & % of press releases taken 
up in local media

Annual 48 issued 
92% take up

48 /92% 
2018-19

94% 94% 94% 94%

Number of twitter followers Quarterly 1768 1858
Q3 2019-20

1875 1975 2075 3075

Number of Facebook followers Quarterly 689 1012 Q3 
2019-20

800 1150 1300 1500

Collection rates: Business rates Monthly 99.13% 80.45%
Q3 2019-20

98.1% 98.2% 98.2% 98.2%

Collection rates: Council Tax Monthly 98.66% 83.92%
Q3 2019-20

98.1% 98.2% 98.2% 98.2%

Collection rates: Sundry Debt (value of 
SD over 60 days old) 

Quarterly £70,434.48 £73,476
Q3 2019-20

5% 
reduction

2% 
Reduction 

2% 
reduction

2% 
reduction

% of invoices paid in line with contract Monthly 92% 97%
Q3 2019-20

96% 96% 96% 96%

Use of Contracts register - annual 
contract spend as % of gross 

expenditure budget

Quarterly 87% 84%
Q3 2019-20

2% 
improvement 

to 18/19 

2% 
improvement 

to 19/20 

2% 
improvement 

to 20/21

2% 
improvement 

to 21/22
% of procurement activity on the 
Procurement Forward Plan (Joint 

Alliance measure) 

Quarterly 64% 63%
Q3 2019-20

72% 65% 68% 70%

Target of 72% is not being achieved, have therefore reduced this for subsequent years
% of internal audit recommendations 

implemented within timescale
Quarterly 97.39% 98.89%

Q3 2019-20
97.5% 98%        98.5% 99%

External Audit Opinion Annual Unqualified Unqualified
2018-19

Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified

% of corporate efficiency savings met Annual 49% 49%
2018-19

100% of 
target

100% of 
Target

100% of 
target

n/a

a) Expenditure variance to budget
b) Income variance to budget

Annual a) – 7%
b)  1%

a) – 7%
b)  1%

Net Budget 
+/- 5% 

Net Budget 
+/- 5% 

Net Budget 
+/- 5% 

Net Budget 
+/- 5% 

P
age 185



Measure
 

Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

2018-19 variance variance variance variance

    Number of twitter re-tweets Annual 370 370
2018-19

Contextual

% of income generated against 
net budget

Annual 54% 54%
2018-19

Contextual

Amended -  External funding 
levered annually for projects that 

meet corporate plan aims

Annual 18,454,000 18,454,000
2018-19

(prev 
definition)

Contextual

NEW: Unit costs per service Annual NEW NEW Contextual

Objective: Effective procurement with a focus on local business

NEW: % of expressions of interest that 
come from businesses within the local 

area (over £5,000)                                                       
(measured from the Pro-Contract 

system)

Quarterly NEW NEW NEW Establish 
Baseline

TBD TBD

NEW: % of contracts awarded to local 
suppliers following submission of 

expression of interest (over £5,000)                                                 
(measured from the Pro-Contract 

system)

Quarterly NEW NEW NEW Establish 
Baseline

TBD TBD

NEW: Supplier (creditor) spend within 
the local area as a % of total spend            

(measured from spend analysis 
within Integra) 

Quarterly NEW NEW NEW Establish 
Baseline

TBD TBD

NEW:  Number of local business 
training/ supplier engagement events 

facilitated

Quarterly NEW NEW NEW Establish 
Baseline

TBD TBD

P
age 186



The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2020/2021:

 Continue to embed good information management practices through the ASSURED framework 
 Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income
 Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of public estate, and ensure adequate 

facilities management arrangements are in place
 Develop an Access to Services Strategy to ensure that Council services are accessible to all
 Implement the Council's Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (This will focus on a number of projects including 

procurement, income generation, trading, advertising and sponsorship, etc)
 Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy to ensure that our workforce is developed effectively
 Develop a new procurement strategy with a focus on spending money locally
 Develop a new ICT strategy to enhance and support the delivery of services

P
age 187



Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages
Measure Reported 2018-19

Result
2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Objective: Flourishing town centres that support the local economy

% of empty town centre shops Annual Leek 11.6%; 
Cheadle 20.6%; 
Biddulph 17%; 

District Average 
14.9%

Leek 11.6%; 
Cheadle 20.6%; 
Biddulph 17%; 

District Average 
14.9% 2018-19

< 13% <national 
average 

<national 
average 

<national 
average 

Cost to the Council per Market (Subsidy) Annual 2018-19 Leek 
outdoor 

(£68,446.03) 
Leek craft 

(£13,916.06) 
Cheadle 

(£3,508.99) Leek 
indoor 

(£8,143.10)

2018-19 Leek 
outdoor 

(£68,446.03) 
Leek craft 

(£13,916.06) 
Cheadle 

(£3,508.99) 
Leek indoor 
(£8,143.10)

2018-19

Contextual

Objective: High quality development and building control with an open for business approach

Planning processing times a) Majors b) 
Minors c) Others

Monthly a)100%
b)92%
c)95%

a)93%
b)95%
c)94%

Q3 2019-20

a)90% 
b)85% 
c)90%

a)90% 
b)85% 
c)90%

a)90% 
b)85% 
c)90%

a)90% 
b)85% 
c)90%

% of planning applications with pre-
application enquiries

Annual 10% 10%
2018-19

10% 10% 10%     10%

P
age 188



Measure Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

% of major developments allowed on Appeal Monthly 0% 0%
Q3 2019-20

10% 10% 10%     10%

% of minor/other developments allowed on 
appeal

Monthly 0.6% 2.07%
Q3 2019-20

10% 10% 10%     10%

Agent satisfaction with the Planning Service 
(survey)

Annual 73% 73%
2018-19

80% 80% 80% 80%

% of planning enforcement cases resolved in 
13 weeks

Annual 75.9% 75.9%
2018-19

80% 80% 80% 80%

% of priority 1 planning enforcement cases 
visited within 1 working day

Annual 100% 100%
2018-19

90% 90% 90% 90%

Planning application processing costs Annual £7.86 
(2017/18)
LG Inform 

£7.86 
(2017/18)
LG Inform 

Contextual

Costs awarded against the council from 
lost planning appeals

Annual £745 £745
2018-19

Contextual

Numbers attending the Planning Surgeries Annual 252 252
2018-19

Contextual

Objective: Encourage business start ups and enterprises

Local Plan Delivery:  Number of 
completions for homes: sqft of 
employment space delivered

Annual Completions 
142 sq. ft. emp. 

space 0 
(2017/18) 

Completions 
167 (2018/19) 

sq. ft. emp. 
space 0 

(2017/18)

Contextual

Number of businesses supported by the 
Growth Hub (fair proportion across 

partnership)

Annual 43 (additional) 
(5.1%, fair 

proportion = 
10.7%)

43 (additional) 
(5.1%, fair 

proportion = 
10.7%)

2017-18

Contextual

P
age 189



Measure Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Number of enterprises operating in the 
area (considering business starts as well 

as deaths; as recorded through ONS 
stats)

Annual 4120 4120
2018-19

Contextual

NEW: Cost of business support activity Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Number of business reached through 
the monthly Business Newsletter

Annual NEW NEW Contextual

NEW: Business webpage- number of hits Annual NEW NEW Contextual

Objective: Encourage and develop tourism

Visitor spend in the area Annual £277.67 17-18 £312.56m
2018-19

Contextual

TICs online hits Annual 4162 4162
2018-19

Contextual

Total tourist bed spaces Annual 7,587 17-18 7,819
2018-19

Contextual

Total overnight stays (tourism) Annual 1.56m 17-18 1.68m
2018-19

Contextual

P
age 190



The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2020/2021:

 Develop and implement plans to extend the public market operations
 Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links
 Support the development of the former Churnet Works site in Leek
 Adopt a new Local Plan
 Develop a master plan for bringing redundant mills back into use
 Implement the Council's growth strategy to bring about the regeneration of towns and rural communities
 Develop a Tourism Strategy to maximise the positive impact to our communities

We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:

 Expand the Growth Deal Partnership to provide inward investment
 Support the Churnet Valley Railway with their plans to bring trains back to Leek
 Provide bus services which connect our villages with our three market towns for services, shopping and leisure.
 Improve access and traffic flows to our town centres

P
age 191



Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate emergency
Measure Reported 2018-19

Result
2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Objective: Effective recycling and waste management

Recycling rates Quarterly 58.43%
estimate

58.83% 
estimate

Q3 2019-20

57.5%  57% from 
58% 

57.5% from 
58%

58%

The existing aspirational targets were unachievable and have now been amended to a more 
realistic figure

Residual waste per household Quarterly 364.47kg
estimate

289.14kg 
estimate

Q3 2019-20

365kg 385kg from 
360kg

380kg from 
355kg

375kg

The existing aspirational targets were unachievable and have now been amended to a more 
realistic figure

Missed bins per 100,000 collections (exc. 
customer error and bad weather)

Monthly 31.46 27.6
Q3 2019-20

38 37 from 36 36 from 34 35

The existing aspirational targets were unachievable and have now been amended to a more 
realistic figure

Cost per household of the waste and 
recycling service

Annual £50.94 £50.94
2018-19

Contextual

Objective: Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health

% of 'high risk' premises (A-C) inspected per 
annum

Quarterly 100% 75%
Q3 2019-20

100% 100% 100% 100%

% of routine permitted process premises 
inspected

Quarterly 100% 75%
Q3 2019-20

100% 100% 100% 100%

P
age 192



Measure Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

% food premises compliant with FSA criteria  Annual 98% 98%
2018-19

98%  98%  98% 98%

Number of fly tipping incidents collected by 
the Council (exc. sec 46 waste)   

Monthly 295 239
 Q3 2019-20

295 Contextual

This indicator records the number of incidents that the Council clears. Separate indicators 
record enforcement activity undertaken by Democratic & Community Services. It is therefore 
not appropriate to set a target to improve performance when such activity is under the control 
of another department. By continuing to record the number of incidents the Alliance will be 
able to monitor the impact of its enforcement and/or educational activity or can use the data 
to target when campaigns are needed for example if the numbers of incidents rise.

Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by type 
(including behaviour adversely affecting the 

environment)                                                         
 a) number of fixed penalty notices issued  

  b) number of prosecutions

a)Annual 
(was 

monthly)
b) Annual

  a)72
 b) 0

  a)71
Q3 2019-20

 b) 0
2018-19

Contextual: annual report to be produced that will 
indicate the level of activity

Street and environmental cleanliness 
inspection results (% achieving top grades 

for cleanliness)

Annual 91.67% 91.67% 90% 90% 90% 90%

Number of community clean-up campaigns Annual 72 72 75 80 85 90

Number of pest control contracts Annual 52 52 54 56 58 60

Private water supplies - % of sampling 
programme completed

Annual 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Delete: Customer satisfaction with 
regulatory services (environment)

Annual No Survey 
carried 

out 

TBD TBD TBD

Delete: Cost measures: public conveniences Annual £377,000 Contextual

P
age 193



Measure Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

Cost measures:  street cleansing service Annual £500,000 £500,000
2018-19

Contextual

Cost measures: Environmental Health 
Service

Annual £484,000 £484,000
2018-19

Contextual

Number of premises in each of the 6 food 
hygiene star rating gradings (from 0 to 5)

Annual 5 Star 443 
4 Star 173 
3 Star 59
 2 Star 11
 1 Star 9
 0 Star 1

5 Star 443 
4 Star 173 
3 Star 59
 2 Star 11
 1 Star 9
 0 Star 1
2018-19

Contextual 

Objective: Provision of quality parks and open spaces

Green Flag awards maintained Annual 1 1
2018-19

 1 1 1 1

Cost of parks and open spaces per capita Annual £9.54 £9.54
2018-19

Contextual

Objective: Meeting the challenges of climate change

Paper consumption across the alliance Monthly 2470 
reams

1245
Q3 2019-20

2000 
reams

2000 
reams

2000 
reams

2000 
reams

Pollution measures - air quality: % 
compliance against national reporting 
requirements in relation to air quality  

Annual 100% 100%
2018-19

100% 100% 100% 100%

NEW: Emissions per capita Annual NEW NEW Contextual

Objective: Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors

Net income per parking space Annual £412.05 £412.05
2018-19

Contextual

Number of parking PCN’s issued and % 
collected

Annual 1199 
76.69%

1199 
76.69%
2018-19

Contextual

P
age 194



Measure Reported 2018-19
Result

2019-20 
Result 

2019-20 
Target

2020-21 
Target 

2021-22 
Target

2022-23 
Target

% of car park spaces accredited with Park 
Mark

Annual 35.2% 35.2%
2018-19

Contextual

% and number of disabled bays within car 
parks

Annual 66 
3.8%

66 
3.8%

2018-19

Contextual

The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2020/2021:

 Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to Alliance Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint venture 
company, to deliver waste, streets and ground maintenance services on behalf of the Council in order to achieve 
improved performance and value for money outcomes

 Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of country parks
 Develop a plan to improve Brough Park and John Hall Gardens
 Develop a climate change strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency
 Review the Council's waste and recycling arrangements to increase recycling and to respond to the emerging 

national strategy
 Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take steps to further reduce environmental crime
 Develop a new Parking Strategy to ensure that our car parks meet the needs of residents and visitors

We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:

 Provide waste and recycling centres across the district
 The provision of accessible on street parking

P
age 195



Deleted Performance Indicators 2020/21

Aim 1:  Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work
Performance Indicator Reason for proposed deletion 
% of cases resolved without progressing to 
a full homeless case

Replaced by one of MCHLG targets

Number of households in temporary 
accommodation

Replaced by one of MCHLG targets which will be monitored by the service as a management 
measure only.

Number of new volunteering programmes 
created in priority areas & Number of new 
sports participation programmes created in 
priority areas

Indicator has been amended to “Number of priority areas where place- based work is being 
undertaken” this reflects how work is being conducted in priority areas which may not solely 
include volunteering or sports participation programmes but wider collaboration.

Number of voluntary clubs/organisations 
supported with funding applications &
Level of external funding awarded to 
support the physical activity and sport 
strategy 

Merged into new indicator “Level of external funding awarded to support the physical activity 
and sport strategy” which will capture all funding applications awarded to both the Alliance and 
external organisations which the Council has directly supported.

Aim 2:  To use resources effectively and provide value for money
Performance Indicator Reason for proposed deletion 
Sickness absence per FTE (Staffs Moorlands) Align the sickness absence PI to 7 days per FTE from April 2020 (post AES) and report as a single 

joint measure.

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns / villages

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate emergency
Performance Indicator Reason for proposed deletion 
Cost measures: public conveniences Does not reflect performance
Customer satisfaction with regulatory 
services (environment)

As this is a regulatory service, involving the issuing of statutory notices, negative outcomes for 
customers can skew the results. 

P
age 196



Appendix 2

Corporate Plan Consultation Results
2019-2023 

Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high quality services that meet the needs and aspirations of our 
communities                        

P
age 197



Delivering on our Priorities for 2023
How much do you agree or disagree with the following spending priorities?

26 Responses received (1 organisation(4%) 25 residents(96%))

Aim 1: Planned net expenditure for 2020/2021 is £1.2m. We aim to create a safer and healthier environment for our 
communities to live and work through….

 An increased supply of good quality affordable homes
o 69% agree (23% Strongly agree, 46% agree)

 Developing a positive relationship with communities
o 93% agree (58% Strongly agree, 35% agree)

 Effective relationships with strategic partners
o 61% agree (19% Strongly agree, 42% agree)

 Effective support of community safety arrangements including CCTV
o 73% agree (38% Strongly agree, 35% agree)

 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health
o 81% agree (35% Strongly agree, 46% agree)

Comments
 Increasing supply of housing the planning dept can’t keep up with present demand. Will there be more planning officers?
 This is area sensitive as the type of homes vary by area
 Allotments provide both a health and environmental benefit to communities. Criminal damage and theft from allotments is 

increasing, with no preventive measures being taken. Effective surveillance, using solar powered cameras connected to 
3G/4G mobile phone networks, or local WiFi hotspots are simple and inexpensive to install and maintain, please consider 
these as part of the future plan.

 Re Aim 1 Point 1: Affordable Housing. Affordable housing is an ambiguous term 'affordable' means 'reasonably priced' but 
'affordable housing' may mean at subsidized market value (e.g. 80%). So the question is not clear. In the majority, residents 
are likely to support the concept that all houses should be affordable but less would support the concept of subsidized 
housing with an unfair market opportunity when it is only available to a small group. What residents are more surely unlikely 
to support is large scale un-affordable housing, to secure a fractional affordable element. The questionnaire does not 

P
age 198



detail/question any trade of affordable housing, versus unaffordable housing including the impacts on the environment and 
infrastructure.

 Re Aim 1 Point 2 Relationships with Communities.SMDC have in the past conducted studies (e.g. The Big Debate) and have 
over 5,500 responses to development plans which largely object to large scale developments. While the Corporate plan 
steers away from implying significant development, over 6000 houses are currently being considered (typically 25% growth 
for the major towns over the next 15 years). There is a clear disconnect between issues not raised in this questionnaire and 
the aspirations of the majority of SMDC residents. Developing a positive relationship with communities requires a plan that 
accommodates local aspirations. An example of how to build a better relationship with communities would be a 50 year plan 
that shows how the long term community interests are being addressed with a defined target shape and size of towns 
villages etc. The current Local plan swell of 25% over 15 years would translate into a doubling of the community in less than 
50 years if repeated in 2034 and 2049. This does not align with all the data SMDC have to hand and with a sustainable plan 
for the environment. Residents for example would no longer live in a small rural market town with easy access to the 
countryside and their chosen way of life.

 Re Aim 1 Point 3 Strategic Partners Not possible to comment on without knowing who those strategic partners are. Are they 
the Campaign to protect rural England or a pro development partner looking to concrete over green fields?

 Combatting Climate Change ant the sixth mass extinction of species should be the highest priority and considered against 
EVERY decision the council makes. You've got 11 years to become carbon neutral. Don't mess it up.

 Having declared a climate emergency; surely that should be on this list; and should be an integral part of all decisions and 
spending

 Affordable housing for local people should be a priority

 More funding needed for mental health

Aim 2: Planned net expenditure in 2020/2021 is £2.65m. We aim to use resources effectively and provide value for money 
through….

P
age 199



 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money
o 81% agree (46% Strongly agree, 35% agree)

 Ensuring our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided “right first 
time”

o 92% agree (54% Strongly agree, 38% agree)
 A high performing and well motivated workforce

o 89% agree (62% Strongly agree, 27% agree)
 More effective use of council assets 

o 92% agree (65% Strongly agree, 27% agree)
 Effective procurement with a focus on local businesses 

o 93% agree (62% Strongly agree, 31% agree)
 Effective use of ICT 

o 84% agree (38% Strongly agree, 46% agree)

Comments
 ICT must accommodate the elderly, those with special needs and others who are not computer literate
 Re Aim 2 Point 1 Effective Use of Financial and other Resources to ensure value for Money Would suggest it’s obvious we 

want value for money, but only if the service is not seriously impacted and driven into the ground. The local Library has been 
pushed into a voluntary service, front line services at SMDC , the highways agency and medical staff have been cut by more 
than to the bone. So the question should be do we need to invest more in our infrastructure. You could for example reduce 
excessive salaries at the top of SMDC and redistribute these to front line service staff e.g. libraries and more planning offices 
focused on supporting the community instead of developers.

 Re Aim 2 Point 2 Ensure our services are available to all our residents Yes sounds good, but you have withdrawn support for 
the local library (<1% of Council Tax) and now rely on volunteers. So again a great disconnect between an implied question 
of support and reality.

 Re Aim 2 Point 3 A high performing and motivated workforce. Yes ,that would be reflected in an organisation that constraints 
internal pay differentials between front line staff and executive and restricts top pay to a level significantly lower than the PM 
in a public sector role. Also one that ensures staffing levels are adequate to meet the demands of their role with a flexible 
working policy and a plan that sits clearly aligned with local communities and are not constantly facing staff cuts

P
age 200



 Re Aim 2 Point 4 More Effective Use of Council Assets Ambiguous if this includes wider use of assets yes if it’s a precursor 
to asset stripping communities NO.

 Re Aim 2 Point 5 Effective Procurement with a focus on local businesses Very ambiguous. If this means allowing businesses 
to procure sites for businesses that may not fit with local aspirations then NO

 Re Aim 2 Point 6 Effective use of ICT Not if Effective Use of Information Computing and Technology includes exclusion of 
the elderly or any special needs groups or if it invades privacy or steers / typecast communities. E.g Mash up technology and 
target marketing.

 Very poor that you have not stated what ICT is ... some people may not know
 Workforce should be employed by the council not outsourced
 SMDC needs to have a councillor-led review of Morale and work within SMDC itself, anecdotal evidence suggests that the 

staff are undervalued, underpaid and would leave given the opportunity, this is not cost effective as replacing staff is more 
expensive than keeping them. SMDC needs to become a 21st century employer not be stuck in the 1950's.

 Local Procurement is essential and a priority!
 A high performing well motivated workforce" will not be achievable if staff are cut any more
 The planning application site is often going down and currently it is extremely difficult to speak or communicate with officers. 

There has to be improvement and it should not cost a lot.
 More investment needed in Cheadle desperately. Leek is fine, so is biddulph bit Cheadle needs more.

Aim 3: Planned net expenditure in 2020/2021 is £1m. We aim to help create a strong economy by supporting further 
regeneration of towns and villages through….

 Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises 
o 84% agree (65% Strongly agree, 19% agree)

 Working to create flourishing town centres that support the local economy
o 96% agree (65% Strongly agree, 31% agree)

 Encouraging and developing tourism 
o 77% agree (42% Strongly agree, 35% agree)

 High quality development and building control with an “open for business” approach
o 73% agree (54% Strongly agree, 19% agree)

P
age 201



 

Comments
 This area needs changes to make it more approachable and amenable and to include professional expertise in the decision 

making process. Also the current time scale (21 days response) is sometimes unreasonable.
 Planning and Building Control must not be ignored in order to secure investment and development. Planning rules and 

conditions must be enforced, Sainsbury's must not be allowed to happen again. That was built on the promise of houses, 
where are they?

 All these statements should be laudable, however they do not present balanced options or ask by what means they should 
be achieved For example Aim 3 Point 1 Encouraging Business start-ups and enterprises and Point 2 flourishing town 
centres. This should achievable by re-purposing town centre upper floors for residential / business use, with strategies for 
encouraging over 12,000 residents to make better use of the town and focused regeneration of brownfields sites and vacant 
properties. Also to encourage unique and individual shops and businesses. It should not be a justified argument for 
excessive build housing dump. The promotion of a commuter/service town with a modern trend for internet shopping does 
not provide a clear link to greater use of the town and has the potential to make it less accessible with increased road traffic. 
Aim 3 Point 3 details developing tourism. Local tourism will be damaged if towns such as cheadle face  excessive 
development, and are encouraged to become another clone high street with the same shops.

 The 5 Page Corporate Plan document Aim 3 mentions ‘Growth Strategy to bring about regeneration of towns and rural 
communities’. You have not asked any questions about level of growth or clarified the type of growth, (fiscal, building etc). 
Support of the above should be targeted within the aspirations of the town not a disconnected corporate vision.

 Agree with high quality development and building control - but do not like an 'open for business approach – our moorlands 
area must be protected before just allowing building to take place

 Climate emergency was declared approx 6 months ago; very little has happened in the district to suggest that it’s really 
being treated as an emergency. Surely the nature of an emergency means it requires immediate and substantial action. 
‘Recycling’ had been going on for years; if it was going to save us from climate disaster that probably would have happened 
by now

 Development / Planning department is a joke and needs starting again from scratch. Not convinced Moorlands requires 
much more tourism as it's questionable whether they spend much in the vicinity for the trouble they create.

 More should be done to encourage the use of "Brownfield" sites and infilling
 Business rates are the problem. Look at those. 
 This should hopefully include Cheadle and new businesses opening should not be told by planning they should open 

elsewhere in the Moorlands.

P
age 202



Aim 4: Planned net expenditure in 2020/2021 is £4.74m. We aim to protect and improve the environment and respond to 
the climate emergency through….

 Effective recycling and waste management 
o 96% agree (77% Strongly agree, 19% agree)

 Providing quality parks and open spaces
o 85% agree (58% Strongly agree, 27% agree)

 Meeting the challenges of climate change 
o 93% agree (81% Strongly agree, 12% agree)

 Providing high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
o 97% agree (62% Strongly agree, 35% agree)

 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors
o 88% agree (65% Strongly agree, 23% agree)

Comments
 The climate emergency must also be met by improved public transport - which I realise is not your direct responsibility. 

Better provision for safer cycling would also help.
 Meeting the challenges of climate change and sustainability to be a priority across all sectors. We are not performing well 

currently and with new partnerships and positive council and community planning to take the region forward to be carbon 
neutral by 2025. To include public health and wellbeing measures, education and young people, as well as positive 
incentives across the business, housing, transport, energy, farming sectors. Enhancing links with organisations for promoting 
alternative land use for Moorland, farming, forestry and urban sites, focussing in protection and enhancement of natural 
habitats to increase nature and biodiversity.

 Local village parking a major issue especially where schools are involved

P
age 203



 Waste and Recycling services are a Government / Council responsibility, paid for by Taxes and Council Tax. It is 
unacceptable and unethical that Residents then have to pay an additional fee to dispose of DIY waste. DIY which they are 
doing to save money due to Government austerity and cuts.

 Less focus on car parks and more on public transport. More information and options for recycling – Terracycle drop off points 
at council offices? What do you mean by quality parks? we need more wildlife refuges not acres of cut grass. You need to 
fund dedicated staff to address climate change projects / renewable energy / tree planting etc

 Again these points should be laudable. However in addition to Aim 4 Point 3 Meeting the Challenges of Climate Change the 
most important question has not been asked. I.e. Sustainability. SMDC have historically used the term ‘Sustainable Growth” 
. The two words are a contradiction to each other. This has been pointed out for a decade now. In light of the clear Climate 
Change that is going on, the focal point should be on sustainability. It is already clear that population growth is the greatest 
threat to our future and that the term sustainable can no longer be added to growth. Given that, the whole of this 
questionnaire should start addressing the need for ‘Sustainability’ and place all references and plans within that context. 
Growth should becomes growth of quality of life, health and opportunity and business potential within regeneration of brown 
field sites repurposed building and not growth in population, excessive housing expansion, increased road traffic as a 
commuter town and long term declining quality of life (pollution etc).

 I do not want the council spending vital money and limited budgets on climate change and initiatives for this. You must 
protect our Moorlands and Peak District countryside landscapes from the industrialization of our special landscapes from 
wind turbines blight and companies that want to come in and destroy our area for money and greed and then walk away 
leaving local communities to pay the price and the health issues that are associated with then and already there are people 
in the Moorlands living near to those already up which are suffering from noise and health issues. The current guidelines to 
NOT protect local communities from this and it is up to our local council to protect them and our landscape - as I was once 
told - "we are not putting this wind turbine up for the environment but to keep us in the lifestyle we are accustomed to" - and 
the same for large scale solar industrial sites which could have a visual detrimental impact on our special landscapes. Other 
initiatives should be looked at for the Staffordshire Moorlands, especially areas visible to the Peak District National Park. 
Extra strong policies need to be put in place to protect our Moorlands from companies that want to come in and blight our 
landscapes and care very little about our local communities and our local area - please do this as a priority

 Please , Please invest more money in street cleaning, bins, and sort out the department that deals with that including 
adapting the policies to allow councillors to request new bins at known sites without all of the 'admin' that comes with that 
where the councillors already know there's problems.

 Farming and rural activities need to be a focus and need support to introduce best practice in waste recycling. Financial 
support and education is essential if this is to be achieved.

 Your recycling policy is a credit to the Council

P
age 204



 Car parking charges are an issue e.g Cheadle. Charges seriously affect high street footfall and new businesses
 Climate change get a new Chairman Joe Porter is useless. Environment please employee more people to monitor little 

dropping and dog mess across the area Cheadle is atrocious. And more free parking in the town centres
 Cheadle car park charges need looking at again. People are parking outside Cheadle residents houses so they dont have to 

pay for car park.

Demographic Information

Male 62% Female 35%

Age

16-24 4% 25-34 8% 35-44 8% 45-54 12% 55-59 19% 60-64 15% 65-74 15%

Employment Status

Employed full time 27% Employed part time 4% Retired 27% Self employed 19% Something else 8% Government scheme 
4%

Disability

Do you have any long-standing illness, disability or infirmity?  Yes 12% No 85%

Does this illness or disability limit your activities in any way? Yes 0% (of people who answered yes to disability)

Ethnicity

British 92% 

Area

Biddulph 8% Cheadle 31% Leek 38% Other 19%

P
age 205



P
age 206



STAFFRODSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet

11th February 2020

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A – Business Rates Relief Policy
Appendix B – Council Tax Reductions and Levies Policy 

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to review and update the Business Rate Reliefs 
Policy and formally present the Council Tax Reductions and Levies Policy. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Cabinet approve: 

 The updated Business Rates Reliefs Policy 
 The Council Tax Reductions and Levies Policy 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Business rates (or non-domestic rates) are collected from businesses who 
occupy property in order to contribute towards the cost of local services 
provided.  Each non-domestic property has a rateable value which is set by 
the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) - this broadly represents the yearly rent the 
property could have been let for on the open market on a particular date. The 
annual business rates payable is then calculated by multiplying the rateable 
value by the ‘business rate multiplier’ set annually by Government.

3.2 Domestic properties are placed in one of eight bands by the Valuation Office 
Agency according to its value on the open market on the 1st April 1991, with 
each band then charged a different amount of Council Tax.

TITLE: Business Rates & Council Tax - Reliefs, 
Reductions and Levies Policy  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene – Head of Finance 
Joanne Wheeldon – Principal Income Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Page 207

Agenda Item 8.5



3.3 Under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 for Business Rates, and the 
Local Government Act 1992/2003 for Council Tax, there are a number of 
reliefs, exemptions and discounts (both mandatory and discretionary) made 
available which then reduce the amount payable for domestic/non-domestic 
properties if eligible. Details of discretionary reliefs where the Council has the 
choice of whether to apply are detailed within the report along with the current 
cost implications.

3.4 The Council’s Business Rates Relief Policy has been updated to remove any 
reliefs that are no longer relevant and to also reflect the changes Government 
has implemented from 1st April 2020.  

3.5 In addition, and in order to put some context on the reliefs available and 
applied to business rates properties in the district, an analysis of the total 
business rates payable, net of reliefs has been undertaken for the three 
largest town centres in the Staffordshire Moorlands.

3.6 The Council’s Council Tax reductions and levies policy has also been formally 
documented.  Included within this policy, and in line with the Council’s Empty 
Property Strategy - which aims to bring empty properties back into use – it is 
proposed to increase the empty property levy chargeable on empty properties 
from 1st April 2020 to:-

 Levy of 100% of Council Tax for properties empty for at least two years 
 Levy of 200% of Council Tax for properties empty for at least five years

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The application of business rates relief supports the aim of the Council to 
promote business growth and economic regeneration in the district and wider 
economic area.  The application of council tax discounts and reliefs ensures 
those individuals within the district who are eligible for financial support are 
provided with that support. The long term empty property levy aims to bring 
properties back into use in line with the Council’s Empty Property Strategy.     

5. Options and Analysis

5.1 No options in regard to mandatory reliefs and discounts available as set by 
Government. However, where Government allows local authorities to make 
discretionary decisions in respect of the amount of business rates and council 
tax due, Members need to consider the proposals. 

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

Page 208



6.2 Workforce
None

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
The report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Diversity and 
Equality Policy

6.4 Financial Considerations
Financial considerations are considered within the report.

6.5 Legal
None.

6.6 Sustainability
None

6.7 Internal and External Consultation
In respect of the empty property levy increase, attention was drawn to this 
within the letters/survey issued as part of the empty property review in 
August/September.  This provided information to owners of empty properties 
that the Council now has the powers to increase to the levy.  

6.8 Risk Assessment
The granting of discretionary relief and discounts will, in the main, involve a 
cost to the Council. Any Business Rate discretionary relief amount granted will 
be borne in accordance with the Business Rate Retention Scheme share. 
Financial forecasts included within the Medium Term Financial Plan take into 
account estimated discretionary awards. 

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details
Buxton Town Hall Claire Hazeldene                   

Finance & Procurement 
Manager                                  
01538 395400 Ext. 4191

Joanne Wheeldon             
Principal income Officer          
01538 395400 ext 4070                                  

6.4

Page 209



7. Background & Introduction

Calculating Business Rates Payable

7.1 Business rates (or non-domestic rates) are collected from businesses who 
occupy property in order to contribute towards the cost of local services 
provided.  Under the business rates retention arrangements introduced from 
1st April 2013, authorities keep a proportion of the business rates paid locally. 
This provides a direct financial incentive for authorities to work with local 
businesses to create a favourable local environment for growth since 
authorities will benefit from growth in business rates revenues. 

7.2 Other than properties that are exempt from business rates, each non-domestic 
property has a rateable value which is set by the Valuation Office Agency 
(VOA), an agency of Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC). They 
draw up and maintain a full list of all rateable values - this broadly represents 
the yearly rent the property could have been let for on the open market on a 
particular date.

7.3 The VOA uses a wide range of property information, rental and other evidence 
to compare values across similar types of properties in order to set the 
rateable value. A revaluation was undertaken in preparation for the revised list 
to be effective from 1st April 2017.

7.4 The annual business rates payable is then calculated by multiplying the 
Rateable Value by one of two ‘business rate multiplier’ figures.  The business 
rates multipliers are set annually by Government, there are two: the small 
business non-domestic rate multiplier for small business and the non-domestic 
rate multiplier for other businesses.  

Calculating Council Tax Payable

7.5 Domestic properties are placed in one of eight bands by the Valuation Office 
Agency according to its value on the open market on the 1st April 1991, with 
each band charged a different amount of Council Tax.

7.6 The VOA maintains the Council Tax Valuation List assesses properties to 
ensuring that properties there are in the correct Council Tax band. They 
automatically review the bandings on properties, for example when a property 
has been made smaller or increased in size and are responsible for applying a 
band to newly built properties. They are also responsible for reviewing the 
banding where a challenge has been made.

7.7 In addition to the value on 1st April 1991, assessments are also based on a 
number of factors, such as a property’s:

 Size
 Layout
 Character
 Location
 Change in use

Page 210



 
7.8 Local Authorities are able to increase council tax on an annual basis as part of 

the budget setting process.  However, there are government restrictions in 
place to limit the annual increases – any increases over this limit are subject to 
a local referendum.

Reliefs, Discounts, Exemptions & Levies

7.9 Under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 for Business Rates, and the 
Local Government Act 1992/2003 for Council Tax, there are a number of 
reliefs, exemptions and discounts (both mandatory and discretionary) made 
available which then reduce the amount payable for domestic/non-domestic 
properties if eligible.  

7.10 The granting of discretionary relief will, in the main, involve a cost to the 
Council, which is also shared with its preceptors.  Further detail is provided in 
the next sections of this report. 

8. Business Rate Relief

8.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides for two broad forms of 
Relief to be made available to Business Ratepayers:

 Mandatory Relief (under Sections 43 and 45) – this can be granted to 
occupied or unoccupied properties, which satisfy the necessary criteria. 
Once an organisation satisfies the relevant criteria, the Council has a 
statutory duty to apply the Relief; and

 Discretionary Relief (under Sections 44, 47 and 49) – since the 1988 
Act was introduced councils have had the discretion to grant additional 
relief to certain occupiers of properties, which satisfy certain criteria. 
However, with effect from 2012/13, Clause 69 of the Localism Act 1988 
amended Section 47 referred to as Hardship Relief, to allow councils to 
reduce the Business Rates of any local Ratepayer.  

8.2 When applying for business rate relief, businesses need to ensure compliance 
with state aid rules in accordance with the De Minimis Regulations EC 
1407/2013.  The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to 
€200,000 'de minimis' aid over a rolling three year period.

8.3 Appendix A details the updated Business Rates Relief Policy.  This was last 
updated to include the changes proposed as part of the Spring 2017 Budget, 
when the Chancellor announced three new discretionary rate reliefs to be 
implemented for business ratepayers with effect from 1st April 2017:

 Supporting Small Business Relief (SSBR)
 Supporting Pubs Relief (SPR)
 Local Discretionary Rate Relief (LDRR)

Page 211



8.4 The policy has been updated to remove any reliefs that are no longer relevant 
- for example, where a relief was introduced for a temporary period and an 
expiry date was included.

8.5 The Council has also very recently received notification from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) of changes to reliefs 
which will apply from 1st April 2020.  These changes include an increase to 
the retail discount from 1/3 to 50% with an extension to the application of retail 
relief to cinemas and music venues (applied in 2020/21); extension of the 
duration of the local newspapers office space discount (until 31st March 2025); 
and re-introduction of an additional discount for pubs (applied in 2020/21). 

8.6 The Government has confirmed that it will fully fund local authorities for 
awarding these reliefs and provide new burdens funding to local authorities for 
administrative and IT costs associated with implementation.

8.7 These updates have been included in Business Rates Relief Policy and will be 
applied at annual billing.  

Business Rate Relief – Town Centres

8.8 To put into some context the current reliefs applied to business rates 
properties in the district, the below table illustrates the total business rates 
payable, net of reliefs applied for the three largest town centres in the 
Staffordshire Moorlands:

Town Centre
Gross 

Business 
Rates 

Payable  (£)

Relief 
Awarded 

(£)

Net 
Business 

Rates 
Payable  (£)

Percentage 
Relief

Leek (Derby Street, Haywood Street, 
Market Place, Russell Street, St 
Edward Street, Sheep Market, 
Stanley Street, Smithfield)

1,202,427 (468,210) 734,217 39%

Cheadle (Bank Street, Tape Street, 
High Street, Chapel Street, Cross 
Street)

713,879 (361,538) 352,341 51%

Biddulph (High Street, King Street, 
Well Street) 358,474 (167,981) 190,493 47%

TOTAL 2,274,780 (997,729) 1,277,051 44%

8.9 Currently, 44% relief is applied overall to the three town centre businesses 
against the annual business rates gross charge – reducing bills by £997,729.  
This will possibly increase from 1st April 2020 with the changes to retail relief 
and pub relief. The most applied relief is small business rate relief – which 
accounts for 70% of total relief awarded.

8.10 This is further analysed below between property descriptions:-

Page 212



Property Description
Gross 

Business 
Rates 

Payable  (£)

Relief 
Awarded 

(£)

Net 
Business 

Rates 
Payable  (£)

Percentage 
Relief

Bank Premises 39,502 (2,642) 36,859 7%
Betting Shops 17,062 (2,574) 14,488 15%
Restaurants, Café, Tea Rooms 68,894 (51,678) 17,216 75%
Car Parks 50,816 - 50,816 0%
Club Premises 19,958 (11,367) 8,593 57%
Hairdressing / Beauty Salon 28,474 (28,474) - 100%
Office Premises 148,612 (70,028) 78,583 47%
Public House 230,789 (59,103) 171,686 26%
Shop Premises 1,379,473 (715,784) 663,688 52%
Supermarket 85,434 - 85,434 0%
Garage / Workshop 22,058 (22,058) - 100%
Other 183,707 (34,019) 149,688 20%
TOTAL 2,274,780 (997,729) 1,277,051 44%

8.11 The table above illustrates that those business types within the three towns 
that attract the highest amount of relief are; restaurants, cafes, clubs, 
hairdressing & beauty salons, offices, shops and garages.

Discretionary Relief

8.12 Discretionary Relief can be awarded in its own right or as an additional relief if 
Mandatory Relief is already being granted. When the Council has the choice to 
award a Discretionary Relief, it must consider the benefit of a business to the 
local community having regard to the interests of Council Tax payers.

8.13 The current (as at 28th Jan 2020) discretionary relief applied by the Council 
(where there is a choice on whether to award), where the cost is not rebated 
from Government funding, is shown below:

Relief Description
Discretionary 

Relief currently 
awarded*

Charity & Other 
Non Profit 
Making 
Organisations

Relief is available to charitable and non-profit making 
organisations in certain circumstances. Relief varies dependant 
upon the type of organisation and the purpose for which the 
property is used.
Discretionary relief of 20% may also be awarded where the 
ratepayer qualifies for Mandatory Relief of 80% and the specified 
criteria is met.  

97 cases 
(£423,972)

Community 
Amateur 
Sports Club 
(CASC’s)

Provided a club is registered with the Inland Revenue, they will 
automatically qualify for Mandatory Relief of 80%.
The Council may grant a further 20% in Discretionary Relief in 
circumstances where the club provides additional benefits to the 
Staffordshire Moorlands

5 cases  (£2,949) 

Other Business 
Rate Relief

Discretionary Rate Relief of up to 100% may be awarded to any 
other Ratepayer in exceptional circumstances under Clause 69 of 
the Localism Act 2011, where it is in the Council’s strategic or 
operational interests to do so.      

-

Hardship Relief The Council may remit payment of Business Rates in part or in full 
in certain cases of hardship.

-

*shared with preceptors/pool arrangments

Page 213



9 Council Tax Discounts

9.1 Appendix B sets out the reductions and levies that are available to Council 
Tax payers – including mandatory discounts and any locally determined 
reductions for Council Tax the Council applies.

9.2 In terms of locally determined reductions, there are three which the Council 
currenlty applies:

Locally 
Determined 
Reduction

Description Reduction currently 
awarded*

Unoccupied & 
Unfurnished

If a property is unoccupied and substantially unfurnished a 
discount of 100% is available and valid for a maximum of 3 
months from the date it became unoccupied and 
unfurnished. Following this a full charge is payable on the 
property

As at 28th Jan 2020 – 
119 cases (£51,202 
based on 3 month 
discount) – assuming 
constant during the 
year, this would 
result in a cost of 
approx. £206,940

Uninhabitable 
Properties

The Uninhabitable Property discount is granted to 
properties which are unoccupied, unfurnished and requiring 
or undergoing major repairs or structural alterations.
A 50% discount for a maximum period of 12 months. 

As at 28th Jan 2020 – 
103 cases (£77,229)

Other 
Discretionary 
Relief

Section 13A (1) (c) relief awards will be used in cases of 
unforeseen or exceptional circumstances that threaten 
taxpayers’ abilities to fund the cost of council tax and may 
threaten their ability to remain in their homes.

1 case (£126)

*shared with preceptors

9.3 At this stage, the Council is proposing to leave the above discounts in place as 
they are currently applied.

9.4 Appendix B also provides detail of the current Care Leaver reduction – 
whereby a discount is provide for a Care Leaver up to their 21st birthday.  This 
is currently funded by Staffordshie County Council.  Discussions are currently 
taking place Staffordshire Authority wide to review this, with the possibility of 
the discounts being extended up until a Care Leavers 25th birthday.  If agreed, 
the Council Tax Reduction Policy will be updated. 

10. Long-term Empty Property Premium

10.1 Properties that have been unoccupied for more than 2 years are subject to an 
additional premium.  Prior to April 2019, this premium was a maximum of 50% 
- resulting in a Council Tax charge of 150%.  The Council currently applies the 
50% levy.  

10.2 However, from 1st April 2019, Local Government Authorities were given new 
powers, under the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 
Act 2018 which came into force in November 2018, to charge an Empty 
Homes Premium of:

Page 214



 An extra 100% Council Tax for properties empty for at least two years from 
1st April 2019.

 An extra 200% Council Tax for properties empty for at least five years from 
1st April 2020.

10.3 In line with the Council’s Empty Property Strategy - which aims to bring empty 
properties back into use to increase the aviabliliy of housing with the District 
and to reduce the negative impact vacant properties can have on the 
community – it is proposed to increase the levy chargable from 1st April 2020 
to:

 100% Council Tax for properties empty for at least two years 
 200% Council Tax for properties empty for at least five years

10.4 The financial impact this would have on the Council is shown in the table 
below (based on the current number of properties paying the levy):-

Properties empty over 2 
years (138 properties)

Amount due from 
50% Levy applied                      

(£)

Amount due from 100% 
Levy proposed                  

(£)

Additional 
Income  (£)

Empty Property Levy 101,800 203,600 101,800

Retained By SMDC 
(approximately 12%) 12,210 24,430 12,210

Properties empty over 5 
years (163 properties)

Amount due from 
50% Levy applied                      

(£)

Amount due from 200% 
Levy proposed                  

(£)

Additional 
Income  (£)

Empty Property Levy 116,050 464,200 348,150

Retained By SMDC 
(approximately 12%) 13,930 55,700 41,780

10.5 The Local Council Tax Redcution Scheme (LCTRS) is currently being 
reviewed following the roll out of Universal Credit and the implications that is 
having on the assesment of LCTR. Therefore, any additional income 
generated from the empty property levy could potentially be used to fund any 
financial implications of any revised LCTR scheme. 

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Business Rates Relief Policy
(Updated February 2020)

1 Introduction and Background

1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides for two broad forms of 
Relief to be made available to Business Ratepayers:

 Mandatory Relief (under Sections 43 and 45) – this can be granted to 
occupied or unoccupied properties, which satisfy the necessary criteria. 
Once an organisation satisfies the relevant criteria, the Council has a 
statutory duty to apply the Relief; and

 Discretionary Relief (under Sections 44, 47 and 49) – since the 1988 
Act was introduced councils have had the discretion to grant additional 
relief to certain occupiers of properties, which satisfy certain criteria. 
However, with effect from 2012/13, Clause 69 of the Localism Act 1988 
amended Section 47 referred to as Hardship Relief, to allow councils to 
reduce the Business Rates of any local Ratepayer.  

 
Discretionary Relief can be awarded in its own right or as an additional 
relief if Mandatory Relief is already being granted. When considering 
allowing Discretionary Relief a council must consider the benefit of a 
business to the local community having regard to the interests of Council 
Tax payers.

1.2 The financial impact on the Council’s finances is different depending on 
whether Mandatory or Discretionary Relief is granted.  The granting of 
discretionary relief will, in the main, involve a cost to the Council equivalent to 
approximately 40% of the award – in line with the Business Rates Retention 
Scheme.  However, some discretionary reliefs are reimbursed in full by 
Government through a ‘Section 31’ grant.  

1.3 Although the Localism Act has extended the Council’s ability to grant 
Discretionary Relief, it does so within strictly finite resources. The purpose of 
this Policy therefore is to provide guidance to Business Rate payers of the 
specific and limited circumstances in which Relief will be granted.

2 Available Relief

2.1 Relief is available to the following types of Business Rate payer: 

 Charities and other non-profit making organisations (section 3)
 Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASC) (section 4)
 Businesses located in rural areas (section 5)
 Small businesses (section 6)
 Certain retail premises (section 7) (updated from 1st April 2020)

Page 217



 Empty properties (section 8) 
 Businesses impacted by the 2017 revaluation (section 9)

 Supporting Small Businesses Relief (from 1st April 2017 for a maximum 
period of 5 years)

 Supporting Pubs Relief (reintroduced from 1st April 2020 for one year)
 Local Discretionary Business Rates Relief Scheme (from 1st April 2017 

for a maximum period of four years)
 Local Newspaper Rate Relief (extended from 1st April 2020 to 31st March 

2025) (section 10)
 Any other business in exceptional circumstances (under Clause 69 of the 

Localism Act 2011)  (section 11)

2.2 Sections 3 to 10 deal with the qualifying conditions of each type of Relief in 
more detail. 

2.3 In very exceptional circumstances, Hardship Relief may be granted to any 
Business Rate payer – see section 12.

2.4 In 2005, community interest companies were introduced as a new type of 
company intended for social enterprises who use their profits and assets for 
the public good. These are not eligible for mandatory relief but can be 
considered for discretionary relief.

3 Charities and Other Non Profit Making Organisations

3.1 Relief is available to charitable and non-profit making organisations in certain 
circumstances. Relief varies dependant upon the type of organisation and the 
purpose for which the property is used.

3.2 Mandatory Relief is awarded in the following circumstances:

i) The Ratepayer of an occupied property is a charity or trustee for a 
charity and where the property is wholly or mainly used for charitable 
purposes. In such circumstances, Mandatory Relief of 80% will be 
awarded  (it may also be possible to qualify for up to 20% Discretionary 
Relief on such properties); and

ii) The owner of an unoccupied property is a charity or trustee for a 
charity and it appears, when next in use, the property will be wholly or 
mainly used for charitable purposes. In such circumstances an 
exemption will be granted. 

3.3 Discretionary Relief may be awarded where:

i) Where the property is not an “excepted hereditament” (property) and all 
or part of it is occupied by one or more institution or organisation which 
are:

 Not established or conducted for profit; and
 Whose aims should be charitable or otherwise philanthropic, or 

concerned with the promotion of social welfare, education, science, 
literature or the fine arts. In such circumstances Discretionary Relief 
of up to 100% can be awarded.                                 

Page 218



ii) Where the Rate payer is a charity or trustee for a charity and where the 
property is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes. In such 
circumstances, Mandatory Relief of 80% will already have been 
awarded. Therefore Discretionary Relief of up to 20% can be awarded.     

3.4 The Council will determine each case on its own merits. The guidelines are: 

i) In respect of Charitable Properties: 

 Applications are required in writing and will be reviewed on a 
regular basis; and

 Confirmation of charitable status is necessary.

ii) In respect of Non-Profit Making Organisations, the following factors will 
be considered: 
 
 Is membership available to all of the community and is it actively 

promoted?
 Are the facilities available to non-members?
 Are the facilities ones that the Council is unable to provide and 

wishes to promote?
 Have the facilities available been provided by self-help or grant aid?
 Are the facilities competing with or ancillary to the facilities currently 

offered by the Council? (applications will not be refused on the 
grounds that an organisation is in competition with the Council if the 
broader needs of the community are being met)  

 Does the organisation provide training and education for its 
members, non-members, minority or special need groups?

 Is membership drawn from local residents and taxpayers?
 What are the financial circumstances of the organisation - do they 

raise finance to support their activities?

4 Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs)

4.1 With effect from April 2002, many local amateur sports clubs were able to 
register with the Inland Revenue as Community Amateur Sports Clubs 
(CASCs) and benefit from a range of tax relief, including Gift Aid. The detail of 
the legislation is contained within Schedule 18 of the Finance Act 2002.

4.2 Provided a club is registered with the Inland Revenue, they will automatically 
qualify for Mandatory Relief of 80%.

4.3 The Council has discretion to consider awarding up to an additional 20% in 
discretionary relief.

4.4 The Council will determine each case on its own merits. The guidelines are: 

In order to qualify for Mandatory Relief:  

 An application is required 
 Confirmation of CASC status is necessary.

Page 219



In order to consider awarding discretionary relief of up to 20% consideration 
will be given as follows:

 Membership – Is membership open to all sections of the community 
within the District? Membership fees must not be at a level where they 
exclude the general community. Membership of the organisation should 
be mainly resident in the District. 

 Education – the organisation will provide training, education or learning to 
its members. The organisation will be treated favourably where the 
training delivered supports and reduces the Council’s need to do so. 

 Direct benefit to local residents – the organisation should directly 
benefit the needs of the local residents of the District. The organisation 
must show how it benefits the residents of the District. Examples could 
include the creation of job opportunities within the area. 

 Provision of facilities – does the organisation provide facilities which 
would not otherwise be available to the local community

5. Rural Relief

5.1 Relief from Business Rates is available for Public Houses, Petrol Filling 
Stations, General Stores, and Post Offices if they are the only business of its 
type within a Rural Settlement area (see Annex 1). Rural Relief may also be 
granted to qualifying rural food shops. Such Relief is applicable to occupied 
properties only.  

5.2 In order to qualify for Mandatory Relief the property will have to:

 be in a Rural Settlement Area of 3,000 people or less; and

 be a Post Office or General Store with a rateable value of £8,500 or 
less, and be the only such property within a settlement area; or

 be a Public House or Petrol Filling Station with a rateable value of 
£12,500 or less, and be the only such property within a settlement 
area; or

 be a Village Shop selling mainly food for human consumption with a 
Rateable Value of £8,500 or less.

5.3 Prior to April 2017, the mandatory award of Rural Rate Relief was 50%. From 
1st April 2017, this has been increased to 100%.  The Government intends to 
change the relevant primary legislation but expects Councils in the meantime 
to use discretionary powers to increase relief to 100%.

5.4 Where a property meets either of the above criteria but the rateable value 
exceeds the set limits, the Council has discretion to award discretionary relief 
where:

 has a Rateable Value of less than £16,500; and

 is of benefit to the local community.

Page 220



 The award of the relief is in the interests of the Council’s taxpayers 

5.5 For claiming Rural Relief the following conditions apply: 

 An application form is required 

 If applying for the Discretionary element of Rural Relief, audited 
accounts for the last two years must be provided; and

 Each application is considered on its own merits.

6 Small Businesses

6.1 Small Business Rate Relief is available at 100% for Business Ratepayers 
occupying single properties with a Rateable Value of up to £12,000 
(previously £6,000 prior to 1st April 2017), with Relief declining on percentage 
terms on a sliding scale until it is 0% at a rateable value of £15,000 (£12,000 
prior to 1st April 2017).

6.2 The cost of the Relief granted is funded through a supplement on the 
Business Rates bills of those businesses not eligible for the Relief. The 
supplement is built into the standard “Non-Domestic Rating Multiplier”. 

6.3 Ratepayers of eligible business properties with Rateable Values between 
£15,000 and £51,000 (previously £12,000 and £18,000 prior to 1st April 2017) 
do not have to contribute towards the Relief and will have their bills calculated 
using the lower (small business) Non-Domestic Rating Multiplier.

 
6.4 The Relief is only available to Rate payers with either: 

 One property; or
 One main property and other additional properties with Rateable Values 

less than £2,899 (£2,600 prior to 1st April 2017).

The Rateable Value of the one property or the aggregate Rateable Value of 
all properties must be under £20,000 (£18,000 prior to 1st April 2017).

7 Retail Relief

7.1 The following discount will be available for the financial years 2019/20 and 
2020/21 only.

7.2 The Budget of October 2018 contained a new Retail Discount scheme, which 
will operate over two years from April 2019. 

7.3 In order to qualify, properties must be occupied and have a rateable value of 
less than £51,000, and must be wholly or mainly being used as a shop, 
restaurant, café or drinking establishment. 
Examples of properties that would qualify are detailed below. 

 

Page 221



 Shops such as florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, 
stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware stores,  
supermarkets, etc 

 Charity shops 
 Opticians 
 Post Offces 
 Furnishing shops / display rooms, such as carpet shops, double glazing, 

garage doors 
 Car / caravan showrooms 
 Second hand car lots 
 Markets 
 Petrol stations 
 Garden Centres 
 Art galleries (where art is for sale / hire) 
 Hair and beauty services such as hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 

tanning shops, etc 
 Shoe repairs / key cutting 
 Travel agents 
 Ticket offices eg for theatre 
 Dry cleaners 
 Launderettes 
 Pc / TV / domestic appliance repair 
 Funeral Directors 
 Photo processing 
 Tool hire 
 Car hire 
 Restaurants 
 Takeaways 
 Sandwich / Coffee shops 
 Pubs / Bars 

Page 222



7.4 The following list sets out those properties that would not be eligible for the 
discount: 
 Financial services eg banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de 

changes, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers 
 Other services eg estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies 
 Medical services eg vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors 

7.5 These lists are not exhaustive and any properties used for other purposes will 
be considered on an individual basis. Where it is clear that a property is used 
wholly or mainly for one of the uses detailed in the first list, the relief will be 
automatically applied. Where it is not clear, ratepayers may wish to contact 
the council to discuss eligibility. 

7.6 The amount of relief awarded will be equivalent to one third of the bill, after 
other reliefs and exemptions are applied. From 1st April 2020 the amount of 
relief has been increased from one third of the bill to 50% and where pub relief 
also applies this will be awarded after retail relief has been granted. The 
criteria for retail relief has also been extended to include cinemas and music 
venues.

7.7 The relief is subject to the State Aid De Minimis levels, and ratepayers will be 
required to complete a declaration to the effect that receipt of the relief will not 
breach the de minimis regulations. The relief must be refused should the limits 
be breached.

 
7.8 The relief will be applied for the financial years 2019/20 and 2020/21 only, 

provided that the properties are used wholly or mainly for a qualifying purpose 
throughout.

8 Empty Property Relief

8.1 Mandatory Relief will be granted in the first 3 months that a business property 
is empty. This is extended to 6 months in the case of certain industrial 
properties.

8.2 After these periods have expired, Business Rates are payable in full unless 
the unoccupied property rate has been reduced by Government Order. In 
most cases, the unoccupied property rate is zero for properties owned by 
Charities and Community Amateur Sports Clubs.

8.3 There are a number of exemptions from the Empty Property Rate as follows:

 Where an owner is prohibited by law from occupying a business property 
or allowing a business property to be occupied

 Where a business property is kept vacant by reason of action taken by or 
on behalf of the Crown or any local or public authority with a view to 
prohibiting occupation or to acquiring it

 Where a business property is the subject of a building preservation notice, 
or is a listed building

 Ancient monuments

 Business properties with a Rateable Value less than £2,600

Page 223



 Where an owner is entitled to business property only in their capacity as 
the personal representative of a deceased person; and

 In certain instances of insolvency and debt administration.

8.4 Discretionary Relief (under Section 44a of the 1988 Act) can be awarded 
where a business property is temporarily partly occupied. Where such 
discretion is exercised, a valuation officer will apportion Rateable Value 
between the occupied and unoccupied parts of the property.

9. 2017 Revaluation Reliefs

9.1 As part of the Spring 2017 Budget, the Chancellor announced three new 
discretionary rate reliefs to be implemented for business ratepayers with effect 
from 1st April 2017:
 Supporting Small Business Relief 
 Supporting Pubs Relief (originally in place until 31st March 2019, now 

reintroduced from 1st April 2020 for one year)
 Local Discretionary Rate Relief 

9.2 The three new reliefs have been implemented under Section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act as a discretionary award made by Billing Authorities. 
The Government will fully reimburse all amounts awarded under SSBR and 
SPR by a Section 31 grant.  However, LDRR is being funded through a 
£300m fund allocated to each Authority through a formula-based grant, and 
Government has tasked all Authorities with putting together their own 
schemes of LDRR.

Supporting Small Businesses Relief (temporary from 1st April 2017 for a 
maximum period of 5 years)

9.3 This relief is a discretionary relief made available to those ratepayers facing 
large increases as a result of a loss of Small Business Rate Relief or Rural 
Rate Relief.

9.4 Supporting Small Businesses relief will be paid such that the increase per year in 
the bills of affected ratepayers is limited to the greater of: 
 a percentage annual increase of 5%, 7.5%, 10%, 15% and 15% from 2017-

18 to 2021-22 all plus inflation, or; 
 a cash value of £600 per year (£50 per month). This cash minimum increase 

ensures that those ratepayers paying nothing or very small amounts in 2016-
17 after small business rate relief are brought into paying something. 

9.5 In the first year of the scheme this means that all ratepayers losing some or all 
of their SBRR or RRR will see the increase in their bill capped at £600. The 
cash minimum increase is £600 per year thereafter.  Those businesses who 
were previously receiving SBRR in 2016/2017 but whose RV is more than 
£51,000 from 1st April 2017 will not be liable to pay the supplement (1.3p in 
2017/18) to fund small business rate relief while they are eligible for the 
Supporting Small Business relief scheme. 

Page 224



9.6 Ratepayers can remain in the Supporting Small Businesses relief scheme for 
either 5 years or until they reach the bill they would have paid without the 
scheme. 

9.7 Awards of Supporting Small Businesses relief will be made for no more than    
one year at a time and will be reviewed each year at the time of the annual
billing. Entitlement will therefore end on the earliest of:
 the end of the financial year for which the award was made,
 the date that the ratepayer ceases to satisfy the qualifying criteria, or
 the date that the property becomes unoccupied or occupied by a charity

or Community Amateur Sports Club.

9.8 This relief, as with all other DRRs, is subject to State Aid law. Ratepayers 
entitled to Mandatory Relief (such Charities and Community Amateur Sports 
Clubs) or Section 44A relief (apportionment of RV for partly occupied 
properties) are not entitled to SSBR. 

9.9 The Council will be applying this relief in accordance with Government 
guidelines and confirming in writing to those eligible businesses. Those 
businesses that feel they may be eligible but have not received a letter and 
revised bill need to contact the Council.

Supporting Pubs Relief (from 1st April 2020 for one year)

9.10 Supporting Pubs Relief scheme for pubs that have a rateable value of below 
£100,000. Under the scheme, eligible pubs will receive a £1,000 discount on their 
bill for 2020/21. 

9.11 For the purpose of this relief, the Council’s policy intention is that eligible pubs 
should: 
 be open to the general public 
 allow free entry other than when occasional entertainment is provided 
 allow drinking without requiring food to be consumed 
 permit drinks to be purchased at a bar. 

9.12 Hereditaments which are excluded from this relief include restaurants, cafes, 
nightclubs, hotels, snack bars, guesthouses, boarding houses, sporting venues, 
music venues, festival sites, theatres, museums, exhibition halls, cinemas, 
concert halls, casinos. 

9.13 The Council will be applying this relief in accordance with Government guidelines 
and confirming in writing to those eligible businesses. Those businesses that feel 
they may be eligible but have not received a letter and revised bill need to contact 
the Council.

Page 225



Local Discretionary Rate Relief (temporary until 31st March 2021)

9.14 The Government also announced the introduction of a Local Discretionary Rate 
Relief – the scheme is designed to assist small/medium ratepayers who have 
suffered significant increases in rate liability due to the revaluation and the 
subsequent increase to their Rateable Value. The scheme is in place for a period 
of 4 years at a reducing rate over the 4 years.

9.15 Each Authority is to be provided with a share of a £300 million fund to support 
their local businesses – which is to be administered through Authorities 
discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local Government Act 1988. 

9.16 Government consider that Councils are best placed to determine how this fund 
should be targeted and administered to support those businesses with the 
greatest need, and so each Authority is required to propose their own scheme. 

9.17 The Council has determined that Local Discretionary Rate Relief will be awarded 
using the following criteria: 
 The increase has to be attributable to the 2017 revaluation 
 Relief will not be awarded where mandatory relief is granted 
 The rateable value of the property, in the 2017 Rating List must not exceed 

£200,000 
 In assessing any potential entitlement to an award under this scheme, the 

Council will compare the following:- 
- The rate liability of the ratepayer at 31st March 2017 after any reliefs and 

reductions; and 
- The rate liability of the taxpayer 1st April 2017 taking into account any 

transitional relief or discretionary relief within this policy 
 Relief will only be given to premises which are liable for occupied rates. No 

relief within this scheme will be granted for unoccupied premises. 
 Relief will only be granted to ratepayers who were in occupation at 31st March 

2017 and in occupation on 1st April 2017 and for each day subsequently
 Ratepayers taking up occupation after the 1st April 2017 will not be eligible for 

relief on the basis that new ratepayers would not have suffered from 
increases due to a revaluation 

 Relief will be targeted to local businesses and not those businesses/charities 
that are national or multi-national in nature. 

 Relief will not be awarded to Local Authorities 

9.18 The Council will encouraging those businesses who may qualify for this relief to 
apply. Therefore, the scheme will be administered in the following way: 
 For awards of £1,000 or less Officers may grant without a formal application 

and issue notification which requests the business to contact the Council if 
they feel they are not eligible based on the criteria set 

 For awards of £1,000 or more, individual applications and ‘state aid’ 
declarations will be required and considered by the Income Team.

 Ratepayers will be required to notify the council if they cease to satisfy the 
qualifying criteria. 

Page 226



 Relief will end on the earliest of; the end of the financial year, the date the 
property becomes unoccupied or the date that the ratepayer ceases to satisfy 
the qualifying criteria 

9.19 The proposed amount of relief is tapered and estimated to be calculated as 
follows:-

Amount of Relief*
2017/18 Award = 35% of the increase in rate liability
2018/19 2017/18 award x 50% (for clarity, this will be half 

of the relief awarded in 2017/18)
2019/20 2018/19 award x 40% (for clarity, this will be half 

of the relief awarded in 2017/18)
2020/21 2019/20award x 14% (for clarity, this will be half of 

the relief awarded in 2017/18)
*The levels of relief applied will be reviewed regularly in year and annually to ensure that the 
support scheme is being operated in the most effective way.

9.20 In exceptional circumstances, the Council shall consider applications on a case 
by case basis where the ratepayer falls outside the criteria detailed in paragraph 
11.17 but where the ratepayer can demonstrate that they are experiencing severe 
financial difficulties due to the revaluation on 1st April 2017. 

9.21 The proposed scheme also allows the Council to review and amend the amount 
of relief during the course of the year and on an annual basis to reflect changing 
circumstances.

10 Local Newspaper Rate Relief (From 1st April 2020 until 31st March 2025)

10.1 The Government has committed to providing funding to local authorities so 
that they can provide a discount worth up to £1,500 a year for 2 years from 
1st April 2020, to office space occupied by local newspapers. This is up to a 
maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and 
up to state aid limits. The relief will be delivered through local authority 
discretionary discount powers (under section 47(3) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988).

10.2 The Council will grant in accordance with Government guidelines 

11 Other Businesses 

11.1 Discretionary Rate Relief of up to 100% may be awarded to any other 
Ratepayer in exceptional circumstances under Clause 69 of the Localism Act 
2011, where it is in the Council’s strategic or operational interests to do so.      

12 Hardship Relief

12.1 The Council may remit payment of Business Rates in part or in full in certain 
cases of hardship.

Page 227



12.2 An application for reduction must consider: 

 That the Ratepayer would sustain hardship if remission of rates was not 
granted; and

 That it is reasonable to grant remission, having regard to the interests of 
the Council Taxpayer.

12.3 The circumstances where the Council would consider for the granting of 
Hardship Relief are: 

 The potential threat of closure of a business, and the loss of employment 
to local people; and

 Preserving the local community and fabric of village life.

12.4 For claiming Hardship Relief the following conditions apply: 

 An application must be made
 Remission should be the exception rather than the rule
 All factors relating to the business should be taken into account; and
 Each case should be decided on its own merits.

12.5 The following evidence will be taken into consideration when assessing an 
application for Hardship Relief:

 The current year’s accounts should be compared with previous years’ 
accounts

 Explanation of how the hardship has arisen; and
 Steps taken to try to remedy the situation.

13. Summary of Award

Granting of relief 

13.1 In all cases, the Council will notify the ratepayer of decisions made.  Where an 
application is successful, then the following will be notified to them in writing: 

•    The amount of relief granted and the date from which it has been granted; 
•   If relief has been granted for a specified period, the date on which it will 

end; 
•    The new chargeable amount; 
•    The details of any planned review dates and the notice that will be given in 

advance of a change to the level of relief granted; and 
•    A requirement that the applicant should notify the Council of any change in 

circumstances that may affect entitlement to relief. 

13.2 Where relief is not granted then the following information is provided, again in 
writing: 
•   An explanation of the decision within the context of each Councils' statutory 

duty; and 
•     An explanation of the appeal rights (see below)

Page 228



The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989 

13.3 Discretionary relief is to be granted from the beginning of the financial year in 
which the decision is made. Since 1997 decisions can be made up to 6 
months after the end of the financial year for which the application was made. 
In such cases, the Council may backdate its decision. 

13.4 A decision to award discretionary relief and how much relief is given is 
normally only applicable to the financial year for which the application is 
made. However, the Council reserves the right to grant relief for any other 
period as appropriate. In relation to the Discretionary Business Rate Relief 
scheme, awards will, in the main be granted from 1st April 2017. 

13.5 A fresh application for discretionary relief will be necessary for each financial 
year or at such time-period as the Council determines. 

Variation of a decision
 
13.6 Variations in any decision will be notified to ratepayers as soon as practicable 

and will take effect as follows: 
•    Where the amount is to be increased due to a change in rate charge or a 

change in a Council's decision which increases the award - this will apply 
from the date the Council as appropriate; 

•    Where the amount is to increase for any other reason it will take effect at 
the expiry of a financial year, and so that at least one year's notice is 
given; 

•    Where the amount is to be reduced due to a reduction in the rate charge or 
liability including any reduction in rateable value, awarding of another 
relief or exemption this will apply from the date of the decrease in rate 
charge; and 

•    Where the amount is to be reduced for any other reason, it will take effect 
at the expiry of a financial year, and so that at least one year's notice is 
given. 

13.7 A decision may be revoked at any time, however, a one year period of notice 
will be given and the change will take effect at the expiry of a financial year. 

Reviews 

13.8 The policy for granting relief will be reviewed annually or sooner where there 
is a substantial change to the legislation or funding rules. At such time, a 
revised policy will be brought before the relevant committee of the Council.

Appeals

13.9 Appeal against a refusal to grant Mandatory Relief is to the Magistrates Court 
at a Liability Order hearing if the decision is whether a property falls into one 
of the necessary categories.

13.10 The appeal will be by way of Judicial Review if the appeal is in respect of a 
village not being designated as a Rural Settlement.

13.11 An appeal against a refusal to grant Discretionary Relief will be by way of 
Judicial Review.

Page 229



Annex 1

Rural Settlement Areas within the Staffordshire Moorlands

In accordance with the Local Government and Rating Act 1997 (LGRA 1997), a total 
of 46 Rural Settlement Areas (RSAs) have been designated within the Staffordshire 
Moorlands as follows:

Alstonfield Alton Bagnall  Blore
Bradnop Brown Edge Butterton  Caverswall
Consall Cotton Dilhorne  Draycott
Farley Fawfieldhead Grindon  Heathylea
Heaton Hollinsclough Horton  Ilam
Ipstones Leekfrith Longnor  Longsdon
Oakamoor Onecote Quarnford  Rushton
Sheen Tittesworth Warslow  Waterhouses
Wetton

Biddulph Moor, within the parish of Biddulph
Freehay, within the parish of Cheadle
Checkley, within the parish of Checkley
Hollington, within the parish of Checkley
Wetley Rocks, within the parish of Cheddleton
Cellarhead, within the parish of Cheddleton
Whiston, within the parish of Kingsley
Kingsley, within the parish of Kingsley
Stanley, within the parish of Endon
Stockton Brook, within the parish of Endon
Endon, within the parish of Endon
Foxt, within the parish of Ipstones
Leekbrook, within the parish of Leek

Page 230



 February 2020

Council Tax Reductions & Levies Policy

This policy sets out the discounts, exemptions, reliefs and levies that are available to 
Council Tax payers.

1. Discounts, Disregards and Exemptions

1.1. The Local Government Act 1992 defines a number of mandatory discounts, persons 
disregarded for Council Tax purposes and exempt properties:-

Single Person Discount
If only one adult is living in a property, a 25% discount is applied known as ‘single 
person discount’.

Disable Banding Reduction
If someone living in a property is disabled and uses a wheelchair indoors, or requires 
an additional bathroom, kitchen, or a room to meet the needs of a disability, a 
Disabled Banding Reduction is available.  If applied, the council tax bill will be based 
on the valuation band below that of the property.

Annexe Discount
From 1 April 2014 annexes which are used by the occupier of the main house as 
part of the main home, or annexes which are occupied by a relative of the person 
living in the main house will be entitled to a 50% reduction in the Council Tax 
payable on the annexe.

Persons Disregarded
People in the following groups are not counted for Council Tax purposes:

 Full time students, student nurses, apprentices and foreign language 
assistants

 Young people for whom child benefit is payable and 18/19 year olds who have 
just left school or college

 Patients resident in hospital or residential care homes
 Severely mentally impaired people
 People in certain hostels or night shelters
 Low paid care workers usually for charities
 People caring for a person with a disability who is not a spouse, partner or 

child under 18   
 Members of religious communities such as monks or nuns
 People in detention (except for non-payment of council tax or a fine)
 Members of visiting forces and certain international institutions
 Foreign diplomats

Exempt Occupied Properties 
Council Tax is not charged for some properties including those where:-

 All residents are students
 They are used for armed forces accommodation
 They are lived in by members of visiting forces
 All residents are under the age of 18

Page 231



 February 2020

 All residents are severely mentally impaired
 At least one person is a foreign diplomat
 It is an annexe occupied by a dependant relative

If part of a property is self contained (granny flat or annexe) and lived in by a relative, 
the council tax bill will be recued by 50%.  This is applied on top of any other eligible 
discount.

Exempt Unoccupied Properties
Council tax will not be charged for unoccupied properties:

 Owned by a charity (allowed up to six months)
 Left empty by someone who has gone to prison or has been detained under 

the Mental Health Act
 Previously occupied by a person in permanent residential care
 Waiting for probate or letters of administration to be granted
 Empty because occupation is forbidden by law
 Waiting to be occupied by a minister of religion
 Left empty by someone who had moved to receive personal care by reason of 

old age, disablement or illness
 Left empty by someone who has moved to provide personal care to another 

person
 Owned by a student and last occupied by a student
 Subject to a Repossession Order
 The Responsibility of a bankrupt person’s trustee
 A site for a caravan, mobile home or mooring
 Unable to let separately because it is linked to, or in the grounds of, another 

property

2. Locally Determined Discounts & Empty Home Levy
The Local Government Act 2003 introduced Sections 11A and 13A to the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. Section 11B (council tax premium) was inserted with 
effect from 1 April 2013 by Section 12(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 2012. 

Section 11A: prescribed dwellings:
There are four classes of dwelling in England where local authorities can vary the 
discount granted: 

Class A (Second/Holiday Home)
For dwellings which are not the sole or main residence, are furnished, but their 
continuous occupation is restricted by planning regulations to less than 28 days a 
year.

Class B (Second/Holiday Home)
For all other dwellings which are not sole or main residence, are furnished, and their 
continuous occupation is not restricted by planning regulations to less than 28 days a 
year.

Page 232

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/026/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/014/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/014/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/017/contents


 February 2020

Any percentage of discount between 0% and 100% can be levied in respect of 
classes A and B.

The Council’s current policy for holiday/second homes is to apply a 100% 
charge.

Class C (Empty and Unoccupied)
Class C applies to empty property which is unoccupied and unfurnished and no 
longer qualifies for any time limitations. 

The Council’s current policy is to apply a period of 100% relief awarded up to a 
maximum of 3 months where the property remains empty and unoccupied

Class D (Uninhabitable)
Dwellings that are unoccupied and unfurnished and: 
o require or are undergoing major repair to make them habitable
o are undergoing structural alteration
o have undergone major repair work to render them habitable, if less than six 

months have elapsed since the date on which the alteration was 
substantially completed and the dwelling has continuously remained 
unoccupied and unfurnished since that date.

A council tax reduction of any percentage up to 100% may be applied to dwellings 
that fall into this class, but dwellings will only fall into this class for a maximum of 12 
months.

The Council’s current policy is to apply a reduction of 50% awarded up to a 
maximum of 12 months.

Section 11B: higher amount for long term empty dwelling – England 

Long Term Empty Property Premium
Properties that have been unoccupied for more than 2 years are subject to an 
additional premium.  Prior to April 2019, this premium was a maximum of 50% - 
resulting in a Council Tax charge of 150%.  

From 1st April 2019 Local Government Authorities were given new powers, under the 
Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax Act 2018 which came into 
force in November 2018, to charge an Empty Homes Premium of:
 An extra 100% Council Tax for properties empty for at least two years from 1st 

April 2019.
 An extra 200% Council Tax for properties empty for at least five years from 1st 

April 2020.
 An extra 300% Council Tax for properties empty for at least ten years from 1st 

April 2021.

From 1st April 2020, the Council will charge a 100% levy for properties empty 
over 2 years and a 200% levy for properties empty for over 5 years.

Page 233

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2964/contents/made


 February 2020

Section 13A - Other Discretionary Relief

Section 13A (1) (c) relief awards will be used in cases of unforeseen or exceptional 
circumstances that threaten taxpayers’ abilities to fund the cost of council tax and 
may threaten their ability to remain in their homes.

The main features of this relief are that:
 it is discretionary;
 an applicant does not have a statutory right to a payment;
 the operation of the scheme is for the Council to determine;
 if the applicant is dissatisfied with any decision taken on a claim that they have 

made, they can ask for further details on the decision and make an appeal in 
line with this Policy.

Where a scheme relates to a Government Scheme (e.g. the case of severe flooding) 
the features of any discretionary discount will be as define by Government or, where 
local discretion is allowed, as defined by the Council for that specific purpose.

The Council will consider applying discretionary relief if all of the following 
circumstances are satisfied:-

 The applicant has an outstanding council tax balance;
 There is compelling evidence of extreme financial hardship;
 No other occupants of the property could contribute towards the council tax

payable;
 Enforcing the full council tax liability would result in severe hardship e.g.

insufficient money being available for basic and essential needs such as 
housing, food, heating, lighting or essential medical needs;

 The liable person does not have access to assets or funds of any kind which
could be used to meet their council tax liability;

 All alternative means of resolving the outstanding liability have been
exhausted – this includes but is not limited to discounts, exemptions, council
tax support, valuation office/valuation tribunal application;

 The liable person can demonstrate that they have no available income to pay
their council tax;

 If the liability relates to a retrospective period the customer can demonstrate 
and evidence that arrears did not accrue due to their wilful refusal to pay 
council tax or due to their culpable neglect to pay their council tax.

 The customer can evidence that each of the criteria set out above was satisfied 
for the entire period for which they wish to be considered for discretionary relief.

If all of the above circumstances are satisfied the Council will consider granting relief. 
The Council retains ultimate discretion, in accordance with the discretionary nature 
of the scheme, and applications for relief will be considered on their individual merits.

Evidence
In deciding whether to make a Section 13A (1) (c) award the Council will have regard 
to the applicant’s circumstances. In order to do this the Council will make enquiries 
regarding the income and expenditure of all household members.

Page 234



 February 2020

Household members may be asked to supply reasonable supporting evidence to 
substantiate the answers that they give to the questions above. This may include, 
but is not limited to:

 income & expenditure statements;
 any sources of credit such as cash cards, credit cards, store cards, cheque 

cards, cheque accounts, overdraft facilities, loan arrangements;
 any help which is likely to be available to the applicant from other sources;
 any other special circumstance of which we are aware.

Evidence may be requested that is relevant to the application (e.g. evidence of 
illness). Where information or evidence requested has not been received within 21 
days the Council will determine the application on the basis of the evidence and 
information in its possession. The Council may refuse to grant relief where the 
absence of information and evidence prevents the Council from reaching an 
informed decision regarding the applicant’s circumstances.

The Council will make all decisions on the basis or merit; it will act fairly and 
reasonably, and will have regard to all the relevant circumstances.

Application Process
Applications should be made in writing (including email) to the Revenues Team 
under the title of Section 13A (1) (c) Relief Application. Applications may be made by 
the customer claiming the reduction, or a party authorised by the applicant.
Each application must set out the circumstances upon which the application is based 
and should include:
- The level of discount being requested (i.e. is this for the full year’s council tax or 

part of it, such as 50%);
- The reason for the request (i.e. why is the discount wanted and how this meets 

our policy);
- Period of time the discount is wanted for (i.e. the full financial year, part of 

financial year or some other period of time);
- Steps that have been taken to meet or mitigate the council tax liability (i.e. any 

other discounts or reductions awarded).

The Council will endeavour to make a decision within 28 days of receiving all the 
information required and any discount granted whether in part or full will be 
authorised by the Principal Income Officer / Head of Finance. 

Amount of relief
The amount of discretionary relief to be awarded will be at the Council’s discretion. 
Any amount of relief granted will be credited to the council tax account and should 
not result in a positive balance on the council tax account.

Period of relief
The Council retains ultimate discretion over the period for which relief may be 
granted. Relief will only be granted on liability for the financial year in which the 
request is made or for such prior period as the Council deems appropriate. Relief will 
not be awarded for subsequent financial years unless a further successful request is 
made.

Page 235



 February 2020

The Council retains the right to withdraw relief at any time, including for retrospective 
periods:

 where conditions or circumstances in which the reduction was granted change 
or fail to materialise

 information submitted as part of the application proves misleading
 applicant ceases to be a Council Tax payer

The customer must advise the Council of any such relevant change to their 
circumstances within 14 days of the change occurring.

Decision Making and appeals
Any relief granted in accordance with this policy must be determined as follows:

 Decisions for reliefs will be made within 28 days of receipt of application and 
all relevant information. The applicant will be notified of the decision in writing. 
The notification will include the decision and details of any amount of relief to 
be awarded and details of the period to which the award relates.

 Where the request for a Section 13A (1) (c) relief is unsuccessful or not met in 
full the Council will explain the reasons why the decision was made, and 
explain the applicant’s right of appeal.

 Section 13A (1) (c) awards are administered under the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. Any appeals against a decision to refuse an award or 
about the amount of any award made will be administered in accordance with 
the following process:
- An applicant (or their representative) who wants an explanation of a 

Section 13A (1) (c) Relief application decision may request one in writing 
within one calendar month of notification of the decision;

- An applicant (or their representative) who disagrees with a decision may 
appeal the decision;

- Any appeal must be made in writing, but must be made within one 
calendar month of the original decision being notified to the applicant or, if 
requested, within one calendar month of the written reasons being notified 
to the applicant, whichever is the later;

- Where possible the Council will try to resolve the matter by explaining the 
reasons for the decision to the applicant or their representative either 
verbally or in writing;

- Where agreement cannot be reached, the Chief Executive will review the 
decision. The review will be suspended if more information is needed from 
the applicant;

- The applicant will have one calendar month to respond to the request for 
further information, thereafter the review will be undertaken on the 
information held;

Upon receipt of a request for a review, the Executive Director (Chief Finance Officer) will 
review the original decision and consider whether there are grounds to change the 
decision.
The Council will notify a customer of the appeal decision within 20 days of receiving a
request for reconsideration.
Where a Council Tax payer is aggrieved by a Council’s refusal to abide by its own 
resolution to award discount regarding a specific class, further appeal may be made to 
the Valuation Tribunal.

Page 236



 February 2020

Overpayments
If the Council becomes aware that the information contained in an application for a 
Section 13A (1) (c) Relief was incorrect or that relevant information was not 
declared, either intentionally or otherwise, the Council may seek to recover the value 
of any award made as a result of that application. The award will be removed from 
the relevant council tax account and any resulting balance will be subject to the 
normal methods of collection and recovery applicable to such accounts.

Fraud
The Council is committed to the fight against fraud in all its forms. Any applicant who 
tries to fraudulently claim a Section 13A discount might have committed an offence 
under the Fraud Act 2006.
If the Council suspects that fraud may have occurred, the matter will be investigated 
as appropriate and this could lead to criminal proceedings.

Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers Scheme

Staffordshire County Council have agreed to pay the council tax for care leavers up 
to the age of 21. A support worker will be assigned to each care leaver who will 
make arrangements to pay the council tax in full.  
There is currently a Staffordshire wide review of this scheme underway, which may 
propose to extend the discount up to the age of 25.  Once agreed, the policy will be 
updated.

3. Policy Update
This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis, and where changes are required, 
those changes will be presented for formal approval

4. Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
The Council provides a Local Council Tax Support (Reduction) (LCTS) Scheme in 
accordance with section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

This policy is independent of the Council’s LCTS scheme and is currently under 
review.

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

11 February 2020

Attached documents:  None

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To make members aware of the Home Repairs Assistance Grant 
Scheme and to consider the opportunity for funding presented by 
related income from a previous Home Repair Scheme.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Cabinet approves the recommendations at section 6.1.1 to  
6.1.3 of the report.

3. Executive Summary  

3.1 The Environmental Health Service currently operates a Home 
Repairs Assistance Grant (HRA) Scheme which aims to provide 
support for the most vulnerable households in carrying out 
emergency or essential repairs to their properties. It also gives 
supplementary funding to support additional repair works at 
premises with disabled occupants where the work is not covered by 

TITLE: Home Repairs Assistance Grant Scheme

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Mike Bowen - Portfolio Holder, 
Communities

OFFICER: Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental 
Health

WARD: All wards

Page 239

Agenda Item 9.1



the traditional Disabled Facilities Grant. The funding is limited and 
has diminished significantly over the last 3 years due to demand 
and a lack of funding to replenish the grants awarded.

3.2 In June 2012, secured and unsecured loans granted for housing 
improvements under the West Midlands Kickstart Partnership 
project transferred to the Council. Debts outstanding are secured 
by legal charges on properties and loans were granted based on 
equity share agreements. When a loan-assisted property is sold the 
funds received under these agreements are accounted for as 
capital receipts and used to support the Council’s capital 
programme.

3.3 In total £57,861.45 was received through Kick-Start repayments in 
2018-19 and a further £24,079.65 in the current year to date.

3.4 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan approved in February 
2019 proposed that monies received from this former housing grant 
scheme should be used to support the HRA commitment. An initial 
commitment of £30,000 was added to the HRA Budget with the 
caveat that the proposals would be subject to a further report and 
approval by members.

3.5 It is proposed that the Kickstart funding receipts are ring-fenced for 
use as HRA Grant funding over the remaining period of 2019/20 
and for the next financial year. A further report on the effectiveness 
of the scheme and the level of spend will be presented in January 
2021 or earlier if required.

3.6 It is further proposed that some discretion is available to the Head 
of Environmental Health to vary the grant limit (currently £2,000) in 
cases where the investment will bring about a more favourable 
outcome (for example, when an empty property is brought back into 
use as a result).

4. Implications

41 Community Safety - (Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998)

Contributes to the reduction of the 
psychological affects leading to 
crime and disorder associated with 
poor quality housing.

4.2 Employees None.

Page 240



4.3 Equalities This report has been prepared in 
accordance with the Council's Equal 
Opportunities policy.

4.4 Financial Grant provision is based entirely on 
the availability of contributory 
funding and so will be finite based 
on the Kickstart receipt income.

4.5 Legal This is a discretionary Grant and so 
is based on the Council’s Private 
Sector Housing Policy. Grants may 
be registered as a local land charge, 
recoverable on the sale of the 
property on the open market.

4.6 Sustainability Discretionary grant will be 
sustainable and only given with the 
provision of available funding.

5. Implications

5.1   The Environmental Health Service currently operates a Home 
Repairs Assistance Grant Scheme. The aim of this type of 
assistance is to ensure that the most vulnerable householders 
living in the worst conditions receive help to ensure that their 
homes are safe to live in. It is also designed to help people bring 
an empty property back into use.

Examples of qualifying works are as follows:

 General items of essential or emergency repair;
 Replacement of lead water pipes;
 Radon remedial works;
 Energy efficiency works.
 Top-up of funding where the costs associated with adaptation 

work exceeds the DFG Maximum limit.

5.2 This is a discretionary grant and is only available subject to capital 
resource allocations in each financial year. These grants are 
targeted at vulnerable people, i.e.  those who are elderly, low-
income households or disabled persons. The grant can also be 
claimed by persons who are in need and require assistance to bring 
an empty property back into long-term use for owner-occupation or 
rental. The maximum funding that can be offered is £2,000.00 per 

Page 241



property over a 2 year period.  Where the works are substantial in 
nature or will otherwise require a greater level of funding, it is 
recommended that a determination will be made by the Head of 
Service as to whether there is sufficient justification to approve a 
grant in excess of this amount on a case by case basis.

5.3 The funding available for this type of assistance has reduced 
significantly over the last 3 years as the capital resource has not 
been renewed, and at the start of the 2019/20 financial year the 
available budget had reduced to around £300.

5.4 In June 2012, secured and unsecured loans granted for housing 
improvements under the West Midlands Kickstart Partnership 
project, transferred to the Council following the winding-up of the 
Kickstart loan scheme. The funding for the scheme came originally 
from a bid to Government in 2008/09 and the funding was finite. 
Debts outstanding are secured by legal charges on properties and 
loans were granted based on equity share agreements. When a 
loan-assisted property is sold the funds received under these 
agreements are accounted for as capital receipts and used to 
support the Council’s capital programme. In total, £57,861.45 was 
received through Kickstart repayments in 2018-19 and a further 
£24,079.65 in the current financial year to date. The funding is not 
sustainable year on year as no loans were issued after 2012 and 
the current income reflects the loans repaid so far.

5.5 The Council published its Empty Property Strategy in 2017 and an 
element of the Action Plan encouraged the innovative use of 
funding to help those people who wanted to bring an empty 
property back into use but were struggling to find assistance 
towards things like bathroom and kitchen replacement, new 
boiler/heating systems, etc. The HRA Grant scheme was expanded, 
accordingly, to include support for individuals seeking to bring an 
empty property back into use for owner/occupation or rental. The 
funding of up to £2,000 proved limiting when looking at the nature of 
the repairs that would be needed to bring empty properties back 
into use, and so enabling the Head of Environmental Heath to have 
the discretion to vary this upper limit on a case by case basis would 
encourage more home owners to come forward with applications for 
assistance.

5.6 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan approved in February 
2019 proposed that monies received from the Kickstart scheme 
should be used to support the HRA commitment. An initial 
commitment of £30,000 was added to the HRA Budget with the 
caveat that the proposals would be subject to further report and 

Page 242



approval by members. This funding has already been put to use in 
several emergency cases and to assist disabled persons by topping 
up the maximum grant available under the Disabled Facilities Grant 
programme to ensure that the project proceeded. The funding has 
also been offered to enable the owner of an empty property to 
install a new bathroom so that the property can be re-occupied. In 
this case the owner was seeking only a contribution to the cost of 
the fixtures and fittings and so the £2,000 limit was not a barrier, but 
if the owner had also required assistance to install this bathroom 
then the project might well have failed. The introduction of 
discretion would enable more ambitious projects to be considered.

6. Summary
 

6.1 It is, therefore, proposed that members consider the funding 
opportunity presented and determine whether the 
recommendations in this report should be supported.  To 
summarise, the proposals are as follows:

6.1.1. To ring-fence the Kickstart funding to the Home Repairs 
Assistance Grant Scheme for 2019/20 and 2020/21 and to 
use this funding to top-up the Grant programme in 
accordance with demand.

6.1.2 To produce a report in January 2021 to determine the 
effectiveness of the Grant Scheme, the remaining funding 
available and whether to continue to use the funding to 
support the HRA Grant.

6.1.3 To approve the granting of discretion to the Head of 
Environmental Health to vary the grant limit (currently 
£2,000) in cases where the investment will bring about a 
more favourable outcome (for example, when an empty 
property is brought back into use as a result, or where an 
adaptation scheme might not progress because the 
applicant cannot afford to top-up the maximum Disabled 
Facilities Grant of £30,000).

  

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Background Papers Location Contact

Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council Housing Renewal Policy 

Environmental Health 
Service

Mike Towers
Senior Officer (Housing, 
Public Health & Licensing)
01538 395400 x4400

Page 243



Page 244



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel

3 February 2020

TITLE: Dog Fouling Order

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Scalise- Portfolio Holder for 
Environment

CONTACT OFFICER: David Smith - Principal Officer Communities 
& Partnerships

WARDS INVOLVED: (All Wards)

Appendices Attached – Draft Public Spaces Protection Order

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 Staffordshire Moorlands is currently covered by four Orders which make it an 
offence if a person in charge of a dog at the relevant time does not:

i. remove dog faeces forthwith if the dog defecates;
ii. put and keep a dog on a lead if required to do so by a Council Officer to 

prevent the dog causing annoyance or disturbance to any other person 
or the worrying or disturbance of any animal or bird;

iii. keep a dog on a lead in specified areas;
iv. stop a dog from entering specified areas.

1.2 The Orders will cease to have effect on 20th October 2020 and thus need to be 
extended or replaced if the Council wishes to continue to have the power to 
take action in respect of dog fouling and nuisance behaviour. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Panel recommends Cabinet:

1. Agrees to carry out public consultation on the draft Order appended to 
this report;

2. Subsequently approves the draft Order by Delegated Decision unless 
the responses from the consultation necessitate material changes to 
the draft Order;

Page 245

Agenda Item 10.1



3. In the event of a new order being approved prior to 20th October 2020, 
formal notice of discharge of the existing Orders should be published 
simultaneously with the introduction of the replacement Order.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 There are currently four Orders covering the District which make it an offence 
if a person in charge of a dog at the relevant time does not:

i. remove dog faeces forthwith if the dog defecates;
ii. put and keep a dog on a lead if required to do so by a Council Officer to 

prevent the dog causing annoyance or disturbance to any other person 
or the worrying or disturbance of any animal or bird;

iii. keep a dog on a lead in specified areas;
iv. stop a dog from entering specified areas.

3.2 The latter two orders (Dogs on a Lead Order and Dog Exclusion Order) have 
not been used since their introduction in 2011. It is proposed that these Orders 
be allowed to expire in October 2017.

3.3 No formal action has been taken under the Order which requires a dog owner 
to put their dog on a lead when required to do so by an officer. However, this 
Order has proved to be useful in certain circumstances and provides 
Enforcement Officers and Horticultural Officers with the formal power to 
require dogs to be put and kept on a lead. It is, therefore, suggested that this 
power be retained.

3.4 If the Order prohibiting dog fouling is not replaced then the Council could not 
take any formal action to prevent dog fouling in the District. It is, therefore, 
recommended that this power also be retained.

3.5 A revised Order is presented as an Appendix to this report. The draft Order 
addresses two issues that have been identified with the current Orders by:

 Making it a further breach of the Order if an offender does not provide their 
details; and

 Specifying that the responsibility for the breach rests with the parent/carer 
where the person in actual control of the dog at the time of the breach is 
under 16.

3.6 The Council must carry out consultation before making or extending an Order. 
Where an order is discharged, a notice identifying the order and stating the 
date when it ceases to have effect must be published in accordance with 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The report supports the corporate priority of ‘Supporting our communities to 
create a healthier, safer, cleaner Staffordshire Moorlands’.

5. Alternative Options

Page 246



5.1 The Council could choose to extend the current Orders in the current format. 
However, this would not provide an opportunity to (i) address the issue of 
failure of those under the age of 16 to remove faeces, or (ii) make it an offence 
for a suspected offender to fail to provide an Authorised Officer with their 
correct name and address.

5.2 The Council could choose to extend/replace the Dog Exclusion and Dogs on a 
Lead Orders but it would be difficult to demonstrate the need to do so given 
that the powers have not been used.

5.3 Alternatively, the Council could choose to not replace the current Orders when 
they expire and no longer take enforcement action in respect of dog fouling.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

The introduction of the Order would assist in preventing nuisance 
and environmental crime (dog fouling).

6.2 Workforce

None – the current officers already enforce under the existing 
Orders.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

It is recognised that some groups may find it difficult to comply with 
the Order and hence exemptions are provided for people who are 
(i) registered blind or (ii) have a disability that affects their mobility, 
manual dexterity, physical coordination or ability to lift, carry or 
otherwise move everyday objects, in respect of a dog trained by a 
prescribed charity and upon which they rely for assistance.

6.4 Financial Considerations

None, enforcement of the Orders would be delivered within current 
budgets.

6.5 Legal

The draft Order has been reviewed by Legal Services. 

6.6 Sustainability

None.

6.7 Consultation

Under section 72 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 

Page 247



Act 2014, the Council is required to carry out “necessary” 
consultation, publicity and notification prior to introducing (or 
extending) an Order.

Necessary consultation means consulting with:
(a) the chief officer of police, and the local policing body, for the 
police area that includes the restricted area;
(b) whatever community representatives the local authority thinks it 
appropriate to consult; and
(c) the owner or occupier of land within the restricted area.

Necessary publicity means publishing the text of the proposed 
Order.

Necessary notification means notifying any parish or community 
councils, and the County Council.

The requirement to consult with the owner or occupier of land 
within the restricted area does not apply to land that is owned and 
occupied by the local authority; and applies only to the extent that it 
is reasonably practicable to consult the owner or occupier of the 
land.

6.8 Risk Assessment

None.

Mark Trillo
Cabinet Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/pspo David Smith
Principal Officer Communities & Partnerships
David.smith@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

7. Detail

7.1 Dog fouling is an issue that is often a concern for the public. Unlike littering, 
which is an offence under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, there is no 
specific offence of failing to remove dog faeces. Instead, local authorities are 
required to introduce specific Orders to address the problem.

7.2 The Council introduced four Dog Control Orders in October 2011 utilising 
powers available in the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act (CNEA) 
2005:
 The Fouling of Land by Dogs (Staffordshire Moorlands District Council) 

Order 2011; 
 The Dogs on Leads by Direction (Staffordshire Moorlands District Council) 

Order 2011.
 The Dogs on a Lead (Staffordshire Moorlands District Council) Order 

6.4

Page 248



2011; and
 The Dog Exclusion (Staffordshire Moorlands District Council) Order 2011.

7.3 The latter two Orders were subsequently amended in 2014 to alter their 
geographic coverage.

7.4 The first of these Orders makes it an offence if the person in charge of a dog 
at the relevant time does not remove faeces forthwith if the dog defecates. The 
second makes it an offence if a person in charge of a dog does not comply 
with a direction from an authorised officer of the Council to put and keep the 
dog on a lead of not more than six feet in length. An officer can only give such 
a direction if such restraint is reasonably necessary to prevent a nuisance or 
behaviour by the dog is likely to cause annoyance or disturbance to any other 
person or the worrying or disturbance of any animal or bird.

7.5 The Dogs on a Lead Order requires dogs to be kept on leads in specified 
areas, whilst the Dog Exclusion Order prevents dogs from entering specified 
areas.

7.6 Under the CNEA, it was an offence if someone did not provide their name and 
address when requested to do so by an officer.

7.7 The power to introduce Dog Control Orders was subsequently repealed by the 
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act (“ASB Act”) 2014. The ASB Act 
introduced Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs), which could be used to 
introduce the same requirements and prohibitions as available through Dog 
Control Orders but which also had a broader application. The ASB Act does 
not, however, make failure to provide a name and address when asked to do 
so by an officer in relation to a breach of an Order an offence. PSPOs last for 
three years but can be renewed.

7.8 Under the ASB Act, any pre-existing Dog Control Order continued to have 
effect for a further three years before automatically converting by operation of 
law to a PSPO. PSPOs have effect for a period of three years, which means 
that Staffordshire Moorlands District Council’s current Orders continue to apply 
until 20th October 2020.

7.9 The Dogs on a Lead Order and The Dog Exclusion Order have not been used 
since their introduction in 2011. It is proposed that these Orders be allowed to 
expire in October 2017.

7.10 No formal action has been taken under the Order which requires a dog owner 
to put their dog on a lead when required to do so by an officer. However, this 
Order has proved to be useful in certain circumstances and provides 
Enforcement Officers and Horticultural Officers with the formal power to 
require dogs to be put and kept on a lead. It is, therefore, suggested that this 
power be retained.

7.11 If the Order prohibiting dog fouling is not replaced then the Council could not 
take any formal action to prevent dog fouling in the District. It is, therefore, 
recommended that this power also be retained.

Page 249



7.12 Two issues have been identified in relation to the current Orders:

 The loss of the specific offence of ‘failing to provide details’ has removed 
the ability for Enforcement Officers  to encourage offenders to provide 
details by reminding them that they are committing a further offence if 
they do not provide the requested information.

 In a small number of cases, the individual in actual control of the dog has 
been under the age of 16. This proves problematical since the young 
person may well not have the financial means to pay a fixed penalty 
notice and it is questionable whether pursuing them through the courts is 
in the public interest. Where the young person is below the age of 10 
then they are below the age of criminal responsibility and the Council 
cannot take enforcement action.

7.13 A revised PSPO has been drafted (Appendix A) that reflects the provisions of 
the current PSPO but also addresses the two issues identified above by:

 Making it a further breach of the Order if an offender does not provide 
their details; and

 Specifying that the responsibility for the breach rests with the 
parent/carer where the person in actual control of the dog at the time of 
the breach is under 16.

7.14 The Council proposes to consult with the Chief Constable of Staffordshire 
Police, the Office of the Police, Fire and Rescue and Crime Commissioner; 
and with community representatives and land owners/occupiers by issuing a 
press release, placing details of the consultation on the Council’s website, and 
promoting on social media. 

7.15 The Council will publish the text of the draft Order on its website. 

7.16 The Council will also notify each Parish and Town Council within the District, 
and the County Council.

7.17 If the new Order is brought into force prior to 20th October 2020, then the 
existing Orders will be simultaneously discharged. A notice stating the date on 
which the Orders will cease to have effect will be published in accordance with 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.

Page 250



1

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (Dog Fouling and Nuisance) 2020

The Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (the Council) in exercise of the power 
under section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act), 
being satisfied that the conditions set out in section 59 of the Act have been met, 
makes the following order:

1. This Order comes into force on [INSERT DATE] and will last for a period of 
three years.

2. This Order applies to the land specified in the Schedule.

Purpose

3. This order is intended to help stop or reduce the detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality caused by (i) failure to remove dog faeces 
from land and (ii) nuisance behaviour caused by dogs in public areas.

Prohibitions 

4. A person shall be in breach of this Order if:

4.1 A dog defecates at any time on land to which this Order applies and a person 
who is in charge of the dog at that time fails to remove the faeces from the land 
forthwith.

4.2 A person who is in charge of a dog at that time does not comply with a direction 
given him by an Authorised Officer of the Authority to put and keep the dog on 
a lead of not more than six feet in length.

4.3 An Authorised Officer of the Authority has reason to believe that a person has 
committed an offence under this Order and the person:

(a) fails to give his name and address when asked to do so, or

(b) gives a false or inaccurate name or address.

Offence of Failing to Comply with Order

5.1 Under section 67 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, it is 
an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to:

Page 251



2

(a) do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by this Order, or
(b) fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under this 

Order.

5.2 A person does not commit an offence under this Order by failing to comply with 
a prohibition or requirement if:
(a) he is registered as a blind person in a register compiled under section 29 

of the National Assistance Act 1948;
(b) he has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical 

coordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in 
respect of a dog trained by a prescribed charity and upon which he relies 
for assistance;

(c) the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 
has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so; or

(d) the local authority did not have power to include the prohibition or 
requirement in this Order.

5.3 A person guilty of an offence of failing to comply with this Order is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

Challenging the Validity of the Order

6. An Interested Person may apply to the High Court to question the validity of the 
Order on the grounds that the Council has no power to make the Order, include 
the particular prohibitions or requirements imposed by the Order, or that a 
requirement of the Act has not been complied with within six weeks beginning 
with the date on which the order is made.

Interpretation

7. For the purpose of this Order:
(a) a person who habitually has a dog in his possession shall be taken to be 

in charge of the dog at any time unless:
(i) at that time some other person is in charge of the dog; or
(ii) the person is under the age of 16, in which case the Parent of that 
person shall be treated as being in charge of the dog at the relevant time;

(b) placing the faeces in a receptacle on the land which is provided for the 
purpose, or for the disposal of waste, shall be a sufficient removal from 
the land;

(c) being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the 
vicinity or otherwise), or not having a device for or other suitable means of 
removing the faeces shall not be a reasonable excuse for failing to 
remove the faeces;

(d) each of the following is a “prescribed charity”:-
(i) Dogs for the Disabled (registered charity number 700454);
(ii) Support Dogs (registered charity number 1088281);
(iii) Canine Partners for Independence (registered charity number 803680);

(e) an Authorised Officer of the Authority may only give a direction under this 
Order to put and keep a dog on a lead if such restraint is reasonably 
necessary to prevent a nuisance or behaviour by the dog is likely to cause 

Page 252



3

annoyance or disturbance to any other person or the worrying or 
disturbance of any animal or bird.

(f) an Authorised Officer of the Authority means an employee, partner agency 
or contractor of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council who is authorised 
in writing by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council for the purposes of 
administrating the requirements of this Order.

(g) Parent, in relation to a person under the age of 16, includes any person:
(i) who is not a parent of his but who has parental responsibility for him, or
(ii) who has care of him.

(h) Interested Person means an individual who lives in the restricted area or 
who regularly works in or visits that area.

IN WITNESS whereof the COMMON SEAL 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL was hereunto affixed this 
          day of          two thousand and twenty in
the presence of 

Chairman

Chief Executive

SCHEDULE

This Order applies to all land within the area of Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council that is open to the air and to which the public are entitled or permitted to 
have access (with or without payment) including access land as defined in section 1 
of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. This includes, but is not limited to all 
footpaths, the footways and carriageways of every highway (including tree bases 
and grass verges) and every cemetery, park, public garden and open space 
including land owned by parish and town councils.

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet

11th February 2020

TITLE: Brough Park and John Hall Gardens 
Improvement Plan

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Mark Deaville - Deputy Leader & 
Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Sports

CONTACT OFFICER: Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and 
Recreation)

WARDS INVOLVED: Leek North;

Appendices attached:
Appendix A – Brough Park Masterplan
Appendix B – Revised site plan - 

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To inform Cabinet of revised plans and budget requirements needed to 
improve Brough Park and John Hall Gardens in line with the new Corporate 
Plan objective.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That Cabinet approve the new plan for improvements to Brough Park and 
John Hall Gardens and allocate funding towards delivery of the plan, which 
focuses on developing new play and sport facilities as well as work to the lake 
and creating access from the park into John Hall Gardens. 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Plans for an improved Brough Park have been in development for a number of 
years. In December 2017 Cabinet approved an ambitious plan which involved 
the creation of a park masterplan as part of a funding application to the 
Heritage Lottery Fund. This approval included provision of a capital 
contribution of £200,000 as match funding to help deliver the proposed 
scheme.

3.2 The application to the National Lottery was unsuccessful and soon after, the 
funding stream was pulled from its portfolio, leaving the project considerably 

Page 255

Agenda Item 11.1



short of the amount required to complete and therefore unable to be 
progressed.

3.3 New funding streams have since been announced by the National Lottery, 
however the criteria of these do not lend themselves to a future application by 
the Council towards this project.

3.4 Securing the remaining amount needed to deliver all aspects of the 
masterplan from external sources is unlikely, therefore Officers have been 
working to deliver elements without Lottery funding, whilst developing a 
revised plan focusing around the key aspects which Members and previous 
consultation responses highlighted.

3.5 Construction of a new skate park was completed in December 2018 with the 
support of a group of young people who assisted with the consultation and 
design processes. The Council secured £50,000 from Sport England to install 
floodlights so the facility can be used during the winter. Installation of the 
floodlights was completed in May 2019 and they are fully operational.

3.6 The projects listed below form the basis of the new plan. The existing lay out 
of these facilities is detailed in Appendix A and the proposed new site layout  
is detailed in Appendix B.

 Relocate and significantly expand the junior and toddler play offering to 
the existing tennis court area (3 courts), to create a destination level 
play facility that will attract people from across the communities of Leek 
and beyond. 

 Relocate the existing Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) to provide a high 
quality, sport and recreation facility in close proximity to the new junior 
play area. 

 Consolidate and refurbish two tennis courts.

 Improve access to John Hall Gardens from Brough Park to support and 
better connect the ongoing work with the mental health charity Rethink, 
who  lease the site from SMDC.

 Eradicate the invasive pygmy weed which exists in the lake using 
external contractors.

 Complete approximately 2400 square meters of footpath resurfacing 
works to ensure they remain fit for purpose.

 Engage external support to develop an improved and long term 
management plan for the lake, taking into consideration the 
circumstances set out in section 9 of this report.

3.7 To deliver the proposals it is estimated that £274,500 of additional capital 
funding and £10,000 of revenue funds will be required to deliver the project as 

Page 256



is detailed within this report. The financial implications are detailed further in 
section 12.

3.10 Proposals within the new plan to relocate the children’s play area from the 
existing site adjacent to Brough Park Leisure Centre will also assist the 
Council in the future, should plans for a new swimming pool be progressed.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 This report links to Aim 4 in the Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023, “To protect and 
improve the environment and respond to the climate emergency”. It 
particularly focuses on the key objective for the “Provision of quality parks and 
open spaces”. “The development of a plan to improve Brough Park and John 
Hall Garden” is listed as a stand alone project to deliver the objective.  

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are two principle options:-

 To agree to the new proposed plan for Brough Park and John Hall 
Gardens as set out in the report and deliver the schedule of works with 
additional capital and revenue funds as requested. (Recommended)  

 Do nothing (Not recommended)

5.2 A further option which Officers considered but discounted would have involved 
relocating the children’s play area to the existing tennis court area but not 
relocating the MUGA. It is viewed that this would create a fractured offering, 
leaving the tennis courts located in different areas of the park.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
Improvements to the open spaces and recreational facilities will 
increase the use of the site, helping to create a safe environment. 
The involvement and support of the local community will 
demonstrate that the open space is protected and cared for which 
will hopefully deter nuisance and anti-social behaviour.  

6.2 Workforce
The site will need to be maintained by our workforce who are 
shortly due to transfer into AES after installation to ensure its safe 
condition. There will be more play items to be monitored and this 
will have an increase on the duration of the safety checks. 
Although the new equipment will require less repair and 
maintenance than the current old equipment.

Page 257



6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
The facilities will be available to the whole community to use. There 
will be a requirement within the specification for play equipment to 
include a proportion of inclusive and accessible equipment so that 
it is available for children with disabilities.

6.4 Financial Considerations
Capital: The proposals as set out in 12.1 require additional capital 
investment of £274,500 above the current approved capital budget 
for Brough Park. The extra resources subject to member approval 
have been incorporated into the Council’s latest Medium Term 
Financial Plans 

Revenue implications:  These will be met from within existing 
budgets

Further details given in section 12.

6.5 Legal
There are no legal implications at this stage.

6.6 Sustainability
Undertaking the play area project will improve the future use of the 
site and provide an improved offering to both the community and 
visitors. The new equipment will have a likely life-time of at least 15 
to 20 years.

6.7 Consultation
Public consultation exercises previously undertaken in preparation 
of the Heritage Lottery Funding bid showed the improvement of the 
play area to have the highest demand from the public.

Further consultation would be undertaken to help determine the 
designs for the proposed new play area, including engaging the 
local community and the Friends of Brough Park.

6.8 Risk Assessment
The Playground Inspector has been highlighting the poor quality of 
the current play equipment for many years. The equipment has 
been repaired many times and in some places completely removed 
due to its age and general state of repair.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

5.12.17 Cabinet Report Brough Park Masterplan Exercise 
& Heritage Lottery Fund Bid
24.1.18 Service Delivery O & S Panel report Brough Park 
Masterplan Exercise & Heritage Lottery Fund Bid 

Robert Wilks
Principal Officer (Leisure and Recreation)
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk

6.4

Page 258



7. Detail

7.1 Plans for an improved Brough Park have been in development for a                        
number of years. In December 2017 Cabinet approved an ambitious plan 
which involved the creation of a park masterplan (Appendix A) as part of a 
funding     application to the Heritage Lottery Fund. This approval included 
provision of a capital contribution of £200,000 as match funding to help deliver 
the proposed scheme.

7.2 The application to the National Lottery was unsuccessful and soon after, the 
funding stream was pulled from its portfolio, leaving this project considerably 
short of the amount required to complete and unable to be progressed.

7.3 New funding streams have since been announced by the National Lottery, 
however the criteria of these do not lend themselves to a future application by 
the Council towards this project.

7.4 Securing the remaining amount needed to deliver all aspects of the 
masterplan from external sources is unlikely therefore Officers have been 
working to deliver elements of the masterplan without Lottery funding whilst 
developing a revised plan focusing around the key aspects which Members 
and previous consultation responses highlighted.

7.5 Construction of a new skate park was completed in December 2018 with the 
support of a group of young people who assisted with the consultation and 
design processes. The Council secured £50,000 from Sport England to install 
floodlights so the facility can be used during the winter. Installation of the 
floodlights was completed in May 2019 and they are fully operational.

7.6 The skate park was constructed using a location different to that detailed in the 
Masterplan as this was deemed to be the most appropriate position by the 
contractors. This means that the areas identified on the original Masterplan for 
the junior and toddler play areas are no longer viable and as such, the 
proposed location for the new play areas reflects this.

7.7 The projects listed below form the basis of the new plan. The existing lay out 
of these facilities is detailed in Appendix A and the proposed site layout for 
these improvements is detailed in Appendix B.

 Relocate and significantly expand the junior and toddler play offering to 
the existing tennis court area (3 courts), to create a destination level 
play facility that will attract people from across the communities of Leek 
and beyond. 

 Relocate the existing Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) to provide a high 
quality, sport and recreation facility in close proximity to the new junior 
play area. 

 Consolidate and refurbish two tennis courts.

Page 259



 Improve access to John Hall Gardens from Brough Park to support and 
better connect the ongoing work with the mental health charity Rethink, 
who lease the site from SMDC.

 Eradicate the invasive pygmy weed which exists in the lake using 
external contractors

 Complete approximately 2400 square meters of footpath resurfacing 
works to ensure they remain fit for purpose.

 Engage external support to develop an improved and long term 
management plan for the lake, taking into consideration the 
circumstances set out in section 9 of this report.

8. Play and Sports Facilities

8.1 Proposals to relocate the children’s play and MUGA to the area currently 
containing 3 tennis courts would result in facilities focused mainly towards 
children and young people being grouped together, giving the space a clear 
identity, making them easier to locate and more practical when supervising 
children.

8.2 This location would allow the new play area to benefit from the current 
hardstanding tarmacadam surface, reducing costs and allowing a greater 
proportion of the budget to be spent on play equipment rather than surfacing. 
Utilising this area would also provide better access, and would enable both 
toddler and junior play provision to be located together.

8.3 It is proposed that the existing tennis court next to the bowling green (number 
4) and the old MUGA court be resurfaced with new fencing installed and tennis 
court line markings applied. These courts would serve the recreational game 
where people could try the sport informally before moving on to tennis clubs 
within the local area.

8.4 The relocation of the play area from its current location   will  assist the Council 
in the future should plans for a new swimming pool be progressed given the 
close proximity and the limited space available for any building expansion.

8.5 The existing play area and tennis courts are maintained by the Councils 
grounds maintenance team who are soon to transfer to AES and Glendale 
respectively, meaning that contract variations would need to be issued once 
the proposed facilities be completed in order to reflect the changes including 
increases to safety inspections, repairs and general maintenance.

8.6 Community engagement exercises will take place in order to help identify the 
type of play equipment and design local people would like to see in the new 
facility

Page 260



9. Lake

9.1 The lake in Brough Park suffers from poor quality inflow rates and retaining the 
overall water level is primarily reliant on a direct feed from a mains water 
supply. This, in part, leads to poor water circulation and as a result, high 
quantities of silt build up.

9.2 Partial removal of silt last occurred in 2010 when approximately 1/3 of the lake 
was cleared by external contractors at a cost £6,000. An estimate from the 
contractor at the time to clear the whole lake was between £45,000 - £55,000. 

9.3 Silt build up remains an issue and is now reaching a point whereby removal 
will be required within the next two years. Before this point is reached, the long 
term management of the lake needs to be reviewed in order to identify 
whether better systems of maintenance could be implemented to improve its 
quality, investigate whether reoccurring costs to desilt the lake can either be 
reduced or avoided or a plan for regular desilting put in place to avoid 
unplanned requests for large amounts of revenue funding.

9.4 It is proposed that we engage external support to deliver a full feasibility study 
which explores these issues in more detail. A further report will be provided 
once this study has been completed with a clear set of recommendations.

9.5 An ecological study of the lake conducted in 2018 identified there is an issue 
with New Zealand pygmy weed, an invasive weed which has a detrimental 
effect on the quality of the lake. It was recommended that this be removed. It 
is estimated this removal will cost in the region of £5,000, this sum is included 
within the scope of the works set out in 3.8.

9.6 In addition to works already identified, reinstatement work to the banks of the 
lake are required in places. It would be sensible to undertake these at the 
same time as other works are undertaken, unless they become unsafe in 
which case they will need to be addressed sooner. An estimated capital 
investment of these works is £10,000.

10. John Hall Gardens

10.1 John Hall Gardens are situated in the North East corner of Brough Park.  They 
are contained within what was once the walled garden associated with the 
former Ball Haye Hall. The Gardens are occupied by The National 
Schizophrenia Fellowship trading as Rethink Mental Illness under a lease.

10.2 The Walled Garden while being well placed within the Park is disconnected 
from it.  The main access is via Fowlchurch Road which is less than ideal with 
users of the Household Waste Recycling Site and the Council’s own street 
sweeping and refuse vehicles crossing the entrance to access the waste 
transfer station at the end of the road.  Equally people accessing the park via 
the path to the western side of the gardens have no footway and have to use 
the road surface in competition with vehicles.

Page 261



10.3 As part of wider conversations with Rethink, both parties have together 
identified an updated set of improvements which would help connect John Hall 
Gardens to Brough Park and improve access and safety features within the 
facility. These improvements are listed below;

 Creating a new entry through the wall at John Hall gardens on the 
southern elevation of the gardens, including gates and access path.

 Create a new path to the northern frontage of the gardens to allow 
pedestrian access without the need to use Fowlchurch Road to reduce 
pedestrian/vehicle interactions.

 Erection of fence or railings to both water features within the gardens 
(pond and well) and should sums permit, other minor works within the 
gardens.

10.4 Part of the Council’s vision for the park is to have some form of catering and/or 
associated retail option available to park users.  John Hall Gardens already 
offer plant sales and some food and drink options, albeit both are limited due 
to the physical presence of the charity itself being limited and due to the basic 
nature of the on-site kitchen. These provisions do provide the underpinning 
facilities, if expanded in terms of availability and accessibility from Brough 
Park, would help meet the Council’s aspirations for the park and its users.

10.5 Discussions are continuing with Rethink in regards to the lease for John Hall 
Gardens. At present rental costs have been forgone on the basis that Rethink 
invest into the building and undertake improvement works to the office and 
kitchen areas. A separate report will be provided to the relevant committee 
reviewing the future plans for the lease. 

11. Footpaths

11.1 Brough Park has a large network of tarmacadam footpaths, which allow users 
to navigate around the site in all weathers. An assessment has been carried 
out to identify the general condition of these footpaths and it has shown that 
sections totalling approximately 2400 square meters are in either poor or very 
poor condition and are in need of resurfacing.

11.2 Given that footpaths are subject to constant wear and tear, it is proposed that 
resurfacing works to sections deemed poor and very poor are undertaken 
within the scope of this project, in order to ensure they remain in a safe and 
useable condition. An approximate budget figure to complete this work is 
included in section 12.1. 

12. Financial Implications

12.1 To deliver the proposals as detailed within this report, additional funds are 
required. The table below sets out the estimated capital and revenue funding 
required to deliver each element of the new plan alongside the proposed 
timescale for delivery. 

Page 262



Project Cost 
estimate 
(capital)

Cost 
estimate 
(revenue)

Timescale

New toddler and junior play area £130,000 By August 2020
Relocate MUGA and Tennis Courts £70,000 By August 2020
John Hall Garden access £50,000 By 31st March 

2021
Lake feasibility study £5,000 By 31st March 

2021
Removal of pygmy weed £5,000 By 31st March 

2021
Reinstatement of lake banks £10,000 By 31st March 

2021
Signage and landscaping £10,000 By 31st March 

2021
Footpath resurfacing works £150,000 By 31st March 

2021
Sub total £420,000 £10,00
Remaining capital sum -£130,000
MHCLG -£15,500
Total funding shortfall £274,500 £10,000

12.2 We propose to deliver each element of the project in a phased approach, 
taking into account available financial and staff resources. All costs provided 
are indicative and may be subject to change following formal tender processes 
being completed.

12.3 In 2019, the Council received a one off capital funding award of £15,460 from 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to 
improve local park infrastructure. It is planned to use this towards delivering 
the proposals above.

12.4 A range of suppliers have been approached in order to gain as much certainty 
as possible as to the potential costs associated to delivering the plan. Should 
the improvement plan gain approval and allocate funds as requested, Officers 
will undertake procurement exercises for each element of works to ensure the 
Council achieves best value.  

12.5 As is detailed in section 9 of this report, a feasibility study is proposed in order 
to provide a future plan to address the ongoing issue of silt build up within the 
lake. It is envisaged that the study will provide a range of options for 
consideration in order to prevent future silt build up. It is though likely that silt 
removal would still be required, costings for which will need to be obtained. A 
further report will be provided detailing the options available to us and the 
associated financial implications. 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet

11 February 2020

TITLE: Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Edwin Wain - Portfolio Holder for 
Planning, Development and Property

CONTACT OFFICER: Mark James – Principal Planning Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: Dane;

Appendices Attached

Appendix 1 - Examiner’s report of the independent examination of the 
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan

Appendix 2 – Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan Submission Version 
(February 2018)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider the findings of the examiner’s report of the independent 
examination of the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan and to 
determine if the plan has met the “basic conditions” required for the plan to 
proceed to referendum. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet;  

a) accepts the Examiner’s modifications in respect of the Leekfrith 
Neighbourhood Plan and notes that the basic conditions as required by 
Paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 have been met.

b) Approves the Examiner’s recommendation that the Leekfrith 
Neighbourhood Plan, as modified by recommendation a), be submitted to a 
referendum in the Parish of Leekfrith on 7th May 2020.

Page 269

Agenda Item 12.1



3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Neighbourhood Plan Area was designated in March 2015. The Draft Plan 
was consulted on between 31 January - 21 March 2018. The Independent 
Examination of the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan commenced on 27th 
November 2019. 

3.2 The Plan sets out planning policies for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area 
concerning: the redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill, full-time rental of holiday 
accommodation and the requirement for a transport statement to support 
development.

3.3 The Examiner's report was received by the Council on 23rd December 2019. It 
finds that subject to specified modifications the Neighbourhood Plan meets the 
basic conditions and other requirements. It is recommended by the Examiner 
that the plan should proceed to a local referendum based on the plan area. 
Having reviewed the report and evidence, it is recommended that the Council 
concurs with the Examiner’s advice and that provisions are put in place for the 
plan to be subject to referendum in the Parish on 7th May 2020. 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan will have implications for the following aims 
of the Corporate Plan (2019-2023). Aim 1 - To help create a safer and 
healthier environment for our communities to live and work, Aim 3 - To help 
create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and 
villages and Aim 4 - To protect and improve the environment and respond to 
the climate emergency.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 Option 1 (recommended) – that the Council agrees with the recommendations 
set out in Section 2 of this report. This option is recommended as the 
Neighbourhood Plan (as modified) is considered to meet the necessary 
requirements in order to proceed to referendum. This will enable the 
community to determine whether the Neighbourhood Plan should be used to 
determine relevant planning applications in the Parish. 

5.2 Option 2 (not recommended) – that the Council does not concur with the 
recommendations set out in Section 2 of this report or the Examiner’s report. 
This is not recommended as the Neighbourhood Plan (as modified) is 
considered to have met the relevant requirements to proceed to the 
referendum stage. If the Council were to pursue this option and not follow the 
advice of the Examiner, it must notify the Parish Council, previous consultation 
bodies and parties which had submitted representations to the Examiner to 
invite further representations. 

Page 270



6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

None direct.

6.2 Workforce

Staff time and resource will be required from the Election Services 
team to prepare for the referendum. 

6.3 Equality Impact Assessment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s 
equalities procedures. 

6.4 Financial Considerations

Local Planning Authorities can claim £20,000 once they have set a 
date for a referendum following a successful examination where a 
neighbourhood plan has not previously been made for that area. 
As the neighbourhood area is split between the Staffordshire 
Moorlands and Peak District National Park plan areas, this grant 
will be shared. The National park Authority led on the examination 
and will be reimbursed for the full cost of this.  The District Council 
will be reimbursed for the full cost of the Referendum.  Any of the 
£20,000 grant remaining will be divided equally.

6.5 Legal

The Neighbourhood Plan as proposed to be amended, is 
considered to meet the basic conditions which were set out in law 
following the Localism Act 2011.  Only a draft neighbourhood Plan 
that meets each of a set of basic conditions can be put to a 
referendum and be made. The basic conditions are set out in 
paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

Should Cabinet decide to accept the recommendations in this 
report; a Decision Statement will be prepared and published on the 
Council’s website in accordance with the Regulations and 
preparations for a referendum in accordance with the 
Neighbourhood Planning Referendum  Regulations 2012.       

Page 271



6.6 Climate Change

The Basic Conditions Statement which accompanied the 
submission of the Neighbourhood Plan to the Council confirms that 
any development of the Upper Hulme site must conform to policies 
on climate change and carbon usage as set out by the Peak 
District National Park Authority. Applications for development 
outside of the Peak District National Park will need to comply with 
relevant policies in the Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy or 
successor document.

6.7 Consultation

The Neighbourhood Plan was subject to formal consultation in 
accordance with Regulation 14 and 16. 

6.8 Risk Assessment

The risks are considered in section 7.

Simon Baker
Chief Executive

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/3460/Leekfrit
h-Neighbourhood-Plan

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--
2#key-stages-in-neighbourhood-planning

Mark James
Principal Planning Officer 
mark.james@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

7. Detail

Background and process

7.1 Leekfrith Parish was designated as a Neighbourhood Area by the District 
Council and the Peak District National Park Authority on 24th March and 13th 
March 2015 respectively. Both authorities are required to approve the 
designation of the area and fulfil statutory duties as local planning authorities 
in the process as the Parish boundary spans the boundary of the National 
Park.  The designation of the area was a key stage in the statutory process of 
preparing the Neighbourhood Plan. 

7.2 Subject to the examination of the plan and referendum, the plan will form part 
of the statutory development plan for the District and will be used to determine 
planning applications alongside other adopted documents. At present, the 
adopted Core Strategy, Minerals Local Plan for Staffordshire (2015-2030) 
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Waste Local Plan (2010 to 2026) form the 
development plan for Staffordshire Moorlands outside of the National Park. 

6.4

Page 272

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/3460/Leekfrith-Neighbourhood-Plan
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/3460/Leekfrith-Neighbourhood-Plan
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#key-stages-in-neighbourhood-planning
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#key-stages-in-neighbourhood-planning


Upon the adoption of the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan, this 
will supersede the Core Strategy to form part of the statutory development 
plan. 

7.3 The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by the Parish Council 
under powers introduced in the 2011 Localism Act. This enables Town and 
Parish Councils or “neighbourhood forums” in areas without such authorities to 
establish planning policies for their area provided that the plan meets the basic 
conditions and is supported by the majority of votes at a referendum. The 
District Council and Peak District National Park Authority have supported the 
Parish Council through this process. 

7.4 The Neighbourhood Plan was informed by consultation undertaken by the 
Parish Council with the local community and stakeholders. This included the 
statutory “regulation 14”1 consultation between 31 January - 21 March 2018. A 
summary of the comments submitted to the Parish Council is provided in the 
“Consultation Statement” which is available on the neighbourhood plan 
website (link above). The District Council’s response was supportive of the 
plan. 

7.5 Subsequently, the plan and supporting documents were submitted to the 
District Council and Peak District National Park Authority under Regulation 
15(1) of the Town and Country Planning Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended). A report to the District Council’s Cabinet on 
18th June 2019 considered the plan and other submission documents, 
comprising the Consultation Statement, the Basic Conditions Statement; 
Screening Opinions regarding the need for Strategic Environmental 
Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment and a determination 
statement. The Cabinet agreed that:

 The draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan was to be published for public 
consultation for a minimum of six weeks;

 The Head of Regeneration is authorised to appoint an independent 
examiner in consultation with the Portfolio holder, the Peak District National 
Park Authority and Leekfrith Parish Council; and 

 Following public consultation, the draft Plan and representations received 
are submitted for independent examination.

7.6 Following consideration by the National Park Authority, the plan was then 
formally published for comments by the two local planning authorities for a 
period of six weeks closing on 23rd September. The Plan that was published at 
this stage set out planning policies for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area 
concerning: the redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill , full-time rental of holiday 
accommodation, the requirement for a transport statement and parking at the 
Roaches.

7.7 Responses were received from Highways England, Historic England, the 
Environment Agency and the Coal Authority. The Environment Agency 

1 Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012

Page 273



requested an addition to Policy 1 regarding the development of Upper Hulme 
Mill to require contamination and ground condition surveys to be undertaken. 
No further amendments were requested in the other responses.  

7.8 In agreement with the National Park Authority and Parish Council, Christopher 
Edward Collison BA (Hons) MBA MRTPI MIED MCMI IHBC, was appointed as 
the independent examiner. The Examination in Public commenced on 27th 
September 2019 by written representations and the Examiner’s report was 
submitted to the Council on 23rd December 2019. 

Examiner’s report

7.9 The Examiner’s role is to consider whether the Neighbourhood Plan meets the 
legislative and procedural requirements. This includes determining whether 
the plan meets the “basic conditions”. Only when a Neighbourhood Plan is 
considered to have met the basic conditions can it be put to referendum and 
be made. The basic conditions are set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans 
by section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The basic 
conditions are:

 having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the order (or 
neighbourhood plan). 

 the making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the achievement of 
sustainable development. 

 the making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with the 
strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the 
authority (or any part of that area). 

 the making of the neighbourhood plan does not breach, and is 
otherwise compatible with, EU obligations. 

 the making of the neighbourhood development plan does not breach 
the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 20172

7.10 In addition to the basic conditions, the Examiner’s report also considers:

 whether a neighbourhood plan is compatible with the Convention 
Rights3

 whether the Neighbourhood Plan complies with the provisions made by 

2 This Basic Condition arises from the coming into force, on 28 December 2018, of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species and Planning (Various Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018 
whereby the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 are amended. This basic condition replaced a 
basic condition “the making of the neighbourhood plan is not likely to have a significant effect on a 
European site or a European offshore marine site, either alone or in combination with other plans or 
projects”.
3 The Convention Rights has the same meaning as in the Human Rights Act 1998

Page 274



or under sections 38A and 38B of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

7.11 The Examiner’s report must recommend either:

 that the Neighbourhood Plan is submitted to a referendum, or

 that modifications are made and that the modified Neighbourhood 
Plan is submitted to a referendum, or

 that the Neighbourhood Plan does not proceed to a referendum on 
the basis it does not meet the necessary legal requirements.

7.12 Whilst the Examiner’s report must address the issues above, it is the 
responsibility of the local planning authority to ensure that all the regulations 
appropriate to the nature and scope of a draft neighbourhood plan submitted 
to it have been met in order for the draft neighbourhood plan to progress. 

7.13 A summary of the Examiner’s key findings is provided below alongside a 
recommended response from the District Council. The Examiner’s full report is 
available at Appendix 1.

Requirement Examiner’s 
recommendations

District Council’s response

Consideration of Convention 
Rights; and whether the 
making of the 
Neighbourhood Plan does 
not breach, and is otherwise 
compatible with, EU 
obligations; and the making 
of the neighbourhood 
development plan does not 
breach the requirements of 
Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the 
Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017

The Neighbourhood Plan is 
compatible with the 
Convention Rights, and does 
not breach, and is otherwise 
compatible with, EU 
obligations. I also conclude 
the making of the 
Neighbourhood Plan does not 
breach the requirements of 
Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the 
Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017.

SMDC accepts the 
Examiner’s 
recommendations. 

Consideration whether 
having regard to national 
policies and advice 
contained in guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State, it 
is appropriate to make the 
Neighbourhood Plan; and 
whether the making of the 
Neighbourhood Plan 
contributes to the 
achievement of sustainable 
development

Subject to my recommended 
modifications of the 
Submission Plan, I find it is 
appropriate that the 
Neighbourhood Plan should 
be made having regard to 
national policies and advice 
contained in guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State. I 
have also found the 
Neighbourhood Plan 
contributes to the 
achievement of sustainable 
development.

SMDC accepts the 
Examiner’s 
recommendations.

Consideration whether the 
making of the 
Neighbourhood Plan is in 
general conformity with the 

Subject to the modifications I 
have recommended I have 
concluded the Neighbourhood 
Plan is in general conformity 

SMDC accepts the 
Examiner’s 
recommendations.

Page 275



Requirement Examiner’s 
recommendations

District Council’s response

strategic policies contained 
in the development plan for 
the area of the authority (or 
any part of that area)

with the strategic policies 
contained in the Development 
Plan.

The Neighbourhood Plan is 
not tested against the 
emerging Staffordshire 
Moorlands Local Plan which 
is currently subject to 
examination. However, the 
reasoning and evidence that 
has supported the emerging 
Local Plan can be of 
relevance when determining 
if the basic conditions have 
been met.  The Examiner has 
reviewed the emerging Local 
Plan and has not identified 
any concerns. 

Whether the referendum 
area should extend beyond 
the Neighbourhood Plan 
area and if to be extended, 
the nature of that extension.

I have seen nothing to 
suggest that the policies of 
the Plan will have “a 
substantial, direct and 
demonstrable impact beyond 
the neighbourhood area”. I 
have seen nothing to suggest 
the referendum area should 
be extended for any other 
reason. I conclude the 
referendum area should not 
be extended beyond the 
designated Neighbourhood 
Area.

SMDC accepts the 
Examiner’s 
recommendations.

7.14 As highlighted in the table above, the Examiner has recommended 
modifications to the Neighbourhood Plan in order to meet the basic conditions. 
They are:

Recommended modification Reason
Recommended Modification 1:

 in the Neighbourhood Plan Contents 
Page refer to the Policies using 
numbers, and replace “Development” 
with “Redevelopment”

 add the Policy titles to the text boxes 
for Policies 2,3, and 4

So that the Neighbourhood Plan “is clearly 
written and unambiguous, so it is evident 
how a decision maker should react to 
development proposals” as required by 
paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

Recommended modification 2:

In Policy 1 (Redevelopment of Upper Hulme 
Mill)

 in Part A (i) replace “associated 
parking and garaging” with “sufficient 
vehicle parking facilities to ensure no 

To address a representation from the 
Environment Agency and to ensure sufficient 
regard to national policy.

To ensure that the policy is clearly written 
and unambiguous, so it is evident how a 
decision maker should react to development 
proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of 
the Framework.

Page 276



additional on-road parking results”

 in Part A (ii) replace “may be suitable” 
with “will be supported”

 continue Part A (iii) with “subject to 
proposed uses being compatible with 
nearby uses”

 delete Part B and transfer the text to 
Section 7.1 of the supporting text

 insert replacement Part B “All 
development proposals must include 
a detailed site-specific flood risk 
assessment and demonstrate the 
suitability of the proposals taking into 
account any mitigation measures.”

 in Part C replace the text before 
“parking on” with “All development 
proposals must include sufficient 
vehicle parking provision to ensure no 
additional”; and replace “is completely 
discouraged “with “results”

 add as Part E “All development 
proposals must include results of a 
contamination survey and 
demonstrate necessary mitigation 
appropriate to the use proposed.”

In the interests of achieving acceptable living 
standards and recognises the importance of 
securing well-designed, attractive and 
healthy places as set out in paragraph 122 of 
the Framework.

Recommended modification 3:

In Policy 2 (Full time rental of holiday 
cottages)

 present points ii and iii as alternative 
circumstances and then present 
points i, iv and v to apply in every 
case

 replace “permitted” with “supported”

 replace “permission will be granted” 
with “proposals will be supported”

So that the policy “is clearly written and 
unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision 
maker should react to development 
proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of 
the Framework.

Recommended modification 4:

In Policy 3 (Parking on the narrow roads 
throughout the Parish)

Replace the final sentence with “To be 
supported development proposals must 
demonstrate that they will not result in 
additional on-road vehicle parking.”

So that the policy “is clearly written and 
unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision 
maker should react to development 
proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of 
the Framework.

Recommended modification 5:

Policy 4 (Parking at the Roaches)

The development to which the policy relates 
is permitted development not requiring a 
grant of planning permission.

Page 277



Delete policy and transfer the policy text and 
supporting text to become a non-policy 
community aspiration in a new Part 8 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan
Recommended modification 6:

Modify general text to achieve consistency 
with the modified policies, and to correct 
identified errors including those arising from 
updates.

Consequential modifications to the general 
text in so far as it is necessary to correct an 
error or where it is necessary so that the 
Neighbourhood Plan “is clearly written and 
unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision 
maker should react to development 
proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of 
the Framework.

7.15 The Examiner’s report concludes by stating that; “I recommend to the Peak 
District National Park Authority and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
that the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan for the plan period up to 
2033 should, subject to the modifications I have put forward, be submitted to 
referendum.”

Next steps

7.16 Given the above, it is recommended that the District Council agrees to send 
the Neighbourhood Plan (as modified) to referendum. As the Peak District 
National Park Authority is also the local planning authority for parts of this 
Parish, the National Park Authority will need to reach its own conclusions on 
this. If both authorities agree, then the Neighbourhood Plan will proceed to 
referendum. 

7.17 Should the Council agree to the recommendations of this report, it will need to 
issue a decision statement which sets out the decision taken by the District 
Council that the plan should proceed to referendum. 

7.18 The District Council is responsible for making the necessary arrangements for 
the referendum to be held. A notice of the referendum will need to be issued. 
In line with the Neighbourhood Planning (referendums) Regulations 2012, 
Schedule 1, the following question will be asked:

“Do you want Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and the Peak District 
National Park Authority to use the neighbourhood plan for Leekfrith to help it 
decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?”

7.19 In the interests of making efficient use of resources, it is proposed that the 
referendum is held 7th May 2020. This is the date of the already scheduled 
election for the Police and Crime Commissioner but just beyond the timeframe 
envisaged in the regulations. If the Council wish to take the plan to referendum 
within timescales that differ from those set out in the regulations, agreement 
with the Parish Council is required. This consent has been sought and 
granted. 

7.20 A neighbourhood plan attains the same legal status as a Local Plan (and other 
documents that form part of the statutory development plan) once it has been 
approved at a referendum. At this point it comes into force as part of the 
statutory development plan. Applications for planning permission must be 

Page 278



determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise (see section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

7.21 If a majority of votes is in favour of the Neighbourhood Plan, the plan comes 
into force as part of the statutory Development Plan for the District. The 
Council must ensure that the plan is “made” within eight weeks of the 
referendum for the plan to take effect. An exception to this time limit is when 
the decision made by the Council to proceed to referendum is submit to legal 
challenge. The risk of challenge is considered to be low as the plan has been 
subject to scrutiny by Council officers to help ensure that it fulfils the statutory 
requirements. 

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

 

Leekfrith Parish Council 

 

 

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood 

Development Plan  

  

A report to the Peak District National Park Authority and 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council of the Independent 

Examination of the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan  

 

Independent Examiner Christopher Edward Collison 

 

 

 

 

Christopher Edward Collison 

BA (Hons) MBA MRTPI MIED MCMI IHBC  

Planning and Management Ltd  

collisonchris@aol.com 

 

23 December 2019 

 

 

Page 281

mailto:collisonchris@aol.com


 
 

2 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Contents                                                                               Page                           

                

                Overall Finding  

Neighbourhood Planning 

Independent Examination 

Basic Conditions and other Statutory Requirements 

Documents 

Consultation 

The Neighbourhood Plan taken as a whole 

The Neighbourhood Plan Policies 

Policy 1 Redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill 

Policy 2 Full time rental of holiday cottages 

Policy 3 Parking on the narrow roads throughout the Parish 

Policy 4 Parking at the Roaches 

Summary and Referendum 

                Annex: Minor corrections to the Neighbourhood Plan 

     

    3 

    4 

    4 

    7 

    9 

   11 

   14 

   25 

   32 

   35 

   36 

   37 

  38 
 

  40 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 282



 
 

3 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Overall Finding 

This is the report of the Independent Examination of the Leekfrith Parish 

Neighbourhood Development Plan. The plan area comprises the entire 

administrative area of Leekfrith Parish Council within the administrative 

area of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, with statutory planning 

functions geographically split between the Peak District National Park 

Authority and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. The plan period 

runs to 2033. The Neighbourhood Plan includes policies relating to the 

development and use of land.  

This report finds that subject to specified modifications the Neighbourhood 

Plan meets the basic conditions and other requirements. It is 

recommended the plan should proceed to a local referendum based on the 

plan area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 283



 
 

4 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Neighbourhood Planning 

1. The Localism Act 2011 empowers local communities to take 

responsibility for the preparation of elements of planning policy for their 

area through a neighbourhood development plan. The National 

Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) states that 

“neighbourhood planning gives communities the power to develop a 

shared vision for their area”1 

2. Following satisfactory completion of the necessary preparation process 

neighbourhood development plans have statutory weight. Decision-

makers are obliged to make decisions on planning applications for the 

area that are in line with the neighbourhood development plan, unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. 

3. The Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan (the 

Neighbourhood Plan) has been prepared by Leekfrith Parish Council 

(the Parish Council). The draft plan has been submitted by the Parish 

Council, a qualifying body able to prepare a neighbourhood plan, in 

respect of the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area which was formally 

designated by the Peak District National Park Authority (the National 

Park Authority) on 13 March 2015 and by Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council (the District Council) on 24 March 2015. The plan 

preparation process has provided opportunity for stakeholders and 

interested parties to influence the nature and content of the plan.  

4. The submission draft of the Neighbourhood Plan, along with the 

Consultation Statement and the Basic Conditions Statement, has been 

approved by the Parish Council for submission of the plan and 

accompanying documents to the National Park Authority and the 

District Council. The National Park Authority and the District Council 

arranged a period of publication between 2 August 2019 and 23 

September 2019 and subsequently submitted the Neighbourhood Plan 

to me for independent examination. 

 

                 Independent Examination 

5. This report sets out the findings of the independent examination of the 

Neighbourhood Plan.2 The report makes recommendations to the 

National Park Authority and the District Council including a 

 
1 Paragraph 29 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)  
2 Paragraph 10 Schedule 4B Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Page 284



 
 

5 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

recommendation as to whether or not the Neighbourhood Plan should 

proceed to a local referendum. The National Park Authority and the 

District Council will decide what action to take in response to the 

recommendations in this report. 

6. The National Park Authority and the District Council will decide whether 

the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to referendum, and if so 

whether the referendum area should be extended, and what 

modifications, if any, should be made to the submission version plan. 

Once a neighbourhood plan has been independently examined, and 

the decision taken to put the plan to a referendum, it must be taken 

into account when determining a planning application, in so far as the 

policies in the plan are material to the application3.  

7. Should the Neighbourhood Plan proceed to local referendum and 

achieve more than half of votes cast in favour, then the 

Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the Development Plan and be 

given full weight in the determination of planning applications and 

decisions on planning appeals in the plan area4 unless the National 

Park Authority and the District Council subsequently decide the 

Neighbourhood Plan should not be ‘made’. The Housing and Planning 

Act 2016 requires any conflict with a neighbourhood plan to be set out 

in the committee report, that will inform any planning committee 

decision, where that report recommends granting planning permission 

for development that conflicts with a made neighbourhood plan5. The 

Framework is very clear that where a planning application conflicts 

with an up to date neighbourhood plan that forms part of the 

Development Plan, permission should not usually be granted6. 

8. I have been appointed by the National Park Authority and the District 

Council with the consent of the Parish Council, to undertake the 

examination of the Neighbourhood Plan and prepare this report of the 

independent examination. I am independent of the Parish Council and 

the National Park Authority and the District Council. I do not have any 

interest in any land that may be affected by the Neighbourhood Plan 

and I hold appropriate qualifications and have appropriate experience. 

I am an experienced Independent Examiner of neighbourhood plans. I 

am a Member of the Royal Town Planning Institute; a Member of the 

Institute of Economic Development; a Member of the Chartered 

Management Institute; and a Member of the Institute of Historic 

 
3 Paragraph 48 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 explains full weight is not given at this stage 
4 Section 3 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 
5 Section 156 Housing and Planning Act 2016 
6 Paragraph 12 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Page 285



 
 

6 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Building Conservation. I have forty years professional planning 

experience and have held national positions and local authority Chief 

Planning Officer posts. 

9. As independent examiner, I am required to produce this report and 

must recommend either: 

• that the Neighbourhood Plan is submitted to a referendum, or 

• that modifications are made and that the modified Neighbourhood 

Plan is submitted to a referendum, or 

• that the Neighbourhood Plan does not proceed to a referendum on 

the basis it does not meet the necessary legal requirements. 

10. I make my recommendation in this respect and in respect to any 

extension to the referendum area,7 in the concluding section of this 

report. It is a requirement that my report must give reasons for each of 

its recommendations and contain a summary of its main findings.8 

11. The general rule is that examination of the issues is undertaken by the 

examiner through consideration of written representations.9 The 

Planning Practice Guidance (the Guidance) states “it is expected that 

the examination of a draft Neighbourhood Plan will not include a public 

hearing.” 

12. The examiner has the ability to call a hearing for the purpose of 

receiving oral representations about a particular issue in any case 

where the examiner considers that the consideration of oral 

representations is necessary to ensure adequate examination of the 

issue, or a person has a fair chance to put a case. All parties have had 

opportunity to state their case.  As I did not consider a hearing 

necessary, I proceeded on the basis of written representations and an 

unaccompanied visit to the Neighbourhood Plan area. My visit to the 

Plan area included the Tittesworth Water area; the small village of 

Meerbrook; Upper Hulme hamlet; Hen Cloud; and a walk along The 

Roaches to Roach End and then to the Lud’s Church geological 

feature. 

 

 

 
7  Paragraph 8(1)(d) Schedule 4B Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
8  Paragraph 10(6) Schedule 4B Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
9  Paragraph 9(1) Schedule 4B Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Page 286



 
 

7 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

                 Basic Conditions and other Statutory Requirements 

13. An independent examiner must consider whether a neighbourhood 

plan meets the “Basic Conditions”.10 A neighbourhood plan meets the 

Basic Conditions if: 

• having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance 

issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the plan; 

• the making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the 

achievement of sustainable development; 

• the making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with 

the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area 

of the authority (or any part of that area); 

• the making of the neighbourhood plan does not breach, and is 

otherwise compatible with, EU obligations; and 

• the making of the neighbourhood development plan does not 

breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.11 

14. An independent examiner must also consider whether a 

neighbourhood plan is compatible with the Convention Rights.12 All of 

these matters are considered in the later sections of this report titled 

‘The Neighbourhood Plan taken as a whole’ and ‘The Neighbourhood 

Plan Policies’.  

15. In addition to the Basic Conditions and Convention Rights, I am also 

required to consider whether the Neighbourhood Plan complies with 

the provisions made by or under sections 38A and 38B of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.13 I am satisfied the 

Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of those sections, in particular in respect to the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (the 

 
10  Paragraph 8(2) Schedule 4B Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
11  This Basic Condition arises from the coming into force, on 28 December 2018, of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species and Planning (Various Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018 whereby the 
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 are amended. This basic condition replaced a basic condition “the 
making of the neighbourhood plan is not likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European 
offshore marine site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects”. 
12  The Convention Rights has the same meaning as in the Human Rights Act 1998 
13  In sections 38A and 38B themselves; in Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (introduced by section 38A (3)); and in 
the 2012 Regulations (made under sections 38A (7) and 38B (4)). 

Page 287



 
 

8 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Regulations) which are made pursuant to the powers given in those 

sections.  

16. The Neighbourhood Plan relates to the area that was formally 

designated by the National Park Authority on 13 March 2015 and by 

the District Council on 24 March 2015. A map of the Neighbourhood 

Plan area is included as Figure 1 of the Submission Version Plan. The 

Neighbourhood Plan designated area is coterminous with the Leekfrith 

Parish Council boundary. The Neighbourhood Plan does not relate to 

more than one neighbourhood area,14 and no other neighbourhood 

development plan has been made for the neighbourhood area.15 All 

requirements relating to the plan area have been met.  

 

17.  I am also required to check whether the Neighbourhood Plan sets out 

policies for the development and use of land in the whole or part of a 

designated neighbourhood area;16 and the Neighbourhood Plan does 

not include provision about excluded development.17 I am able to 

confirm that I am satisfied that each of these requirements has been 

met. 

18. A neighbourhood plan must also meet the requirement to specify the 

period to which it has effect.18 The front cover of the Submission 

Version Plan clearly states the Plan period is 2019- 2033. 

19. The role of an independent examiner of a neighbourhood plan is 

defined. I am not examining the test of soundness provided for in 

respect of examination of Local Plans.19 It is not within my role to 

examine or produce an alternative plan, or a potentially more 

sustainable plan, except where this arises as a result of my 

recommended modifications so that the Neighbourhood Plan meets 

the Basic Conditions and other requirements that I have identified.  I 

have been appointed to examine whether the submitted 

Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions and Convention 

Rights, and the other statutory requirements. 

 
14  Section 38B (1)(c) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
15  Section 38B (2) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
16  Section 38A (2) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004  
17  Principally minerals, waste disposal, development automatically requiring Environmental Impact 
Assessment and nationally significant infrastructure projects - Section 38B(1)(b) Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 
18  Section 38B (1)(a) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
19  Under section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and in respect of which guidance is 
given in paragraph 35 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Page 288



 
 

9 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

20. A neighbourhood plan can be narrow or broad in scope. There is no 

requirement for a neighbourhood plan to be holistic, or to include 

policies dealing with particular land uses or development types, and 

there is no requirement for a neighbourhood plan to be formulated as, 

or perform the role of, a comprehensive local plan. The nature of 

neighbourhood plans varies according to local requirements. 

21. Neighbourhood plans are developed by local people in the localities 

they understand and as a result each plan will have its own character. 

It is not within my role to re-interpret, restructure, or re-write a plan to 

conform to a standard approach or terminology. Indeed, it is important 

that neighbourhood plans reflect thinking and aspiration within the 

local community. They should be a local product and have particular 

meaning and significance to people living and working in the area.  

22. Apart from minor corrections and consequential adjustment of text 

(referred to in the Annex to this report) I have only recommended 

modifications to the Neighbourhood Plan (presented in bold type) 

where I consider they need to be made so that the plan meets the 

Basic Conditions and the other requirements I have identified.20 

 

Documents 

23. I have considered each of the following documents in so far as they 

have assisted me in determining whether the Neighbourhood Plan 

meets the Basic Conditions and other requirements: 

• Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2019 – 2033 Submission Version 
February 2018 

• Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan 2019 - 2033 Consultation Statement 
including Appendices 1 -5 [In this report referred to as the Consultation 
Statement] 

• Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan 2019 – 2033 Basic Conditions 
Statement February 2019 [In this report referred to as the Basic 
Conditions Statement]  

• Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan SEA Statement of Reasons June 2019 
Peak District National Park Authority 

• Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Screening Report June 2018 

• Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report January 2019 

 
20  See 10(1) and 10(3) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Page 289



 
 

10 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

• Information available on the Peak District National Park Authority, 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, and Leekfrith Parish Council 
websites 

• Representations received during the Regulation 16 publicity period 

• Correspondence between the Independent Examiner and the Local 
Planning Authorities and Parish Council, including the initial letter of the 
Independent Examiner dated 27 November 2019, and correspondence 
relating to clarification of various matters raised by the Examiner.  

• Peak District National Park Core Strategy (adopted October 2011) 

• Peak District National Park Development Management Policies (DMP) 
document (adopted May 2019)  

• Peak District National Park Policies Map  

• Staffordshire Moorlands Adopted Core Strategy 2014 

• Town and village development boundaries and other boundaries 
including the Green Belt from the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 
(1998) which remain in force 

• The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 2016 – 2031 

• National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) [In this report 
referred to as the Framework] 

• Permitted development rights for householders’ technical guidance 
MHCLG (10 September 2019) [In this report referred to as the 
Permitted Development Guidance] 

• Planning Practice Guidance web-based resource MHCLG (first fully 
launched 6 March 2014 and subsequently updated - most recently on 1 
November 2019) [In this report referred to as the Guidance] 

• The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) 

• The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(Amendment and Consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2014 

• The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(Amendment and Consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2015 

• The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

• The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

• The Localism Act 2011 

• The Housing and Planning Act 2016 

• The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 and Commencement 
Regulations 19 July 2017, 22 September 2017, and 15 January 2019 

• The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) [In this report referred to as the Regulations. References to 
Regulation 14, Regulation 16 etc in this report refer to these 
Regulations]. 

• The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 
2015 

• The Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development 
Management Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016. 

• The Conservation of Habitats and Species and Planning (Various 
Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018. 

Page 290



 
 

11 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

 

Consultation 

24. The submitted Neighbourhood Plan is accompanied by a Consultation 

Statement which outlines the process undertaken in the preparation of 

the plan. In addition to detailing who was consulted and by what 

methods, it also provides a summary of comments received from local 

community members, and other consultees, and how these have been 

addressed in the submission plan. I highlight here a number of key 

stages of consultation undertaken in order to illustrate the approach 

adopted. 

 

25. The Neighbourhood Plan preparation project was initially managed by 

one person, and later two people, overseen by the Parish Council 

which performed the role of a decision-making Steering Group. Plan 

preparation commenced in 2014 with the Parish Council preparing a 

Vision Statement. The Village Hall Committee and the Village Green 

Committee, a total of 20 parishioners, were consulted and wider 

consultation was achieved through a dedicated Meerbrook and Upper 

Hulme Facebook page.   In May 2015 a meeting was held with four 

individual owners of Upper Hulme Mill, which was followed by other 

meetings regarding the Mill complex. The Facebook page and a Parish 

Council website established in December 2015 have been utilised 

throughout the plan preparation process. Other publicity has been 

achieved through the Meerbrook Chronicle; Parish and Church notice 

boards; flyers in the pub; and Parish meetings. 

 

26. A parish wide residents survey delivered to all 160 households, with 40 

responses, was undertaken in May/July 2016. A drop-in event, which 

14 parishioners attended, was held in the village hall in October 2016, 

and a stall was staffed at the Meerbrook Xmas Fair in November 2016.  

 

27. In accordance with Regulation 14 the Parish Council consulted on the 

pre-submission version of the draft Neighbourhood Plan between 31 

January 2018 and 22 March 2018.  This consultation included use of 

the Meerbrook Community Facebook page; email notifications to 

organisations and to parishioners that had participated in the earlier 

survey; deposit of the Plan document in the Village Hall, District 

Council offices, and Leek Library; and an article in the Leek Post and 

Times. The representations arising from the 11 responses to the 

consultation are summarised in Part 4 of the Consultation Statement 

where responses and changes made to the Neighbourhood Plan, are 

set out.  Suggestions have, where considered appropriate, been 

Page 291



 
 

12 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

reflected in a number of changes to the Plan that was approved by the 

Parish Council, for submission to the National Park Authority and the 

District Council.  

 

28. The Submission Version of the Neighbourhood Plan has been the 

subject of a Regulation 16 period of publication between 2 August 

2019 and 23 September 2019.  A total of 5 representations were 

submitted during the period of publication. I have been provided with 

copies of each of these representations. In preparing this report I have 

taken into consideration all of the representations submitted during the 

Regulation 16 period even though they may not be referred to in 

whole, or in part. Where representations suggest additional matters 

that could be included in the Neighbourhood Plan that is only a matter 

for my consideration where such additions are necessary for the 

Neighbourhood Plan to meet the Basic Conditions or other 

requirements that I have identified. Where representations relate to 

specific policies, I refer to these later in my report when considering 

the policy in question.  
 

29. The Coal Authority state “As you will be aware the Neighbourhood 

Plan area lies within the current defined coalfield. According to the 

Coal Authority Development High Risk Area Plans, there are recorded 

risks from past coal mining activity in the area including; mine entries 

and likely historic unrecorded underground coal workings at shallow 

depth. However, the only area identified for development within the 

plan is not within the area where our records indicate that coal mining 

legacy features at shallow depth are present.  On this basis we have 

no specific comments to make on the Neighbourhood Plan as 

proposed.”    

 

30. The Environment Agency state “The only development proposal found 

within the neighbourhood plan is the proposed redevelopment of the 

Upper Hulme Mill. The site is situated in flood zone 1 so therefore the 

Environment Agency has no comments to make from a fluvial flood 

risk perspective. The redevelopment of the Upper Hulme Mill proposes 

to demolish certain sections of the site. It is unclear from the 

neighbourhood plan whether the previous use of the site would have 

been contaminative or not and the neighbourhood plan group must 

consider whether the development would require contamination and 

ground condition surveys to be undertaken, and therefore the 

requirement added to Policy 1, to ensure development could be 

brought forward where remediation is required. The Upper Hulme Mill 

sits over an ordinary watercourse and we would recommend that the 

Page 292



 
 

13 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

neighbourhood plan group contact the Lead Local Flood Authority 

(LLFA) to see if they have any comments to make on this proposed 

redevelopment.” I refer to these matters, including the comments of 

the LLFA, when considering Policy 1 later in my report.  

 

31. Historic England “has no adverse comments to make upon the plan 

which we feel takes a suitably proportionate approach to the main 

historic environment issues pertaining to Leekfrith. We are pleased 

that our suggestions at the Regulation 14 stage have been 

accommodated in this iteration of the Plan and can confirm that our 

other Regulation 14 comments remain entirely relevant. That is: ‘We 

commend the identification of the Upper Hulme Mill site in Policy 1 as 

a site for future development. Historic England strongly supports the 

retention and sympathetic conversion of the historic buildings at the 

mill site’.” Highways England state the Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely 

to have implications for the continued safe operation and functionality 

of the Strategic Road Network and state support for the sustainable 

development principles contained within the Plan. These 

representations do not necessitate any modification of the 

Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

32. Natural England offer general advice but do not have any specific 

comments on the Neighbourhood Plan. They have not checked the 

agricultural land classification of the proposed allocations but advise 

that any allocations on best and most versatile land are justified in line 

with paragraph 112 of the March 2012 version of the Framework. I 

refer to this matter when considering Policy 4 later in my report.  

 

33.  I provided the Parish Council with an opportunity to comment on the 

Regulation 16 representations of other parties. Whilst I placed no 

obligation on the Parish Council to offer any comments, such an 

opportunity can prove helpful where representations of other parties 

include matters that have not been raised earlier in the plan 

preparation process. The Parish Council did not submit any comments 

in this respect. I advised the National Park Authority and the District 

Council that the Regulation 16 representations should be published. 

 

34. The Regulations state that where a qualifying body submits a plan 

proposal to the local planning authority it must include amongst other 

items a consultation statement. The Regulations state a Consultation 

Statement means a document which: 

a) contains details of the persons and bodies who were consulted 

about the proposed neighbourhood development plan; 

Page 293



 
 

14 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

b) explains how they were consulted; 

c) summarises the main issues and concerns raised by the persons 

consulted; and  

d) describes how these issues and concerns have been considered 

and, where relevant, addressed in the proposed neighbourhood 

development plan.21 

 

35. The Consultation Statement includes information in respect of each of 

the requirements set out in the Regulations. I am satisfied the 

requirements have been met. It is evident the Neighbourhood Plan 

Steering Group has taken great care to ensure stakeholders have had 

full opportunity to influence the general nature, and specific policies, of 

the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan taken as a whole 

 

36. This section of my report considers whether the Neighbourhood Plan 

taken as a whole meets EU obligations, habitats and Human Rights 

requirements; has regard to national policies and advice contained in 

guidance issued by the Secretary of State; whether the plan 

contributes to the achievement of sustainable development; and 

whether the plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies 

contained in the Development Plan for the area. Each of the plan 

policies is considered in turn in the section of my report that follows 

this. In considering all of these matters I have referred to the 

submission, background, and supporting documents, and copies of the 

representations and other material provided to me. 

 

Consideration of Convention Rights; and whether the making of the 

Neighbourhood Plan does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, 

EU obligations; and the making of the neighbourhood development plan 

does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

 

37. The Basic Conditions Statement states “An equalities impact 

assessment has not been undertaken, as no longer required under the 

Equalities Act 2010, and it is not considered the Plan discriminates 

unfairly or in a manner which is contrary to the Human Rights Act 

1998”. I have considered the European Convention on Human Rights 

and in particular Article 8 (privacy); Article 14 (discrimination); and 

 
21 Regulation 15 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 SI 2012 No.637 

Page 294



 
 

15 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Article 1 of the first Protocol (property).22 Development Plans by their 

nature will include policies that relate differently to areas of land. 

Where the Neighbourhood Plan policies relate differently to areas of 

land this has been explained in terms of land use and development 

related issues. I have seen nothing in the submission version of the 

Neighbourhood Plan that indicates any breach of the Convention. 

Whilst no Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken in respect 

of the Neighbourhood Plan, from my own examination it would appear 

the Plan has been prepared in accordance with the obligations for 

Parish Councils under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) in the 

Equality Act 2010, and the Neighbourhood Plan would appear to have 

neutral or positive impacts on groups with protected characteristics as 

identified in the Equality Act 2010. 

38. The objective of EU Directive 2001/4223 is “to provide for a high level 

of protection of the environment and to contribute to the integration of 

environmental considerations into the preparation and adoption of 

plans and programmes with a view to promoting sustainable 

development, by ensuring that, in accordance with this Directive, an 

environmental assessment is carried out of certain plans and 

programmes which are likely to have significant effects on the 

environment.” The Neighbourhood Plan falls within the definition of 

‘plans and programmes’24 as the Local Planning Authority is obliged to 

‘make’ the plan following a positive referendum result.25  

39. The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 

2015 require the Parish Council, as the Qualifying Body, to submit to 

the National Park Authority and the District Council either an 

environmental report prepared in accordance with the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, or a 

statement of reasons why an environmental report is not required.   

40. The Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Report June 2018 

states “A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening was 

undertaken by Peak District National Park Authority. The screening 

confirms that a Strategic Environmental Assessment is not required for 

this Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan”. It concludes: “It is demonstrated, 

through assessment against the significance criteria in the SEA 

Directive and Regulations, as set out in Section 3, that the impact of 

 
22 The Human Rights Act 1998 which came into force in the UK in 2000 had the effect of codifying the 
protections in the European Convention on Human Rights into UK law.  
23 Transposed into UK law through the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 
24 Defined in Article 2(a) of Directive 2001/42 
25 Judgement of the Court of Justice of the European Union (Fourth Chamber) 22 March 2012  

Page 295



 
 

16 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

the implementation of Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan is not likely to 

result in significant environmental effects. On this basis, a full SEA will 

not be required to be undertaken.” The screening was submitted to the 

statutory environmental bodies (Historic England, Natural England and 

the Environment Agency) who agreed with the conclusion that a 

Strategic Environmental Assessment is not required.  I am satisfied the 

requirements regarding Strategic Environmental Assessment have 

been met.  

41. A Habitat Regulation’s Assessment (HRA) screening was undertaken 

by the National Park Authority. This report concluded: “Due to the 

limited scale of the development, its distance from the SPA/SAC and 

even greater distance from the key bird species, its location in the 

valley below the Natura 2000 site and the likely negligible impacts 

compared to existing recreational pressure, it is concluded that the 

policies set out in the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan are unlikely to 

have a significant impact on Natura 2000 sites.” The screening was 

submitted to Natural England who agreed with this conclusion. I have 

earlier in my report, in Footnote 11, referred to the replacement on 28 

December 2018 of the Basic Condition relating to Habitats that had 

previously been in place throughout much of the period of preparation 

of the Neighbourhood Plan. As the Screening Document is dated 

January 2019, and the response of Natural England is dated 18 

February 2019, I am satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan meets the 

revised Basic Condition. I conclude the Neighbourhood Plan meets the 

requirements of the Basic Condition relating to Habitats Regulations.   

42. There are a number of other EU obligations that can be relevant to 

land use planning including the Water Framework Directive, the Waste 

Framework Directive, and the Air Quality Directive but none appear to 

be relevant in respect of this independent examination.  

 
43. I conclude that the Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with the 

Convention Rights, and does not breach, and is otherwise compatible 

with, EU obligations. I also conclude the making of the Neighbourhood 

Plan does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
44. The Guidance states it is the responsibility of the local planning 

authority to ensure that all the regulations appropriate to the nature 

and scope of a draft neighbourhood plan submitted to it have been met 

in order for the draft neighbourhood plan to progress. The National 

Park Authority and the District Council as Local Planning Authority 

Page 296



 
 

17 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

must decide whether the draft neighbourhood plan is compatible with 

EU obligations:  

• when it takes the decision on whether the neighbourhood plan 

should proceed to referendum; and 

• when it takes the decision on whether or not to make the 

neighbourhood plan (which brings it into legal force).26 

 

Consideration whether having regard to national policies and advice 

contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to 

make the Neighbourhood Plan; and whether the making of the 

Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable 

development 

 

45. I refer initially to the basic condition “having regard to national policies 

and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is 

appropriate to make the plan”. The requirement to determine whether 

it is appropriate that the plan is made includes the words “having 

regard to”. This is not the same as compliance, nor is it the same as 

part of the test of soundness provided for in respect of examinations of 

Local Plans27 which requires plans to be “consistent with national 

policy”.  

46. Lord Goldsmith has provided guidance28 that ‘have regard to’ means 

“such matters should be considered.” The Guidance assists in 

understanding “appropriate”. In answer to the question “What does 

having regard to national policy mean?” the Guidance states a 

neighbourhood plan “must not constrain the delivery of important 

national policy objectives.” 

47. The National Park Authority has informed me the Neighbourhood Plan 

was submitted on 28 February 2019 in the context of the National 

Planning Policy Framework as published in 2018. The most recent 

National Planning Policy Framework published on 19 February 2019 

(updated 19 June 2019) sets out the government’s planning policies 

for England and how these are expected to be applied. The Planning 

Practice Guidance was most recently updated on 1 October 2019. In 

 
26  Planning Practice Guidance paragraph 031 Reference ID: 11-031-20150209 revision 09 02 2015 
27  Under section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and in respect of which guidance is 
given in paragraph 35 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
28  The Attorney General, (Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for Justice) Lord Goldsmith, at a meeting 
of the House of Lords Grand Committee on 6 February 2006 to consider the Company Law Reform Bill (Column 
GC272 of Lords Hansard, 6 February 2006) and included in guidance in England’s Statutory Landscape 
Designations: a practical guide to your duty of regard, Natural England 2010 (an Agency of another Secretary 
of State) 

Page 297



 
 

18 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

my initial letter sent to the National Park Authority, the District Council 

and the Parish Council on 27 November 2019 I confirmed my intention 

to undertake the Independent Examination in the context of the most 

recent National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice 

Guidance. As parts of the Framework and Guidance have been 

updated after the Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the National 

Park Authority and the District Council I provided an opportunity for 

any interested party, including the Parish Council and Local Planning 

Authorities, to submit comments relating to changes to the National 

Planning Policy Framework or the Planning Practice Guidance in so 

far as they are relevant to my consideration whether or not the 

Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions and other 

requirements. On 5 December 2019 the National Park Authority 

provided me with an assessment of the effect of the 2019 changes to 

the Framework on the Neighbourhood Plan meeting the Basic 

Conditions. I have taken the assessment, which had been agreed by 

the Parish Council and the District Council, into account when 

preparing my report. No other party responded to the opportunity to 

comment on this matter. 

48. The Basic Conditions Statement includes Table 1 which lists sections 

of the Framework that the Neighbourhood Plan has regard to, and, 

where relevant, makes reference to policies of the Neighbourhood 

Plan. I am satisfied the Basic Conditions Statement, supplemented by 

the assessment provided to me on 5 December 2019, demonstrates 

that the Neighbourhood Plan has sufficient regard to relevant identified 

components of the Framework. 

 

49. The Neighbourhood Plan includes a positive vision for Leekfrith 

developed at the beginning of the plan preparation process, that 

includes economic dimensions (“small businesses thriving”, “set up a 

range of businesses” and “employment opportunities for local people”) 

and social components (“housing suitable for all ages”, “places of 

focus”, “communication and cohesion”, “health and wellbeing”) whilst 

also referring to environmental considerations (“special character”, 

“beauty” and “careful management”). It is explained the 

Neighbourhood Plan concentrated on the issues that parishioners 

were most enthused about, which were housing, business, and issues 

arising from tourism.  

 
50. The referencing of policies and the title of the first Policy in the 

contents page of the submitted Plan do not correspond to the main 

body of the report. Three of the Policy titles are not presented in the 

Page 298



 
 

19 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Policy text boxes. I have recommended modifications in these 

respects so that the Neighbourhood Plan “is clearly written and 

unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to 

development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the 

Framework. 

 
Recommended Modification 1: 

• in the Neighbourhood Plan Contents Page refer to the 

Policies using numbers, and replace “Development” with 

“Redevelopment” 

• add the Policy titles to the text boxes for Policies 2,3, and 4 

 

51. Apart from those elements of policy of the Neighbourhood Plan in 

respect of which I have recommended a modification to the plan I am 

satisfied that the need to ‘have regard to’ national policies and advice 

contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State has, in plan 

preparation, been exercised in substance in such a way that it has 

influenced the final decision on the form and nature of the plan. This 

consideration supports the conclusion that with the exception of those 

matters in respect of which I have recommended a modification of the 

plan, the Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic condition “having 

regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by 

the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the plan.” 

 

52. At the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development29 which should be applied in both plan-

making and decision-taking.30 The Guidance states, “This basic 

condition is consistent with the planning principle that all plan-making 

and decision-taking should help to achieve sustainable development. 

A qualifying body must demonstrate how its plan or order will 

contribute to improvements in environmental, economic and social 

conditions or that consideration has been given to how any potential 

adverse effects arising from the proposals may be prevented, reduced 

or offset (referred to as mitigation measures). In order to demonstrate 

that a draft neighbourhood plan or order contributes to sustainable 

development, sufficient and proportionate evidence should be 

presented on how the draft neighbourhood plan or order guides 

development to sustainable solutions”31.  

 

 
29 Paragraph 10 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
30 Paragraph 11 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
31 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 072 Ref ID:41-072-20190509 Revision 09 05 2019 

Page 299



 
 

20 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

53. The Basic Conditions require my consideration whether the making of 

the Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable 

development. There is no requirement as to the nature or extent of that 

contribution, nor a need to assess whether or not the plan makes a 

particular contribution. The requirement is that there should be a 

contribution. There is also no requirement to consider whether some 

alternative plan would make a greater contribution to sustainable 

development. 

 

54. The Framework states there are three dimensions to sustainable 

development: economic, social and environmental. The Basic 

Conditions Statement includes Table 2 which demonstrates how the 

Neighbourhood Plan simultaneously contributes to the economic, 

social, and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. I 

conclude that the Neighbourhood Plan, by guiding development to 

sustainable solutions, contributes to the achievement of sustainable 

development. Broadly, the Neighbourhood Plan seeks to contribute to 

sustainable development by guiding redevelopment of Upper Hulme 

Mill; enabling the renting of ancillary holiday accommodation under 

specified circumstances; and addressing issues relating to the parking 

of vehicles.  

 

55. Subject to my recommended modifications of the Submission Plan 

including those relating to specific policies, as set out later in this 

report, I find it is appropriate that the Neighbourhood Plan should be 

made having regard to national policies and advice contained in 

guidance issued by the Secretary of State. I have also found the 

Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable 

development. 

 

Consideration whether the making of the Neighbourhood Plan is in general 

conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for 

the area of the authority (or any part of that area) 

56. The Framework states neighbourhood plans should “support the 

delivery of strategic policies contained in local plans or spatial 

development strategies; and should shape and direct development 

that is outside of these strategic policies”.32 Plans should make explicit 

which policies are strategic policies.33 “Neighbourhood plans must be 

in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in any 

 
32 Paragraph 13 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
33 Paragraph 21 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Page 300



 
 

21 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

development plan that covers their area34.Neighbourhood plans should 

not promote less development than set out in the strategic policies for 

the area, or undermine its strategic policies”.35 

 

57. The Guidance states, “A local planning authority should set out clearly 

its strategic policies in accordance with paragraph 21 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework and provide details of these to a qualifying 

body and to the independent examiner.”36 In this independent 

examination, I am required to consider whether the making of the 

Neighbourhood Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies 

contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or any 

part of that area).  

 
58. The National Park Authority and the District Council have informed me 

what constitutes the Development Plan applying in the Leekfrith 

Neighbourhood Area and relevant to the Neighbourhood Plan as 

follows: 

 

• In the National Park Authority area, it is the Core Strategy 

(adopted 7 October 2011), and the Development Management 

Policies (DMP) document (adopted 24 May 2019), and the 

Policies Map which shows where site area specific policies 

apply, and where development proposals are likely to go ahead. 

The Core Strategy sets out strategic policies. The Development 

Management Policies document supplements the Core Strategy 

with detailed operational policies. The National Park Authority 

has, at the Regulation 14 stage of preparation of the 

Neighbourhood Plan, stated Core Strategy Policies GSP2 (D 

and E), and RT2 (A) are relevant to the Neighbourhood Plan 

policies;  

 

• In the District Council area, it is the Core Strategy (adopted 26 

March 2014). Town and village development boundaries and 

other boundaries including the Green Belt (see maps 

below) from the 1998 Local Plan will remain in force for 

development management purposes until superseded by the 

Local Plan 2016 – 2031. The District Council has stated the 

following policies of the Core Strategy are most relevant to 

preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan: 

 
34 Footnote 16 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
35 Paragraph 29 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
36 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 077 Reference ID: 41-077-20190509 Revision 09 05 2019 

Page 301



 
 

22 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

Policy SS3 – Distribution of Development: sets out the 

development requirements across the district.  

Policy SS4 – Managing the Release of Housing Land: includes 

an allowance from unidentified (windfall) of up to 30% in rural 

areas. 

Policy SS6b – Smaller Villages Area Strategy: identifies 

Meerbrook as a smaller village.  This allows for new housing 

development which meets a local need, including affordable 

housing. Supporting text states that an Infill Boundary will be 

defined around these settlements within which appropriate 

development will be allowed.  

Policy SS6c – Other Rural Areas Area Strategy: restricts new 

development to essential local need.  Seeks to enhance and 

conserve the quality of the countryside by recognising and 

conserving the special quality of the landscape in the Peak 

District National Park (PDNP) and states that any development 

proposal that might have the potential to affect a European or 

Ramsar Site must itself be subject to Appropriate Assessment.  

Policy SS7 – Churnet Valley Area Strategy: relates to 

sustainable tourism and rural regeneration. Leekfrith parish lies 

within the Churnet Valley Masterplan Area.  

Policy H1 – New Housing Development: residential 

development / redevelopment on unidentified windfall sites will 

be permitted up to an indicative maximum scheme size of 5 

dwellings within the infill boundaries of smaller villages.  

Policy DC3 – Landscape and Settlement Setting: Part 5 

recognises and conserves the special quality of the landscape 

in the PDNP and ensures that development does not adversely 

affect the wider setting of the National Park. 

Policy R1 – Rural Diversification: Wherever possible 

development should be within suitably located buildings which 

are appropriate for conversion. Priority given to the re-use of 

rural buildings for commercial enterprise including tourism uses. 

Policy R2 – Rural Housing: Sets out the types of dwellings 

appropriate in the rural area outside the larger and smaller 

villages.  

Policy NE1 – Biodiversity and Geological Resources: states that 

any proposed development that could have an adverse effect 

on the integrity of a European site will be resisted. 

 

59. The District Council is currently preparing the Local Plan 2016-2031. 

The Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for 

examination in June 2018 and has reached the stage of consideration 

Page 302



 
 

23 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

of comments on the Main Modifications and Additional Modifications. 

Further hearing sessions are to be held on 4 and 5 February 2020.  

 

60. The Neighbourhood Plan can proceed ahead of preparation of the 

Local Plan 2016-2031. The Guidance states: “Neighbourhood plans, 

when brought into force, become part of the development plan for the 

neighbourhood area. They can be developed before or at the same 

time as the local planning authority is producing its Local Plan. A draft 

neighbourhood plan or Order must be in general conformity with the 

strategic policies of the development plan in force if it is to meet the 

basic condition. Although a draft Neighbourhood Plan or Order is not 

tested against the policies in an emerging Local Plan the reasoning 

and evidence informing the Local Plan process is likely to be relevant 

to the consideration of the basic conditions against which a 

neighbourhood plan is tested.”37 

 

61. In order to satisfy the basic conditions, the Neighbourhood Plan must 

be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Development 

Plan. The emerging Local Plan 2016-2031 is not part of the 

Development Plan and this requirement does not apply in respect of 

that. Emerging planning policy is subject to change as plan preparation 

work proceeds.  The Guidance states “Neighbourhood plans, when 

brought into force, become part of the development plan for the 

neighbourhood areas. They can be developed before or at the same 

time as the local planning authority is producing its Local Plan”38. In 

BDW Trading Limited, Wainholmes Developments Ltd v Cheshire 

West & Chester BC [2014] EWHC1470 (Admin) it was held that the 

only statutory requirement imposed by basic condition (e) is that the 

Neighbourhood Plan as a whole should be in general conformity with 

the adopted development plan as a whole. 

 
62. I am mindful of the fact that should there ultimately be any conflict 

between the Neighbourhood Plan, and the emerging Local Plan 2016-

2031 when it is adopted; the matter will be resolved in favour of the 

plan most recently becoming part of the Development Plan unless the 

latter plan states otherwise; however, the Guidance is clear in that 

potential conflicts should be minimised. 

 
63. In considering a now-repealed provision that “a local plan shall be in 

general conformity with the structure plan” the Court of Appeal stated 

 
37 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 009 Reference ID: 41-009-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019 
38 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 009 Reference ID: 41-009-20190509 Revision 09 05 2019 

Page 303



 
 

24 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

“the adjective ‘general’ is there to introduce a degree of flexibility.”39 

The use of ‘general’ allows for the possibility of conflict. Obviously, 

there must at least be broad consistency, but this gives considerable 

room for manoeuvre. Flexibility is however not unlimited. The test for 

neighbourhood plans refers to the strategic policies of the 

development plan rather than the development plan as a whole.  

 

64. The Guidance states, “When considering whether a policy is in general 

conformity a qualifying body, independent examiner, or local planning 

authority, should consider the following: 

• whether the neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal 

supports and upholds the general principle that the strategic policy 

is concerned with; 

• the degree, if any, of conflict between the draft neighbourhood plan 

policy or development proposal and the strategic policy; 

• whether the draft neighbourhood plan policy or development 

proposal provides an additional level of detail and/or a distinct local 

approach to that set out in the strategic policy without undermining 

that policy; 

• the rationale for the approach taken in the draft neighbourhood plan 

or Order and the evidence to justify that approach.”40 

My approach to the examination of the Neighbourhood Plan Policies 

has been in accordance with this guidance.  

 

65. Consideration as to whether the making of the Neighbourhood Plan is 

in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 

Development Plan for the area of the authority (or any part of that 

area) has been addressed through examination of the plan as a whole 

and each of the plan policies below. This consideration has been 

informed by Section 4 of the Basic Conditions Statement which 

includes, at paragraph 4.2, Table 3 that includes a comment on the 

conformity of the Neighbourhood Plan policies with relevant strategic 

policies. Subject to the modifications I have recommended I have 

concluded the Neighbourhood Plan is in general conformity with the 

strategic policies contained in the Development Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
39 Persimmon Homes v. Stevenage BC the Court of Appeal [2006] 1 P &CR 31 
40 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 074 ID ref: 41-074 20140306 Revision 06 03 2014 

Page 304



 
 

25 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan Policies 
 

66. The Submission Version Neighbourhood Plan includes 4 policies as 

follows: 

Policy 1 Redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill 

Policy 2 Full time rental of holiday cottages 

Policy 3 Parking on the narrow roads throughout the Parish 

Policy 4 Parking at the Roaches 

 

67. Paragraph 29 of the Framework states “Neighbourhood planning gives 

communities the power to develop a shared vision for their area. 

Neighbourhood plans can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable 

development, by influencing local planning decisions as part of the 

statutory development plan. Neighbourhood plans should not promote 

less development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, or 

undermine those strategic policies”. Footnote 16 of the Framework 

states “Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the 

strategic policies contained in any development plan that covers their 

area.” 

 

68. Paragraph 15 of the Framework states “The planning system should 

be genuinely plan-led. Succinct and up-to-date plans should provide a 

positive vision for the future of each area; a framework for addressing 

housing needs and other economic, social and environmental 

priorities; and a platform for local people to shape their surroundings.”  

 

69.  Paragraph 16 of the Framework states “Plans should: a) be prepared 

with the objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable 

development;  b) be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational 

but deliverable; c) be shaped by early, proportionate and effective 

engagement between plan-makers and communities, local 

organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and operators and 

statutory consultees; d) contain policies that are clearly written and 

unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to 

development proposals;  e) be accessible through the use of digital 

tools to assist public involvement and policy presentation; and f) serve 

a clear purpose, avoiding unnecessary duplication of policies that 

apply to a particular area (including policies in this Framework, where 

relevant). 

 

70. The Guidance states “A policy in a neighbourhood plan should be 

clear and unambiguous. It should be drafted with sufficient clarity that 

Page 305



 
 

26 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

a decision maker can apply it consistently and with confidence when 

determining planning applications. It should be concise, precise and 

supported by appropriate evidence. It should be distinct to reflect and 

respond to the unique characteristics and planning context of the 

specific neighbourhood area for which it has been prepared.”41 

 

71. “While there are prescribed documents that must be submitted with a 

neighbourhood plan ... there is no ‘tick box’ list of evidence required for 

neighbourhood planning. Proportionate, robust evidence should 

support the choices made and the approach taken. The evidence 

should be drawn upon to explain succinctly the intention and rationale 

of the policies in the draft neighbourhood plan”.42  

 

72. A neighbourhood plan should contain policies for the development and 

use of land. “This is because, if successful at examination and 

referendum (or where the neighbourhood plan is updated by way of 

making a material modification to the plan and completes the relevant 

process), the neighbourhood plan becomes part of the statutory 

development plan. Applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise (See section 38(6) of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).”43 

 

73. “Neighbourhood plans are not obliged to contain policies addressing 

all types of development. However, where they do contain policies 

relevant to housing supply, these policies should take account of latest 

and up-to-date evidence of housing need.”44 “A neighbourhood plan 

can allocate sites for development, including housing. A qualifying 

body should carry out an appraisal of options and an assessment of 

individual sites against clearly identified criteria. Guidance on 

assessing sites and on viability is available.”45 

 

74. If to any extent, a policy set out in the Neighbourhood Plan conflicts 

with any other statement or information in the plan, the conflict must be 

resolved in favour of the policy. Given that policies have this status, 

and if the Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ they will be utilised in the 

determination of planning applications and appeals, I have examined 

each policy individually in turn. I have considered any inter-

 
41 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 041 Reference ID: 41-041-20140306 Revision 06 03 2014 
42 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 040 Reference ID: 41-040-20160211 Revision 11 02 2016 
43 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 004 Reference ID: 41-004-20190509 Revision 09 05 2019 
44 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 040 Reference ID 41-040-20160211 Revision 11 02 2016 
45 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 042 Reference ID 41-042-20170728 Revision 28 07 2017 

Page 306



 
 

27 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

relationships between policies where these are relevant to my remit. I 

have considered the issue of meeting housing needs initially as this 

issue is relevant to more than one policy of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Meeting Housing Needs  

 

75. The Guidance states “The National Planning Policy Framework 

expects most strategic policy-making authorities to set housing 

requirement figures for designated neighbourhood areas as part of 

their strategic policies. While there is no set method for doing this, the 

general policy making process already undertaken by local authorities 

can continue to be used to direct development requirements and 

balance needs and protections by taking into consideration relevant 

policies such as the spatial strategy, evidence such as the Housing 

and economic land availability assessment, and the characteristics of 

the neighbourhood area, including its population and role in providing 

services. In setting requirements for housing in designated 

neighbourhood areas, plan-making authorities should consider the 

areas or assets of particular importance (as set out in paragraph 11, 

footnote 6), which may restrict the scale, type or distribution of 

development in a neighbourhood plan area.”46  

 

76. “Neighbourhood plans are not obliged to contain policies addressing 

all types of development. However, where they do contain policies 

relevant to housing supply, these policies should take account of latest 

and up-to-date evidence of housing need. In particular, where a 

qualifying body is attempting to identify and meet housing need, a local 

planning authority should share relevant evidence on housing need 

gathered to support its own plan-making.”47 

 

77. “Where neighbourhood planning bodies have decided to make 

provision for housing in their plan, the housing requirement figure and 

its origin are expected to be set out in the neighbourhood plan as a 

basis for their housing policies and any allocations that they wish to 

make. Neighbourhood planning bodies are encouraged to plan to meet 

their housing requirement, and where possible to exceed it. A 

sustainable choice of sites to accommodate housing will provide 

flexibility if circumstances change, and allows plans to remain up to 

date over a longer time scale. Where neighbourhood planning bodies 

intend to exceed their housing requirement figure, proactive 

 
46Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 101 Reference ID: 41-101-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019 
47 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 040 Reference ID: 41-040-20160211 Revision date: 11 02 2016 

Page 307



 
 

28 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

engagement with their local planning authority can help to assess 

whether the scale of additional housing numbers is considered to be in 

general conformity with the strategic policies. For example, whether 

the scale of proposed increase has a detrimental impact on the 

strategic spatial strategy, or whether sufficient infrastructure is 

proposed to support the scale of development and whether it has a 

realistic prospect of being delivered in accordance with development 

plan policies on viability. Any neighbourhood plan policies on the size 

or type of housing required will need to be informed by the evidence 

prepared to support relevant strategic policies, supplemented where 

necessary by locally-produced information.”48 

 

78. “The scope of neighbourhood plans is up to the neighbourhood 

planning body. Where strategic policies set out a housing requirement 

figure for a designated neighbourhood area, the neighbourhood 

planning body does not have to make specific provision for housing, or 

seek to allocate sites to accommodate the requirement (which may 

have already been done through the strategic policies or through non-

strategic policies produced by the local planning authority). The 

strategic policies will, however, have established the scale of housing 

expected to take place in the neighbourhood area. Housing 

requirement figures for neighbourhood plan areas are not binding as 

neighbourhood planning groups are not required to plan for housing. 

However, there is an expectation that housing requirement figures will 

be set in strategic policies, or an indicative figure provided on request. 

Where the figure is set in strategic policies, this figure will not need 

retesting at examination of the neighbourhood plan. Where it is set as 

an indicative figure, it will need to be tested at examination.”49  

 

79. “Where an indicative housing requirement figure is requested by a 

neighbourhood planning body, the local planning authority can follow a 

similar process to that for providing a housing requirement figure. They 

can use the authority’s local housing need as a starting point, taking 

into consideration relevant policies such as an existing or emerging 

spatial strategy, alongside the characteristics of the neighbourhood 

plan area. Proactive engagement with neighbourhood plan-making 

bodies is important as part of this process, in order for them to 

understand how the figures are reached. This is important to avoid 

disagreements at neighbourhood plan or local plan examinations, and 

 
48 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 103 Reference ID: 41-103-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019 
49 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 104 Reference ID: 41-104-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019 

Page 308



 
 

29 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

minimise the risk of neighbourhood plan figures being superseded 

when new strategic policies are adopted”.50 

 

80. “Where strategic policies do not already set out a requirement figure, 

the National Planning Policy Framework expects an indicative figure to 

be provided to neighbourhood planning bodies on request. However, if 

a local planning authority is unable to do this, then the neighbourhood 

planning body may exceptionally need to determine a housing 

requirement figure themselves, taking account of relevant policies, the 

existing and emerging spatial strategy, and characteristics of the 

neighbourhood area. The neighbourhood planning toolkit on housing 

needs assessment may be used for this purpose. Neighbourhood 

planning bodies will need to work proactively with the local planning 

authority through this process, and the figure will need to be tested at 

examination of the neighbourhood plan, as neighbourhood plans must 

be in general conformity with strategic policies of the development plan 

to meet the basic conditions.”51 

 

81. “If a local planning authority is also intending to allocate sites in the 

same neighbourhood area the local planning authority should avoid 

duplicating planning processes that will apply to the neighbourhood 

area. It should work constructively with a qualifying body to enable a 

neighbourhood plan to make timely progress. A local planning 

authority should share evidence with those preparing the 

neighbourhood plan, in order for example, that every effort can be 

made to meet identified local need through the neighbourhood 

planning process.”52  

 

82. “Although a draft neighbourhood plan or Order is not tested against the 

policies in an emerging local plan the reasoning and evidence 

informing the local plan process is likely to be relevant to the 

consideration of the basic conditions against which a neighbourhood 

plan is tested. For example, up-to-date housing needs evidence is 

relevant to the question of whether a housing supply policy in a 

neighbourhood plan or Order contributes to the achievement of 

sustainable development. Where a neighbourhood plan is brought 

forward before an up-to-date Local Plan is in place the qualifying body 

and the local planning authority should discuss and aim to agree the 

relationship between policies in: 

 
50 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 102 Reference ID: 41-102-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019 
51 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 105 Reference ID: 41-105-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019 
52 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 043 Reference ID: 41-043-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014 
 

Page 309



 
 

30 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

• the emerging neighbourhood plan 

• the emerging Local Plan 

• the adopted development plan  

with appropriate regard to national policy and guidance. The local 

planning authority should take a proactive and positive approach, 

working collaboratively with a qualifying body particularly sharing 

evidence and seeking to resolve any issues to ensure the draft 

neighbourhood plan has the greatest chance of success at 

independent examination. The local planning authority should work 

with the qualifying body to produce complementary neighbourhood 

and Local Plans. It is important to minimise any conflicts between 

policies in the neighbourhood plan and those in the emerging Local 

Plan, including housing supply policies. This is because section 38(5) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the 

conflict must be resolved by the decision maker favouring the policy 

which is contained in the last document to become part of the 

development plan. Strategic policies should set out a housing 

requirement figure for designated neighbourhood areas from their 

overall housing requirement (paragraph 65 of the revised National 

Planning Policy Framework). Where this is not possible the local 

planning authority should provide an indicative figure, if requested to 

do so by the neighbourhood planning body, which will need to be 

tested at the neighbourhood plan examination. Neighbourhood plans 

should consider providing indicative delivery timetables and allocating 

reserve sites to ensure that emerging evidence of housing need is 

addressed. This can help minimise potential conflicts and ensure that 

policies in the neighbourhood plan are not overridden by a new Local 

Plan.”53 

 

83. “A neighbourhood plan can allocate additional sites to those identified 

in an adopted plan so long as the neighbourhood plan meets the basic 

conditions.”54 and “A neighbourhood plan can allocate additional sites 

to those in a local plan (or spatial development strategy) where this is 

supported by evidence to demonstrate need above that identified in 

the local plan or spatial development strategy. Neighbourhood plans 

should not re-allocate sites that are already allocated through these 

strategic plans. A neighbourhood plan can also propose allocating 

alternative sites to those in a local plan (or spatial development 

strategy), where alternative proposals for inclusion in the 

neighbourhood plan are not strategic, but a qualifying body should 

 
53 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 009 Reference ID: 41-009-20190509 Revision 09 05 2019  
54 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 009 Reference ID: 67-009-20190722 Revision date: 22 07 2019 

Page 310



 
 

31 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

discuss with the local planning authority why it considers the 

allocations set out in the strategic policies are no longer appropriate. 

The resulting draft neighbourhood plan must meet the basic conditions 

if it is to proceed. National planning policy states that it should support 

the strategic development needs set out in strategic policies for the 

area, plan positively to support local development and should not 

promote less development than set out in the strategic policies (see 

paragraph 13 and paragraph 29 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework). Nor should it be used to constrain the delivery of a 

strategic site allocated for development in the local plan or spatial 

development strategy. Should there be a conflict between a policy in a 

neighbourhood plan and a policy in a local plan or spatial development 

strategy, section 38(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004 requires that the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy 

which is contained in the last document to become part of the 

development plan.”55 

 

84. Whilst it is not within my role to test the soundness of the 

Neighbourhood Plan it is necessary to consider whether the Plan 

meets the Basic Conditions in so far as it will not promote less 

development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, or 

undermine those strategic polices, as required by paragraph 29 of the 

Framework; and meets the requirements set out in the Guidance. 

Policy 1 and Policy 2 of the Neighbourhood Plan are relevant to 

housing supply.  

 

85. The National Park Authority and the District Council have not provided 

a housing target at neighbourhood area level and the Parish Council 

have not requested an indicative housing requirement figure. The 

revisions to the Guidance relating to these matters were published in 

May 2019 when the Neighbourhood Plan was at an advanced stage of 

preparation. The emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 2016-

2031 does provide a housing requirement for the Neighbourhood Area 

outside the National Park. 

 

86. In a joint response to my request for clarification of the strategic policy 

context regarding housing numbers the Local Planning Authorities and 

the Parish Council state “The PDNPA Core Strategy does not include 

a housing requirement figure for all or any part of the neighbourhood 

plan area. Policy DS1 of the Core Strategy names settlements (known 

 
55 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 044 Reference ID: 41-044-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019 
 

Page 311



 
 

32 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

as DS1 settlements) where there is scope for new build affordable 

housing in or on the edge of these settlements. There are no DS1 

settlements in Leekfrith Neighbourhood area. Policy H1 of the Core 

Strategy states ‘provision will not be made for housing solely to meet 

open market demand’. The Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy did 

not include a housing requirement figure for all, or part, of the 

Neighbourhood Plan area. Policies SS3, SS4 and Appendix 11 of the 

emerging SMDC Local Plan set out that Neighbourhood Plans should 

make provision for at least the same amount of housing as is identified 

for their Neighbourhood Area in the Local Plan; with an aspiration for 

4-8 windfall dwellings in Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area outside the 

Peak Park.”  

 

87. The Neighbourhood Plan makes reference to, and includes as 

Appendix 3 a report of a housing needs survey undertaken in Leekfrith 

Parish in 2014. This survey identified very limited housing need. 

Although the survey is now five years old, I have not seen anything to 

suggest the situation has changed significantly. The Neighbourhood 

Plan places no cap or limit on the number of homes that can be 

provided on the basis of Policies 1 and 2. The Neighbourhood Plan 

relies on strategic policies to regulate the supply of new homes outside 

the context of those policies. I am satisfied the approach adopted to 

address housing need in the Neighbourhood Area is appropriate for 

the purpose of neighbourhood plan preparation for Leekfrith and 

provides the necessary justification that those policies that are relevant 

to housing supply will result in local housing needs being met. The 

Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions in so far as it will not 

promote less development than set out in the strategic policies for the 

area, or undermine those strategic polices. 

 
 

Policy 1 Redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill 

88. This policy seeks to establish support for redevelopment of the Upper 

Hulme Mill site broadly in line with stated requirements, and as 

indicated on figure 2. The policy also refers to numbers of housing 

units and the ratio of affordable to market housing. The policy seeks to 

discourage parking on the main road through Upper Hulme and seeks 

to establish requirements that will assist assessment of proposals that 

would affect the South Pennine Moors Special Area of conservation 

and the Peak District Moors Special Protection Area.  

89. In a representation the Environment Agency states “The 

redevelopment of the Upper Hulme Mill proposes to demolish certain 

Page 312



 
 

33 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

sections of the site. It is unclear from the neighbourhood plan whether 

the previous use of the site would have been contaminative or not and 

the neighbourhood plan group must consider whether the development 

would require contamination and ground condition surveys to be 

undertaken, and therefore the requirement added to Policy 1, to 

ensure development could be brought forward where remediation is 

required.” I have recommended a modification to include an 

appropriate requirement regarding this matter so that the Policy has 

sufficient regard for national policy. 

90. The Environment Agency representation also states “The Upper 

Hulme Mill sits over an ordinary watercourse and we would 

recommend that the neighbourhood plan group contact the Lead Local 

Flood Authority (LLFA) to see if they have any comments to make on 

this proposed redevelopment.” The Lead Local Flood Authority has 

stated “As the Environment Agency highlighted, the Upper Hulme Mill 

sits over an ordinary watercourse, and we would recommend that any 

application for development or change of use to a more vulnerable 

category should be supported by a Flood Risk Assessment. The fluvial 

Flood Zones are only modelled for catchments greater than 3km2, so 

although the site is in Flood Zone 1, there may still be significant flood 

risk to parts of the site from the watercourse. Whilst not definitive, the 

Surface Water Flood Map indicates that parts of the site could be at 

risk of flooding. A detailed site-specific Flood Risk Assessment would 

be required to establish the flood risk extents, areas suitable for 

development and any mitigation measures required.” I have 

recommended a modification to include an appropriate requirement 

regarding this matter so that the Policy has sufficient regard for 

national policy.  

91. Use of the term “broadly” in the Policy introduces flexibility as required 

by paragraph 11 a) of the Framework. Part B of the Policy comprises 

statements rather than policy components. Part B of the policy and the 

terms “may be suitable” and “completely discouraged” do not offer a 

basis for the determination of planning proposals. The term 

“associated parking” is imprecise. I have recommended a modification 

in these respects so that the policy “is clearly written and 

unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to 

development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the 

Framework. 

92. The requirement in Part A (i) of the Policy for garaging facilities has not 

been sufficiently justified as required by paragraph 31 of the 

Framework. Part A (iii) of the policy could result in incompatible uses, 

Page 313



 
 

34 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

for example general industry and housing, being mixed-in with one 

another. I have recommended a modification that requires proposed 

uses to be compatible with nearby uses for them to be acceptable. 

This modification is recommended in the interests of achieving 

acceptable living standards and recognises the importance of securing 

well-designed, attractive and healthy places as set out in paragraph 

122 of the Framework.  

93. As recommended to be modified the policy is in general conformity 

with the strategic policies included in the Peak District National Park 

Core Strategy (adopted 7 October 2011); the Peak District National 

Park Development Management Policies (adopted 24 May 2019); and 

the Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy (adopted 26 March 2014) 

applying in the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area, and relevant to the 

Neighbourhood Plan, and serves a clear purpose by providing an 

additional level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the 

strategic policies. 

94. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to 

ensure that local people get the right type of development for their 

community. Having regard to the introduction; achieving sustainable 

development; plan-making; and decision-making sections of the 

Framework, and the components of the Framework concerned with 

delivering a sufficient supply of housing; building a strong, competitive 

economy, promoting sustainable transport; making effective use of 

land; achieving well-designed places; conserving and enhancing the 

natural environment; and conserving and enhancing the historic 

environment, the policy is appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ 

neighbourhood plan. Having regard to the Guidance the policy is 

appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to 

the recommended modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions. 

Recommended modification 2:  

In Policy 1 

• in Part A (i) replace “associated parking and garaging” with 

“sufficient vehicle parking facilities to ensure no additional 

on-road parking results” 

• in Part A (ii) replace “may be suitable” with “will be 

supported” 

• continue Part A (iii) with “subject to proposed uses being 

compatible with nearby uses” 

• delete Part B and transfer the text to Section 7.1 of the 

supporting text 

Page 314



 
 

35 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

• insert replacement Part B “All development proposals must 

include a detailed site-specific flood risk assessment and 

demonstrate the suitability of the proposals taking into 

account any mitigation measures.” 

• in Part C replace the text before “parking on” with “All 

development proposals must include sufficient vehicle 

parking provision to ensure no additional”; and replace “is 

completely discouraged “with “results” 

• add as Part E “All development proposals must include 

results of a contamination survey and demonstrate 

necessary mitigation appropriate to the use proposed.” 

 

 

Policy 2 Full time rental of holiday cottages 

95. This policy seeks to establish that the renting of ancillary holiday 

accommodation, on the general rental housing market will be 

permitted on a temporary basis for two years, subject to stated criteria.  

96. The approach adopted in the policy of supporting proposals on a 

temporary basis for two years includes sufficient flexibility to adapt to 

rapid change as required by paragraph 11 a) of the Framework. 

97. The structure of the policy could lead to some uncertainty whether 

points iv and v only apply in the case of circumstances set out in point 

iii.  I have recommended the policy is restructured. The policy includes 

the terms “permitted” and “permission”. Paragraph 2 of the Framework 

states “Planning law requires that applications for planning permission 

be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise”. Material considerations 

will not be known until the time of determination of application. I have 

recommended a modification in these respects so that the policy “is 

clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker 

should react to development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) 

of the Framework. 

 
98. As recommended to be modified the policy is in general conformity 

with the strategic policies included in the Peak District National Park 

Core Strategy (adopted 7 October 2011); the Peak District National 

Park Development Management Policies (adopted 24 May 2019); and 

the Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy (adopted 26 March 2014) 

applying in the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area, and relevant to the 

Neighbourhood Plan, and serves a clear purpose by providing an 

Page 315



 
 

36 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

additional level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the 

strategic policies. 

99. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to 

ensure that local people get the right type of development for their 

community. Having regard to the introduction; achieving sustainable 

development; plan-making; and decision-making sections of the 

Framework, and the components of the Framework concerned with 

delivering a sufficient supply of homes, the policy is appropriate to be 

included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Having regard to the 

Guidance the policy is appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ 

neighbourhood plan. Subject to the recommended modification this 

policy meets the Basic Conditions. 

Recommended modification 3:  

In Policy 2 

• present points ii and iii as alternative circumstances and 

then present points i, iv and v to apply in every case  

• replace “permitted” with “supported” 

• replace “permission will be granted” with “proposals will be 

supported” 

 

Policy 3 Parking on the narrow roads throughout the Parish 

100. This policy seeks to establish that any development proposal 

must provide a transport statement that considers the parking 

implications of the proposal and requires proposed developments to 

demonstrate suitable parking arrangements that avoid unacceptable 

harm to the highway network. 

101. Policy 3 is without consequence. The policy includes the 

imprecise terms “suitable” and “unacceptable”. I have recommended a 

modification in these respects so that the policy “is clearly written and 

unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to 

development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the 

Framework. 

102. As recommended to be modified the policy is in general 

conformity with the strategic policies included in the Peak District 

National Park Core Strategy (adopted 7 October 2011); the Peak 

District National Park Development Management Policies (adopted 24 

May 2019); and the Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy (adopted 

26 March 2014) applying in the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area, and 

relevant to the Neighbourhood Plan, and serves a clear purpose by 

Page 316



 
 

37 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

providing an additional level of detail or distinct local approach to that 

set out in the strategic policies. 

103. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development 

to ensure that local people get the right type of development for their 

community. Having regard to the introduction; achieving sustainable 

development; plan-making; and decision-making sections of the 

Framework, and the components of the Framework concerned with 

promoting sustainable transport, the policy is appropriate to be 

included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Having regard to the 

Guidance the policy is appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ 

neighbourhood plan. Subject to the recommended modification this 

policy meets the Basic Conditions. 

Recommended modification 4:  

In Policy 3 replace the final sentence with “To be supported 

development proposals must demonstrate that they will not result 

in additional on-road vehicle parking.” 

 

Policy 4 Parking at the Roaches 

104. This policy seeks to establish support the use of land identified 

in figure 3 for car parking for up to 28 days per calendar year.  

105. Natural England state they have not checked the agricultural 

land classification of the proposed allocations but advise that any 

allocations on best and most versatile land are justified in line with 

paragraph 112 of the Framework. This reference is to the March 2012 

version of the Framework. The Agricultural Land Classification maps 

published by Natural England appear to indicate the land in question is 

not best and most versatile agricultural land as defined in Annex 2 of 

the Framework.  

106. The purpose of the policy is not clear in that the development to 

which the policy relates is permitted development not requiring a grant 

of planning permission. In fact, “up to” is more restrictive than the 

permitted development term “not more than”. In response to my 

request for clarification the Parish Council and the relevant Local 

Planning Authority have confirmed “The purpose of the policy is to 

identify the area rather than support any access works. The policy 

should be included as a non-planning action.”   

107. The Neighbourhood Plan preparation process is a convenient 

mechanism to surface and test local opinion on matters considered 

Page 317



 
 

38 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

important in the local community. It is important that those matters that 

will not be the subject of a formal planning application, but raised as 

important by the local community or other stakeholders, should not be 

lost sight of. The Guidance states, “Neighbourhood planning can 

inspire local people and businesses to consider other ways to improve 

their neighbourhood than through the development and use of land. 

They may identify specific action or policies to deliver these 

improvements.” The Guidance states, “Wider community aspirations 

than those relating to development and use of land can be included in 

a neighbourhood plan, but actions dealing with non-land use matters 

should be clearly identifiable. For example, set out in a companion 

document or annex.” The acknowledgement in the Neighbourhood 

Plan of issues raised in consultation that do not have a direct 

relevance to land use planning processes would be consistent with this 

guidance and represent good practice. I recommend an approach 

should be adopted in the Neighbourhood Plan presenting the matters 

raised in Policy 4 as “community aspirations” in an additional Appendix 

to the Neighbourhood Plan that adequately differentiates the 

community aspirations from the policies of the Plan and has sufficient 

regard for the Guidance. I have recommended a modification so that 

the Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions. 

 

Recommended modification 5:  

Delete Policy 4 and transfer the policy text and supporting text to 

become a non-policy community aspiration in a new Part 8 of the 

Neighbourhood Plan  

 

 

Summary and Referendum 

108. I have recommended 5 modifications to the Submission Version 

Plan. I have also made a recommendation of modification in the Annex 

below.  

109. I am satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan56: 

• is compatible with the Convention Rights, and would remain 

compatible if modified in accordance with my recommendations; 

and 

 
56  The definition of plans and programmes in Article 2(a) of EU Directive 2001/42 includes any modifications to 
them 

Page 318



 
 

39 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

• subject to the modifications I have recommended, meets all the 

Statutory Requirements set out in paragraph 8(1) of schedule 4B 

of the Parish and Country Planning Act 1990 and meets the 

Basic Conditions: 

• having regard to national policies and advice contained in 

guidance     issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to 

make the plan; 

• the making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the 

achievement of sustainable development; 

• the making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity 

with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for 

the area of the authority (or any part of that area); 

• does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU 

obligations; and would continue to not breach and be otherwise 

compatible with EU obligations if modified in accordance with my 

recommendations; and 

• the making of the neighbourhood development plan does not 

breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.57 

I recommend to the Peak District National Park Authority and 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council that the Leekfrith 

Neighbourhood Development Plan for the plan period up to 2033 

should, subject to the modifications I have put forward, be 

submitted to referendum. 

110. I am required to consider whether the referendum area should 

extend beyond the Neighbourhood Plan area and if to be extended, 

the nature of that extension.58 I have seen nothing to suggest that the 

policies of the Plan will have “a substantial, direct and demonstrable 

impact beyond the neighbourhood area”59. I have seen nothing to 

suggest the referendum area should be extended for any other reason. 

I conclude the referendum area should not be extended beyond the 

designated Neighbourhood Area. 

 
57  This basic condition arises from the coming into force, on 28 December 2018, of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species and Planning (Various Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018 whereby the 
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 (5) are amended  
58  Paragraph 8(1)(d) Schedule 4B Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
59 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph 059 Reference ID: 41-059-20140306 Revision 06 03 2014 

Page 319



 
 

40 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Development Plan                         Christopher Edward Collison 
Report of Independent Examination December 2019            Planning and Management Ltd 

 

I recommend that the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a 

referendum based on the area that was designated by the Peak 

District National Park Authority on 13 March 2015 and by 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council on 24 March 2015. 

 

Annex: Minor Corrections to the Neighbourhood Plan  

111. A number of consequential modifications to the general text, and 

in particular the reasoned justification of policies sections, of the 

Neighbourhood Plan will be necessary as a result of recommended 

modifications relating to policies.  

112. I recommend minor change in this and any other respects only 

in so far as it is necessary to correct an error or where it is necessary 

so that the Neighbourhood Plan “is clearly written and unambiguous, 

so it is evident how a decision maker should react to development 

proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the Framework. 

Recommended modification 6: 

Modify general text to achieve consistency with the modified 

policies, and to correct identified errors including those arising 

from updates.  

 

Chris Collison  

Planning and Management Ltd  

collisonchris@aol.com  

23 December 2019    

REPORT ENDS  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 320

mailto:collisonchris@aol.com


 
Leekfrith Parish 

Neighbourhood Plan 
 

2019 - 2033 
 

Submission Version 
 

 Feb 2018 

  

Page 321



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 2 of 32 

 
 
 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 

PAGES 

1. Introduction & Acknowledgements 
 

3 

2. Neighbourhood Plan Area  
 

4 

3. Leekfrith Parish  
 

5 

4. Our Vision  
 

7 

5. How the Neighbourhood Plan fits into the Planning System  
 

8 

6 Evidence for Policies  
 

8 

7 The Polices 
 

9 

   a. Development of Upper Hulme Mill 
 

9 

   b. Full time rental of holiday cottages 
 

12 

   c. Parking on the narrow roads throughout the parish 
 

13 

   d. Parking at the Roaches 
 

13 

Appendix 1   Leekfrith survey questionnaire 
 

15 

Appendix 2   Survey Overview 
 

21 

Appendix 3   Housing Needs Survey 
 

22 

Appendix 4   Data on cars parked illegally on the Roaches 
 

32 

 

  

Page 322



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 3 of 32 

 

1. Introduction & Acknowledgements  

 
 
1.1 This Neighbourhood Plan sets out policies for the use and development of land in the 
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area covering the period from 2017-2032. Once adopted, it will be 
used by the local planning authorities (alongside other strategic plans) to make decisions 
about development in the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area. 
 
1.2 As the responsible body for writing the Neighbourhood Plan Leekfrith Parish Council has 
involved people who live, work and do business in the Neighbourhood area at every stage: 
in developing a vision for their community and in the choices which will help to shape their 
neighbourhood. 
 
1.2 The Parish Council would like to thank everyone who contributed, and the many people 
who are still contributing, to the preparation of this Plan. 
 
 

2. Neighbourhood Plan Area  
 
2.1 The policies in this plan relate to Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area which was designated by 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and by Peak District National Park Authority in 
March 2015. The geographical area is the same as that defined by the boundary of Leekfrith 
Parish. It is shown with a red dotted boundary on the map in Figure 1 and covers an area of 
about 3,000 hectares.  
 

Page 323



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 4 of 32 

 
 

Figure 1  
  

 

Page 324



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 5 of 32 

 

3. Leekfrith Parish … a treasure trove! 
 
3.1 Leekfrith parish is a 
beautiful rural area on the 
south western edge of the 
Peak District. It is large in 
area but sparsely 
populated. There are 306 
people on the electoral role 
and 150 houses. 
 
3.2 The Parish contains 
the small village of 
Meerbrook and the hamlet 
of Upper Hulme, both are 
Conservation Areas, 
together with a few houses 
and small farms in the 
surrounding area. 
 
3.3 The northern two thirds of the Parish are in the Peak District National Park and the 
southern one third is part of the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council area. The Roaches 
and Hen Cloud, outcrops of Millstone Grit dominate the area. The Roaches, rise to 1,658 ft. 
(505 m.) and is very popular with climbers. Gun, a hill on the west side of the township, rises 
to 1,263 ft. (385 m.). The valley between the Roaches and Gun is drained by Meer brook. 
The brook originally flowed into the River Churnet, but since the mid 19th century it has 
flowed into Tittesworth Water. The reservoir originally lay mostly in Tittesworth, but it was 
extended around 1960, involving the flooding of a number of properties and now lies mostly 
in Leekfrith. The reservoir is operated by Severn Trent Water PLC, and dominates the valley 
floor. 
 

3.4 The Roaches and Tittesworth Water both attract large numbers of tourists, which add to 
the economics of the area and are most welcome to share in the beauty of our area, but 

also cause significant issues 
with car parking. 

3.5 The village of Meerbrook has 
a an Anglican church, a small 
Methodist chapel, a public house 
‘The Lazy Trout’, a village green 
and a village hall, all in close 
proximity to each other. These 
are the focal points of the parish 
and even though we live far 
apart there is a vibrant 
community here. It is this spirit of 
community that is highly valued 
by the parishioners. 

3.6 House prices in the area are 
very high because of the mainly 

detached nature of the housing stock and the desirability of the surroundings. This makes it 
difficult for the younger generation to find suitable housing in the area. 

 

hoto Photo by M Mcgriskin 

Photo by M Mcgriskin 

Page 325



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 6 of 32 

 

3.6 The population of Leekfrith, in age, tends towards the older end of the spectrum. 

3.7 In the hamlet of Upper Hulme there is an old Dyeing Mill built around the turn of the 20th 
century with additions throughout the early part of the century which has given rise to a 
hotch-potch of buildings. Many of these buildings are in poor repair: some are let to small 
businesses. This area is a prime candidate for sympathetic redevelopment. 

3.8 Leekfrith has history. In early 2017 several gold ‘torcs’ (neck bracelets) were found 
within Leekfrith Parish. They are of national importance and may well be the oldest gold 
artefacts found in the UK. They date from 400-250 BC. In 2015 a burial urn was found on 
the top of the Roaches believed to be about 3500 years old. 

  

Page 326



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 7 of 32 

4. Vision 
 
To develop a Neighbourhood Plan that will help to maintain, enhance and secure the 
longevity of the community in the Leekfrith Parish. 
 

V1. A community of all ages 
  
As in many rural communities the average age of our population is increasing. The lack of 
suitable housing makes it difficult for younger people to buy a house in the village. At the 
other end of the age range, many older people in the past have left the community they love 
because they cannot down-size to a smaller home within the community. We want to have 
housing suitable for all ages so that our community can remain flourishing and sustainable. 
 
V2. Where the focal points of our community are valued 
and protected 
  
All communities need places of focus. In our community the Village Hall, the Church, the 
Chapel and the Pub at present fulfil this role admirably. The school is also important and 
although it is in Tittesworth parish it is on our border. Where possible our plan should ensure 
their long-term viability. We also want to look at providing other points of focus which could 
improve communication and cohesion between all of us in the community, providing benefits 
to health and well-being. 

 
V3. A community where suitable businesses can thrive and 
employ 
  
There are many small businesses thriving throughout the parish and this entrepreneurship 
should be encouraged. We want an environment which encourages people to set up a range 
of businesses, giving employment opportunities for local people. 
 
V4. Conservation 
  
Our location is beautiful being blessed with both the Roaches and Tittesworth Water. Any 
improvements we make must enhance the special character here and our quality of life.  We 
welcome the many visitors who want to share this beauty, but the numbers are such that 
careful management is required so as not to spoil what we have. 
 
 

 
These were the Visions we had at the beginning of the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan project. It 
transpired that we found there was nothing within the scope of Neighbourhood Planning ie the 

development and use of land, that would specifically enhance the long term viability of our 
focal points as laid out in Vision 2, so no policies were developed for Vision 2. 

 
A large proportion of our Parish is in the Peak District National Park so we found that locally 

there was no appetite to identify areas of land for specific extra conservation measures as 
protection was already thoroughly in place. 

 
The project concentrated therefore on the issues parishioners were most enthused about 

which were housing, business and issues arising from tourism. 
 

 

 
  

Page 327



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 8 of 32 

5. Neighbourhood Plans and the Planning System 
 

5.1 The parish of Leekfrith is partly in the Peak District National Park and partly in the 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council area. Neighbourhood Plans must have regard to 
national policy, be in general conformity with local policies and contribute towards the 
achievement of sustainable development.  
 
5.2 To this end the Peak District National Park Authority’s Development Plan, (Local 
Development Framework Core Strategy 2011, the Local Plan 2001 and the draft 
Development Management Policies) and SMDC’s Core Strategy and the emerging Local 
Plan have been considered. 
 
5.3 The Neighbourhood Plan gives local people the power to decide where new housing 
should go and how the Parish should develop. Without this Neighbourhood Plan, these 
decisions would be made by either the Peak District National Park Authority for those areas 
inside the Peak District National Park or by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council for the 
rest. 
 

 
6. Evidence for Policies and Legal Compliance 
 
6.1 The Neighbourhood Plan has emerged from significant research and consultation and 
this is presented as part of the policy evidence base in Appendices and in the Consultation 
Statement. The Basic Conditions Statement demonstrates the Neighbourhood Plan’s 
compliance with legislation. 
 
Appendix 1 Our survey to parishioners 
Appendix 2 Our survey analysis overview 
Appendix 3 Housing needs survey 
Appendix 4 Data on illegal car parking on the Roaches 
 

  

Page 328



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 9 of 32 

7. The Policies 
 

7.1 REDEVELOPMENT OF UPPER HULME MILL 
 
7.1.1 Our parish is very rural and even the centres of population are no more than a few 
houses. In line with National Policies the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan has 
an aspiration, based on historical data, that 4-8 “windfall” unplanned dwellings will  transpire 
during the lifetime of this plan within the SMDC part of the parish. There is no requirement 
for this Neighbourhood Plan to identify specific plots. In the past, local people have been 
much more creative in their identification of suitable plots than anyone in the political system.  
 
7.1.2 The Peak District National Park has no specific allocation of housing however delivery  
of  dwellings  in  the  National  Park  counts  towards  the  housing  targets  set  out  for 
constituent local  authorities  within  the  Park. So any development in the PDNPA area 
within the parish will count towards SMDC’s housing allocation. 
 
7.1.3 A housing needs survey in the parish, conducted in October 2014, identified a need for 
three houses during the next five years.  There was also an indication of the desire for older 
people to ‘downsize’ but stay in the area, and for a mix of housing types to suit young 
families. 
 
7.1 4 From our vision we would like to build houses for the young and the not so young and 
initially we considered allocating plots of land in Meerbrook for possible development. After 
consultation we dropped this idea because the sites were unlikely to become available, they 
were not particularly efficient sites and there was little support in Meerbrook.  
 
7.1.5 Conversely the industrial site in Upper Hulme offers land for building of houses and 
industrial units which is supported by the owners, is supported by the parishioners, would 
enhance the visual amenity of the area and its development is supported in general by the 
planners of the PDNPA. 
 
7.1.6 After much consultation with PDNPA planning officers and the Upper Hulme Mill 
owners, it was determined that the site does have the potential to be redeveloped – subject 
to the owners’ permission. Policy 1 and the associated site plan indicate what may be 
possible in terms of demolition, house building and new industrial units.  
 
7.1.7 A very small part of the proposed development site lies beyond the Leekfrith Parish 
boundary (the brook running through the site).  It is acknowledged that the LNP has no 
authority beyond the neighbourhood area boundary. However we would hope that any 
redevelopment would include the whole site. 
 
7.18 Affordable and open market housing is required, the proportions of which will depend 
on the requirements at the time of development. There is enough land available to far 
exceed any conceivable requirements of the parish (possibly 40+), but no limits should be 
applied as an increase in population will enhance the long term viability of the community. 
 
7.1 8 Parking on the main road through the hamlet of Upper Hulme would cause significant 
problems as highlighted by parishioners in the area. 
 
 
 
  

Page 329



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 10 of 32 

 
 

 

Policy 1: Redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill 
 
A. Redevelopment of the Upper Hulme Mill site broadly in line with the requirements set out 
below, and as indicated on the site plan (figure 2) is supported:  
 
(i)  in the red hatched area, significant enhancement of the site and its surroundings is 
required by removal of non-traditional structures and buildings and the replacement with new 
build, traditionally designed dwellings with associated parking and garaging. 
 
(ii)  in the blue hatched area all the existing traditional buildings should be retained. 
Conversion to new dwellings/apartments, holiday accommodation, and B1 business (small 
craft businesses with ancillary retail) may be suitable.   
  
(iii)  in the green hatched area, general industrial use is the established use but other 
acceptable uses include affordable local needs housing and/or B1 light industrial units. 
 
B. The ratio of affordable to open market housing will depend on the prevailing conditions at 
the time of application. The number of units will depend on the details of the development 
and how they are integrated within the site as a whole.  
 
C. Car parking requirements must be sufficient to ensure that parking on the main road 
through Upper Hulme is completely discouraged.  
 
D. Any application for development should be supported by a Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal and a Habitat Regulations Assessment to determine if proposals would affect the 
South Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation and Peak District Moors Special 
Protection Area. 

 
 
 

Page 330



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 11 of 32 

 

Figure 2 
 

Page 331



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 12 of 32 

 
 
7.2. FULL TIME RENTAL OF HOLIDAY COTTAGES 
 
7.2.1 There are several holiday cottages in the parish. These tend to be developed from 
outbuildings of existing farms, as such they are sparsely distributed within the parish and do 
not encroach upon the character of the parish.  
 
7.2.2 Some of these holiday cottages suffer from under occupation through lack of demand 
or the owners no longer being interested or capable of injecting the work required by the 
high demands of the holiday rental market. This creates a situation where the parish has 
under-occupied dwellings yet no accommodation for young families, or older residents 
wishing to downsize. Conversion of holiday cottages for use as long term rental within the 
PDNP is subject to strict controls. We have worked with the PDNPA and SMDC to facilitate 
relaxation of these controls in certain circumstances so as to better match the needs of 
residents and tourists with the dwellings available.  
 
7.2.3 The flexibility outlined in policy respects the tourist nature of the area, whilst offering 
change of use between two types of residential use (ancillary holiday use and ancillary 
residential occupation). Depending on the nature of the holiday accommodation, this may 
provide rented accommodation for people desiring or needing to live in the parish, but for 
whom purchase of a house is impossible. 
   
7.2.4 The flexibility will be a temporary arrangement subject to review. This policy continues 
to address National Park and SMDC purposes of conservation and tourism, whilst offering 
scope for people to stay and enjoy the National Park in line with demand. It also offers the 
community a way to address some of its concerns over the range of accommodation 
available to sustain it.   
 
 

Policy 2 
 
The renting of ancillary holiday accommodation, on the general rental housing market will be 
permitted provided 
 
i. The ancillary holiday accommodation has adequate indoor and outdoor living space 
and is not so closely related to adjoining properties that permanent residence would cause 
unacceptable harm to their amenity and  
ii. The ancillary holiday accommodation has been made available for holiday use 
through recognised marketing channels for holiday accommodation for the whole of the two 
years prior to the application, at a competitive price for the size and standard of the 
accommodation offered, and such marketing shows a lack of demand that proves that 
holiday use of the accommodation is unviable; or  
iii. There is evidence provided that the ancillary holiday accommodation cannot be 
operated as ancillary holiday accommodation by the current owners for other non-financial 
reasons such as age or infirmity; and 
iv. The letting of the property for other than ancillary holiday use requires no additional 
infrastructure; and  
v. The ancillary holiday accommodation remains under the control of the owner of the 
main house to which the accommodation is ancillary.  
 
Where the above criteria are satisfied, permission will be granted on a temporary basis for 2 
years. 

  

Page 332



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 13 of 32 

 
7.3. PARKING ON THE NARROW ROADS THROUGHOUT THE PARISH 
 
7.3.1 Throughout the parish the roads are very narrow and completely unsuitable for car 
parking. Any car parking that does take place causes unacceptable congestion, safety 
issues and difficult access for farm and emergency vehicles. Any development that would 
directly or indirectly lead to car parking on these roads should not be permitted. 
 
 

Policy 3 
The majority of roads in the parish are narrow, and have soft verges. Any development 
proposal must provide a transport statement that considers the parking implications of the 
proposal. The proposed development must demonstrate suitable parking arrangements that 
avoid unacceptable harm to the highways network. 

 
 
 
 
7.4. PARKING AT THE ROACHES 
 
7.4.1 Visitor parking on the Roaches has been a problem for at least 3 decades and a 
number of attempts have been made to solve the problem without success. On good 
weather days at the weekend the numbers of cars visiting the Roaches substantially 
exceeds the capacity of the present car parking. Cars then park on the verges and on bends 
making access difficult for anyone to get through. Parishioners are sometimes trapped in 
their homes due to cars parking in their driveway. There are many non-transport accidents 
on the Roaches as it is a well used climbing location and emergency vehicles often have 
difficulty gaining access. Farm businesses in the area stop operations outside the farm at 
weekends because of the difficulty of access. Farms are 24/7 businesses so this is a 
significant problem. 
 
7.4.2 Even though other parts of the National Park with comparable visitor numbers such as 
Stanage Edge and Dovedale have adequate car parks the PDNPA have consistently denied 
an adequate facility at the Roaches. 
 
7.4.3 We have investigated a new approach in conjunction with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust 
(SWT) which now manages the Roaches. We are proposing an overspill car park which will 
operate on those good weather days when there is not enough space in the lay-byes by 
using the 28 day rule for using land or buildings for an alternative use without the need for 
formal planning consent. 
 
7.4.4 A suitable piece of land has been identified (see figure 3 below). It is envisaged that 
temporary removable ground protection matting will be required to make this facility 
accessible throughout the year. Funding will be required for this development to go ahead. 
 
 
 

Policy 4 
This plan supports the alternative use of the land specified in Figure 3 for car parking for up 
to 28 days per calendar year.  

 
 
 
 

Page 333



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 14 of 32 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Figure 3 
 
 
 

Page 334



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 15 of 32 

Appendix 1 

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 

 
Dear Parishioner, 
 

This letter contains important information, together with a survey 
that we would ask you to complete and return to us in the s.a.e. 
provided. 

 

Background (Why we need a Neighbourhood Plan):- 
 

 The government has given local neighbourhoods the chance to have a greater say in 
how their communities develop over the next few years. 

 Whilst local planning authorities have always taken into account the views of the local 
community when responding to potential planning applications in their area a 
Neighbourhood Plan is a formal document which adds strength to those views when 
these applications are considered. 

 Leekfrith Parish does not currently have such a plan, but we are preparing one, and 
we need you help as part of our consultation process. 

 Without such a plan we have a much weaker voice in terms of local planning issues  

 ……so PLEASE, complete and return the survey in the S.A.E. provided and 
help us to plan for the future of Leekfrith Parish. You can also scan the 
completed survey and email to bobfoster4722@gmail.com or just send your 
answers in an email. 

 

Background (What we have done so far) :- 
 

 Drafted a ‘Vision’ document trying to encapsulate how we would like the Parish to 
look in 15-20 years time. This includes such issues as housing, employment, 
facilities, the environment, and the community. 

 Been in contact with Peak District National Park Authority(PDNPA)  and Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council(SMDC) about the guidelines we should work within. 

 Made good progress on identifying some areas which may be developed for the 
benefit of the community. 

 Made some progress in drafting a set of Policy Statements which we think should be 
at the heart of our Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

What do we ask of you now? :- 

 
 Complete the survey and return it to us!  ….. this will help us to shape the 

‘Vision’ statement and the Policy Statements. These might sound a bit 
bureaucratic, but they are important because they lay down the things that we 
stand for. 

 
If you would like to be involved in your neighbourhood plan, you’d be very welcome so 
please get in touch via the telephone or e-mail (details below). We hope we can count on 
your support. 

Page 335

mailto:bobfoster4722@gmail.com


Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 16 of 32 

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Robert(Bob) Foster, Neighbourhood Plan Co-ordinator for Leekfrith Parish Council 
Tel 01538 300321 Email bobfoster4722@gmail.com 

  

Page 336



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 17 of 32 

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP)  Survey 1 
 

Your name  
 

Telephone and 
email 

 
 

Address  
 
 
 
 

 

Question 1  

The ‘Vision’ Statement is shown below. How strongly do you agree with it? (Choose the 
most appropriate number, and then add any comments you wish). Use separate paper if 
comment area too small. 
 

Strongly agree      5 4 3 2 Strongly disagree   
1 

 

Comments 
 
 

 

 

Vision 
To develop a Neighbourhood Plan that will help to maintain, enhance and secure the 
longevity of the community in the Leekfrith Parish. 

A community of all ages.  

As in many rural communities the average age of our population is increasing. The lack of 
suitable housing makes it difficult for younger people to buy a house in the village. At the 
other end of the age range, many older people in the past have left the community they 
love because they cannot down-size to a smaller home within the community. We want to 
have housing suitable for all ages so that our community can remain flourishing and 
sustainable. 
 
Where the focal points of our community are valued and protected 
All communities need places of focus. In our community the Village Hall, the Church, the 
Chapel and the Pub at present fulfil this role admirably. The school is also important and 
although it is in Tittesworth parish it is on our border. Where possible our plan should 
ensure their long-term viability. 
We should also look at providing other points of focus which could improve 
communication and cohesion between all of us in the community, providing benefits to 
health and well-being. 

 
A community where suitable businesses can thrive and employ 
There are many small businesses thriving throughout the parish and this entrepreneurship 
should be encouraged. We want an environment which encourages people to set up a 
range of businesses, giving employment opportunities for local people. However, an 
essential part of business these days is internet access. There are many parts of the parish 
where this is very poor and we must take steps to improve this. 
 
Conservation 
Our location is beautiful being blessed with both the Roaches and Tittesworth reservoir. 

Page 337



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 18 of 32 

Any improvements we make must enhance the special character here and our quality of 
life. 
We welcome the many visitors who want to share this beauty, work with our businesses 
or even decide to live here, but the numbers are such that careful management is 
required so as not to spoil what we have. 
 

Question 2 
Upper Hulme Mill, a large dilapidated brown field site, may provide a great opportunity to 
provide many housing units which may fulfil and exceed the needs of the parish and thereby 
enhance the sustainability of the community by increasing the viability of local services such 
as the school. 
With the help of PDNPA we have made very good progress on this, developing a preliminary 
plan(appendix one) which conserves the old buildings, allows demolition of the dilapidated 
buildings and encourages some development which could house young and older residents, 
as well as some business units. These plans would only progress if the owners are in 
agreement and a developer(s) can be found. However the plan is a framework for the 
owners and potential developers to work from. 

 
Do you agree with what we are doing here? 

 

Strongly agree      5 4 3 2 Strongly disagree   
1 

 
Comments. Please 
use separate 
paper if comment 
area too small 

 
 

 

 
Do you have any other ideas that we could do with this site? 
 
Comments. Please 
use separate 
paper if comment 
area too small 

 
 

 

 

Question 3 
In Meerbrook village we have identified, with SMDC and the PDNPA, two potential sites (see 
appendix two)), which could be developed for affordable housing. These sites would only be 
developed if the owners of the sites want such a development and only if there is a proven 
local need.  
The idea of putting these in the Neighbourhood plan would be that these sites would be the 
only sites within Meerbrook supported by the local community. These sites were chosen 
because they were within the existing curtilage of the village, were infill rather than a stand-
alone development and did not interfere significantly with the view of the Roaches. 
The village needs ‘affordable’ housing, and this would have to be semi-detached or terrace 
in order to meet current guidelines of affordability. 
. 
Do you agree with the sites chosen? 
 

Strongly agree      5 4 3 2 Strongly disagree   
1 

 

Page 338



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 19 of 32 

Comments. Please 
use separate 
paper if comment 
area too small 

 

 

 

Question 4 
 
There are a number of holiday cottages in the parish which may be under-occupied and the 
owners may wish to let out these properties as full time lets. Allowing full time letting would 
create housing for local people and attract new people to the parish so enriching our 
community. We are negotiating with the PDNPA to include this as a local policy in the 
neighbourhood plan. 
 
Do you agree with this approach? 
 

Strongly agree      5 4 3 2 Strongly disagree   
1 

 

Comments 
Comments. 
Please use 
separate paper if 
comment area too 
small 

 
 

 

 

Question 5 
 
Visitor parking on the Roaches has been a problem for at least 3 decades and a number of 
attempts have been made to solve the problem. In conjunction with Staffordshire Wildlife 
Trust (SWT), we are proposing an overspill car park which will operate on those good 
weather days when there is not enough space in the lay-byes. We have made good 
progress on this, having identified a suitable patch of land on Windygates Farm and a 
surface which will blend in with the surroundings. The challenge now is to find funding to 
finance the construction. 
 
Do you support this approach? 
 

Strongly agree      5 4 3 2 Strongly disagree   
1 

 
Comments. 
Please use 
separate paper if 
comment area too 
small 

 
 

 

 

Question 6 
 
Do you have any other suggestions which could be taken forward in a neighbourhood plan? 
 

Page 339



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 20 of 32 

Comments. 
Please use 
separate paper if 
comment area too 
small 

 
 

 

 

Page 340



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 21 of 32 

Appendix 2 

 

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan…. Survey Analysis Overview 
  
The survey questionnaire was sent out to all occupied properties in the parish, 160 
properties. 
 40 questionnaires were returned, the percentage return therefore was 25%. 
The following points have become evident as the survey was analysed. 
 

1. Support for the vision was very high at an average of 4.5 out of 5. 
 

2. Support for the development of Upper Hulme Mill was again high at 4.2, however 
there is concern about parking and the suitability of the road to the Mill.  
Actions…  Parking will be addressed in the policies governing development ie a 
certain number of parking spaces per housing unit would be required. Also moving 
industrial units away from the main thoroughfare would eliminate the issues we have 
with loading/unloading. The roadway has been assessed by Staffordshire Highways 
and their judgement is that the increase in traffic will be marginal as the volumes are 
relatively high, due to tourism, and there has been significant HGV traffic along that 
road for many years. 

 
3. There was support for the possible affordable housing sites in Meerbrook at an 

average of 3.8, but there was strong disagreement from within Meerbrook itself. 
Actions…   On reflection the parish council have decided not to continue  
with this policy, instead deciding that it will be better to address the issue of  
affordable housing as and when a request arises. The sites that we identified,  
although acceptable to the PDNPA and SMDC, are unlikely to become  
available in the medium or even long term and there is a much greater likelihood of 
affordable housing being built on the Upper Hulme Mill site. 
 

 
4.   The possibility of a holiday cottage owner being able to choose whether or  

not to offer full time rent had good support at 4.2. 
Actions There was some concern that the rents would be too high for local people 
but according to Whittaker and Biggs estate agents the premium would only be of the 
order of 10% against a similar property in Leek.  
The rationale for this policy is that holiday cottages across the Peak Park are 
occupied for about 25% of the year, which means there is a substantial body of 
housing stock being under utilised. 

 
5. The Roaches overspill car park was very well supported at 4.4.  

Actions.. Finance for this project has proved to be impossible at present so the 
concept will be included in the Neighbourhood Plan so that it can be pursued when 
finance can be found. 
 

6. There is great concern about parking within Meerbrook village due to the popularity 
of the local pub. 
Actions.. Leekfrith parish council is engaging with Severn Trent and the Lazy  
Trout to see if an extension to the Lazy Trout car park is possible. This is progressing 
very quickly so will not be included in the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Page 341



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 22 of 32 

Appendix 3 
Leekfrith Parish Housing Needs Survey 2014 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
 
Introduction          p 1 
Key findings;           p 1-5 
 Local resident views regarding affordable housing provision,   p 1 
 Households in housing need,       p 1-2 
 Analysis of need in context of open market     p 2-4 
 Availability, eligibility and turnover of social housing stock   p 4 
 Other areas of housing need (housing register & parish leavers)  p 4-5 
Planning context         p 5-6 
Conclusions          p 6 
Appendix 1          p 8-10 
 
 
 
Introduction  
 

Page 342



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 23 of 32 

During May 2014 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council undertook a housing needs survey 
with the support of Leekfrith Parish Council. Survey forms were posted out to 152 
households within the Parish and 2 former resident households identified as 'parish leavers', 
there was a low 17% response rate. All responses returned up to and including 18th July 
2014 were analysed, results are shown in Appendix 1. The aim was to give every household 
the opportunity to have their housing need assessed and to identify households who are in 
housing need in the local community. 
 
 
Key Findings; 
 
Local resident views regarding affordable housing provision 
 
The survey gives local residents the opportunity to give their opinions about affordable 
housing and gauges the level of community support for the provision of affordable homes to 
meet local need. There can be legitimate concerns about the development of affordable 
housing and opposition can also be about the development of lower priced or rental 
properties and the type of person who is likely to live in these properties and whether they 
may be associated with the local area. 69% households surveyed are in favour of a small 
development of affordable homes for local people. Comments in relation to affordable 
housing provision within the Parish are shown in Appendix 1. 
 
Respondents also identified the following sites as potentially suitable for small scale 
affordable housing development for local people with recognition that development 
opportunities are informed and restricted according to Peak District National Park planning 
authority policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Households in housing need 
 
7 households identified themselves as in housing need. 6 currently live within the Parish and 
local connections are also gained through close family, previous residence and employment. 
2 households are single adults (0-24), 1 single adult (under 55), 3 couples (over 55 or 
requiring level access accommodation) and 1 a couple with children. Households consider 
current accommodation unsuitable because of 'health or mobility problems', 'too small', 'too 
big', 'need single level access or adapted accommodation', 'too expensive' or/ and 'need to 
live independently'. Accommodation is required now, within 1 to 3 years, and 3 to 5 years. If 
these households could not live in their first area of choice they would be willing to move 
between 1-4 miles away. There are multiple reasons (e.g. education, job prospects, social 
excitement, cultural opportunity, reduced travel needs) other than access to housing that 
may encourage people to move towards urban areas. 
 
The table below is only based on the survey respondents’ self-identified need and stated 
preferences, which shows preference for 2 and 3 bed properties. 
 

Accommodation & bedroom preferences (without open market and available 
social housing filter)  
TOTAL (more than total no. households in need as some respondents made >1 selection)  

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+bed 

 Upper Hulme Village 

 Where people could use their own land 

 Old MOD/ Army base in Blackshaw Moor and Moss Rose Public House 

 Disused yard in Blackshaw Moor 

 Centre of Meerbrook - either side of New Road 

Page 343



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 24 of 32 

House  1 3 1 

Flat     

Bungalow  3 2  

 
 
Analysis of need in context of open market 
 
The above results are based only on the survey respondents’ self-identified housing need 
and stated preferences. Preferences may be informed by aspirations towards longer term 
family formation, adaptations relative to lifetime requirements, additional spare bedrooms as 
opposed to current household make up and financial circumstances within the local market 
context.  
 
Further analysis within Appendix 2 and below takes into account: 

 Affordability information from www.housingintelligence.co.uk 

 Financial information for each household  

 Prevailing open-market conditions  

 Social housing availability and eligibility 
 
a) 3 households identifying as in housing need could meet their stated preferences by 
buying on the open market, own a property with no mortgage and do not wish to be 
considered for affordable home ownership or rented as provided through a housing 
association and shall be discounted from further housing need consideration. This was 
determined by using financial information provided and recent sales information shown 
below.  
 

Area Property type Selling/ purchase 
price 

Date of sale/ 
advertising 

Upper Hulme 3 bed terraced  £154,450 advertised 
14/07/2014 

Upper Hulme 3 bed semi 
detached 

£147,000 sold 14/3/2014 

Upper Hulme 2 bed detached £150,000 sold 16/4/2014 

Swythamley 4 bed detached £807,000 sold 4/6/2013 

(Rightmove website) 
 
There is a low turnover of properties generally in the Dane Ward, with low availability of 
market entry level accommodation (flats/ terraced) and higher priced detached properties 
available more frequently. 
 
 
 
 
 

  Terraced 
Semi-
detached Detached Flat/Maisonette Total 

2009 
Not 
Available 2 2 Not Available 4 

2010 
Not 
Available 2 5 Not Available 7 

2011 3 Not Available 7 Not Available 10 

2012 
Not 
Available 3 10 Not Available 13 

2013 1 2 6 Not Available 9 

Page 344



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 25 of 32 

(Hometrack website)  
 
The average property price in the Dane Ward (based on sales) is £235,000 compared to the 
District wide average of £170,043. £150,000 represents a lower quartile or entry level 
property price within the Dane Ward. Analysis of affordability based on the relationship 
between personal (individual) incomes and house prices shows that ten times an individual 
income would be required to purchase in the Dane Ward, which can be expressed as a ratio 
of 10:1, compared to the District ratio of 5.8:1. Below comparison of the lower quartile house 
price to income ratios shows the Dane Ward within the top 3 highest wards. 
 

   
 
The cost of renting privately per week in the Dane Ward is shown below, however 1 bed 
accommodation in the parish area is negligible. 
 

 Average (£) District 
average rent 
comparison 

30th percentile 
(£) 

80% Average 
(£) 

1 bed 95 87 -9% higher 89 76 

2 bed 146 103 - 42% 
higher 

118 117 

3 bed 149 130 - 14% 
higher 

132 119 

(Hometrack website) 
 
b) One of the households identifying as in housing need did not provide sufficient financial 
information to be able to judge whether their needs could be met by the open market. In 
these cases affordability data can be used as a proxy for personal financial information.  
 

 % of households priced out of the 
market 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

Dane Ward 

FTB households - flat 38.44 Not available 

FTB households - terraced house 47.24 48.87 

FTB households - semi-detached house 61.84 48.87 

FTB households - detached house 74.09 85.67 

Owner occupier household - flat 38.44 Not available 

Owner occupier household – terraced house 38.44 40.72 

Owner occupier household – semi-detached 
house 

54.98 40.72 

Page 345



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 26 of 32 

Owner occupier household – detached house 68.42 82.5 

(Hometrack website)  
 
With nearly 50% of first time buyers priced out of the open market and the information 
provided it can be assumed that this household would not be able to meet their needs on the 
open market.  
 
 
Availability, eligibility and turnover of social housing stock 
 
The majority of social housing allocations in Staffordshire Moorlands are facilitated through 
Staffordshire Moorlands Homechoice choice based lettings. Your Moorlands (LSVT) and 
most registered social landlords use this system and the accompanying website. The 
eligibility criteria can be used to ‘translate’ the stated ‘property preferences’ of 
households/individuals in need, into ‘actual need’. Single adult households would only be 
eligible for 1 bed housing association properties. They would be considered for 1 bed 
intermediate (shared ownership/ equity) options and national Help to Buy guidance around 
affordable home ownership options does suggest that the purchase of a property with an 
additional bedroom above a households current requirements may be permitted to ensure 
that growing families can access suitable homes. 
 
Existing social housing in the Leekfrith Parish provides for families with 2x3 bed and 2x2 bed 
shared ownership properties in Meerbrook.  
 
 
Other areas of housing need (housing register & parish leavers) 
 
A further indicator of need can be determined from households registered on a Housing 
Register. There are currently 66 households that have registered on Staffordshire Moorlands 
Homechoice with an interest in 'Leekfrith' area. None of these households currently reside 
within the Leekfrith Parish area. Therefore it can be taken that there are no additional 
households registered on Staffordshire Moorlands Homechoice in need of affordable 
housing within the Parish area. This does not include; 
 

 Those that have selected ‘anywhere’ as an area of choice on Moorlands 
Homechoice. 

 Those that may have a local connection to the Leekfrith Parish through means other 
than residence, people with a local connection to the Parish who have moved away 
and may wish to return.  

 
Housing need survey respondents identified 2 Parish Leavers, 'former Parish residents that 
left within the last 10 years because they could not afford to buy/ rent a home in the area'. 
These Parish Leavers were sent surveys however failed to respond. 

 
 

Planning context 
 
Planning policies that address housing can be found in PDNPA saved Local Plan policy LH1 
and Supplementary Planning Guidance1 (SPG) which supplement the Local Development 
Framework Core Strategy (adopted October 2011) policies DS1: Development strategy, 
HC1: New housing, HC2: Housing for key workers in agriculture, forestry or other rural 
enterprises. These policies address important considerations; quantifying affordable housing 

                                                
1
 Meeting the local need for affordable housing in the Peak District National Park (2003) 

Page 346



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 27 of 32 

need, restricting occupancy to those who qualify and the size and type of home that will be 
acceptable. 
 
Saved Local Plan Policy LH1: Meeting local needs for affordable housing 
Exceptionally residential development will be permitted either as a newly built dwelling in or 
on the edge of Settlements (Policy LC2) or as the conversion of an existing building of 
traditional design and materials in the countryside provided that: 

 there is a proven need for the dwelling(s). In the case of proposals for more than one 
dwelling, this will be judged by reference to an up to date housing needs survey. In 
the case of individual dwellings, need will be judged by reference to the 
circumstances of the applicant including his or her present accommodation; and 

 the intended occupants meet the requirements of the National Park Authority's local 
occupancy criteria (policy LH2). In the case of proposals for more than one dwelling, 
where the intended occupants are not specified, a satisfactory mechanism to ensure 
compliance with the local occupancy restriction will be required - normally a planning 
obligation; and 

 the dwelling(s) will be affordable by size and type to local people on low or moderate 
incomes and will remain so in perpetuity; and 

 the need cannot be met within the existing housing stock. Individuals may be asked 
to provide evidence of a search for suitable property which they can afford to 
purchase within both their own and adjoining parishes; and 

 the requirements of Policy LC4 (design, layout and landscaping standards) are 
complied with. 

 
Key principles established by HC1 and HC2 policies include: 

 Encouraging affordable housing, in a range of settlements identified in Core Strategy 
DS1, but also by enhancement of sites and buildings elsewhere: working in a 
consultative manner in each settlement as local need for affordable housing arises 
rather than allocating land in advance for housing. 

 Resisting general demand for new open market housing but permitting some in 
cases where it is needed to bring about conservation and enhancement in named 
settlements or of valued buildings, 

 Providing for essential worker dwellings, care homes and supported dwellings, and 
holiday accommodation where possible by re-use of existing buildings of historic or 
vernacular merit. 

 Conversion to incorporate affordable housing, where it can be achieved without 
compromising viability. It also requires a financial contribution towards affordable 
housing elsewhere, if there is no evidenced need for affordable housing in the parish 
subject to the proposal for conversion. There must be an intention to provide 
affordable homes wherever and whenever that is physically possible within the 
conversion scheme.  

 Principle of permitting open market housing only where:1. the site or buildings needs 
conserving or enhancing, and can accommodate more than one dwelling, in which 
case the Authority will try and secure the best result for both the  site or building 
and the community by permitting a mix of open market and affordable housing. 2. it is 
needed to secure conservation or enhancement of a site that can only accommodate 
one dwelling 

 
Who qualifies as a “local” person for the purposes of justifying the need for new affordable 
homes is defined within saved local plan policy LH2. The definition of people with a local 
qualification requires a person to have a well-established connection with the area. 
Exceptionally new housing will be permitted for a person with a proven need in accordance 
with Policy LH1 provided that the dwelling will be occupied by: 

Page 347



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 28 of 32 

 a person (and his or her dependants) who has a minimum period of 10 years' 
permanent residence in the parish or an adjoining parish and is currently living in 
accommodation which is overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory; or 

 a person (and his or her dependants) who has a minimum period of 10 years 
permanent residence in the parish or an adjoining parish and is forming a household 
for the first time; or 

 a person not now resident in the parish but with a proven need and a strong local 
connection with the parish, including a period of residence of 10 years or more within 
the last 20 years; or 

 a person who has an essential need to live close to another person who has a 
minimum of 10 years' residence in the parish, the essential need arising from age or 
infirmity; or 

 a person who has an essential functional need to live close to his or her work in the 
parish, or an adjoining parish within the National Park. 

 
DS1 development strategy indicates what types of development are acceptable in principle 
in the countryside and named settlements such as Flash. In or on the edge of these 
settlements new build development will be acceptable for affordable housing provided that 
an assessment of capacity is undertaken to examine settlement character, pattern, and 
landscape setting. 

 
 
Conclusions 
 
A total of 3 households present with an affordable housing need. These comprise 2 young 
single households that require accommodation in the near future, within the next 1-5 years. 
Another large household requires accommodation now. 
 
It is therefore recommended that 2x1 bed and 1x5 units of affordable housing be provided. A 
5 bed affordable property would be unusual and exceptional in terms of affordable housing 
provision and may not meet with future District housing needs, therefore option to readily 
convert the accommodation to be considered. Similarly Lifetime Homes standards would 
ensure accessible and inclusive affordable provision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 348



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 29 of 32 

 
Appendix 1: Results  
 

In favour of development 

In favour of small development of affordable homes for local people  69% 

of which; 

Identifying as in housing need and in favour of a scheme  27% 

Identifying as not in housing need and in favour of a scheme  42% 

Identifying as not in housing need and not in favour of a scheme  31% 

Identifying as not in housing need and unspecified  0 

Total respondents  26 

 

Comments in relation to affordable housing provision in the Parish for local people  

'Individual developments more in keeping with Leekfrith scattered community, several 
individual scattered homes would be more appropriate to the families in the area where 
people can use their own land...family size and existing affordable housing...build our 
own...the only way we could afford to live here' 
'Unable to afford housing in the area is in short supply resulting in the younger generation 
having to leave which is a detriment to the community.' 
'Lots of derelict Mills in Leek that would make excellent apartments.' 
'Every persons needs are different so a variety of housing is needed e.g. suitable for 
couples or larger properties for families which are vital fro village life and to help rural 
schools and communities. At the moment there is very little on offer for families with two or 
more children.' 
'When the dam at the reservoir was built 9 properties were flooded...this forced some 
families out...moved to Macclesfield and Leek...If some of the land either side of the New 
Road were purchased this would bring new life back into the centre of the village.' 
'Much of the housing is widespread because of the farming community but if owners have 
to leave due to infirmity there is little in the way of appropriate housing in the village to 
offer them.' 
'Accommodation required for retiring people who wish to downsize and pass their larger 
house and business (i.e. farm) to their children in order to keep families within the 
community.' 
'Families with children wanting to build their own home...a community needs families to 
support school, village activities...approve barns for holiday but not homes.' 
'We believe that local people should be able to stay in the community that they have 
grown up in whther it be affordable housing provided to be rented, or housing built by that 
person/s on their own/ families land or land available to purchase. We need young people 
to stay here.' 
'Houses are required on private land for family members (i.e. within the cartilage of 
existing buildings) who do not want to move.' 
'...in favour of a small development of barn conversions which would be more in keeping 
with the planning designations already in place...' 

 

Households identifying themselves as in housing need  

Number of households 7 

 

Household makeup of those identifying as in need 

Single adult (16-24 yrs)   2 

Single adult (under 55)  1 

Couple (over 55/ requiring older persons accommodation)  3 

Couple with children  1 

 TOTAL 7 

Page 349



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 30 of 32 

 

Local Connection of households identifying as in need (total more than total household 
need as some respondents made >1 selection) 

households in need currently 
residing in parish 6 average length of time in parish (yrs) 26 

households in need with previous 
residence 1 

average length of time previous 
parish residence (yrs) 23 

households in need with 
immediate family in parish 3 

average length of time family in 
parish (yrs) 82 

households in need with 
employment in parish 2 

average length of time employment 
in parish (yrs) 23 

 

Timescale for housing requirements 

in need now  3 

in need within 1 - 3 yrs  1 

in need within 3 - 5 yrs  3 

 

How far away would households identifying in need be willing to move?  

0-4 miles  6 

No answer  1 

 

Current tenure of households identifying as in need  

Own with a mortgage  1 

Own with no mortgage 3 

Live in tied accommodation 1 

Live with relatives/ friends  2 

 

Why current home unsuitable (total more than total household need as some respondents 
made >1 selection) 

too small 2 

too big 2 

too expensive 1 

need to be close to family 0 

health or mobility problems 3 

need to live independently 1 

Need single level or adapted accommodation 1 

 

Why wish to live within the Parish? (total more than total household need as some 
respondents made >1 selection ) 

born/ grew up there  3 

close family ties 4 

currently live   5 

employed 1 

need to take up employment 0 

other  1 

  

 
  

Page 350



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 31 of 32 

 
 

Tenure preference of households identifying as in need  
 

 

households preferring private rented  

households preferring housing association rented 2 

households preferring private home ownership 7 

households preferring affordable home ownership 3 

 TOTAL (more than total no. households in need as some respondents made >1 
selection)  

12 

 

Accommodation & bedroom preferences (without open market and available 
social housing filter)  
TOTAL (more than total no. households in need as some respondents made >1 selection)  

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+bed 

House  1 3 1 

Flat     

Bungalow  3 2  

 
 

Page 351



Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 32 of 32 

Appendix 4 
 
Number of Cars Parking illegally on the Roaches 
 

Day Date Number of cars out of bays 

Thurs 14/04/2016 30 

Sat 16/04/2016 21 

Sun 17/04/2016 42 

Sat 30/04/2016 51 

Sat 14/05/2016 12 

Sat 28/05/2016 36 

Sat 11/06/2016 32 

Sat 18/06/2016 29 

Sat 25/06/2016 31 

Sat 2/07/2016 31 

Sat 9/07/2016 43 

 
This is from Roaches Hall track to the turning bay and doesn't include the cars parked 
opposite the tea rooms 
 
Data provided by Staffordshire Wildlife Ranger service. 
 

Page 352


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated)
	8.1 Forward Plan
	8.2 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement & Performance Review 2019/20
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	8.3 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2022/23
	Appendix A Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2022/23
	Appendix B Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2022/23
	Appendix C Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2022/23
	Appendix D Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2022/23

	8.4 New Performance Framework
	Appendix 1 Performance Framework
	Appendix 2 Consultation

	8.5 Business Rate Relief Policy & Council Tax Discounts Policy
	Appendix A Business Rate Relief Policy & Council Tax Discounts Policy
	Appendix B Business Rate Relief Policy & Council Tax Discounts Policy

	9.1 Home Repairs Assistance Grant Scheme
	10.1 Dog Fouling Order
	Appendix A 1 for Dog Fouling Order

	11.1 Brough Park and John Hall Gardens Improvement Plan
	Appendix A Current site plan for Brough Park and John Hall Gardens Improvement Plan
	Appendix B New site plan for Brough Park and John Hall Gardens Improvement Plan

	12.1 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix A 1 for Leekfirth Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix A 2 for Leekfirth Neighbourhood Plan


